Now on the AmeriCorp e-NL for Aug says only

Office of Inspector General Fraud, Waste, & Abuse Hotline: 800-452-8210
Adult ED

Technology Resources:

        Need ready-made lesson plans to teach technology skills in the classroom? The Fusion: Educators 

Integrating Technology website at: www.willard.k12.mo.us/co/tech/excel.htm provides a variety of easy-to-

follow training modules, tips, lesson plans, and interactive activities. 

        Using good classroom instructional models and constructivist (project-based, engaged learning, authentic 

materials) and multiple intelligences approaches will engage learners in highly-motivating learning with 

other learners who have the same goals, questions, and needs.  Computer software such as word 

processing, PowerPoint, and web browsers are good tools for doing this kind of highly motivating adult 

learning.  Below are some web resources that define and describe these approaches and provide examples 

of how to carry out constructivist learning.  Some of the Authentic Materials/Engaged 

Learning/Constructivism/Contextual Learning/Project-based Learning Websites below are described at: 

www.youthbuild.org/learningnetwork/professionaldev.html. (David Rosen)

        http://carbon.cudenver.edu/~mryder/itc_data/constructivism.html 

        www.mcps.org/fbranch/Gus/Constructivism.html 

        http://gseweb.harvard.edu/~ncsall/fob/1999/kallen.htm 

        Authentic Materials: "Creating Authentic Materials and Activities for the Adult Literacy Classroom 

http://ncsall.gse.harvard.edu/teach/jacobson.pdf 

        Engaged Learning Checklist: 

www.springfield.k12.il.us/resources/techservices/handouts/engaged.htm 

        Filamentality:  www.kn.pacbell.com/wired/fil/ 

        Meaningful, Engaged Learning:   www.ncrel.org:80/ncrel/sdrs/engaged.htm 

        Teaching Mathematics Contextually       :  www.cord.org/pdf/Teaching_Math_Contextually.pdf 

        The Virtual School House: http://virtualschoolhouse.visionlink.org/ 

Adult ED

Workplace Resources:

        Best Practices Regarding Workforce Training: Tammy Galvin wrote a report in Training Magazine on 

best practices in article titled "Training Top 100."   The data from this report may be helpful.  It can be 

found at www.traininmag.com.  Here is a quote:  "In spite of perhaps the worst economic climate in 

recent history, Training magazine's 2003 Top 100 invested more than $6 billion in workforce 

development initiatives for the second consecutive year, and on average, these companies provided 65 

hours of training per employee, funded by an average 4.06 percent of payroll. While companies around 

the globe have slashed training resources, these 100 companies have managed to build solid business 

cases for developing people in prosperous and uncertain times." The article provides a number of "best 

practices" regarding workplace training in these successful companies. Laura Beach, Pennsylvania Workforce 

Improvement Network, Institute for the Study of Adult Literacy, The Pennsylvania State University www.pawin.org

        Links to Workplace Education Sites:  Developed in partnership with SEIR*TEC (SouthEast Initiatives 

Regional Technology in Education Consortium), this workforce education section of the Literacy.org site 

is designed to guide you, as an adult learner or teacher, in finding selected resources on the Internet 

concerning workforce education. Click on: www.literacyonline.org/ask/workplace.html.

· Mrs. Michelle Welch, Deputy Commonwealths Attorney

· FEMA, Informational Session

· Larry Tunstall, Fire Chief & Charlette Woolridge, Deputy Director II

Strategic Plan Survey – Disaster Rescue

· Dr. Melvin D. Law, Richmond Crusade for Voters



Membership and upcoming events
· The City is forming Service Accountability Teams (SAT’s) that will see that certain services are being provided in a timely and effective manner.

· The Community Crime Control Plan document was distributed.

· The Neighborhood Safety Districts ordinance was distributed.

· Members were reminded of the following:

· that the CAPS Court Watch is every 3rd Thursday of the month at the Manchester Courts.

· 6th District Council representative Robertson holds a town hall meeting every 1st and 3rd Tuesday

· the Virginia Statewide Neighborhoods Conference is to be held in Blacksburg, VA on Oct. 7-9.  The chair needs to know who from the team wants to attend, as she would like to charter a bus to the conference.

· CERT training applications need to be completed and returned.



Ordinance booklets were distributed.
· Kirk Showalter the General Registrar for the City of Richmond informed the Team of the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) requirement that all polling places be compliant and the Help America Vote Act that requires that all voting machines be ADA compliant.  Since some polling places do not meet these requirements, the following proposals were made to the team:

· To merge precincts 811 and 814 and a portion of 812.  This would mean lower cost to the taxpayers, as each needs two voting machines and three electoral officers.  Concern:  No bus service to Hickory Hill Community Center, the proposed location for the polling place.

· To merge precincts 802 and 807.  Precinct 807 is small in population as it is, and the Oak Grove School is not ADA compliant.

· Merge precincts 806 and 813.  The new polling place will be the fire station, where parking is available.

Written notice with a map of the changes will be sent to all affected residents.  A State Board of Elections representative has been asked to attend the City Council meeting on July 26, 2004, when action on all these papers is scheduled.

Daniel Pipes (www.DanielPipes.org) is a historian, director of the Middle East Forum, and author of Miniatures (Transaction Publishers).

The U.S. Institute Of Peace Stumbles 
By Daniel Pipes (03/22/04) 

Last week, I became a whistleblower. 

(According to Merriam-Webster, a whistleblower is someone “who reveals wrongdoing within an organization to the public or to those in positions of authority.”)

This is not a role I expected or sought, but I felt compelled to go public when the U.S. Institute of Peace, in Washington, D.C., the tax-payer funded organization to whose board President George W. Bush appointed me, insisted on co-hosting an event with a group closely associated with radical Islam. 

That group is the Washington-based Center for the Study of Islam and Democracy; the event was a workshop that took place – over my strenuous objections – on March 19. 

Most of CSID’s Muslim personnel are radicals. I brought one such person in particular, Kamran Bokhari, to the attention of USIP’s leadership. Bokhari is a fellow at CSID; as such, he is someone CSID’s board of directors deems an expert “with high integrity and a good reputation.” As a fellow, Bokhari may participate in the election of CSID’s board of directors. He is, in short, integral to the CSID. 

Bokhari also happens to have served for years as the North American spokesman for Al-Muhajiroun, perhaps the most extreme Islamist group operating in the West. For example, it celebrated the first anniversary of 9/11 with a conference titled “A Towering Day in History.” It celebrated the second anniversary by hailing “The Magnificent 19.” Its website currently features a picture of the U.S. Capitol building exploding. 

Nor is Al-Muhajiroun’s evil restricted to words and pictures. Its London-based leader, Omar bin Bakri Muhammad, has acknowledged recruiting jihadists to fight in such hotspots as Kashmir, Afghanistan, and Chechnya. At least one Al-Muhajiroun member went to Israel to engage in suicide terrorism. Al-Muhajiroun appears to be connected to one of the 9/11 hijackers, Hani Hanjour. 

USIP’s indirect association with Al-Muhajiroun has many pernicious consequences. Perhaps the most consequential of these is the legitimacy USIP inadvertently confers on Bokhari and CSID, permitting radicals to pass themselves off as moderates. 

That legitimation follows an assumption that USIP carefully vetted CSID before working with it. But USIP did nothing of the sort. When its leadership insisted on working with CSID, it explained its reasons: “The CSID is assessed by relevant government organizations and credible NGOs supported by the Administration to be an appropriate organization for involvement in publicly funded projects organized by both the government and NGOs, including the Institute.” 

Translated from bureaucratese, this says: “Others have worked with CSID, so why not us?” 

But such buck-passing means that in fact no one does due diligence – each organization relies on those that came before. Once in the door, a disreputable organization like CSID acquires a mainstream aura. 

Or it does until its true identity becomes clear. Over and over again, branches of the U.S. government have been embarrassed by their blindness to jihadist Islam. 

· Ask the presidential candidate who had himself photographed smiling side-by-side with an Islamist who soon after was imprisoned for terrorist activities. 

· Ask the U.S. military, which has arrested or convicted at least seven Islamists for criminal activity connected to jihad. 

· Ask the New York State prison system, which recently awoke up to the fact that one of its chaplains announced that God had inflicted 9/11 as punishment on the wicked – and the victims got what they deserved. 

· Ask the mayor of Boston who had city land sold to the Islamic Society of Boston for less than 10 percent of market value, only to learn later that the organization is closely associated with one jihadi extremist banned from entering the United States, another sitting in federal prison, and a third who welcomes suicide bombings against Israelis as “glad tidings.” 

In all these cases, no one was minding the store. The lesson is simple but burdensome: each governmental institution must do its own research. 

In the war on terror, it is not enough to deploy the police and the military; it is just as necessary to recognize and reject those who develop the ideas that eventually lead to violence. The U.S. government needs to wake up to those elements in its midst whose allegiance in the war on terror is on the other side. 

Until it does, my whistleblowing career will continue.

Practice Your Grant Writing Skills with Online Forms: The American Legacy Foundation website 

provides online templates for creating objectives, working out a budget, and developing timelines. Use this model to practice and hone your skills. Go to:  http://www.americanlegacy.org/. Then click on programs, then grants, then online grant application. Look for the online templates.

Identifying Local Resources for Your Literacy Program: A Guide for National Service Programs, 

produced by LEARNS, Linking Education and America Reads through National Service. Designed for 

the needs of program coordinators, especially those new to the field, this 15-page PDF document 

helps you locate local resources for your program and identify partners and stakeholders in the 

community. Go to: www.nwrel.org/learns/resources/startup/IDLocalResources.pdf

        Virginia Volunteer Centers: Is your program listed in the local Virginia Volunteer Service Center in 

your area? If not, go to www.vaservice.org/volunteer/volcenter.html and check the center nearest you 

(scroll to the bottom of the page).  Many volunteer centers now offer online listings and links to other 

sites. This is an easy way to connect to other agencies in your area and to increase your program's 

visibility to the public in general.

        Delaware Association of Nonprofit Organizations Best of the Net - Volunteer Management: This 

site lists links and resources for and about nonprofits.  Topics include volunteer management, 

website/technology, and volunteer opportunities. 

http://www.delawarenonprofit.org/resourceVolWeb.html 

        About Volunteers: (Retrieved 8-4-04 from the Charity Channel website at 

http://charitychannel.com/articles/article_10159.shtml). The United States Department of Labor, 

Bureau of Labor Statistics released its second study of volunteerism in the United States (see sample 

below). These studies collect information regarding people who volunteer through or for an 

organization (formal volunteering).

"Multicultural Study 2003: Time and Money: An In-Depth Look at 45+ Volunteers and Donors," 

conducted by AARP, supports the continuing emphasis on episodic volunteering, stating that 48% of 

volunteers 45 and older are engaged sporadically in volunteer activities. These findings also tend 

to support other research studies that have shown an increasing trend among aging baby boomers to 

be entrepreneurial and independent in their volunteer activities. The AARP study (Executive Summary) 

states: Volunteering independently -- on one's own -- is often more prevalent than volunteering 

through an organization. Read the document at: http://research.aarp.org/general/multic_2003_1.pdf. 

Customer Focus

Sonia and her staff create a convivial atmosphere: you don't feel like a

customer, but a part of a human experience. They've created a wonderful

garden courtyard and encourage a sense of community among guests. If Pension

Alexis is full, Sonia helps guests arrange other accommodations at reputable

hotels.

The staff at Pension Alexis is a great resource--trustworthy, knowledgeable,

and close at hand. Although many businesses tout their commitment to

customer service, Sonia and her staff embrace it with gusto.

Sonia ensures that guests are catered from the moment they arrive to the

moment she personally drives them to the pier to catch a boat to their next

destination. Sonia sits down with each guest to explain the town, assist

with dinner arrangements, and plan their day's itinerary. The result of

these little touches is that Pension Alexis is always in demand while her

competitors beg for customers.

Personality Branding

Personality branding is a strategy that showcases your personality and

equates it with your business to produce an emotional bond with your

prospects. You put a human face on your business by bringing your

personality to the forefront of your marketing and business identity.

Sonia is the heart and soul of Pension Alexis. Kind and hospitable, she goes

out of her way to make all of her customers feel welcome. Sonia offers

advice about the island, helps with ferry schedules, and serves up motherly

comforts with equal ease. She's the human face on Pension Alexis.

Sonia gives people something to trust. In the often pushy world of Greek

tourism, that means a lot. In Greece, as in many tourist sectors, it's hard

to know what's real and what's not. In the eyes of a potentially jaded

marketplace, Sonia is a welcome presence for travelers who want a genuine

experience.

Sonia's personal branding strategy has helped Pension Alexis become Slightly

Famous. Her genuine presence has become the total aura around Pension Alexis

that cannot be duplicated by anyone else. This is a formula that is very

fulfilling for the small business owner, and attractive to customers.

Center of Influence

Slightly Famous entrepreneurs are centers of influence; Sonia is no

exception. Her reputation as a leader in her industry not only attracts

customers but also helps Pension Alexis better instruct, inform and serve

its customers.

I quickly learned that Sonia's good reputation reached beyond the island.

Pension Alexis was not only well-known among other travel-related businesses

on Kos, but expanded outward to other Greek islands and beyond to

neighboring Turkey.

Sonia's reputation, connections and sphere of influence is a valuable asset.

It not only ensures that other hotels throughout the region refer business

to Pension Alexis, but also connects Sonia and her staff to a 'quality

network' of the best hotels, restaurants and other businesses that their

guests what to know about.

I had one of the most memorable, authentic meals of my trip based on Sonia's

recommendation. Later, I followed her recommendations for other hotels in

Greece and Turkey and found that I had entered into a 'value-added network'

due to Sonia's reputation and influence. This was a real bonus that saved me

time, money and frustration.

Reputation is Everything

The only way to be successful in business is by establishing a good

reputation. Your reputation works as your strongest marketer by

communicating the relationship you have with people who've done business

with you, and your target market in general.

Pension Alexis follows the simple formula: Visibility + Credibility +

Word-of-Mouth = REPUTATION.

Sonia includes her customers as players in Pension Alexis' brand

identity. The real testament to Pension Alexis is in the stacks of guest

books filled with glowing testimonials dating back to the hotel's opening in

1979. Thumbing through story after happy story generates an irresistible

feeling of connection to everyone who's come before you.

The result of this heartfelt connection guests feel for Pension Alexis is

that word of mouth has a life of its own. Guidebooks speak in glowing terms

about the hotel and its owners. A sizeable chunk of business comes from

referrals and previous guests.

If you are in a highly competitive industry, and if you are struggling to

attract clients and customers, consider the Slightly Famous principles

embraced by Pension Alexis.

Focusing on your customers, becoming a center of influence, and creating

customer evangelists are just as applicable to coaches, management

consultants, corporate trainers and financial advisors as they are to a tiny

hotel in a far flung corner of the world. Working on these principles can be

your recipe for getting out of the anonymity trap, creating a slightly

famous you, and building a successful business.

Though the group's name implies a grassroots citizens' effort, in fact SUVOA was bought two years ago by Strat@comm, a Washington, D.C., PR firm with extensive ties to big automakers.  Critics are calling the campaign a classic example of "Astroturf" -- industry-backed campaigns masquerading as grassroots.  And critics say the ad's main contention is a bunch of hooey:  Not only does the 2002 law that calls for regulating emissions specifically prohibit state officials from banning large vehicles, but just-released federal data show that SUV occupants are more likely to die in traffic accidents.

New U.S. Government Report Acknowledges Human-Caused Climate Change 

President Bush famously dismissed a 2002 U.S. government report that acknowledged the human causes of climate change as something "put out by the bureaucracy."  Well, it looks like the bureaucracy's at it again:  A new administration report to Congress indicates that human production of heat-trapping greenhouse gases is likely behind the rapid climate change of the past three decades.  According to James R. Mahoney, director of government climate research, the report reflects "the best possible scientific information" on climate change.  The White House, which has regularly followed the lead of industry groups in emphasizing the uncertainty of climate science, may have difficulty dismissing this report, as it is signed by the secretaries of energy and commerce and Bush's top science adviser, but you never know. 

straight to the source:  The New York Times, Andrew C. Revkin, 26 Aug 2004 
<http://www.gristmagazine.com/cgi-bin/forward.pl?forward_id=2897> 

straight to the report:  Our Changing Planet 
<http://www.gristmagazine.com/cgi-bin/forward.pl?forward_id=2898>

Scientists Create Hydrogen Fuel from Sunflower Oil 

British scientists have discovered a way to power cars with sunflower oil.  While biodiesel cars that directly burn cooking oil are fairly common, researcher Valerie Dupont and her colleagues have something else in mind, as they reported this week at an American Chemical Society conference.  They've figured out a way to use catalysts to extract pure hydrogen from a combination of air, water vapor, and sunflower oil.  Hydrogen is frequently hailed as the clean fuel of the future, but most current methods of creating hydrogen burn the very fossil fuels responsible for pollution and greenhouse gases. Dupont's process could eventually use any vegetable oil and be miniaturized to the point that the converter could transform oil to hydrogen on the fly, in the car itself.  Another researcher at the same conference claimed she was working on a process that could convert pure water directly to hydrogen using a catalyst and solar energy.  For now, both veggie oil and water catalysts are prohibitively expensive, but still, maybe this whole hydrogen thing will work out after all. 

straight to the source:  BBC News, Richard Black, 26 Aug 2004 
<http://www.gristmagazine.com/cgi-bin/forward.pl?forward_id=2899>

SJ  Clinton’s Harlem Office

QUALCOMM, Inc. (NASDAQ: QCOM ) is a leader in developing and 

 delivering innovative digital wireless communications products 

 and services based on the companys CDMA digital technology. 

 The CDMA market continues to grow and QUALCOMM is in a great 

 position to benefit. Fiscal third quarter earnings per share 

 topped the consensus and year-ago result while revenues surged 

 +50% to $1.3 billion . On a sequential basis, revenues rose 

 +10%. QUALCOMM stated that record demand for its chipsets and 

 stronger than expected WCDMA sales are driving revenues and 

 earnings higher. It sees WCDMA as a growing portion of its 

 financial results. Due to its encouraging business outlook, 

 QUALCOMM decided to increase its guidance for fiscal 2004. The 

 company estimates the CDMA phone market to be 161 to 168 million

 units in calendar 2004, and believes the average selling prices 

 of CDMA phones fir fiscal 2004 to advance about $209, compared 

 to the prior expectation of $195. 3G CDMA continues to expand 

 around the world, and analysts like QUALCOMMs chances of 

 harnessing that energy. 

QUALCOMM Inc. develops and delivers innovative digital wireless communications products and services based on the company's CDMA digital technology. The company's business areas include CDMA integrated circuits and system software; technology licensing; the Binary Runtime Environment for Wireless applications development platform; Eudora e-mail software; digital cinema systems; and satellite-based systems including portions of the Globalstar system and wireless fleet management systems, OmniTRACS and OmniExpress. (Company Press Release)

	Press Release
	Source: Israel Weinstock


Whistleblowing Lawyer Israel Weinstock Asks for Investigation of Missing Court Files
Friday September 10, 2:00 pm ET 

NEW YORK, Sept. 10 /PRNewswire/ -- A lawyer challenging his disbarment by the New York courts and the federal district court in Brooklyn urges the U.S. Court of Appeals sitting in Manhattan to order an investigation of why crucial documents are missing from the Brooklyn court's files and numerous irregularities were found in the recording of court documents.

Israel Weinstock, who contends that he was disbarred by the State courts to silence him and prevent him from exposing crimes and other serious misconduct by other lawyers and their clients, asserts in a "common law bill in equity" filed today in the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit that the missing court documents may be the result of violations of federal criminal law. Weinstock urges the federal appellate court to exercise its "power of superintendence" over the federal district court in Brooklyn -- the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of New York, officially -- by calling on the Administrative Office of the U.S. Courts to review the "practices" of the Clerk's Office in the Eastern District. 

Weinstock complains of numerous record-keeping lapses by staff members in the Office of the Clerk of the Eastern District court, including a failure to "docket" - or record in the court's official journal for Weinstock's case -- the filing of a compilation of crucial documents. The 150-page compilation was presented with an initial complaint last January 26 and a second volume of similar documents: The complaint and "Volume 2" of the same compilation were docketed; "Volume 1" of the compilation was not docketed and evidently cannot now be found. 

The absence of first volume of the compilation of documents and also of two court orders came to light when Weinstock's appeal of the dismissal of his action challenging his disbarments triggered the transfer of the case record from the Eastern District to the appellate court. That appeal was filed on May 10, and the incompleteness of the Eastern District file was discovered by Weinstock's attorney, Robert S. Catz of the District of Columbia, during the week of August 9. 

In today's request for an investigation, Catz asserts that documents may have been "purloined" from the district court file and notes that removal, concealment, or mutilation of court records is a federal crime. The territorial jurisdiction of Eastern District includes five New York counties with a combined population of more than four million people: Kings, Queens, Nassau, Richmond, and Suffolk. 

Today's filing also is critical of Eastern District Chief Judge Edward R. Korman, who is said to have violated a provision of the court's local rules by denying personally a request by Weinstock for reinstatement to that court rather than referring Weinstock's request to the court's Committee on Grievances. 

Weinstock, in a recent interview, described the missing volume of the compilation as "not only crucial to my case, but also highly embarrassing to the Manhattan megafirm that I believe was behind my disbarment, Cleary Gottlieb Steen & Hamilton." 

In today's filing, Catz noted also that in another case 15 documents were discovered to be missing when the record was forwarded from the district court in Brooklyn to the federal appellate court in Manhattan. 

In January Weinstock filed a complaint in the federal district court in Brooklyn to challenge his disbarments. In the complaint Weinstock alleges that legal counsel to the State Grievance Committee for Kings and Queens Counties acted in collusion with a Cleary Gottlieb client and others, and that, in furtherance of this unlawful conspiracy, suppressed evidence that would have exonerated him. The complaint alleges further that the goal of the conspiracy was avoidance of criminal prosecution of the Cleary Gottlieb client, Brooklyn attorney and real estate syndicator Emmerich Handler, and persons associated with Handler. 

Weinstock was pressing for an investigation of Handler and his attorneys and also seeking to collect from Handler on judgments totalling $2 million. Also, a federal district court judge - Robert P. Patterson, Jr., sitting in Manhattan - referred the Handler matter to the U.S. Justice Department for a criminal investigation. Handler was never indicted, however. 

The Grievance Committee lawyers succeeded in persuading the Appellate Division of the New York Supreme Court to deny a hearing on the merits of the charges leading to the State disbarment, two of which arose in 1984 and 1985 corporate transactions, the latter of which resolved claims that Weinstock threatened to bring against a former client who had admitted filing a fabricated suit against Weinstock. The other two charges arose from an appeal filed by Weinstock in his own divorce case to correct an appellate decision that recited facts later found to be erroneous, as well as damaging to Weinstock's reputation. 

In attempting to defend against the charges, Weinstock contended that a sworn admission that one allegation was fabricated should have barred the Grievance Committee from proceeding on that charge, that he had engaged in "overreaching and coercion" in settling claims against the former client. He contended further that the other three charges, although factually undisputed, were legally insufficient to make out any violation of ethical standards. Weinstock was never charged with any act of dishonesty and was disbarred by the New York courts after practicing law for 42 years without any prior discipline. 

Weinstock's case challenging his disbarments was dismissed by the district court and that dismissal now is the subject of an appeal to the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit, which is the court that is being asked to order an investigation of the missing records and other irregularities in the district court. 

Source: Israel Weinstock
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Whistleblowers Call for Disclosure of Government's Iraq Deceit; Ellsberg, Former CIA, FBI Officials Say Americans Need Full Disclosure of Lies, Cover-ups, and War's Projected Costs in Livesand Dollars

9/9/2004 12:43:00 PM



To: National Desk, Defense Correspondent (of U.S. Newswire , see below)

Contact: Kawana Lloyd, Jessica Smith, or Steve Smith, all of Fenton Communications, 202-822-5200

WASHINGTON, Sept. 9 /U.S. Newswire/ -- Daniel Ellsberg, joined today by 10 former employees of the FBI, CIA, State and Defense Departments, issued a call to current government officials to disclose classified information that is being wrongly withheld, about plans for and estimated costs of the war in Iraq, and other documents that contradict government lies.

The "call", in the form of an open memo to current government employees, says "It is time for unauthorized truth-telling." Drawing the clear parallel to Vietnam, the group urges that ongoing silence about government deceptions and cover-ups and reluctance to publicize information about the war's costs and projected casualties carries with it a significant price in human life and national security.

The group released a list of existing documents wrongly withheld within the government as examples of the kind that the public has a right to see. These include background on Army Staff estimates before the war that the Iraq effort would require several hundred thousand troops. Similarly, current estimates of potential casualty rates as the insurgency in Iraq continues to grow as well as the likely cost of waging war over the next few years almost surely exist, and should be disclosed now.

To current government officials, Ellsberg says: "If you have documentary evidence that our country has been lied into an unnecessary, wrongful, endless war-as I had during Vietnam-I urge you to consider doing right now what I wish I had done years earlier than I did: give the truth to Congress and the press, with copies of those documents. The personal costs you risk are great, but you may save many Americans from being lied to death."

Ray McGovern adds: "Truth. Never in the past 50 years has it been in such short supply in theUS defense/intelligence community. Yet it is the truth--once known--that will keep us free. Truth-tellers, arise!"

Ellsberg, best known for releasing the Pentagon Papers to Congress and the press in 1971, was joined at a Washington press conference by Ray McGovern, formerly an analyst for 27 years at the CIA, who provided several presidential staffs with their daily morning security briefings; Sibel Edmonds, former FBI translator who was fired for revealing security lapses at the FBI; and Coleen Rowley, one of Time magazine's Persons of the Year as a Whistleblower, currently a Special Agent in the FBI's Minneapolis field office.

The Call and press conference are part of Ellsberg's ongoing work with the Truth Telling Project (more information at www.truthtellingproject.org). The conference is also sponsored by the Sam Adams Associates for Integrity in Intelligence, which has given its annual Award to Colleen Rowley and Katharine Gun (who will also be present at the conference) and, last night at American University, to Sibel Edmonds. 

Gun, a former translator with the British equivalent of the NSA, was fired after leaking sensitive information to the British press about efforts to "surge" intercept capability against members of the UN Security Council. Gun was acquitted of charges of violating England's Official Secrets Act. Another participant is Major Frank Grevil, of the Danish Intelligence Service, who faces trial for releasing his estimates that revealed lack of evidence of WMDs in Iraq, contradicting his country's involvement in efforts to distort intelligence in order to support the war. 

Other signers of the Call-including Mary Ann Wright, who resigned as Deputy Chief of Mission in Mongolia over the war-- will also be present, along with Ann Beeson of the ACLU and Beth Daly of the Project on Government Oversight (POGO).

---

For more information contact: Kawana Lloyd, Jessica Smith, or Steve Smith, Fenton Communications, 202-822-5200

MEMO followsL

APPEAL TO: Current Government Officials:

FROM: Concerned Alumni

SUBJECT: Truth

It is time for unauthorized truth-telling.

Citizens cannot make informed choices if they do not have the facts-for example, the facts that have been wrongly concealed about the ongoing war in Iraq: the real reasons behind it, the prospective costs in blood and treasure, and the setback it has dealt to efforts to stem terrorism. Administration deception and cover-up on these vital matters has so far been all too successful in misleading the public.

Many Americans are too young to remember Vietnam. Then, as now, senior government officials did not tell the American people the truth. Now, as then, insiders who know better have kept their silence, as the country was misled into the most serious foreign policy disaster since Vietnam.

Some of you have documentation of wrongly concealed facts and analyses that-if brought to light-would impact heavily on public debate regarding crucial matters of national security, both foreign and domestic. We urge you to provide that information now, both to Congress and, through the media, to the public.

Thanks to our First Amendment, there is in America no broad Officials Secrets Act, nor even a statutory basis for the classification system. Only very rarely would it be appropriate to reveal information of the three types whose disclosure has been expressly criminalized by Congress: communications intelligence, nuclear data, and the identity of US intelligence operatives. However, this administration has stretched existing criminal laws to cover other disclosures in ways never contemplated by Congress. 

There is a growing network of support for whistleblowers. In particular, for anyone who wishes to know the legal implications of disclosures they may be contemplating, the ACLU stands ready to provide pro bono legal counsel, with lawyer-client privilege. The Project on Government Oversight (POGO) will offer advice on whistleblowing, dissemination and relations with the media. 

Needless to say, any unauthorized disclosure that exposes your superiors to embarrassment entails personal risk. Should you be identified as the source, the price could be considerable, including loss of career and possibly even prosecution. Some of us know from experience how difficult it is to countenance such costs. But continued silence brings an even more terrible cost, as our leaders persist in a disastrous course and young Americans come home in coffins or with missing limbs.

This is precisely what happened at this comparable stage in the Vietnam War. Some of us live with profound regret that we did not at that point expose the administration's dishonesty and perhaps prevent the needless slaughter of 50,000 more American troops and some 2 to 3 million Vietnamese over the next ten years. We know how misplaced loyalty to bosses, agencies, and careers can obscure the higher allegiance all government officials owe the Constitution, the sovereign public, and the young men and women put in harm's way. We urge you to act on those higher loyalties.

A hundred forty thousand young Americans are risking their lives every day in Iraq for dubious purpose. Our country has urgent need of comparable moral courage from its public officials. Truth-telling is a patriotic and effective way to serve the nation. The time for speaking out is now.

SIGNATORIES

Call to Patriotic Truth Telling

Edward Costello, former special agent (Counterintelligence), Federal Bureau of Investigation

Sibel Edmonds, former language specialist, Federal Bureau of Investigation

Daniel Ellsberg, former official, U.S. Departments of Defense and State

John D. Heinberg, former economist, Employment and Training Administration, U.S. Department of Labor

Larry C. Johnson, former deputy director for Anti-Terrorism Assistance, Transportation Security, and Special Operations, Department of State, Office of the Coordinator for Counter Terrorism

John Brady Kiesling, former political counselor, U.S. Embassy, Athens, Department of State

David MacMichael, former senior Estimates Officer, National Intelligence Council, Central Intelligence Agency

Ray McGovern, former analyst, Central Intelligence Agency

Philip G. Vargas, Ph.D., J.D., Dir. Privacy & Confidentiality Study, Commission on Federal Paperwork (Author/Director: "The Vargas Report on Government Secrecy" -- CENSORED)

Ann Wright, Retired U.S. Army Reserve Colonel and U.S. Foreign Service Officer

Twelve Examples of Existing Documents That Deserve Unauthorized Disclosure:

Each of these-wrongly withheld up till now -- could and should be released almost in their entirety, perhaps with minor deletions for genuine security reasons. (In many cases, official promises to release declassified versions have not been honored.) 

1. Reports by International Committee of the Red Cross (ICRC) on Guantanamo, Abu Ghrab and other prisons (ships, prisons in other countries) that hold prisoners from the "war on terrorism". (These reports have been provided to the US government but have not been made public.)

2. 28 pages redacted from the report of the Joint House-Senate Inquiry on Intelligence Activities before and after 9/11, concerning the ties between the 9/11 terrorists and the government of Saudi Arabia.

3. 800 pages of the United Nations Report on Weapons of Mass Destruction that were taken by the United States during unauthorized Xeroxing and never given to the Security Council members. (The original report was 1200 pages in length but has never been published in its entirety)

4. Membership, advisors, consultants to Vice President Cheney's Energy Task Force, and any minutes from meetings (January - December, 2001).

5. Documents and photographs concerning/produced by military doctors or medical personnel that document abuses toward prisoners condoned by medical personnel.

6. Documents produced by military lawyers and legal staff that challenge the political policy makers decision to undercut the Geneva Conventions and any other extra-legal procedures.

7. The missing sections of the US Army General Taguba report on prisons in Iraq and Afghanistan.

8. Department of Justice-Inspector General (DOJ-IG) Report: RE: Sibel Edmonds vs. FBI, completed, classified

9. DOJ-IG Report: RE: FBI Translation Department (security breaches, intentional mistranslations, espionage charges), completed, classified

10. DOJ-IG Report: RE:FBI & Foreknowledge of 9/11, completed, classified

11. Full staff backup to General Shinseki's 2002 estimate that "several hundred thousand troops" would be required for effective occupation of Iraq.

12. The full 2002 State Department studies on requirements for the postwar occupation and restoration of civil government in Iraq.
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About U.S. Newswire 
U.S. Newswire is a national news release wire service which provides a direct communications system between the world's leading public interest news sources and the news media that cover them. 

Since 1986, organizations small and large - including The White House Press Office - have called on U.S. Newswire's unique resources to provide distribution of press releases and related materials to the news media and online services via USN's electronic wire service feed (the same newswire technology used by the Associated Press), as well as broadcast fax, e-mail, satellite and a broad range of Internet-based news delivery services. 

What's New at U.S. Newswire         Key Events in USN History         Executive Biographies
Key Events in U.S. Newswire History

1986 - U.S. Newswire founded; National Headquarters established in Washington, DC's National Press Building, home to more than 300 national and international news agencies from around the world.

1988 - U.S. Newswire becomes the first national news release wire service to work for a presidential campaign, distributing news and information to media nationwide for both Democatic and Republican candidates. 

1989 - Lexis-Nexis begins archiving all U.S. Newswire content in its research database.

1991 - National and International news organizations hire U.S. Newswire to provide transmission of daily pool reports describing military action in the Persian Gulf War to newsrooms stateside. Work requires seven-day-a-week, 24-hour-a-day operation which proves U.S. Newswire could take on the most demanding job and meet the toughest deadlines.

1992 - U.S. Newswire begins work in its second consecutive presidential election, working for eventual winner Clinton/Gore '92.

1993 - U.S. Newswire becomes the first news release wire service ever selected to distribute news and information to media nationwide for the White House Press Office.

1995 - U.S. Newswire launches www.usnewswire.com, becoming the first national news release wire services to make client news releases available via the Internet.

1996 - U.S. Newswire begins work in its third consecutive presidential election, distributing news and information for both major party candidates.

1999 - U.S. Newswire merges with Medialink Worldwide, Inc. (NASDAQ: MDLK), a leading provider of broadcast video and audio services to the public relations community.

2000 - U.S. Newswire begins work in its fourth consecutive presidential election, providing distribution of news and information for all three top presidential campaigns to media and online services. The 2000 election will turn out to be one of the closest and most controversial in American history.

2000 - America Online (AOL) selects U.S. Newswire as the first ever press release wire service to provide real-time content to AOL News, reaching more than 35 million AOL subscribers worldwide. 

2001 - U.S. Newswire begins work for its second U.S. President, transmitting news and information for the White House Press Office under President George W. Bush.

2001 - Yahoo! Inc. selects U.S. Newswire as the first ever news release wire service to provide content to Yahoo! News, reaching more than 230 million news consumers worldwide.

2002 - U.S. Newswire launches full service photography unit, providing clients with a single-source solution for creating, capturing, producing, distributing and monitoring the usage of quality images from print, broadcast and online media worldwide.

2003 - Google begins including U.S. Newswire news releases in their new Google News service.

2004 - MSNBC.com begins featuring U.S. Newswire news releases in their new NewsBot Web news delivery service.

2004 - U.S. Newswire launches USN NewsClips, a customizable Web-based news monitoring system that continuously monitors and delivers news coverage from than 6,000 of the top print, broadcast and online news outlets worldwide to USN clients.

2004 - U.S. Newswire begins work in in its fifth consecutive presidential election, distributing news and information to media and online services for multiple Democtratic and Republican presidential candidates and political parties. 

MANHATTAN TRANSFERENCE 
Feds Have Not Fully Studied Twin Tower Air Pollution or Treated Victims 

As the third anniversary of the 9/11 terrorist attacks approaches, the federal government has still not comprehensively studied the health effects of the dust and debris that filled the air around Ground Zero in the days following the attacks, and there is still no federal treatment program for those suffering from subsequent ailments.  At this point, it may be too late to answer basic questions about the health impacts of the attacks -- so concludes a study by the Government Accountability Office to be presented to Congress today.  Some 250,000 to 400,000 people were either visiting, living, working, or responding at the scene in Lower Manhattan that day, and while some limited monitoring programs have been established, they are not coordinated, they use varying methods, none are scheduled to extend past 2009, and none have funding to provide treatment.  Despite widespread reports of persistent respiratory problems, the U.S. EPA continues to maintain that the dust that settled over a wide area was relatively safe. 

straight to the source:  The New York Times, Marc Santora, 08 Sep 2004 
<http://www.grist.org/cgi-bin/forward.pl?forward_id=3015> 

see also, in Grist:  Calling 9/11 -- Ground Zero activist cries foul during GOP convention -- by David Epstein 
<http://www.grist.org/comments/dispatches/2004/08/31/epstein-rnc?source=daily>
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Andre Heinz, Kerry's Stepson 

As a committed environmentalist close to the man who may be president of the United States, Andre Heinz could prove a powerful advocate for sustainability.  He is the son of a senator (the late John Heinz, Republican of Pennsylvania) and a philanthropist (Teresa Heinz Kerry), the stepson of a presidential candidate (some guy named Kerry), an associate of visionary enviros including Paul Hawken and William McDonough, an international consultant for sustainable-business advocate The Natural Step, and, of late, a full-time campaigner for his stepdad. 

[image: image1.png]
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	Blow the whistle with responsibility

	
By Eleanor Momberg

Enough is being done to protect whistleblowers, says Public Service Commission director-general Mpume Sikhosana.

"What the problem is, as far as I am concerned, is what I call whistleblowing with responsibility," he said in an interview with the Pretoria News. 

"In a changing situation like we have in most of the departments, there are bound to be casualties of that change, either people who are redundant or people who are unhappy, who did not get the jobs they wanted."

Because of that unhappiness, he said, a number of people had abused legislation protecting whistleblowers "to push their own agendas".

Workers, he said, remained largely ignorant of labour legislation, its clauses protecting whistleblowers and employees, and how it was supposed to be implemented.

Sikhosana believed the country had many good policies which were supposed to protect whistleblowers.

"In our cases, where whistleblowers have reported some kind of victimisation, we have either taken those matters as grievances ... or in some cases we have intervened and talked to the ministers and heads of department and told them to be careful, because the route (they) are taking can be taken on review and so on."

He conceded a number of whistleblowers had turned to the media to reveal alleged corruption and mismanagement when they had been unable to get any help from institutions that were supposed to assist them. But, he said, he could not remember the Public Protector or the PSC turning anyone away.

If these bodies had done so they would themselves become the subject of an investigation, he said. 

"But at the end of the day we are dealing with people. Some managers decide to ignore all those policies."

Sikhosana said anonymous tip-offs, allegations and complaints had been received by the commission against almost every director-general of a government department.

Among the accusations were that the directors-general were either only employing Zulus or Xhosas, or a girlfriend or sister. Also that white directors-general were guilty of racism when they started taking action against poor or non-performers.

Sikhosana said in a number of instances the whistleblower had blown matters out of proportion when accusing a colleague or superior of being involved in irregularities. In most cases this was done without malice. No action was taken against these individuals.

The PSC had, however, learnt that when the accuser revealed his or her name genuine problems were found, he said.

Asked why, in several cases, investigations had been launched into individuals who had blown the whistle on corruption, he said some of these people had only started "blowing the whistle" once they discovered that they, themselves, were being probed.

"But, the bottom line is, there is protection for these people. The problem is when people blow the whistle against you people don't seem to be concerned. It just seems like all whistleblowers are good," he said. 

"The emphasis is on the protection of whistleblowers, which I am concerned is already saturated by policy and so on."

Sikhosana said he wanted to see more attention given to "irresponsible whistleblowing", as people against whom accusations were made in the media, found it very difficult to rebuild their lives once their names were cleared.

While whistleblowers could not always be protected against a vindictive boss, it was up to institutions such as the PSC to ensure that existing legislation protecting people who revealed corruption and other crimes within the public and private sectors was effective, he said. 


Whistling an unhappy tune

Apparently, UK’s www.thelawyer.com
	The Steve Moxon case shows that whistle-blowing legislation may not protect employees if they go to the press. By Jon Robins

	
Some might say that Steve Moxon – the civil servant sacked last month from his job with the Immigration Service for breaching a “contractual duty of confidentiality” – is a whistle-blowing hero. 

One analysis is that Moxon bravely lifted the lid on a nefarious attempt by his bosses to conceal an expected surge in visa applications from new EU members – the scandal that lit the fuse for the resignation of immigration minister Beverly Hughes when Moxon told his story to The Sunday Times. 

Other lawyers feel that the relatively low-level administrative officer enjoying his moment in the limelight a little too much? Moxon, whose previous salary was £12,000 a year, is now a political commentator of sorts and has written a book, reported title The Great Immigration Scandal. He has also labelled the Home Secretary “an extremist” and told one broadcaster that “immigration is out of control”. 

Not surprisingly Moxon would rather be seen as a hero. However, the motives of the whistleblower could become an important feature of his attempt to sue his former bosses for unfair dismissal in the employment tribunal. 

A couple of weeks before Moxon was sacked last month, the Court of Appeal was considering the motives – mixed or pure – of those workers who stand up and are counted. In Street v Derbyshire Unemployed Workers’ Centre, the judges held that an honest belief in the concern was not enough to satisfy the good faith test in the Public Interest Disclosure Act (PIDA) where the disclosure was made for an ulterior purpose. Accepting that mixed motives can be easily attributed, the court held that an ulterior motive can negate PIDA’s good faith requirement only where the tribunal is satisfied that the ulterior motive is the main reason the whistleblower made the disclosure. 

Public Concern at Work, the charity which represents whistleblowers, is anticipating some lawyers, albeit a small number, jumping on the ruling as a way of discrediting employees who seek to rely on a defence under PIDA. “The few lawyers that have actually suggested that everything is up for grabs are actually very blinkered and not thinking about what their clients’ best interests are,” says Guy Dehn, the group’s lawyer-director. In fact, the group gives the appeal judges’ ruling a qualified thumbs-up. “The effect of the previous Employment Appeals Tribunal decision was that the mere suggestion someone has a personal grudge means they aren’t acting in good faith and they’ve rejected that totally,” he continues. He would have liked the appeal judges to have given a more emphatic ruling. “It’s knocked that right out of the ground – but they got a four when they could’ve got a six,” he adds. 

Some commentators have suggested that the Moxon challenge will test the strength – or otherwise – of the whistleblowing legislation. 
Shadow Home Secretary David Davis is “outraged” that the man “primarily responsible for the Government having to take a grip on our failed immigration policy” has been so punished. “What this means is that under this Government, PIDA has lost any force or meaning,” he argues. 

Dehn, who is not representing Moxon, strongly resists any analysis of the civil servant’s challenge as a test for the legislation. “The success of PIDA doesn’t rely on the Moxon case by any stretch of the imagination. Steve Moxon would love everyone to think that it does but it doesn’t,” he says. 

So will the civil servant be protected by the legislation introduced by New Labour in 1998? “If the disclosure is going to be a qualifying disclosure for the act it has to be one of a number of things,” says Christine Jenner, an assistant in the employment department at Macfarlanes. As she points out, the sorts of wrongdoing that PIDA seeks to expose, and which are qualifying disclosures under the act, include criminal offences (“I don’t think so,” says Jenner on whether it could apply to Moxon); the breaching of legal obligations (“arguable”); dangers to health or safety of individuals (“no”); damage to the environment (“no”); and miscarriages of justice (“arguable – it could be said that some people are getting into the country at the expense of others”). If that is established, then Moxon has to demonstrate that the disclosure was made to the right person, and that he only went to The Sunday Times because he could not go to his bosses within his department. 

“There is an issue about the degree to which he explained to ministers what the real issues were and it’s been reported that the story he gave to The Sunday Times was more extensive than the internal complaints he made,” says Steve Lorber, a partner in the employment and incentives group at Lewis Silkin. “Unless it is absolutely clear that you have to go to the press to blow the whistle, you might lose the protection of the legislation.” 

Now the courts will have to deal with Street v Derbyshire Unemployed Workers’ Centre. “It’s undoubtedly put an extra hurdle in front of applicants seeking to use the whistleblower legislation,” says Raymond Jeffers, chair of the Employment Lawyers Association and head of employment at Linklaters. “It creates rather difficult factual issues in the tribunals if you now have to show a proper motive or, in the negative, you have to show no ulterior motive,” he says. However, Jeffers is comfortable with the appeal judges’ ruling that the good faith requirement should operate in this way. He says: “There has to be some element of public interest – after all, it’s called the Public Interest Disclosure Act – and it shouldn’t be used by people to extract retribution against colleagues or put pressure on an employer through litigation.” 


PIDA came into force five years ago. Public Concern at Work has just launched a review of the legislation and is currently seeking views as to how it is working. If you wish to be added to the list of consultees, contact them on review@pcaw.co.uk. 


Energy Industry Funnels Millions into Unregulated Convention Parties 

The energy industry is treating Republicans to a gay old time in New York City this week, hosting a plethora of parties for favored politicians and others attending the GOP convention:  a ball, a concert, a trap shoot, a honky-tonk salute, even a soiree with scantily clad acrobats swinging from the rafters.  The American Gas Association, the Edison Electric Institute, the National Mining Association, and the Nuclear Energy Institute are among the most generous sponsors.  Martin E. Edwards of the Interstate Natural Gas Association of America says there's no lobbying at these bashes. "It's kind of an opportunity to socialize with policymakers and politically active folks," he explains.  Millions are being spent on the parties, above and beyond the $2.1 million that the Bush-Cheney campaign has already collected from the energy, utility, and mining industries. 

straight to the source:  Los Angeles Times, Lisa Getter, 02 Sep 2004 
<http://www.gristmagazine.com/cgi-bin/forward.pl?forward_id=2933>

When 'Balance' Is Bias - Global Warming Coverage 

Source: University of California Santa Cruz 
[Aug 26, 2004] 

Top U.S. newspapers' focus on balance skewed coverage of global warming, analysis reveals 

SANTA CRUZ, CA--Reporters and editors at four of the nation's top newspapers adhered to the journalistic norm of balance at the expense of accurately reporting scientific understanding of the human contributions to global warming, according to an analysis that appears in the current issue of the journal Global Environmental Change. 
The new study, "Balance as Bias: Global Warming and the U.S. Prestige Press," examined coverage of human contributions to global warming in the New York Times, the Washington Post, the Los Angeles Times, and the Wall Street Journal from 1988 to 2002 to assess how scientific findings were conveyed to readers. 

"By giving equal time to opposing views, these newspapers significantly downplayed scientific understanding of the role humans play in global warming," said researcher Maxwell T. Boykoff, a doctoral candidate in environmental studies at the University of California, Santa Cruz, who coauthored the paper with his brother, Jules M. Boykoff, a visiting assistant professor of politics at Whitman College. 

"We respect the need to represent multiple viewpoints, but when generally agreed-upon scientific findings are presented side-by-side with the viewpoints of a handful of skeptics, readers are poorly served," added Boykoff. "In this case, it contributed to public confusion and opened the door to political maneuvering." 

In a thorough analysis of 636 articles, the Boykoffs found that: 

· 52.7 percent gave "roughly equal attention" to the views that humans contribute to global warming and that climate change is exclusively the result of natural fluctuations. 

· 35.3 percent emphasized the role of humans while presenting both sides of the debate, which the Boykoffs said more accurately reflected scientific thinking about global warming. 

· 6.2 percent emphasized the dubious nature of the claim that anthropogenic global warming exists. 

· 5.8 percent contained exclusive coverage of human contributions to Earth's temperature increases.

Although some media analysts assert that coverage improved as scientific understanding grew, the study suggests otherwise. Recognizing the challenges of characterizing the views of the scientific community on a controversial topic, the Boykoffs focused on the findings of groups like the United Nations-sponsored Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, which was created in 1988. The scientific community reached general consensus by late 1990 that immediate action should be taken to combat global warming, yet media coverage lagged through 2001, according to the Boykoffs. 

The researchers chose 1988 as the beginning of the sample period because events that year sensitized the public to the idea of global warming: NASA scientist James Hansen testified to the U.S. Congress about the presence of anthropogenic global warming and the immediate need for action; British Prime Minister Margaret Thatcher warned in a speech that with global warming, "we may have unwittingly begun a massive experiment with the system of the planet itself"; and a major heat wave and drought hit North America. 

In compiling their sample, the researchers focused on news stories. Of 3,543 articles, approximately 41 percent came from the New York Times, 29 percent from the Washington Post, 25 percent from the Los Angeles Times, and 5 percent from the Wall Street Journal. The Boykoffs randomly selected 636 articles, representing 18.4 percent of the total, then analyzed the content on two subjects: anthropogenic global warming, and what should be done about global warming; they then rated articles according to the dominant themes of each one. 

"We were not exploring ideological bias in the news media--whether reporters are liberal or conservative," said Boykoff. "We looked at how the journalistic norm of presenting competing points of view contributed to informational bias and the disconnect between scientific findings and public understanding." 

The researchers also documented trends in coverage, attributing one shift--from a focus on anthropogenic contributions in 1988-1990 to "balanced" accounts--to the "increasingly complex politicization of the global warming issue" and the "well-publicized research efforts of skeptics." 

They also note the role of concerted "disinformation" campaigns funded by carbon-based industries that catered to journalists' need to represent opposing viewpoints. One proposal, leaked to the press, advocated recruiting a "cadre of scientists who share the industry's views of climate science and to train them in public relations so they can help convince journalists, politicians and the public that the risk of global warming is too uncertain to justify." With a $600,000 media-relations budget, the campaign was designed to target science writers, editors, columnists, and television reporters with the explicit goal of undercutting prevailing scientific wisdom in the press, according to the Boykoffs. 

The Boykoffs found that in 1989 and 1990, government officials, armed with the assertions of skeptics, surpassed scientists as the most cited source in prestige-press articles. Calling for more research as a precursor to taking mandatory action, these politicians contributed to coverage that indicated an even split within the scientific community, at a time of general agreement among scientists about the existence of anthropogenic influences on global warming. 

Boykoff reports that coverage of "what to do about global warming" reflects a similar balance-as-bias gulf, with 78 percent of articles from 1988 through 2002 featuring "balanced" coverage of courses of action that ranged from cautious to urgent and from voluntary to mandatory, even as pleas from scientists became more urgent. In 1990, more than 700 scientists at the World Climate Conference urged countries to "take immediate actions to control the risks of climate change," and an agenda of mandatory action came out of the 1992 Earth Summit in Rio de Janeiro. 

"In light of general agreement in the international scientific community that mandatory and immediate action is needed, coverage has been seriously and systematically deficient," said Boykoff. "In effect, the press has provided 'balanced' coverage of a very unbalanced issue." 

------------------------------------------- 

Editor's Note: Max Boykoff may be reached at (831) 247-5771, via e-mail at max@duyure.org, or through Jennifer McNulty in the UCSC Public Information Office (831) 459-4399; jmcnulty@ucsc.edu.
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Enviro Justice Center Works to Link Green and Civil-Rights Movements 

Environmental degradation often falls hardest on poor and minority communities, but these communities can have difficulty organizing to fight for environmental justice, and they've received too little help from a mainstream environmental movement perceived as a white, middle- and upper-class affair.  Sociology professor Robert Bullard started the Environmental Justice Resource Center in Atlanta to connect the groups.  It started with a battle against MARTA, Atlanta's public transit agency, to replace the polluting diesel buses serving poor and black communities with cleaner models.  In the decade since, the center has served as a clearinghouse for information on environmental racism, working to link disadvantaged communities, civil-rights groups, and mainstream environmental groups.  Bullard hails the growing environmental justice movement, saying that 20 years ago, "We would just get beat up.  But now, when we get together, it's a fearsome force." 

straight to the source:  The Courier-Journal, Associated Press, Greg Bluestein, 29 Aug 2004

Environmental racism opposed
Center brings groups together

Appears Sunday, Aug 29, 2004  www.courier-journal.com   By Greg Bluestein
Associated Press
ATLANTA — Before Robert Bullard started an environmental justice center, groups serving minorities who rely on the city's public transit system had never joined forces to protest the agency's policies. 

People in predominantly black south Atlanta were upset their heavily used bus routes were being served by polluting diesel vehicles while less-traveled routes in the area's majority white northern suburbs used buses fueled by cleaner-burning natural gas. 

"People would say, 'Why do we always get the run-down dirty buses?' but they didn't do anything about it," said Bullard, director of the Environmental Justice Resource Center at Clark Atlanta University. 

So the sociology professor stepped in to tackle what he said no mainstream environment group would do: Unite 13 groups upset with the agency's policies. 

With Bullard's help and training, they jointly filed a complaint in 2000 accusing the city's transit agency, MARTA, of racial discrimination. 

Since then, MARTA has hired its first black general manager, upgraded several south Atlanta train stations, installed more bus shelters in poor neighborhoods and replaced old buses with 50 "clean diesel" vehicles. 

Bridging cultures 

The center, which Bullard calls a clearinghouse of resources to fight environmental racism, has been working for 10 years to bridge disagreements between environmental groups and blacks. 

Many blacks are more concerned with the environmental justice movement, which often fights against putting industrial projects in disadvantaged neighborhoods. 

"Rich people don't live near garbage dumps," Bullard said. 

Incinerators and waste-treatment plants are often built following the path of least resistance, Bullard said, a path that typically leads to poor, minority neighborhoods. 

But mainstream environmental groups often do not complain when companies build industrial facilities in minority communities, said Kent Portney, a Tufts University professor who teaches environmental politics classes. 

Enter Bullard's group, which tries to link mainstream groups with minority activists. 

To that end, the center distributes a free, 256-page listing of international minority environmental groups, divided by state and country. In Georgia alone, 21 groups are listed. 

Bullard's center has six employees who field dozens of calls and e-mail requests each week from communities often reluctant to turn to established environmental groups. 

It's a problem some environmentalists say won't be solved until mainstream groups reach out to minorities. But some organizations have been hesitant to create such outreach programs; others, like the Nature Conservancy, adhere to policies based on other agendas. 

"We take a real science-based approach to our work," said I. Ling Matthews, an associate director of the group. That approach homes in "on what are the most important areas in the state. It's all about the land and the water." 

The Sierra Club sponsors minority outreach programs and runs environmental justice projects throughout the country. Bullard said he still has a tough time persuading some civil-rights groups to embrace environmental issues. 

"We've had to dispel the myth that the environment is a white, middle-class issue and fight to convince civil-rights groups that the environment should be on their agendas," Bullard said. 

Civil-rights groups often don't protest — and sometimes even applaud — the placement of industrial facilities in minority areas because they could bring jobs. 

Those jobs, though, often go to certified people from outside the community. So Bullard's center runs a training session several times a year to help residents obtain the necessary training to qualify for job openings. 

National clout 

Bullard said the black environmental movement is gaining national clout, and similar resource centers have opened in Texas, Florida and Louisiana. 

In 1991 and 2002, black environmental leaders organized summits that led to the creation of a national network of experts that can go toe to toe with industrial giants. 

"Twenty years ago, we lost a lot. ... We would just get beat up," Bullard said. "But now, when we get together it's a fearsome force." 

Robert Bullard, a sociology professor and director of the Environmental Justice Resource Center at Clark Atlanta University, stood in his office with blowups of the covers of two of his books. The center tries to link mainstream groups with minority activists.
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FAVORITE WEBSITES FOR BOARD MEMBERS 
In the dozens of answers from Board Cafe readers, the most 
interesting fact is that hardly any websites were 
mentioned more than once.  Many board members appreciate 
sites that are about their field-such as disabilities 
(http://www.ilru.org) or private schools 
(http://www.caisca.org)-which reminds me that as board 
members, we often don't know the field our organizations 
work in-and a quick place for independent information is a 
great thing to ask for from our executive directors.  
Three sites from readers especially worth a look: 

* http://www.irs.gov/charities/ --the official IRS site 
that includes rules and guides (such as "A Charity Guide 
to Car Donations") and forms to download and fill out 
(such as Form 990 due every year for most nonprofits) 

Non-profit Cinsultancy

How should I interview a consultant? 
The interview process isn't mysterious. Essentially, you'll be conducting your interviews with prospective consultants in the same spirit and format that has successfully served you in the past to fill staff positions.

Nevertheless, there are some crucial differences. Given the broad impact that the consultant can have on your organization, you may want to assemble a more diverse interview team -- including the executive director, senior staff, a board member, and other people whose working relationship with the consultant will have a direct impact on the success of the project.

You should interview at least two prospective consultants -- even if you have already identified a probable candidate for the job. Talking in depth with consultants from different backgrounds who may have different approaches or techniques will help you refine your own understanding of your organizational dilemma, while simultaneously allowing you to compare the candidates' respective merits. During the interviews, make certain that you ask each candidate the same questions so that you can establish a fair standard for comparison.

As with most evaluative tasks, your ability to gauge the consultant's skills will be informed by your own degree of organizational self-knowledge. In the best of all possible worlds, you would be able to define your group's problem, stipulate the background, expertise, and services you're seeking, and characterize the kind of relationship you want to cultivate with the consultant for a prescribed period of time. In reality, you may find that you need to hire a consultant initially to help articulate the problems you face. Indeed, this is inevitably the first step in solving them.

As you interview your candidates, pay attention not only to their answers -- but also their personal manner and professional style. 

GOOD LISTENING
Does the consultant pay attention to what you're saying and respond appropriately -- or does he only talk about his own accomplishments?

PRACTICAL DISENGAGEMENT 
Does it seem that this candidate will be able to provide the objectivity you need in an outside expert?

BROAD EXPERIENCE
Does your candidate have relevant experience to draw on in helping put your issues in perspective?

INSIDE INFORMATION
Does the consultant grasp your mission and organizational style? Has he bothered to learn anything about your group prior to the interview?


What questions should I ask a prospective consultant? 
What strengths do you possess that will prove particularly helpful in connection with this project? 

Have you worked on similar projects or consulted with other groups facing problems similar to ours? What did you learn from the experience? What would you do differently if you could repeat the experience?

How would you describe the challenges we face from the limited amount you now know about us?

Describe your work process. How would you work with our staff, board, and executive director?

Are there other members of your consulting team who would be working with you? Who are they? How would you propose to divide up the tasks among your team members? When can we interview them?

What problems do you anticipate as we begin to work together? How can we best address these problems early on?

Talk about the responsibilities we must assume in order to make our work together successful.

Are you available to complete this work during the time we've specified?

And finally: What else should we be asking you? What else should we know about you, your experience or about what it would be like to work together?


How should I check a consultant's references? 
Checking your consultant's references is absolutely essential. It's the only way you can distinguish between an accomplished professional with a track record of genuine success and somebody who merely excels at interviews.

Ask your prospective consultant for a recent, complete client list. Pick from this list rather than the two or three names the consultant might otherwise give you. You should look for at least three organizations similar to yours -- or groups that have worked with the consultant on problems related to the ones you now face.

In each case, call the person who supervised the consultant's work directly-- in most cases, the executive director or a board member. Begin your talk with an open-ended question. For example: "We're thinking about hiring Joanne Expert to train our board in fundraising. I understand she did some similar work for you. How did that work out?"

In the best case, you'll have a brief conversation covering the nature of consultant's duties, her strengths, any problems that may have arisen during the collaboration, and the palpable results of the consultant's efforts. But, you might run into somebody who’s reluctant to talk. Today many managers will not comment about the performance of their former employees -- or consultants -- because they fear a law suit if their negative recommendation results in a loss of work.

If you meet resistance, ask the reference to simply verify the basics: 1.) the kind of problem that the consultant addressed; 2.) her duties; and 3.) the duration of the work. Then prod gently with another question to gain more subjective insight, such as: "Would you hire this person again?" or "Would you recommend this consultant to a colleague?'

Whether the reference is forthcoming or reserved, you should pay attention to what's not being said. If the reference talks only about the consultant's punctuality, good attitude, and pleasing manner, be sure to ask if her intervention actually achieved the desired results. Ask as well if the job was accomplished at the negotiated price -- or whether any troubling cost overruns occurred.

At some point, you may find it helpful to express your own theories. ("I have this sense that Joanne Expert may not be completely comfortable working with a large board. What was your experience?)

Finally, you should end with another open-ended question that gives the reference one last chance to expand on their previous comments. "What else you tell me about Joanne Expert?" or, "If you had it to do over again, are there any aspects of the project or of working with Joanne Expert that you would approach differently?"


What are the client's responsibilities in working with a consultant? 
The consultant cannot take all the credit or blame for the outcome of your work together. As a client, you also have several important responsibilities.

HONESTY
Throughout the relationship, you must be consistently frank and forthcoming about the problems that face your organization. Though it may be difficult, you must put aside your embarrassment and fears -- and tell your consultant the entire story.

FOLLOW-THROUGH
Over time, your staff and board will probably agree to undertake a number of tasks related to the consultant's intervention. Some tasks may be routine, such as attending meetings. Others, such as conducting research or writing reports, might prove demanding and time-consuming. Do not make these commitments unless you can keep them. Above all else, the consulting relationship is a collaboration. You must hold up your end.

COMMUNICATION
The arrival of a new consultant may spark fear, suspicion, and rumors -- particularly if your organization is suffering through a period of acute turmoil and uncertainty. Determine early on how much and what kinds of information regarding the consultant's work needs to be shared with the key staff and board members.

LEARNING FROM THE EXPERIENCE
In some instances, the consultant may be able to teach new skills to the staff and board that they will use again in the future. If you can incorporate the consultant's best insights and techniques into your own organizational practice, you may be able to handle problems on your own next time around.

WILLINGNESS TO CHANGE
The consultant's work will often conclude with a recommendation for some variety of organizational change. Whatever its magnitude, only you can finally decide whether the prescription for change is justifiable and correct -- and then summon up the energy, flexibility, and courage to take the necessary next steps.

ENDING THE UNPRODUCTIVE RELATIONSHIP
Sometimes the collaboration with the consultant simply does not work out. Perhaps you've hired the wrong person for the job. Maybe the consultant doesn't possess the right skills or experience. Whatever the reason, you have a responsibility to end the relationship as soon as you're convinced that it will fail. While firing somebody is never pleasant, this task shouldn't present any special difficulties. Consultants live and die by their reputations; they have everything to gain by making the termination as painless and private as possible.
What is social entrepreneurism? 
	Thanks to the Roberts Enterprise Development Fund for contributing this FAQ.

"I hear a lot of people use really similar phrases to describe what sound
like the same things: venture development, community wealth creation,
social ventures, social entrepreneurs, social entrepreneurship, nonprofit
enterprise, affirmative business, social purpose business, and
microenterprise? What are the differences and similarities?"



Given that the emerging field of social entrepreneurism has grown out of a
number of fields, including business, social welfare, community
development, community service and international development, it is no
wonder there are a variety of approaches and various terms to describe the
work in which we are engaged!

At its core, people are talking about two things: individuals and
organizations. Individuals in this field are often called social
entrepreneurs. These people engage in their work in a variety of innovative
ways: through for-profit companies which pursue socially responsible
business practice; through nonprofit organizations operating ventures which
create economic opportunity for others; and through nonprofit organizations
which are founded as an innovative response to a particular social issue or
cause. In all fairness, the people who plan, launch and manage all these
types of organizations could be called Social Entrepreneurs. The key point
here is that Social Entrepreneurs are people who attempt to take innovative
approaches to social and other issues, most often with the use of
traditional business skills applied in order to achieve some type of social
goal.

From an organizational perspective, there are two forms of social
entrepreneurship: nonprofit and for-profit. In the for-profit arena, a
corporation that pursues "enlightened capitalism" could be said to be a
socially responsible business. The Social Venture Network and Business for
Social Responsibility both work with such corporations and business people.
The nonprofit sector is itself, quite large and diverse (as are the
resources available to them-- see for example, CompassPoint
Nonprofit Services). Some nonprofits are focused on the goal of assisting individuals
in launching their own small, for-profit businesses. The practice of
assisting individuals who are members of "disadvantaged" communities to
start their own businesses is referred to as microenterprise or
self-employment. The Association for Enterprise Opportunity works to assist
nonprofits in the United States that are pursuing self-employment
strategies.

Terms such as a nonprofit enterprise, social purpose venture, community
wealth venture and affirmative business, all speak to the practice of
nonprofit organizations operating ventures to create economic value and/or
create supported employment and training opportunities to those
transitioning into the economic mainstream. In general, these efforts could
be thought of as spanning a continuum ranging from those that engage in
fee-for-service activities, to those that engage in a variety of
corporate/nonprofit partnerships (such as cause-related marketing or
"cross-branding" efforts), to those which operate revenue generating
ventures employing a particular client population. In discussing any given
organization's efforts, it is obviously important to understand how they
view themselves along that continuum. For example, the work of the Roberts
Enterprise Development Fund focuses primarily upon supporting nonprofits
engaged in enterprise creation as a way of providing transitional and
permanent employment to homeless and very low-income individuals.

The Roberts Enterprise Development Fund is a philanthropic venture of The Roberts Foundation. More information is available on their website at http://www.redf.org or by contacting them at P.O. Box 29926, San Francisco, CA 94129-0266 or by phone at (415) 561-6677.
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Isn't it illegal for a nonprofit to run a for-profit business? What are the
laws and regulations regarding the creation of nonprofit enterprises?

Not necessarily. nonprofit organizations are clearly prohibited from
engaging in ongoing commercial or other activities which profit an
individual or outside interest; however, all nonprofits should be
profitable, or you would be out of business and unable to pursue your
charitable mission! In general, nonprofit organizations may operate
"business" ventures to the degree that those ventures are directly related
to the pursuit of the social mission of the nonprofit. They may even
operate out and out for-profit ventures as subsidiary corporations-but need
appropriate legal council every step of the way, since each situation is
different and has different implications for the sponsoring organization.
You should always be sure to secure solid legal advice if and when you are
considering any of these types of ventures.

There is no single law book regarding this process. In general, the legal
"code" for nonprofit enterprise consists of existing regulations as well as
a series of IRS private letter rulings over the course of the last 30
years. Each of these is specific to the original case and jurisdiction and
is not pertinent to every other situation that might arise for a nonprofit
executing these strategies. However, they do give a general indication as
to how the IRS views various types of nonprofit business or job creation
activities.

Many communities have nonprofit resource centers that may have libraries
with helpful guidance on this issue. For example, The National Economic
Development and Law Center (510-251-2600) can provide you with advice and documentation
regarding many of the legal ramifications of creating a business venture
out of a nonprofit. Other resources may be found on our "Friends of the
Family" page. The key point to understand is that each organization is
different with different conditions. Again, anyone considering engaging in
community wealth creation and nonprofit enterprise should be sure to
consult informed legal counsel in order to best understand how to structure
the effort and limit the liabilities to the sponsoring organization. Don't
take the information on this Web Site or any other resource at face value.
Talk to an attorney!!

The Roberts Enterprise Development Fund is a philanthropic venture of The Roberts Foundation. More information is available on their website at http://www.redf.org or by contacting them at P.O. Box 29926, San Francisco, CA 94129-0266 or by phone at (415) 561-6677.
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What are the reasons for creating nonprofit enterprise?

Basically, there are two reasons an organization might pursue nonprofit
enterprise:

1.As a strategy to further its social mission, for example to create
transitional and permanent job creation to benefit a targeted population.
2.As a source of earned income as part of a strategy to diversify the
revenue base.

The Roberts Enterprise Development Fund is a philanthropic venture of The Roberts Foundation. More information is available on their website at http://www.redf.org or by contacting them at P.O. Box 29926, San Francisco, CA 94129-0266 or by phone at (415) 561-6677.
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What are the reasons for not attempting to launch a nonprofit enterprise?

It should be understood that launching a nonprofit enterprise is not going
to solve your organization's problems-it will simply alter the type of
challenges you have to deal with! It's important to understand that over
the years many nonprofits have failed to successfully pursue this strategy,
and nonprofit enterprise creation should probably not be motivated by a
simple desire to replace lost funding or increase income. These types of
ventures are not easy, and there is no quick return for the investment of
money, time and energy. However, if you are interested in providing
employment and training opportunities to individuals who have experienced
chronic unemployment or if you are seeking a way to diversify your revenue
base, launching a nonprofit enterprise may be for you.

The Roberts Enterprise Development Fund is a philanthropic venture of The Roberts Foundation. More information is available on their website at http://www.redf.org or by contacting them at P.O. Box 29926, San Francisco, CA 94129-0266 or by phone at (415) 561-6677.
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How do I go about starting a nonprofit enterprise?

There are a variety of ways to start this process, but it all boils down to
knowing your organization's current capacity, understanding what "value"
you may have in the market place, and identifying what, if any, competitive
advantage you may have, both as a nonprofit and potentially as a for-profit
entity.

You might begin by doing a self-assessment of your organization, identifying
your current strengths and position as a nonprofit.

At a minimum, ask yourself the following questions about your agency:

1.What is our core mission and reason for existence? What do our articles of
incorporation say? What do our employees say? What do our clients or
communities of interest say?
2.How do we currently deploy our resources in support of that mission?
3.Do we use our resources as effectively as we could to pursue our mission?

4.Are there activities that really don't relate to our mission and that we
could transfer to another nonprofit with greater capacity to deliver that
service or program?
5.Are there other organizations in our area that could provide these
services more effectively than our organization?
6.What are our total assets (financial, real estate, volunteer,
professional, etc.)?
7.What are our significant liabilities and challenges? (carrying debt, no
financial stability, etc.)?
8.Is it possible for us to develop earned income based on any of our current
activities?
9.Can we modify something we currently provide for free into a product or
service for which we could charge fees?

When considering enterprise activities, it might be helpful to think about
those possibilities in the following order:

Those directly related to our mission
Those less related to our mission
Those not related to our mission

Start from the inside and work outward. The further away you get from your
mission as a nonprofit enterprise, the more likely you are to fail since
you will have less expertise and may encounter increasing levels of risk.
Historically, those enterprise activities with which a nonprofit had no
prior experience or expertise have seen a higher failure rate than those
that were directly grounded in the experience or background of the
sponsoring organization.

The Roberts Enterprise Development Fund is a philanthropic venture of The Roberts Foundation. More information is available on their website at http://www.redf.org or by contacting them at P.O. Box 29926, San Francisco, CA 94129-0266 or by phone at (415) 561-6677.
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How do we educate ourselves on these issues?

This is not rocket science. The challenge is how to integrate business
principles into the nonprofit marketplace. Read our book, New Social
Entrepreneurs and become familiar with other resources available to you.

Find information based in actual experience, not on theory or philosophy
(And don't launch your enterprise based upon someone else's vision-base
your expectations on others' direct experiences and your dreams on your own
desires!) Conduct informational interviews with groups that are actually
engaged in the type of work you are researching. While you will certainly
put your own spin on your approach, many of the ventures you will consider
will be in existing markets with existing nonprofit and/or for-profit
practitioners from whom you may learn.

The greatest challenge is how to reach people, obtain information and
support.

The Roberts Enterprise Development Fund is a philanthropic venture of The Roberts Foundation. More information is available on their website at http://www.redf.org or by contacting them at P.O. Box 29926, San Francisco, CA 94129-0266 or by phone at (415) 561-6677.
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How do we determine what kind of business to start?

DEFINE GOALS, ASSESS ORGANIZATION AND COMMUNITY

Why do we want to start a business venture? What are our goals?
Prioritize goals.
How does creation of a business venture fit with our organization's
mission?
What other organizational issues need to be addressed?
In what areas does our organization excel, what are our strengths?
What resources/facilities do we have that might be of use in a business
venture?
What aspects of our community might affect a business venture?


DEVELOP VENTURE CRITERIA

What is the primary goal for the venture?
What are the employment impact goals for the venture?
What are the community impact goals for the venture?
What staffing goals do we have for this project?
What are our financial and timeline goals?


PRE-FEASIBILITY STAGE: ELIMINATE BAD BUSINESS IDEAS

Products or services
The market and the competition
Operating requirements
Management requirements
Employment requirements
Financial requirements
Special considerations
Summary


FEASIBILITY STUDY

Product or service
Market analysis
Operations
Organization and Management
Financial Analysis
Development Requirements
Critical Risks and Opportunities

You should also read books from your local library on small business
development and contact your local office of the Small Business
Administration.

The Roberts Enterprise Development Fund is a philanthropic venture of The Roberts Foundation. More information is available on their website at http://www.redf.org or by contacting them at P.O. Box 29926, San Francisco, CA 94129-0266 or by phone at (415) 561-6677.
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What will be the impact of this on our organization? Should I anticipate
board and staff changes?

"If you like your staff, board, and clients the way they are, then don't do
this because it will change everything."
(a REDF Portfolio Executive Director).

Nothing is constant but change. The pursuit of nonprofit enterprise will
mean you yourself will change, as well as everything else. You will need
new skills, your organization will need new resources and perhaps
structures, and your clients will face new expectations. The whole point,
however, is that at some level what you have pursued in the past will never
be what you pursue in the future. nonprofit enterprise creation provides
you with an opportunity to reinvent your organization in anticipation of
the challenges of the next century. Remember, this is not survival of the
strongest or the biggest-it's survival of the fittest: Change or Die!

The Roberts Enterprise Development Fund is a philanthropic venture of The Roberts Foundation. More information is available on their website at http://www.redf.org or by contacting them at P.O. Box 29926, San Francisco, CA 94129-0266 or by phone at (415) 561-6677.
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How much will it cost? How much do we need to have to launch our business?


It depends. How much time will you need to have to plan your venture? What
are the costs associated with a solid planning effort? What are the
specific capital requirements of your business idea? Staff and volunteers
must be willing to make the time investment BEFORE you consider investing
money in it. Without a doubt, whatever you do will probably cost more, take
longer, and be more difficult to successfully execute than you may want to
think. However, remember: While it's not for the faint of heart, staying
the course will probably cost you and your organization more in the long
run. If you manage your resources effectively and spend only what you
should, you will find that while it may not be an inexpensive change, it
may well be the most effective investment you have made in the pursuit of
your mission.

The Roberts Enterprise Development Fund is a philanthropic venture of The Roberts Foundation. More information is available on their website at http://www.redf.org or by contacting them at P.O. Box 29926, San Francisco, CA 94129-0266 or by phone at (415) 561-6677.
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How do I convince my board?

Every change effort evolves in different ways. Some are led by the board,
some are led by staff and others are driven by the consumers of your
program or service. In general, your idea should have a champion to engage
others in a discussion of the idea. Not all questions need to be answered
ahead of time, but as a rule, you must have an organizational willingness
at least to pursue the questions openly. An important strategy is to
include one or more representatives from the "doubters" in the planning
process. They need to have the opportunity to raise all the tough questions
up front and, as the process evolves, could become your biggest supporters.
Above all else, you should not try to stifle opposition during the planning
stages. However, there comes a time in every organization when a decision
must be made on the course and direction of the future. If you feel the
boat is sinking and off course, you may find that it is time to change
ships!

The Roberts Enterprise Development Fund is a philanthropic venture of The Roberts Foundation. More information is available on their website at http://www.redf.org or by contacting them at P.O. Box 29926, San Francisco, CA 94129-0266 or by phone at (415) 561-6677.
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What are the eight most critical success factors?

1.Existence of or the ability to create a strong entrepreneurial team
2.A comprehensive planning process
3.Identification of a compelling business opportunity
4.Understanding your unique, competitive edge
5.Finding a fit with your overall goals and needs
6.The possibility to 
7.Existence of adequate financial controls and tools for planning and
monitoring the effort
8.Access to long-term, adequate and appropriate financing

The Roberts Enterprise Development Fund is a philanthropic venture of The Roberts Foundation. More information is available on their website at http://www.redf.org or by contacting them at P.O. Box 29926, San Francisco, CA 94129-0266 or by phone at (415) 561-6677. 
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Should a businessperson or a nonprofit person manage the business?
Should she have an MBA or an MSW?

It's important to understand that many different skills and talents are
called upon to create the successful venture. However, having said that, if
you are engaging in any type of business development it is critical that
your organization has managers with real, demonstrated business skills and
experience. A fundamental skill set should include:

Comfort with numbers and an ability to use financial calculations to help
keep the venture on track 
Understanding of market dynamics
Ability to manage time, people and priorities
Ability to operate in a constantly changing environment

Additionally, it is especially helpful if your manager knows the particular
industry that is the focus of your business.

The Roberts Enterprise Development Fund is a philanthropic venture of The Roberts Foundation. More information is available on their website at http://www.redf.org or by contacting them at P.O. Box 29926, San Francisco, CA 94129-0266 or by phone at (415) 561-6677. 
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How do you draw these excellent people to your venture opportunity? Should
we pay market rate for a for-profit manager or market rate for a nonprofit
manager?

Every nonprofit enterprise must confront a core truth: if you want a
profitable, sustainable business, you must pay for managers who are able to
create market-based value -- which in this case means money. If you want a
former social worker to run your business like a program area, fine. What
you will get is a new program area for your organization. If you want a
venture that is economically successful, you will need managers able to
deliver. They may come out of the nonprofit sector, but they MUST have the
appropriate skill set to bring you the success you deserve. In order to get
that experience, you may find that you will have to pay a business manager
more than a program manager. This can be a difficult issue for any
nonprofit to address, however it is also an important one for each
organization to come to terms with. Ultimately, the goal of the social
purpose enterprise is to get to a financial stage where it can pay market
rate compensation to both managers and employees.

The Roberts Enterprise Development Fund is a philanthropic venture of The Roberts Foundation. More information is available on their website at http://www.redf.org or by contacting them at P.O. Box 29926, San Francisco, CA 94129-0266 or by phone at (415) 561-6677. 
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Can the nonprofit sector really create jobs in the mainstream economy?

Yes and No! The marketplace creates employment opportunities with greater
and lesser degrees of success. nonprofit enterprise is not a panacea for
poverty or a replacement for the operation of market forces. What
nonprofits can do is create transitional jobs for those attempting to
re-enter or join the economic mainstream. The nonprofit sector is ideally
positioned to fill that social need in a way that the for-profit sector
will never be positioned to do. In the process of creating these
transitional employment opportunities, the nonprofit sector will certainly
create some number of market-based, "permanent" jobs. However it would be
foolish to think that nonprofits, with their social mission, increased
costs of providing support services and other burdens, would ever be able
to create more jobs than those for-profit businesses operating without
community expectations and demands.

The Roberts Enterprise Development Fund is a philanthropic venture of The Roberts Foundation. More information is available on their website at http://www.redf.org or by contacting them at P.O. Box 29926, San Francisco, CA 94129-0266 or by phone at (415) 561-6677.




Should I bring in a consultant? How do I know when to do so? 
	Thanks to the Roberts Enterprise Development Fund for contributing this FAQ.

Should I bring in a consultant? How do I know when to do so?

There are some things to look for and be aware of when hiring consultants:


How much actual experience do they have in the same business you are
doing? Ask for examples of their work and references for agencies where
they've done the exact same thing Do they have experience in the
operational side of business, not just planning? Are they familiar with
only large business or small business?

A general rule of thumb is to remember that consultants should be used to
improve your knowledge of how to successfully engage in this work-not
replace your efforts or act as your proxy! Regardless of the specific task
at hand, you should find a consultant who is committed to a process of
"knowledge transfer" whereby you learn how to engage in the analysis
yourself. Remember: When your venture opens its doors you need to be the
one who understands how to run it and how to overcome the challenges you
confront-not your consultant!

The Roberts Enterprise Development Fund is a philanthropic venture of The Roberts Foundation. More information is available on their website at http://www.redf.org or by contacting them at P.O. Box 29926, San Francisco, CA 94129-0266 or by phone at (415) 561-6677.
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Should I just get an MBA student to take care of this for me (to plan, give
advice, etc.)?

MBA students and other interns can be a valuable resource to the nonprofit
organization engaging in enterprise creation. The contribution of these
folks is greater than simply that of conducting a particular project or
task. In our experience, the presence of MBA students can help provide an
"outside perspective" on the work. By asking questions and appropriately
challenging assumptions of the nonprofit, student interns can provide a
valuable contribution to the process of enterprise development and creation
of an "entrepreneurial environment."

At the same time, it is also important for nonprofits to understand the
limitations of student interns. They are not a source of cheap labor. If
you are not willing to invest the time and energy in providing orientation
and operational information to an intern, this source of support is not for
you. Furthermore, student interns are often only available for short
periods of time, perhaps 10 weeks or less. The agency's expectations should
be realistic. Consider making use of an intern to manage a focused,
time-specific project as opposed to being in charge of ongoing enterprise
operations. Another consideration is the fact that when all is said and
done, such folks are still students-they have other interests, courses and
responsibilities and are not salaried staff of the organization. While they
provide a significant, meaningful contribution to nonprofits, there are
also challenges to integrating them into the organization in an appropriate
way. How to best make use of interested students is an important issue to
be managed by each nonprofit.

The Roberts Enterprise Development Fund is a philanthropic venture of The Roberts Foundation. More information is available on their website at http://www.redf.org or by contacting them at P.O. Box 29926, San Francisco, CA 94129-0266 or by phone at (415) 561-6677.




What organizational capacity do you need to be successful? 
	Thanks to the Roberts Enterprise Development Fund for contributing this FAQ.

What organizational capacity do you need to be successful?

There is a public misconception that only large, established nonprofits have
the capacity to successfully plan, launch and manage a nonprofit
enterprise. In fact, large organizations, while having potential resources,
also carry a greater institutional burden and culture that must be altered
or abandoned in order to engage in successful nonprofit enterprise. Smaller
organizations have greater flexibility to approach their work and carry
less of an institutional memory that needs to be shifted in order to pursue
enterprise creation. In the REDF Portfolio, some of our organizations have
been in existence for over 25 years and have multi-million dollar budgets,
but many have existed less than 5 years and are already significantly
self-sustaining based on their earned income and enterprise activities.

The Roberts Enterprise Development Fund is a philanthropic venture of The Roberts Foundation. More information is available on their website at http://www.redf.org or by contacting them at P.O. Box 29926, San Francisco, CA 94129-0266 or by phone at (415) 561-6677.
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What kinds of industries are the best for nonprofits interested in job
creation?

The best industries are the ones in which you can find your own market niche
in which to be successful! Understanding how to pursue successful economic
development strategies comes from two "sides:" first, understanding the
larger, economic sectors within which one moves, and, second, having the
individual and organizational capacity to capture those opportunities
present in those sectors. Successful enterprise activities are a blend of
both. If you are a great manager with incredible vision and superb
execution, but you are selling buggy whips, you will be less successful
than if you are practicing your skills in another, growing sector. By the
same token, if you are a poor manager, it doesn't matter what sector you
are in - your results will still be poor.
self-sustaining based on their earned income and enterprise activities.

The Roberts Enterprise Development Fund is a philanthropic venture of The Roberts Foundation. More information is available on their website at http://www.redf.org or by contacting them at P.O. Box 29926, San Francisco, CA 94129-0266 or by phone at (415) 561-6677.




Where can I get the money to do this? 
	Thanks to the Roberts Enterprise Development Fund for contributing this FAQ.

Where can I get money to do this?

The first step is for the nonprofit itself to use volunteer and in-kind
staff time to engage in the initial assessment of any enterprise
opportunity. If you haven't invested your own resources in the effort, why
should anyone else? Having done that, it may then be time to begin
identifying potential funding partners to support the expanded planning
effort and possible venture that might arise from it. These partners may
include foundations, individual donors or governmental sources with which
the organization already has funding relationships. It may also mean
developing new, "investor" relationships with individuals and donors who
share your vision of social entrepreneurship.

The Roberts Enterprise Development Fund is a philanthropic venture of The Roberts Foundation. More information is available on their website at http://www.redf.org or by contacting them at P.O. Box 29926, San Francisco, CA 94129-0266 or by phone at (415) 561-6677. 


What are the elements of an accounting system? 
An accounting system is comprised of accounting records (checkbooks, journals, ledgers, etc.) and a series of processes and procedures assigned to staff, volunteers, and/or outside professionals. The goals of the accounting system are to ensure that financial data and economic transactions are properly entered into the accounting records and that financial reports necessary for management are prepared accurately and in a timely fashion.

Components of an Accounting System
Traditionally, the accounting system includes the following components:

Chart of Accounts

The chart of accounts is a list of each item which the accounting system tracks. Accounts are divided into five categories:
Assets, Liabilities, Net Assets or Fund Balances, Revenues, and Expenses. Each account is assigned an identifying number for use within the accounting system. (See Financial Management FAQ 6: What Should Our Chart of Accounts Include? for information on designing the chart of accounts and using it for reporting.)

General Ledger

The general ledger organizes information by account. The chart of accounts acts as the table of contents to the general ledger. In a manual system, summary totals from all of the journals are entered into the general ledger each month, which maintains a year-to-date balance for each account.

In a computerized system, data is typically entered into the system only once. Once the entry has been approved by the user, the software includes the information in all reports in which the relevant account number appears. Many software packages allow the user to produce a general ledger which shows each transaction included in the balance of each account. For example:

Acct. No. 5105 Account Name: Office Supplies
Beginning Balance @ April 30: $1,535.26
Ck. No. 1443 John s Office Supplies 5/12 $347.40
Ck. No. 1451 Quality Paper Store 5/17 $32.89
Closing Balance @ May 31: $1,915.55

Journals and Subsidiary Journals

Journals, also called books of original entry, are used to systematically record all accounting transactions before they are entered into the general ledger. Journals organize information chronologically and by transaction type (receipts, disbursements, other). There are three primary journals:

· The Cash Disbursement Journal is a chronological record of checks that are written, categorized using the chart of accounts.

· The Cash Receipts Journal is a chronological record of all deposits that are made, categorized using the chart of accounts.

· The General Journal is a record of all transactions which do not pass through the checkbook, including non-cash transactions (such as accrual entries and depreciation) and corrections to previous journal entries.


As organizations mature, and handle greater numbers of financial transactions, they may develop subsidiary journals to break out certain kinds of activity from the primary journals noted above. The most common examples of subsidiary journals include:

· The Payroll Journal, which records all payroll-related transactions. This may be useful as the number of payroll transaction s grows and becomes too large to handle reasonably within the cash disbursements journal.

· The Accounts Payable Journal and Accounts Receivable Journal track income and expense accruals. These are useful for grouping income and/or expense accruals which are too numerous to track effectively through the general journal. Some accounting packages require you to set up all bills as accounts payable and all revenue as accounts receivable, eliminating the cash disbursements and receipts journals altogether.

The process of transferring information from the journals to the general ledger is called posting. Computerized accounting systems often require users to post all income and expense transactions through the accounts receivable and payable journals. Other automated systems allow users to post to cash disbursements or receipts journals, but cannot produce detailed financial information from these journals (such as a list of checks written presented in numerical order.) See Financial Management FAQ 9: What Accounting Software Package Should We Buy? for further information.

Checkbook

In very small organizations, the checkbook may serve as a combined ledger and journal. Most financial transactions will pass through the checkbook, where receipts are deposited and from which disbursements are made. Smaller organizations receiving few or no restricted contributions find it easier to keep track of financial activity by running all of their financial transactions through a single checking account. Very small organizations, with few deposits and disbursements, may prepare reports directly from the checkbook after the balance has been reconciled with the bank balance.

Accounting Procedures Manual

The accounting procedures manual is a record of the policies and procedures for handling financial transactions. The manual can be a simple description of how financial functions are handled (e.g., paying bills, depositing cash and transferring money between funds) and who is responsible for what. The accounting procedures manual is also useful when there is a changeover in financial management staff. See Financial Management FAQ 24: What is an Internal Accounting Control System and How Can We Make Ours Effective? for further ideas of what to consider as part of an accounting procedures manual.


The Accounting Cycle
The accounting cycle may be represented schematically as follows:

financial transactions -> analyze transaction -> record transaction in journals -> post journal information to general ledger -> analyze general ledger account and make corrections -> prepare financial statements from general ledger information

The routine aspects of the accounting cycle (recording transactions, posting, etc.) are generally done by bookkeepers or data entry clerks. Accountants focus on the more analytical aspects of the accounting cycle (analyzing transactions, preparing financial statements.) Many small organizations rely on a single individual to perform all of these functions.

Maintaining the Integrity of an Accounting System
The key tasks for maintaining the integrity of an accounting system include the following:

Trial Balance

In a manual system all balances from the general ledger are tallied on a monthly basis to make sure that debit balances equal credit balances. Once debits equal credits, financial statements can be prepared using trial balance amounts. Computerized accounting systems almost always produce a trial balance as a built-in report. Many software packages will not allow you to post an entry to the general ledger until the debit and credit balances are equal.

Bank Reconciliation

Each month you will need to reconcile the balance in your checkbook with the balance in your account according to your bank. This process has three basic steps:

1. Compare deposits and checks as they are recorded in the checkbook with those reflected in the bank statement. Adjust any discrepancies.

2. Adjust for bank charges or interest earned into the checkbook balance.

3. Subtract uncashed checks from the bank s balance and add in checks you have deposited which are not yet reflected in the bank's balance.


See Financial Management FAQ 21: What Internal Controls are Needed for Cash Disbursements?, FAQ 23: What Internal Controls are Needed for Payroll?, and FAQ 24: What is an Internal Accounting Control System and How Can We Make Ours Effective? for additional information about policies and procedures which will help you maintain the integrity of information entered into the accounting system.

Stages in the Development of an Accounting System
Your accounting system will change as your organization's needs and resources change. A new, small organization may only need to keep an accurate record of activity in its checkbook. As the number of transactions grows, that organization will add manual cash disbursements and receipts journals, but may still prepare monthly reports using a summary sheet of income and expense items. Finally, as the organization acquires assets other than cash, accruals are added, and transactions become more complex, a full general ledger system will need to be incorporated.

As their volume and complexity grow, the financial management activities will also require increasingly sophisticated staffing, whether by paid or volunteer staff or a combination of staff and outside service providers. An accounting system is only as good as the staff's ability to put it into practice, and should be designed with its users in mind.

What is an audit? 
An audit is a process for testing the accuracy and completeness of information presented in an organization's financial statements. This testing process enables an independent certified public accountant (CPA) to issue what is referred to as an opinion on how fairly the agency's financial statements represent its financial position and whether they comply with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) . GAAP is determined by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA). Board members, staff, and their relatives cannot perform audits because their relationship with the organization compromises their independence.

The audit report is addressed to the board of directors as the trustees of the organization. The report usually includes the following:

· A cover letter, signed by the auditor, stating the opinion, as described above.

· The financial statements, including the statement of financial position (balance sheet), statement of financial activity (income statement), and statement of cash flows. Health and social service organizations also have a statement of functional expenses. Many audits show comparative information between fiscal years.

· Notes to the financial statements, as required by GAAP, which might include information about functional expenses, a depreciation schedule, further information about contributions, volunteer services, and other significant information not obvious in the financial statements.


In addition to the materials included in the audit report, the auditor often prepares what is called a management letter or report to the board of directors. This report cites areas in the organization's internal accounting control system which the auditor evaluates as weak.

What an Auditor Does
The auditor will request information from individuals and institutions to confirm bank balances, contribution amounts, conditions and restrictions, contractual obligations, and monies owed to and by your organization. The auditor will review physical assets, journals and ledgers, and board minutes to ensure that all activity with significant financial implications is adequately disclosed in the financial statements. In addition, the auditor will select a sample of financial transactions to determine whether there is proper documentation and whether the transaction was posted correctly into the books. In addition, the auditor will interview key personnel and read the procedures manual, if one exists, to determine whether the organization's internal accounting control system is adequate. The auditor usually spends several days at the organization s office looking over records and checking for completeness.

Auditors are not expected to guarantee that 100 percent of the transactions are recorded correctly. They are only required to express an opinion as to whether the financial statements, taken as a whole, give a fair representation of the organization's financial picture. In addition, audits are not intended to discover embezzlements or other illegal acts. Therefore, a "clean" or unqualified opinion should not be interpreted as an assurance that such problems do not exist.

An unqualified opinion includes wording such as, "In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly the financial position of ABC Agency at the fiscal year ending June 30, 19XX, ... in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles."

A qualified opinion is issued when the accountant believes the financial statements are, in a limited way, not in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A qualified opinion might include wording such as, "In our opinion, except for the omission of... the accompanying financial statements present fairly..."

Many auditors provide nonprofits with year-end financial management services which are not part of the audit. These include preparing:

· year-end financial statements based on client records

· notes to the financial statements

· depreciation schedules

· accrual and other adjustments based on client information 


Smaller nonprofits with limited accounting expertise may choose to pay their auditors for these tasks. However, you should know that these services are provided in addition to the audit and can be completed by staff or volunteers to lower the cost of the audit.

Should we get an audit? 
	An audit is a process for testing the accuracy and completeness of information presented in an organization's financial statements. This testing process enables an independent certified public accountant (CPA) to issue what is referred to as an opinion on how fairly the agency's financial statements represent its financial position and whether they comply with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).

Some nonprofits are legally required to obtain audits. Many states require an audit for nonprofits which receive contributions over a specified amount (the amount varies from state to state) and/or nonprofits who hire a paid fundraiser. You may contact the Secretary of State or Office of the Attorney General for regulations in those states where you raise money. In addition, nonprofits which receive $25,000 or more in direct or pass-through federal funding during a single fiscal year are usually required to have an audit.

You may choose to obtain an audit even if you are not legally required to do so. Many funders commonly request audited financial statements. In some cases, they will accept statements prepared in-house. Alternatively, they may accept a CPA review (see below.)

In addition to these external requirements, the board may seek reassurance that the financial information they are considering as part of their oversight function is accurate and complete. In cases where financial problems or irregularities in the financial system have occurred, the board and the general public may look to an audit to provide assurance that these problems have been resolved. Also, the audit process can be valuable to your executive director and finance staff since it confirms the financial picture and helps you strengthen internal control procedures.

Finally, an audit signals a new phase in the organization's maturity. As your organization's financial transactions become more complex, undergoing the rigors of an audit will help your staff understand and develop the financial systems required to track and manage finances responsibility. In addition, as others become attracted to your organization's work, many will expect you to be able to provide them with audited financial statements as they are considering making a contribution as a donor and/or a volunteer.

Alternatives to an Audit
A review is a more limited examination of the financial statements by a CPA. During a review, the CPA asks questions of management and conducts some analysis, but does not undertake the extensive testing required for an audit. As a result, the review provides only limited assurance that the financial picture is fairly presented. A review may cost less than half of an audit and may satisfy state requirements for smaller nonprofits.

A compilation is a report prepared by an accountant using financial data supplied by the organization. The accountant organizes this financial information into standard financial reporting formats, but does not review the numbers for accuracy or provide assurance regarding the information that is included.


What is an A-133 Audit?
In 1990, the Office of Management and Budget (OMB) issued Circular A133, Audits of Institutions of Higher Education and Other Nonprofit Institutions, which defines audit requirements for nonprofits receiving more than $25,000 in federal funding. Your organization is subject to these audit requirements even if the federal money you receive is passed through another agency. For example, a city housing authority may make a grant to a local nonprofit housing developer which contains H.U.D. funding. The local housing developer is subject to A-133 audit requirements even though the grant was not directly from H.U.D. 

When is an A-133 Audit required?
Fortunately for smaller nonprofits, the federal guidelines may permit you to combine a regular audit of your whole agency with a ìprogram- specificî A-133 audit of the program receiving federal funding. The amount of your total combined federal funding will determine the type of audit you are required to have under A-133. The following table shows when an A-133 audit is not required, when a program-specific A -133 audit may be elected, and when you must have an agency-wide ìsingleî federal audit: 

A-133 audits, like non-federal audits, test financial statement information. However, the A-133 audit looks more closely at tracking and classifying revenue from federal sources. In addition, the auditor looks for compliance with general and specific government audit requirements, which cover both financial and non-financial factors such as program effectiveness, client eligibility, efficiency with which resources are used, etc. The auditor must also test internal control procedures more rigorously than in a standard audit, making sure that adequate systems are in place for complying with the requirements noted above. Because of the expanded procedure involved and increased reporting requirements for the auditor, the audit may cost substantially more than a traditional audit and involve more time from your staff. You should be allowed to build these additional audit costs into your grant. In practice, however, many nonprofits receiving pass-through federal funding have had difficulty convincing their government funders to include audit money in their grant. 

In summary, if your organization receives over $100,000 in federal funding, whether directly or indirectly, and that funding is for more than one program, you are required to have an agency-wide A-133 audit. In addition, a program which receives more than $100,000 in combined federal awards is likely to be classified as a ìmajor program,î and, therefore, subject to significantly more testing by the auditor. ìWhether a program is major or non-major is based on the dollar value of expenditures during the audit period. A program is a major program when total expenditures equal or exceed three percent of total federal funds expended or $100,000, whichever is greater. A program is non-major when expenditures are below this threshold.î In other words, if one program spends $100,000 or more in total federal funds it is a major program, unless you have received more than $3,333,333 in total federal funding for all programs. 

How often will you be audited?
You are subject to A-133 guidelines for each year in which you receive federal monies of $25,000 or more. However, the guidelines are somewhat unclear as to how often these audits must be conducted. According to Position Statement No. 6 issued by the Presidentís Council on Integrity and Efficiency Standards Subcommittee, ìthe A-133 single audit must be annual when the not-for-profit has annual financial audits.î In other words, if you are usually audited annually, you must also have an A-133 audit annually. If, however, you are usually audited every other year, you may also undergo an A-133 audit every other year, but the report must cover both years under consideration. 

As you can see, receiving federal money can require a lot of extra work. This work begins as soon as you receive a grant award. If your organization receives funds from a non-federal agency or grantor, you are expected to ask whether your grant includes federal monies. In some cases your funder will not know the answer, even though they are required to inform you whenever federal funding is included in your award. You are required to make a good faith effort to determine whether federal money is included, and if so how much. Each federal award is identified with a number from the Catalogue of Federal Domestic Assistance (CFDA). Your granting agency should tell you the CFDA number(s) for any federal funds included in your award since you are required to report this information as part of your audit. When you do receive federal funding, alert your auditor right away so you can get help setting up the proper systems for complying with government regulations. You may also want to get a copy of the OMB Compliance Supplement, which describes the A-133 requirements. Alternatively, your auditor may have prepared guidelines for you to follow. Then identify the person on your staff who will monitor compliance with the federal guidelines. The sooner you learn of the extensive requirements which go along with federal funding, the better able you will be to incorporate them into your accounting system. 

EACH PROJECT FEDERALLY FUNDED SHOULD BE AUDITED REGARDLESS

Choosing an Auditor
A nonprofit's audit is addressed to its board of directors, who have ultimate financial accountability for the organization. The board's finance or audit committee should recommend an auditor for approval by the full board. If you do not have an appropriate board committee, the director or an individual board member can bring a recommendation to the board.

While there are many criteria you may consider when selecting an auditor, the following are usually important considerations:

· Experience in the nonprofit sector
Since there are some differences between for-profit and nonprofit accounting and in how financial statements are interpreted, an auditor who has other clients in the nonprofit sector is likely to be more helpful and efficient.

· Experience with other nonprofits in your area of work
You may want to consider an auditor experienced with similar agencies who knows the specific reporting requirements of your primary funding sources.

· Training in General Accounting Office (GAO) Standards
If you are required to have an audit which meets government standards, your auditors must fulfill GAO s continuing education requirements.

· References for the audit firm and the auditor
In addition to experience, you are looking for indications that the auditor has the technical expertise, communication skills, and flexibility to conduct your audit in an efficient and effective manner. A good working relationship with your auditor will help ensure that the audit goes smoothly.

· Fee
In those states where it is permitted, you will want to compare bids from auditors regarding the fees they charge to do the work you require. Pro-bono (free) audits are rare and nonprofits are cost sensitive. However, fees can be a tricky measuring stick for choosing an auditor. There are some outstanding auditors who work with nonprofits for a reduced fee. A firm may produce a lower bid the first year to get your business and then significantly raise the fee in subsequent years. Auditors who do not have the necessary experience with nonprofits may take longer to produce the audit, causing them to raise the audit fee in later years. They may also prepare a less complete report which has less value to the board and the public. Also, they may require nonprofit staffs, who are typically overburdened, to do even more work in preparing for the audit. Finally, some auditors who charge a lower fee do not provide the organization with a management letter detailing areas of weakness in the accounting system. This letter is an important management tool, of benefit to both the board and staff.

On the other hand, an expensive audit does not guarantee an excellent product. Your goal will be to get the reports and advice that you need and can understand for a reasonable fee.


There are differing recommendations regarding changing auditors after you have established a relationship with one individual or firm. Auditors argue that, if you are getting the information you need from your audit and are satisfied that the reports are complete and usable, it is unwise to start over with a new auditor. Management consultants reply that, after a period of a few years, auditors may be unable to provide the organization with fresh insights. In addition, bidding out the audit may provide an incentive to your current auditor to maintain reasonable fees. It may be useful to talk to one or two other qualified auditors every few years to determine whether the upheaval of working with a new auditor will be offset by better quality, lower fees, and/or new perspectives.

What Information is Needed for an Audit?
To prepare for your audit ask your auditor what information you will be required to provide. Many auditors prepare a list of those records which they will need to examine, forms which you will need to complete, and questions you will need to answer. Complete, accurate, and accessible records and other information prepared well in advance of the audit will help ensure that the process goes smoothly and more quickly, reducing the financial and emotional cost of an audit.

While the following is not a complete list, it is representative of the information an auditor is likely to require:

· Confirmations
A confirmation is an independent statement which supports the financial information in your records. Auditors will ask you to prepare confirmation letters on your letterhead (they will provide the format) to your bank(s), funders, attorney, people, and organizations you owe money to and who owe you money to confirm the amounts reflected in your books. Confirmations are mailed by and returned directly to your auditor to ensure their credibility.

· Evidence of Internal Controls
The auditor will either meet with staff members or request that they complete a questionnaire documenting the procedures related to spending and receiving money and other resources, complying with laws, donor restrictions and regulations, maintaining property and equipment, and recording financial information in the books.

· Documentation.
The auditor will request a number of schedules (lists) of information related to the following:

Assets

· Accounts Receivable -- Who owes you money, how much, when it was due?

· Property and Equipment (Fixed Assets) -- When acquired, how much you paid, how long they are expected to last, how much they are depreciated each year, and how much has been depreciated to date?


Note: Many nonprofits ask their auditors to maintain this schedule for them and to prepare the annual calculation of depreciation.

Liabilities

· Payables -- Who you owe money to, how much you owe each individual/organization? Copies of invoices or loan agreements.

· Deferred Revenue -- If you have deferred any contributions due to donor conditions or restrictions, provide the information noted under Grants and Contributions, in the Revenue section below.


Revenue

· Grants and Contributions--Funder/donor names and addresses, grant period, grant amount, when received, restrictions, and copies of the grant letters and grant applications. In the case of individual contributions, your auditor will specify which donors to include on this list based on a minimum level of contributions they will establish for you based on your overall budget and total contributions.

· Donated services and materials--You may be required to place a dollar value on contributions of certain services and materials. Prepare a list of these donations to discuss with your auditor.

· Special events and benefits--Show income and expenses, and documentation for the value of goods or services which donors received (and, therefore, are not included in the tax-deductible portion of their payment.)

· Documentation--such as contracts and invoices, names and addresses, registrations, etc. for fees from memberships, tuition, performances, and other services.

· Inventory--If you sell tee-shirts, books, or other products, keep a record of sales throughout the year so that beginning inventory can be reconciled with inventory at the end of the year.


Expenses

· Payroll records, including federal and state tax returns related to payroll, vacation records.


Smaller nonprofits rely on their auditors to prepare many of these schedules based on information they give to the accountant. You can save on the cost of your audit by preparing the majority of these schedules internally, using staff or board volunteers, rather than asking the auditor to prepare them.

· ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
In addition to the schedules noted above, be prepared for the auditor to review the following items:

· Board minutes

· Leases and other contracts

· Bank statements, bank reconciliations, checkbooks, and canceled checks

· Financial files for paid bills and deposits

· Components of the accounting system -- chart of accounts, journals and ledgers, printouts if the system is computerized, trial balance, etc.

· Budget for the fiscal year being examined


Finally, you will want to consider the non-financial aspects of the audit. The staff should understand what is involved in an audit, that it is a routine examination of financial and other information, and that they may be asked a few questions in relationship to that examination. You should assign one person to be the audit coordinator. In a small nonprofit, that may be the bookkeeper or executive director. In a larger organization, it may be the finance director. The audit coordinator should have access to all in formation the auditors may need, and should plan to be available to the auditors while they are on-site. In addition, some thought should be given to setting aside a physical location for the auditors so they can work efficiently.


When Does an Audit Begin?
Most organizations select an auditor prior to the end of their fiscal year. About the time your fiscal year ends, you will want to meet with your auditor to determine what information will be required for the audit. If your financial management system is reasonably well organized, the audit can usually begin within two months of the end of your fiscal year. However, new government funding and other complicating factors may extend the amount of time needed to prepare for the audit.

What information are we required to provide to individual donors? 
	Both the federal and state governments impose regulations on nonprofits regarding reporting to donors. State regulations can be obtained by contacting your Secretary of State or Office of the Attorney General. The Revenue Reconciliation Act of 1993, effective January 1, 1994, details substantiation and disclosure requirements which nonprofits must follow when receiving contributions of $250 or more, and for contributions over $75 for which the donor receives something tangible in return.

The following is excerpted, with permission, from Advising Nonprofits by the Lawyers Alliance for New York.

"Under the recently passed 1993 Tax Act, ... a taxpayer who donates a single gift of $250 or more, whether in cash or property, will be required, in order to claim a deduction for the gift, to obtain and retain in his or her records a written acknowledgment of the gift from the recipient charity. Thus, a donor can no longer rely on his or her canceled check to support the claim of a charitable contribution. Rather, charities must provide donors with written confirmation of each separate donation of $250 or more. The confirmation should state the donor s name, the date the gift was received, a description of the donated property and the property s value. If the donation is a non-cash contribution valued at $250 or more, the exempt organization need not place a value on the contribution. The organization can merely describe the property.

Note: If a contribution is actually part donation and part payment for goods or services, the entire payment account is considered in determining whether the $250 benchmark has been met. Donations are not aggregated for purposes of the $250 benchmark, so that two separate $200 donations by a donor to one charity in a given year would not require substantiation by the charity.

Special Rules Concerning Payments for Tickets to Fundraising Events and Other Quid Pro Quo Contributions
The IRS ruled in 1967 that the purchase of a ticket to a charitable fundraising event, such as a dinner-dance or an athletic event, is deductible only to the extent that the purchase price exceeds the fair market value of the ticket. In its ruling, the IRS suggested that the organization which sells the ticket ought to provide the donor with its estimate of the fair market value of the ticket, to aid the donor in determining the amount to claim as a deduction.

In 1988, the IRS announced a special Tax Compliance Monitoring Program to determine whether, in fact, donors were making the required adjustments and whether or not charities were providing estimates of fair market value. Donors not making the adjustment would have their deductions disallowed, and charities not providing estimates of fair market value would be subject to audits and the potential of additional penalties.

As a result of this policy, charities were required to print on each ticket an estimate of its fair market value. It should be noted , however, that this disclosure was technically voluntary, since no statute or regulation actually required charities to provide this information to donors. As part of the 1993 Tax Act, however, this disclosure requirement was codified.

Effective January 1, 1994, charities must now inform their donors in writing of the fair market value of any goods or services provided to donors for any quid pro quo contribution greater than $75 received from a donor. In addition, to the extent contributions are part gift and part payment for services or goods, charities must now inform every donor giving in excess of $75 that only the portion of the contribution that exceed s the value of the goods or services is a deductible contribution. A charity s failure to disclose or inadequate disclosure may result in a $10 penalty for each contribution with a cap of $5,000 for each fundraising event or mailing.

For low-cost benefits or items received by a donor from a charity in return for a contribution, however, the IRS has provided three "safe harbors" under which the full amount of the contribution is deductible. These are as follows:

· The fair market value of the benefit or item received by the donor does not exceed the lesser of 2 percent of the contribution or $50 adjusted for inflation. This inflation-adjusted amount is determined by the IRS each year.

· The donor receives only token benefits or times for the contribution showing the organization's name or log. and the "minimum amount" and "maximum cost" guidelines are met. These guidelines are set by the IRS each year.

· The charity's solicitation is accompanied by free benefits or items not requested by the donor or distributed with the donor's consent, the charity advises the donor that her or she is entitled to the item or benefit with no obligation to make a contribution , and the total cost of all such benefits and items distributed to single donor during the calendar year does not exceed the "maximum cost" guidelines set by the IRS each year.


In instances where the charity provides insubstantial benefits or items in return for a contribution, the charity's fund-raising materials should indicate that: "Under Internal Revenue Service guidelines, the estimated value of (the benefits or items received) is not substantial; therefore, the full amount of your payment is a deductible contribution.

Several rules should be kept in mind in making the fair market value estimate:

· The cost of the good or services is not relevant in determining the fair market value. Rather, it is the commercial or market value of the good or services which governs. For example, a fundraising dinner or event has an established commercial value, that value must be used even where the cost to the charity is substantially lower.

· Where there is no established commercial value, the charity should make a good faith effort to place a value on the goods or services, using a measure other than cost. The charity should be able to explain to the IRS how the value was calculated. The IRS, to date, has not penalized charities which have made a good faith effort to comply with this requirement, even where an incorrect method was used or a different method would have been preferred.

· A specific dollar value should be provided to donors. It is not permissible to print the legend such as, "Price of ticket is deductible to the extent permitted by law."

· The charity should not attempt to advise donors as to the deductibility of contributions, but should merely provide an estimate of the fair market value of any goods or services and indicate that only the portion of the contribution exceeding such value is deducible. The donor is free to make an independent determination of fair market value, and the purchase price of the goods or services may or may not be deducible depending on the donor's motivation in purchasing them (i.e., the purchase may not be a contribution, but may instead be a business expense.)

· In cases where the estimate cannot be printed on a ticket (there may not be tickets printed specifically for the event), some other method for advising donors should be devised, such as thank-you letters, confirmation letters, or a notice in the program at the event. Alternatively, disclosure my be made to donors through solicitation materials or receipts for contributions. Fine print should be avoided to ensure that donor actually see the disclosure." 


What is tax deductible for membership dues, special events, and other fundraisers? 
Questions about tax deductibility fall into two categories:

· What is tax deductible to the donor?

· What wording should we use on the solicitation?


A related question, regarding disclosure of the actual amount of money from a solicitation that will be used to directly support charitable purposes, falls under state regulation. Many other questions related to special events, bingo, and other fundraising activities also fall under state regulation. You may contact the Secretary of State or Office of the Attorney General in your state or the states in which you fundraise for information on state regulations for nonprofits. An annual survey of state laws regulating charitable solicitations may be obtained from the AAFRC Trust for Philanthropy (25 W. 43rd Street, New York, NY 10036, (212) 354-5799).

The U.S. Congress and the Internal Revenue Service have expressed concern about situations in which some charities, intentionally or unintentionally, have misled donors about the extent of the deductibility of their contributions. Furthermore, experience has shown that fundraising returns are better served in the long run by fair and accurate disclosure about deductibility, and by encouraging prospective donors to seek additional information from their tax accountants or from one of the references at the end of this article.

How to Determine the Fair Market Value of Fundraising Items
The following quotation is excerpted from Tax Planning and Compliance for Tax-Exempt Organizations: Forms, Checklists, Procedures by Jody Blazek:

· Contributors to nonprofit organizations have grown accustomed to receiving benefits in return for their gifts: dinner, entertainment, and prizes. Often, the proceeds of fund-raising events add directly to an organization's coffers because businesses and patrons donate the items of benefit offered to the attendees. Until 1988, a charity was neither expected nor required to assign value to such benefits, or to inform the givers that the ticket price is not fully deductible.

Misconceptions and indecision plague fund-raisers because there is no absolute legal requirement underlying the IRS s request that an organization voluntarily furnish donors information in connection with fund-raising events, membership drives, and other revenue programs, when donors are given premiums, discounts, meals, prizes, or other valuable items in return for their donation. Ethical and tactical issues are involved.

In a deceptively simple fashion, the Internal Revenue Code states that an income tax deduction is allowed for a contribution or gift to or for the use of qualified charitable organizations (IRC 170(c)). Neither the Code nor the regulations define contribution. The commonly understood definition of a contribution is a voluntary transfer without consideration. In other words, only a gift for which nothing is received in return is fully deductible.

For example, a $25 meal provided during a $100 benefit reduces the deduction to $75. A $25 meal, plus $35 performance, plus a $20 chance for the door prize, would reduce the gift to $20. Fortunately, intangible recognition, such as having one's name placed on a building or donor listing, is, as a general rule, considered to be of incidental or tenuous benefit, and does not reduce the value of the gift (Reg. 53.4941 (d)-2(f)(2); Rev. Rul. 66-358, 1966-2 C.B. 216; Rev. Rul 73-407, 1973-2 C.B. 383).

To add to the difficulty, items of tangible personal property given for resale in a charity auction or resale shop are also limited in their deductibility. Such property is only deductible to the extent that it is given to or for the use of the charity itself (IRC 170*e)(B)(i)). A work of art given to a museum to exhibit on its wall is used by the museum directly in its exempt programs, so the full value of the art is deductible. If instead, the work of art is given to an AIDS hospice for a benefit action, the deduction is limited to the giver's tax basis. 

There are countless individual situations for determining the fair market value of items involved in fundraising appeals. Here are some examples for determining the fair market value of some such items:

Item Guideline for Fair Market Value:

· Meals at hotel or restaurant would be worth the price of the same meal in a dining room or at a restaurant, including drinks and tips.

· Attendance at a reception has the value of the food and drink served, but the intangible value of associating with other guests not valued.

· Ticket to a theater or dance performance equals the normal ticket price available to public.

· Bumper stickers, buttons, pens, and other low cost tokens--for gifts of $25 or more (adjusted with inflation from 1987 price index), the fair market value of such items, if each token cost less than $5 (again adjusted from 1987 levels), the fair market value of the token is zero and the contribution is fully deductible. 



What Wording Should We Use on the Solicitation?
The following list provides a few examples of wording that might accompany solicitation for several fundraising events:

Event Cost Sample Wording:

Fundraising luncheon at $50.00 per ticket; $100 to be a sponsor, etc. 

The invitation to the luncheon states, "$25.00 of each ticket is not tax deductible," or "Contributions over the value of this luncheon and entertainment ($25) are tax deductible."

An Auction 

A catalog is issued listing each item and the fair market value for each item. The catalog states, "Purchasing an item for more than the fair market value as listed in this catalog results in a deduction for amounts above the price listed."

Raffle ticket priced at $1 

Not a charitable deduction. Do not state that the purchase of the ticket is a "donation."

Membership where a $35 minimum includes newsletter and a $75 membership includes umbrella with logo

The newsletter's subscription price to non-members is $15. "$15 of your $35 membership is not tax deductible as a charitable contribution." The umbrella's fair market value is $10. "$25 of your $75 membership is not deductible as a charitable contribution." 



Jody Blazek comments, "Since an exempt organization is not required to report the deductible portion of its contributor's gifts and since the burden of proving value is placed on the contributor, some charities choose not to comply with the IRS request that benefits be valued and reported voluntarily. Some of these charities take a silent approach and disclose no information; others continue to use the old refrain, deductions to the extent allowed by law, which may ironically serve as a red flag to the IRS. Most individual donors wish to comply with the tax laws and welcome cooperation on the charity's part. On the other hand, reduction of tax benefit is perceived to discourage giving. (This is clearly true in the case of appreciated property gifts of stock, art, and land.) Fortunately, most charities are making the ethical choice to comply and furnish deductibility information. They are happy to report no significant reductions in giving levels as a consequence. Nonetheless, donor goodwill is both enhanced and crippled by voluntarily furnishing Fair Market Value information. Some contributors want it, some do not, and therein lies the dilemma."

For More Information:
Tax Planning and Compliance for Tax-Exempt Organizations: Forms, Checklists, Procedures, 1993, by Jody Blazek. John Wiley & Sons, 605 Third Avenue, 10th Floor, New York, NY 10158, (800) 225-5945. 

How Do We Account for Pledges?
A pledge is a promise, either written or verbal, to make a contribution at a later date. For example, a donor may pledge to make contributions totaling $10,000 over the next three years. In another example, a donor may pledge to make contributions of $50 each month through payroll deduction for the upcoming year. Pledges may also involve non-cash contributions, such as a pledge to donate artwork at the end of next year. 

By showing Pledges Receivable on the Balance Sheet, a nonprofit organization shows the amount of money it can reasonably expect to receive in the future in pledged contributions. In the past, organizations have had some leeway in the timing of recognizing pledges as income. In 1993, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 116, Accounting for Contributions Received and Contributions Made, that set down firm guidelines for pledge accounting. 

What Pledges Should be Recorded?
A pledge must be bona fide to be recorded in the accounting system. Some indicators that a pledge is valid include written evidence created by the donor using words such as ìpromise,î ìagree,î or ìbinding,î or whether the pledge appears to be legally enforceable. 

Pledges are either conditional or unconditional. An unconditional pledge is a promise by a donor to give a gift to the nonprofit in the future. The nonprofit does not need to meet any specific requirements before receiving the gift, and there are no other conditions stipulated by the donor. The examples at the beginning of this article illustrate unconditional pledges. Statement 116 asserts that unconditional pledges must be recorded in the financial record when they are made. 

A conditional pledge is contingent on the occurrence of an uncertain future event. For example, a donor might promise to contribute $1,000 if the organization obtains a matching gift of $2,000 from new sources. Conditional pledges are recorded on the books only when the condition is met, so this pledge would not be recorded as revenue until the matching gift is obtained. (Once a condition has been met, in the above case when a matching gift has been obtained, the pledge becomes unconditional, and is recorded.) Prior to meeting donor-imposed conditions, conditional pledges are included in the footnotes to the financial statements. 

What are the Accounting Entries for Recording Pledges?
Suppose that at the end of the 1994 fiscal year, you have two unfulfilled pledges: one is a pledge to make a gift of $1000 during the next year; the second pledge promises gifts of $2,000 per year in each of the next three years, for a total of $6,000. 

The end-of-year journal entry to record these unconditional pledges is: 

	 Pledges receivable 
	$7,000 
	  

	Contributions Receivable 
	  
	$7,000 



To record newly received unconditional pledges

When the pledge payment of $1,000 is received in 1995, the entry is: 

	Cash 
	$1,000 
	  

	Pledges Receivable 
	  
	$1,000 



To record receipt of a pledge

It is important to note that the $1,000 is recognized as revenue in 1994, and not in 1995 when the cash was actually received. 

In an example of a conditional pledge, a donor may pledge $25,000 to renovate a half-way house on the condition that the building is purchased. This pledge would be mentioned only in a footnote until the nonprofit buys the building. At that point the pledge would be recorded and recognized as revenue. 

How Do We Account for Uncollected Pledges?
Accounting for collectible pledges is similar to accounting for uncollectible accounts receivable. For example, suppose $20,000 in unconditional pledges were made to your organization during the year and your experience indicates that, on average, 20 percent of these will not be collected. An expense account can be established called ìAllowance for uncollectible pledges.î The following journal entry would be made at the end of the year: 

	Uncollectable pledges expense 
	$4,000 
	  

	Allowance for uncollectable pledges 
	  
	$4,000 



To record estimate of uncollectable pledges 

The allowance account would subtract from the value of pledges receivable on your balance sheet: 

	 Pledges receivable 
	$20,000  

	Less: Allowance for uncollectable pledges 
	4,000  

	 Net pledges receivable 
	$16,000  


Reporting Issues
The question has been posed that implementing these guidelines could lead an organization to show a ìsurplusî when, in fact, the income is pledges that have not been received. This is a concern that was noted by one member of the Financial Accounting Standards Board in a dissenting opinion, noting that he is ìtroubled by the potential for misunderstanding of financial information resulting from the requirement. Organizations, particularly those that rely heavily on annual pledge drives, will report large increases in net assets if promises are recorded.î He is concerned that the amounts will be regarded as surplus resources or otherwise misinterpreted by financial statement users. 

At the time this article was written, the FASB guidelines have just been implemented by nonprofit organizations. Over the next few years, through experience and FASB rulings, the practical implications of the guidelines will become clear.

How should we invest our short-term cash balances? 
	Careful management of short-term cash balances can add to an organization's current income and provide the basis for an investment program which will benefit the organization in the future. Even small balances can be invested to earn some interest.

Organizations with significant assets to invest should consider the services of a portfolio manager, a finance professional at a brokerage firm, bank, or other financial institution. Frequently a member of your board can provide advice on how to invest or where to seek help.

Determining How Much to Invest and for How Long
The investment of funds in the short-term is one aspect of short-term cash flow planning and cash management. (See Financial Management FAQ 18: What Is Cash Flow and How Should We Manage It?) As part of the annual budget process you will want to determine as accurately as possible the amount of cash inflow and cash outflows, as well as their timing. The cash flow budget should give you a good idea of when you will have surplus cash to invest.

Generally speaking, the longer funds can be committed to an investment the higher the percentage return will be (assuming the same amount of risk.) For example, cash balances in a checking account may earn little or no interest while cash invested in a risk-free six month treasury bill can yield significant interest. Therefore, it is to your advantage to identify cash which may be invested for a longer time once you have determined your cash needs and are confident that they are covered.

Who Should We Invest With?
It is worth comparing services and yields from a variety of financial institutions before making your selection. Some banks offer special services to nonprofits. Others may charge higher fees because they offer services which smaller nonprofits are unlikely to take advantage of.

Checking and Savings Options with Immediate Cash Availability
An interest-bearing checking account and/or a savings account should be considered in order to earn some return on monies as they flow in and out of the organization on a daily basis. Terms vary widely, but a short discussion with a board member, banker, financial advisor, or broker should help you sort it out quickly. Some donors, especially government agencies, require that interest earned on their monies be returned to them.

When considering an interest-bearing account you should consider the net cost incurred from the combination of interest and other fees, which may include monthly service charges, per check fees, electronic transaction charges, and other fees resulting from insufficient funds and returned checks. An interest-bearing account is advantageous only if your average balance is sufficient to avoid fees, such fees are waived automatically for you, or the interest generated from your balance is consistently greater than the fees charged to maintain the account.

Banks offer a variety of checking and savings instruments. Typically higher interest is paid on those accounts requiring higher minimum balances. When deciding what type of account to open, you will want to consider the following factors:

· Bank Fees
Review the entire list of bank fees, not just the minimum balance fee.

· Daily Balance
Ask whether fees are computed on an average versus minimum daily balance. On a minimum daily balance basis, you are penalized for falling below the required minimum balance for even one day, regardless of your balance for the month. 



You might also look into a sweep account with your bank. In this arrangement, you maintain a predetermined amount in your checking account. At the close of each business day, the remainder is then swept automatically into a savings account or other account that may yield higher interest. If your organization could benefit from such an arrangement, be sure to discuss options with a number of banks as the level and type of security offered can differ widely among banks. This service may only be available to nonprofits with substantial cash to invest.

The Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) insures up to $100,000 of depositor funds in a single bank, whether funds are in a checking, savings or other account. Some instruments available through a bank may not be covered. These include certificate of deposits (see below) and money market funds,. Money market funds are mutual funds holding a portfolio of securities, often with a minimum balance of $1,000 or more. These funds are usually available on demand, which means you can withdraw them by writing a check from your account. While there has never been a default, money market funds are subject to some risk. Money market investments can be made directly with the fund or through a broker.

Certificates of Deposit and U.S. Treasury Savings Options
Some investments, such as Certificates of Deposit (CD's) offer higher, fixed rates on funds deposited for a specified period of time. Before selecting such a savings plan or investment, your organization should seriously review its cash flow needs to determine whether assets can be set aside -- inaccessible -- for a long period. Substantial penalties for withdrawing funds from a CD before the due date are customary. In addition, some CD's may not be covered under FDIC insurance.

U.S. Savings Bonds offer more savings with higher returns for investment terms from six months to five years or longer. These bonds and notes can be purchased in various denominations for as little as $75.

U.S. Treasury Bills (T Bills) and U.S. Treasury Notes yield an even greater return than savings bonds, but have higher minimums. Treasury bills have $10,000 minimums and maturity dates of less than one year. Three- to six-month issues are available weekly and one year issues are sold monthly. Treasury notes have a maturity from one year to thirty years. Treasury Bills and Notes can be obtained directly from the Federal Reserve Bank nearest you, or from commercial banks and brokers. Again, you should consider how long you can set aside organizational funds without jeopardizing your organization's cash flow.

Other federal agencies issue bonds and notes, such as Fannie Mae (Federal National Mortgage Agency) or TVA (Tennessee Valley Authority) bonds. For additional information on these and other government investment options, contact your banker, financial advisor, or a knowledgeable board member.


What is the board's responsibility in investment? 
	The board of directors of a nonprofit organization has a responsibility to safeguard the organization's assets, and to ensure that funds are used to further the organization's goals. In addition, the board must ensure that donor designations are honored, and that cash and other investments are managed wisely.

Specifically, the board should review three areas related to investments:

Cash Management 

Cash management refers to ordinary transfers, usually of small amounts, between the checking account and other liquid accounts such as savings accounts. For example, if an organization anticipates having excess cash for a few months, the organization may open an account that earns more interest and temporarily hold cash there. (See Financial Management FAQ 16: How Should We Invest Our Short-Term Cash Balances?)

While these tasks are typically managed by staff, the board has a responsibility to oversee cash management and periodically review staff work. In most boards, the finance committee meets periodically with finance staff to review cash management guidelines and practices.

Endowment Funds (now called permanently restricted net assets)

Endowment funds, also called permanently restricted net assets, are created when donors designate contributions to a fund where the principal amount of the gift (the amount of the contribution) will not be spent, but will be maintained in perpetuity, for the purpose of producing income for the organization. In a term endowment fund the donor has specified that, after a stipulated passage of time or after the occurrence of some event, the principal amount may be spent as well. Most endowment funds specify that the principal will be held in perpetuity, but that earnings on the principal may be used for the organization's operating expenses.

The board's key responsibilities with endowment funds are to ensure that the principal is maintained and that the endowment is invested wisely. Assets held in the endowment fund (cash, stocks, bonds, land, works of art, etc.) should be managed prudently, according to guidelines which the organization has adopted for management of the funds. When organizations need cash, either because of an ongoing deficit or short-term cash deficits, they are tempted to borrow from endowment funds. Any such loans from the endowment fund should be approved by a formal vote of the board and a repayment schedule should be established. Because such loans put the principal of the endowment fund at risk, they should be discouraged.

It is the responsibility of the board to establish guidelines for the management of the endowment fund. These guidelines are typically discussed by the finance committee, which makes recommendations on policy to the board. Some of the most important guidelines to establish are the following:

· Shall the principal be maintained at face value or should the endowment be managed so that the value of the endowment increases at the rate of inflation?

For example, if an organization has an endowment fund valued at $2 million and the earnings are used for current purposes, over time the endowment funds purchasing power will be reduced, although it will still show on the books at $2 million. Some organizations choose to reinvest an amount of the earnings equal to inflation in the endowment fund, in essence defining maintaining the principal as the principal adjusted for inflation.

This is sometimes achieved by adopting a spending rule. For example, some organizations assume long term inflation at four percent and average portfolio return at nine percent, and thereby adopt a rule to spend five percent of the average market value of the endowment over the next three years.

· Shall gains on contributed, non-cash assets be treated as additions to principal (and, therefore, to be held in perpetuity), or as income (and, therefore, available for current expenditure)?

For example, imagine an organization that receives a contribution of ten shares of stock, valued at $1,000 each for a total of $10,000. A year later, the organization sells the stock, now valued at $1,100 a share, for a total of $11,000. Must the organization now keep $11,000 in perpetuity, or can it keep $10,000 in the principal, and take $1,000 into income for current purposes? (In some cases a donor may place restrictions on the contributed assets such as specifying that a donation of stock cannot be sold.)

· How often will we withdraw the cash resulting from interest income from the portfolio and into the checking account of the general operating fund?

Some organizations choose to take the earnings from the principal out of the investment accounts only once a year. Others pull out the earnings quarterly, or even monthly. Of course, the longer the intervals between withdrawals, the more income will be realized (because the income will be earning interest, too, until it is withdrawn).

Maximizing Income Through Prudent Investment
Whether assets belong in an organization's general fund, its endowment fund, or other fund, these assets should be invested wisely. Key decisions the board should make related to investments are:

· Should we hire a portfolio manager or investment advisor, or make our investment decisions?

Organizations with substantial assets often hire a portfolio manager. Organizations with fewer dollars to invest usually rely on the expertise of a board member or the finance committee.

The portfolio manager, typically employed at a bank, brokerage, or an investment advisory firm, is responsible for making in vestment decisions for the organization. The portfolio manager will meet with the finance or investment committee to learn about the organization 's financial objectives and other concerns, and then make investment decisions throughout the year to meet those objectives. The portfolio manager should give the organization a monthly or quarterly written report which shows all the trades made in the period, the investments at the end of the period, and the value of each investment.

Portfolio managers and investment advisors are generally paid on a retainer basis (a flat monthly fee) for their services, although some are paid as a percentage of the portfolio and others by commission on trades (the latter creates an incentive to make frequent transactions). Great care should be taken in selecting a portfolio manager and the finance or investment committee should routinely review the manager's performance in detail (usually by making comparisons to the returns in the financial markets and the returns on mutual funds which have similar investment objectives as the organization), just as they should when working with other professionals such as auditors and attorneys.

Some organizations that have identified and agreed on an investment strategy choose to invest directly in a mutual fund that with similar investment objectives, rather than hire a portfolio manager.

· Should we create an investments committee?

Organizations with little investment activity often choose to have their finance committees oversee investments. Some organizations with substantial investments choose to create a second committee to oversee investments. One common arrangement is for the investments committee to be chaired by an experienced member of the finance committee, and to include both other board members as well as non-board members, with board members comprising a majority of the investment committee. Having non-board members on the committee allows the organization to use the expertise and perspectives of individuals who may not have the time or other qualifications to be members of the board.

In some cases, the investments committee or the finance committee makes specific investment decisions themselves, such as to move funds from Treasury bonds into mutual funds, to sell a particular stock, etc. In other cases, the committee selects and meets regularly with the portfolio manager to review investment decisions, and if necessary, recommends changing to a new manager.

· What guidelines should we establish for the investments committee or for the portfolio manager?

The following questions are examples of concerns that boards take up in investment management. Often these questions are discussed primarily in the investments and/or finance committee, where committee members are more likely to be familiar with financial terms and the implications of financial decisions. In some organizations these questions are left to the investments or finance committee, while in other organizations proposed guidelines are brought to the whole board for approval. The answers to these questions will change over time as the organization's needs change; the appropriate committee must be in touch with board concerns, as well as with the following questions.

· Is our primary objective short-term earnings or long term equity growth?

An investment that provides higher returns may not grow as much in equity. For example, a stock with relatively high dividend income may not increase significantly in its par value. Conversely, a piece of real estate may not provide much rental income, but over time may increase greatly in value and could be sold at great profit. Organizations with large portfolios will want a diverse portfolio that balances investment types; other organizations may choose different objectives as their program plans and cash needs change.

· What level of risk is acceptable to our organization?

In general, the higher the expected return on an investment, the higher risk of losing the principal. Some organizations may feel comfortable only with investments that are virtually risk-free (despite low returns), such as savings accounts within FDIC-insured limits or U.S. Treasury bills and notes. Such low-risk investments typically are expected to earn less than higher risk investments such as stocks or money market funds. But if the company or the money market funds goes bankrupt, the organization may lose its investment entirely.

· Should we establish any non-financial guidelines for investments?

Some organizations specify a preference for stocks in locally owned companies; one drug/alcohol abuse organization specified that no investments be made in companies that manufacture alcoholic beverages. Socially responsible investing is an example of utilizing non-financial guidelines.

· How quickly must our investments be convertible to cash?

For example, do we want a certain percentage of funds liquid, that is, convertible to cash within, for example, five days? 



These guidelines only touch on the important and often complex questions that boards must address in effectively managing investments. Most boards delegate their responsibilities to the finance committee in both oversight of staff work and setting financial guidelines. The finance committee typically brings major policies to the board for approval, and makes annual or quarterly written reports to the board on how cash and investments are being held, and on earnings performance during the previous period.


What is cash flow and how should we manage it? 

"Cash flow" management refers to the need to have cash come in -- flow in -- at the right times, so that it is available to flow out as needed. Everyone knows that if an organization has more expenses than income, sooner or later it will find itself in trouble. However, even if income matches or exceeds expenses in a given year, the cash fro m the income may not arrive in time to pay the bills as they come due. A cash shortage can be very disruptive to your ability to carry out your mission. To avoid disruptions of business or to take advantage of temporary cash surpluses, cash flow can and should be projected, monitored, and controlled.

Projecting Cash Flow
Projections of receipts and expenditures, which comprise cash flow, are typically developed as part of the budget process, so that you can anticipate and develop strategies for funding the shortages or investing the surpluses. (Many of these strategies are described later in this response sheet.) Cash flow projections follow a format similar to your budget's. For each month, anticipate how much money you will receive and how much you will spend in each category.

To try this for the first time, you must look at your organization's prior year's checkbook as a basis for your cash flow projection for the coming year, adjusting for any anticipated changes that will affect the timing and amount of payments and deposits. These changes might include when your programs are offered, what programs are offered, new funding sources or expiration of previous funding, increases or reductions in interest rates, etc. While your new cash flow projection will largely correspond to your budget, some cash flow may come in from receivable from the prior year, cash may go out for payments made for last year's bills, and some income and expenses for the current year will be delayed until next year and, therefore, would not be included in the current year's cash flow budget.

As the year progresses, cash flow projections can be updated. By comparing budgeted cash flows to actual deposits and expenditures, and understanding the nature of any variances, you can strengthen your ability to accurately anticipate cash flow in the future.

Note: A cash flow budget or projection should not be confused with a financial statement called "Statement of Cash Flows." The statement describes changes in cash from year-to-year due to operating surpluses or deficits, makes adjustments for non-cash items such as depreciation, and shows increases or decreases in accounts payable an d accounts receivable. This statement is usually prepared by your auditor along with other financial statements during the audit. (See Financial Management FAQ 25a:What Financial Statements are Nonprofits Required to Issue? for further information.

Useful Strategies for Adjusting the Timing of Cash Flow
In a simple example, imagine an organization with no cash in the bank and a balanced budget, with $10,000 in revenue and $10,000 in expenses. If the income is received first, the organization will be able to spend it down as expenses are incurred. If, however, the expenses come in before the income, the organization cannot pay its bills until the cash is received. In this case, the organization has a problem with the timing of cash flow rather than a shortage of revenue or an excess in expenses.

There are common strategies for dealing with the timing of cash flows, whether it is a cash shortage or a cash surplus.

· Meeting a Projected Temporary Cash Shortage
In order to meet a projected temporary cash shortage, you may want to consider any of the following strategies:

· Obtain a loan, usually from a bank or an individual such as a board or staff member. 

· Arrange for a line of credit from a bank. 

· Speed up the collection of receivables (money owed to you). 

· Move up the fundraising event or campaign you are planning. 

· Finance the purchase of equipment by leasing it or paying for it over time. 

· Liquidate investments. 

· Delay payments to vendors. This strategy is commonly followed in the corporate sector. Nonprofits are often reluctant to delay payments for fear of damaging the public trust or disappointing the vendor, who may be another small business person in the neighborhood. When you must delay payments to vendors, it is often advisable to explain the situation to them carefully, and let them know when they will be paid and how much will each payment be. You may even consider alerting vendors that bills incurred at certain times of year will always be paid. For example, you may experience a cash flow shortfall during the summer. You could negotiate up front with vendors that bills will be paid within thirty days during most of the year, but within ninety days during the summer.

· Taking Advantage of a Projected Temporary Cash Surplus
To take advantage of a projected temporary cash surplus, your organization may:

· Make short term investments in certificates of deposit, money market funds, or U.S. Treasury Bonds. 

· Buy supplies on sale that you will use over the course of the year. 

  

In addition to reviewing your organization's revenue and expense budget, the board should review the organization's cash flow budget. The review should also include any measures related to managing cash flow which involve commitments on the part of your organization such as loans or revised terms with vendors.

The Helpful Organization: Sample Cash Flow Budget
	
	Total Budget 
	January 
	February 
	March 
	April 
	May 
	June 

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	EXPECTED REVENUES 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Government Grants 
	$35,000 
	
	
	
	12,000 
	4,000 
	16,000 

	Foundation Grants 
	50,000 
	
	5,000 
	
	7,500 
	15,000 
	

	Individuals 
	12,000 
	
	
	1,500 
	
	
	30,000 

	Fees for Service 
	55,000 
	3,000 
	4,500 
	4,500 
	5,000 
	5,000 
	3,000 

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Total Revenue 
	152,000 
	3,000 
	9,500 
	6,000 
	24,500 
	24,000 
	49,000 

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	EXPECTED REVENUES 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Salaries & Fringe Benefits 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Executive Director 
	38,000 
	3,167 
	3,167 
	3,167 
	3,167 
	3,167 
	3,167 

	Program Directors 
	50,000 
	4,167 
	4,167 
	4,167 
	4,167 
	4,167 
	4,167 

	Secretary 
	27,000 
	2,250 
	2,250 
	2,250 
	2,250 
	2,250 
	2,250 

	Rent 
	12,000 
	1,000 
	1,000 
	1,000 
	1,000 
	1,000 
	1,000 

	Supplies 
	11,000 
	5,000 
	
	
	
	
	6,000 

	Telephone 
	3,300 
	300 
	250 
	300 
	500 
	350 
	250 

	Postage 
	2,500 
	150 
	150 
	150 
	1,500 
	150 
	150 

	Copying 
	2,950 
	100 
	100 
	100 
	1,000 
	100 
	100 

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Total Expenses 
	146,750 
	16,134 
	11,084 
	11,134 
	13,584 
	11,184 
	17,084 

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	NET INCOME <LOSS> 
	5,250 
	<13,134> 
	<1,584> 
	<5,134> 
	10,916 
	12,816 
	31,916 

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Cash on Hand - Beginning 
	2,648 
	2,648 
	<10,486> 
	<12,070> 
	<17,204> 
	<6,288> 
	6,528 

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Ending Cash Available(Before Loan Activity) 
	7,898 
	<10,486> 
	<12,070> 
	<17,204> 
	<6,288> 
	6,528 
	38,444 

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Loan <Loan Payback> 
	0 
	12,000 
	0 
	6,000 
	<10,000> 
	<8,000> 
	0 

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Cash After Loan Activity 
	7,898 
	1,514 
	<70> 
	796 
	1,712 
	6,528 
	38,444 


How much cash should we hold in reserve? 
	For the sake of long-term organizational and operating stability it is often desirable to build a reserve of cash to accommodate the following situations: 

· Cash flow shortages which arise when expenses fall due before the income to pay for them is received.

Factors which contribute to cash flow shortages in a balanced budget include seasonal or irregular cash flows (e.g., a summer camp or a theater company which receives most of its cash in a few months of the year, but have to pay bills year round), delays in collecting fees for service, and delays in grant payments or contract reimbursements.

This type of cash flow shortage can usually be uncovered by realistic and careful cash flow budgeting. Questions frequently asked during this process include:

· How much do you usually need to borrow to meet payroll and other ongoing expenses during the course of the year?

· How often do you have to delay payments to vendors? How much are those bills?

· How late is your government reimbursement each month? What is the average outstanding amount at any given time?

· Cash flow shortages which are caused by the unpredictability of delivering services which are part of the organizationís basic mission.

For example, the Red Cross, which is in the disaster ìbusinessî needs an enormous reserve to accommodate years when earthquakes, floods, and fires all hit at the same time. Money saved for unexpected problems is sometimes called a ìcontingency fund,î and can be calculated either as a percentage of annual expenses or as a percentage of a key fundraising event if you have one. The more past experience you have to rely on when making contingency calculations, the more accurate they are likely to be.

· Cash flow shortages which are caused by unexpected emergencies, such as the withdrawal of a key funder or the loss of a key asset.

Examples of unexpected emergencies include a fire destroys your site, your heating system needs to be replaced, etc. There is no easy or sure way to predict these kind of cash needs. Factors which contribute to these kinds of emergencies include the stability of funding sources (in general, fees for service or from sale of products and membership dues are considered more predictable and stable than grants and contributions) and the predictability of expenditures (if you have old equipment or other fixed assets there is a higher probability that something will go wrong ìunexpectedlyî).

The more thought you give to anticipating these kinds of emergencies, the easier it will be to cope with them. The types of questions asked to anticipate these situations vary from organization to organization. Some examples include:

· If the fall fundraiser is rained out, how much do you need to tide you over until you can try it again in the spring?

· If a fire destroys your theater and you want to move the play to another venue how much will it take to keep the staff and actors on payroll during the transition? How much will additional rent and publicity costs amount to?

· How many months would it take your organization to get back on its feet in case of disaster? What are your monthly core operating expenses?

· Cash is needed to start a new program or take advantage of an unexpected opportunity which will significantly contribute to your mission.

You might want to determine what it would cost to implement a pilot project, allowing you to test the concept and show some preliminary results to potential funders.

In addition to a reserve for operating expenses, some organizations may build a reserve for an endowment fund or save money towards a large capital purchase (such as a building or computer equipment.) 

Each of these areas should be considered by your board and senior staff to determine how much of a cash reserve is desirable for your organization. There is no one answer to how much of a reserve is ìrightî for nonprofits because the answers to the questions noted above will vary from agency to agency. You might consider each of the points raised above and determine how much of a reserve is needed for your organization. The following example illustrates how to establish an operating reserve goal: 


Example 1 - The Helpful Organization 

The Helpful Organization has had to borrow $5,000 from the board president for the past two years in order to meet cash flow shortages over the summer. In addition, its current government funder has been predicting cuts of 5-16 percent sometime in the next two years. Its current grant is $35,000. 

The Helpful Organization also hopes to start a family literacy program on the weekends which will complement its after-school tutoring program for high school students. One semester of the program is likely to increase its expenses by $7,000. Given these factors, the Helpful Organization might set the following reserve goal: 


	Cash flow 
	$ 5,000 

	Guard against reduced funding -
16% x $35,000 
	 $ 5,600 

	Investing in new program 
	$ 7,000 

	Operating reserve goal 
	$17,600 


Another organization might include in its calculation some percentage of its annual operating expenses. Recommendations on ìhow much is enoughî vary from source to source, ranging from no reserve (from some funders) to up to two yearsí worth of expenses (the maximum acceptable to the National Charities Information Bureau.). You want to balance prudent management, taking into account the factors noted above, with putting your assets to work to serve the community. If you perform the calculations above and your reserves significantly exceed your anticipated needs, it is probably time to discuss how to invest more of those funds into programs serving the community. 

Building a reserve requires an operating surplus, or ìprofitî from unrestricted sources during the year to provide extra, or reserve cash. Even nonprofit organizations are legally entitled to show an operating surplus. They may not use that surplus to benefit any member or officer of the corporation, but must use the surplus for their designated mission to the community. Cash reserves do not need to be held in separate accounts. To indicate that the board has set aside money as a cash reserve for operations, the unrestricted net assets on the balance sheet might be divided as follows: 

	Assets 
	 $35,429 

	Liabilities 
	 $12,226 

	Unrestricted Net Assets 
	 $23,203 


	Board designated reserve 
	 $15,000 

	Undesignated portion 
	 $ 8,203 


An operating reserve, whether it is designated as shown above or simply an accumulated fund balance, is likely to have some impact on your fundraising. Some funders may question your need for their contribution if you have had surpluses from previous years. You will need to explain your policies regarding your cash reserve(s), what factors you considered and why the reserve is there. This will often alleviate a funderís concern that you are accumulating cash at the expense of the people you serve. 

In summary, you will need to develop a policy which articulates how much is enough to guard against emergency, invest in new programs, replace or improve capital assets, smooth out cash flows, and put the rest of your cash to work for the community. 

What are the differences between nonprofit and for-profit accounting? 
Anyone familiar with generally accepted accounting principles and practices will find most accounting for nonprofit activity to be very familiar. There are, however, some significant differences which include:

· Accounting for Contributions

· Capitalizing and Depreciating Assets

· Use of Cash- and Modified Cash-Basis Accounting

· Functional Expense Classification 


Accounting for Contributions
Nonprofits which qualify for tax exempt status under section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code are entitled to receive contributions that are tax deductible to the donor. Since this is unique to the nonprofit sector, there are no equivalent procedures for handling contributions in for-profit accounting. Special procedures have been established for handling the following types of contributions:

· Pledges (Promises to Give) In 1993, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued the Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 116, Accounting for Contributions Received and Contributions Made. This Statement sets down firm guidelines for pledge accounting, requiring that legally enforceable, unconditional pledges be recorded in the accounting records. An unconditional pledge is one which is not contingent on some uncertain future event, such as a matching grant from another donor.

· Donated Materials and Services ( In-Kind Contributions) FASB Statement No. 116 guidelines also requires that nonprofits account for contributions of most goods (with the exception of works of art and other items held in museum collections). In addition, volunteer time must be included in the financial statements when either:

1. the volunteer time results in the creation or enhancement of non-financial assets, such as volunteer labor to renovate a child care center; or

2. the services volunteered are specialized skills, such as those provided by accountants, nurses, electricians, teachers, or other professionals and craftsmen. 

· Special Events and Membership Dues People who pay to attend fundraisers (such as dinners, auctions, fashion shows, bake sales, etc.) often receive a tangible benefit in return (a meal, a performance, etc.) Similarly, membership dues may entitle individuals to use facilities, receive services, etc. The portion of the special event charge or membership dues which represents the fair market value of the benefit received is not tax deductible to the donor. Some minimal benefits are excluded from this rule.


In addition, the accounting profession has established guidelines for responsibly tracking monies which have been restricted by the donor for a specific use (e.g. buying a new building, starting a new program, adding to the endowment, etc.). How these monies are tracked and reported depends on the nature of the donor s restriction, what conditions, if any, the donor has imposed on the organization before it can actually receive or use the money, when the restrictions are met, etc.

Capitalizing and Depreciating Assets
As in for-profit accounting, nonprofits are required to record the purchase of long-lasting, substantial property and equipment (such as computers, vans, buildings, etc.) as assets in the financial records, and to charge a portion of the cost of those items in each year in which they have a useful life. This process is called capitalizing and depreciating fixed assets. While all businesses, including nonprofits, are required to record depreciation of assets, some assets in the nonprofit sector receive special treatment. These include museum collections, historical buildings, library books, zoo animals, etc.

Donated items that are added to collections that are held for public exhibition, protected and kept unencumbered, and subject to the policy that, if sold, the proceeds are used to acquire equivalent replacements for the collection, do not have to be recorded as re venue and are not recognized as formal assets in the financial statements.

Use of Cash- and Modified Cash-Basis Accounting
Many small nonprofits use cash-basis rather than accrual-basis accounting to record expenses and revenues. This means that they only record revenue when the cash is received, and only record expenses when they are paid. Some nonprofits use a modified-cash basis of accounting. They will record payroll taxes withheld from employees or large revenue or expense items on an accrual basis. This means recording revenues when they are earned and expenses when obligations are incurred. Most businesses track all expenses and revenue s using accrual accounting.

Functional Expense Allocation
Nonprofits are required to report their expenses by what is known as their functional expense classifications. The two primary functional expense classifications are program services and supporting activities. Supporting activities typically include management and general activities, fundraising, and membership development. Practices vary widely from organization to organization in the nonprofit sector as to how expenses are categorized by functional areas.

Implications of the Differences between Nonprofit and For-Profit Accounting
Because of these few, but significant, differences between nonprofit and for-profit accounting, you will want to select your al personnel, financial advisor, or auditor carefully. The degree to which you receive contributions requiring special handling, or purchase property and equipment covered by special regulations will determine whether you need an accountant who specializes in nonprofit accounting.

In addition, it is important to remember that financial information for nonprofits is interpreted differently from for-profit financial statements. The following is quoted from What a Difference Nonprofits Make: A Guide to Accounting Procedures, 1990, Accountants for the Public Interest:

· Meaningful evaluations and comparisons of nonprofit performance almost always prove difficult and complex. While the profitability of two businesses can easily be calculated, it is much harder to compare the effectiveness of two counseling centers to see which is doing a better job of helping the mentally ill. Without the standard of profitability, it is also difficult to compare the job performance of nonprofit staff and managers.

Since the beneficiaries of nonprofits often cannot afford to pay for services, organizations frequently lose money on every sale. As a result, an increase in the number of clients or customers may paradoxically increase the likelihood of a financial crisis. On the other hand, turning a profit may mean that a nonprofit agency has turned away clients, perhaps including the most needy. To determine a nonprofit's success you must refer to its goals: these are the group's self-determined replacement for the bottom line of profit-making. The board can measure [a nonprofit's] success by comparing the results achieved with the results sought.

This points to the importance of a clear mission statement as well as regularly updated short- and long-term goals that reflect the purpose of a volunteer agency. It also underscores the need to include service statistics in conjunction with financial statements. In this way, board members can begin to grapple with the complex issues of efficiency and effectiveness as their organization pursue s its stated goals.

What internal controls are needed for cash disbursements? 
	According to Price Waterhouse's booklet, Effective Internal Accounting Control for Nonprofit Organizations: A Guide for Directors and Management, the objective of internal controls for cash disbursements are to ensure that cash is disbursed only upon proper authorization of management, for valid business purposes, and that all disbursements are properly recorded.

While it is impossible to guarantee that these objectives will be met at all times for all transactions, the following practices provide reasonable assurance that they will usually be accomplished.

Segregation of Duties
Segregation of duties means that no financial transaction is handled by only one person from beginning to end. For cash disbursements, this might mean that different people authorize payments, sign checks, record payments in the books, and reconcile the bank statements. If your organization is a small nonprofit, managed by volunteers and possibly one staff person, this principle can be hard to put into practice. You might consider having one person, such as the paid staff member, sign checks and assign a different person, such as the board treasurer, to review disbursements, bank statements, and canceled checks on a monthly basis.

Authorization and Processing of Disbursements
You will want to develop policies regarding who in your organization can authorize payments. Some organizations designate this function solely to the executive director to ensure that a single person is paying attention to monies going out of the organization. In other cases, a department head might authorize purchases for that department, as long as they are within the department's budget. In most organizations, once the board approves the budget, it does not need to authorize individual purchases within that budget. However, unbudgeted purchases would require additional approval. Also, in very small organizations, the board treasurer or board president may be asked to authorize all purchases. Even larger organizations have policies requiring the board to authorize significant expenditures, such as purchases for computers or other assets. It is important to agree and formally define what constitutes a significant expenditure and how these purchases will be handled.

All disbursements should be accompanied by adequate documentation, in the form of receipts or an invoice. Cash withdrawals should never be made via Automatic Teller Machine (ATM) cards.

Managing Restricted Funds
Restricted contributions are a form of revenue unique to the nonprofit sector. Money which has been restricted by the donor for a specific use (such as buying a new building, starting a new program, building an endowment, etc.) should only be used for the purpose for which it has been given. However, most nonprofits find themselves tempted to borrow against restricted monies when facing a cash shortage. In cases where the funder clearly prohibits such borrowing, such action clearly violates the funder's trust and instructions and may lead to revocation of the grant. In other cases, donors allow temporary borrowing as long as the money is replaced within a certain period of time, usually within the grant year.

Ultimately, it is the role of the board to ensure that the organization fulfills its obligations to donors. Therefore, in cases where borrowing against restricted funds is permitted, the board should establish policies which describe the circumstances under which such borrowing is allowed. These policies might include how often borrowing may occur, who may authorize the interfund loan, and how much can be borrowed (such as a percentage of the total grant). In addition, a repayment plan should be established and the board should be advised regularly on the status of any interfund loans.

Check Signing
There is some debate regarding the number of signatures required on a check. In many cases, it is useful to require two signatures on checks, especially for purchases over a certain amount. This amount will vary with the organization's budget; your accountant may be able to help you determine how much is significant. Even though checks require two signatures, three or four people might have check signing authority to ensure that two signers are available to make disbursements. The number of authorized signers should be kept to a minimum, while ensuring that daily business is not unnecessarily hampered.

The purpose of this internal control is to make sure that there are deliberate decisions made about who to pay, how much to pay, and when to pay bills. If you habitually have one or more checks that are pre-signed by one of the two required signatories, it defeats that purpose. If more than one signer is not regularly available, and this inhibits your ability to meet your obligations, you might consider having an imprest checking account. This means that the board establishes a policy regarding the amount of money which can be available in the checking account at any one time, say $500. All other money is kept in a separate account which the check signer does not have access to. The check signer is allowed to pay bills until that amount is substantially depleted. At that time, the treasurer or other board members may review the disbursements and make sure that they are within the guidelines established by the board. Once these disbursements have been reviewed and accepted, the authorized board representative then transfers enough money to bring the imprest account back to its $500 maximum balance.

Seek to balance your internal accounting control in such a way as to ensure public confidence and maintain the integrity of your financial systems and assets, without unduly inhibiting your ability to get on with your work.

Internet Accounting Controls Checklist
The following questions reflect common internal accounting controls related to paying bills. You may wish to use this list to review your own internal accounting controls and determine which areas require further action.

· Are all disbursements, except those from petty cash, made by pre-numbered checks?

· Are voided checks preserved and filed after appropriate mutilation?

· Is there a written prohibition against drawing checks payable to Cash ?

· Is there a written prohibition against signing checks in advance?

· Is a cash disbursement voucher prepared for each invoice or request for reimbursement that details the date of check, check number, payee, amount of check, description of expense account (and restricted fund) to be charged, authorization signature, and accompanying receipts?

· Are all expenditures approved in advance by authorized persons?

· Are signed checks mailed promptly?

· Does the check signer review the cash disbursement voucher for the proper approved authorization and supporting documentation of expenses?

· Are invoices marked Paid with the date and amount of the check?

· Are requests for reimbursement and other invoices checked for mathematical accuracy and reasonableness before approval?

· Is a cash disbursement journal prepared monthly that details the date of check, check number, payee, amount of check, and columnar description of expense account (and restricted fund) to be charged?

· Is check-signing authority vested in persons at appropriately high levels in the organization?

· Are the number of authorized signatures limited to the minimum practical number?

· Do larger checks require two signatures?

· Are bank statements and canceled checks received and reconciled by a person independent of the authorization and check signing function?

· Are unpaid invoices maintained in an unpaid invoice file?

· Is a list of unpaid invoices regularly prepared and periodically reviewed?

· Are invoices from unfamiliar or unusual vendors reviewed and approved for payment by authorized personnel who are independent of the invoice processing function?

· If the organization keeps an accounts payable register, are payments promptly recorded in the register to avoid double payment?

· If purchase orders are used, are all purchase transactions used with pre-numbered purchase orders?

· Are advance payments to vendors and/or employees recorded as receivables and controlled in a manner which assures that they will be offset against invoices or expense vouchers?

· Are employees required to submit expense reports for all travel related expenses on a timely basis?


	According to Price Waterhouse's booklet, Effective Internal Accounting Control for Nonprofit Organizations: A Guide for Directors and Management, the objective of internal controls for cash disbursements are to ensure that cash is disbursed only upon proper authorization of management, for valid business purposes, and that all disbursements are properly recorded.

While it is impossible to guarantee that these objectives will be met at all times for all transactions, the following practices provide reasonable assurance that they will usually be accomplished.

Segregation of Duties
Segregation of duties means that no financial transaction is handled by only one person from beginning to end. For cash disbursements, this might mean that different people authorize payments, sign checks, record payments in the books, and reconcile the bank statements. If your organization is a small nonprofit, managed by volunteers and possibly one staff person, this principle can be hard to put into practice. You might consider having one person, such as the paid staff member, sign checks and assign a different person, such as the board treasurer, to review disbursements, bank statements, and canceled checks on a monthly basis.

Authorization and Processing of Disbursements
You will want to develop policies regarding who in your organization can authorize payments. Some organizations designate this function solely to the executive director to ensure that a single person is paying attention to monies going out of the organization. In other cases, a department head might authorize purchases for that department, as long as they are within the department's budget. In most organizations, once the board approves the budget, it does not need to authorize individual purchases within that budget. However, unbudgeted purchases would require additional approval. Also, in very small organizations, the board treasurer or board president may be asked to authorize all purchases. Even larger organizations have policies requiring the board to authorize significant expenditures, such as purchases for computers or other assets. It is important to agree and formally define what constitutes a significant expenditure and how these purchases will be handled.

All disbursements should be accompanied by adequate documentation, in the form of receipts or an invoice. Cash withdrawals should never be made via Automatic Teller Machine (ATM) cards.

Managing Restricted Funds
Restricted contributions are a form of revenue unique to the nonprofit sector. Money which has been restricted by the donor for a specific use (such as buying a new building, starting a new program, building an endowment, etc.) should only be used for the purpose for which it has been given. However, most nonprofits find themselves tempted to borrow against restricted monies when facing a cash shortage. In cases where the funder clearly prohibits such borrowing, such action clearly violates the funder's trust and instructions and may lead to revocation of the grant. In other cases, donors allow temporary borrowing as long as the money is replaced within a certain period of time, usually within the grant year.

Ultimately, it is the role of the board to ensure that the organization fulfills its obligations to donors. Therefore, in cases where borrowing against restricted funds is permitted, the board should establish policies which describe the circumstances under which such borrowing is allowed. These policies might include how often borrowing may occur, who may authorize the interfund loan, and how much can be borrowed (such as a percentage of the total grant). In addition, a repayment plan should be established and the board should be advised regularly on the status of any interfund loans.

Check Signing
There is some debate regarding the number of signatures required on a check. In many cases, it is useful to require two signatures on checks, especially for purchases over a certain amount. This amount will vary with the organization's budget; your accountant may be able to help you determine how much is significant. Even though checks require two signatures, three or four people might have check signing authority to ensure that two signers are available to make disbursements. The number of authorized signers should be kept to a minimum, while ensuring that daily business is not unnecessarily hampered.

The purpose of this internal control is to make sure that there are deliberate decisions made about who to pay, how much to pay, and when to pay bills. If you habitually have one or more checks that are pre-signed by one of the two required signatories, it defeats that purpose. If more than one signer is not regularly available, and this inhibits your ability to meet your obligations, you might consider having an imprest checking account. This means that the board establishes a policy regarding the amount of money which can be available in the checking account at any one time, say $500. All other money is kept in a separate account which the check signer does not have access to. The check signer is allowed to pay bills until that amount is substantially depleted. At that time, the treasurer or other board members may review the disbursements and make sure that they are within the guidelines established by the board. Once these disbursements have been reviewed and accepted, the authorized board representative then transfers enough money to bring the imprest account back to its $500 maximum balance.

Seek to balance your internal accounting control in such a way as to ensure public confidence and maintain the integrity of your financial systems and assets, without unduly inhibiting your ability to get on with your work.

Internet Accounting Controls Checklist
The following questions reflect common internal accounting controls related to paying bills. You may wish to use this list to review your own internal accounting controls and determine which areas require further action.

· Are all disbursements, except those from petty cash, made by pre-numbered checks?

· Are voided checks preserved and filed after appropriate mutilation?

· Is there a written prohibition against drawing checks payable to Cash ?

· Is there a written prohibition against signing checks in advance?

· Is a cash disbursement voucher prepared for each invoice or request for reimbursement that details the date of check, check number, payee, amount of check, description of expense account (and restricted fund) to be charged, authorization signature, and accompanying receipts?

· Are all expenditures approved in advance by authorized persons?

· Are signed checks mailed promptly?

· Does the check signer review the cash disbursement voucher for the proper approved authorization and supporting documentation of expenses?

· Are invoices marked Paid with the date and amount of the check?

· Are requests for reimbursement and other invoices checked for mathematical accuracy and reasonableness before approval?

· Is a cash disbursement journal prepared monthly that details the date of check, check number, payee, amount of check, and columnar description of expense account (and restricted fund) to be charged?

· Is check-signing authority vested in persons at appropriately high levels in the organization?

· Are the number of authorized signatures limited to the minimum practical number?

· Do larger checks require two signatures?

· Are bank statements and canceled checks received and reconciled by a person independent of the authorization and check signing function?

· Are unpaid invoices maintained in an unpaid invoice file?

· Is a list of unpaid invoices regularly prepared and periodically reviewed?

· Are invoices from unfamiliar or unusual vendors reviewed and approved for payment by authorized personnel who are independent of the invoice processing function?

· If the organization keeps an accounts payable register, are payments promptly recorded in the register to avoid double payment?

· If purchase orders are used, are all purchase transactions used with pre-numbered purchase orders?

· Are advance payments to vendors and/or employees recorded as receivables and controlled in a manner which assures that they will be offset against invoices or expense vouchers?

· Are employees required to submit expense reports for all travel related expenses on a timely basis?


What is petty cash and how should we handle it? 
Petty cash allows you to make small purchases or reimbursements, in cash, for items such as stamps, office supplies, parking, etc. The board or senior management should develop a policy of how much money should be available in cash, and a maximum expenditure which can be paid with petty cash. For example, you may establish a petty cash fund of $100, and have a policy which says that payments for items costing over $15 must be made by check rather than reimbursed through petty cash. The fund should be enough to cover petty cash expenditures for about a month. If it is too small you will have to constantly replenish the funds, and if it is too large it means you have cash on hand which could be more safely kept in your bank account.

The petty cash fund should be kept in a locked box or drawer. Auditors recommend that only one person, called the custodian, have access to this cash, and that person be responsible for all petty cash activity. To disburse petty cash funds, the organization will need to buy or develop petty cash vouchers for documenting each transaction, and determine who in the organization can approve petty cash payments. In some cases, this will be the director; in others, petty cash may also be approved by department heads or the petty cash custodian, within guidelines established by the board.

A Sample Petty Cash Voucher

Petty Cash Voucher Date: ________________ Amount: $ _________________

_______________________________________________ Dollars

For: ___________________________________________________

Account No: ____________________________________

Paid to: ________________________ Signed: ____________________

Approved by: _____________________________________


Establishing a Petty Cash Fund
Once the board has determined (with staff input) how large a fund is needed, write a check to the petty cash custodian (not to cash) to establish the petty cash fund. For example, if you have a $100 petty cash fund and Mary Robinson is the petty cash custodian, write a check for $100, payable to Mary Robinson, Petty Cash Custodian. Mary then cashes the check and places the monies in a locked box or drawer.

To reimburse someone (in this example, Roberto Diaz) for a small purchase, Mary should obtain proof of purchase from Roberto, usually a receipt from the store, post office, etc. Roberto must complete a petty cash voucher, detailing the nature and reason for the purchase. After the voucher has been approved by the appropriate person, Roberto is reimbursed for his expenditure. A sample petty cash voucher is provided under Attachment 1. However, most stationery stores sell pads of petty cash vouchers if you do not want to design your own.

In some cases, the organization may permit an advance from petty cash to cover an upcoming purchase. For example, if the office manager is going to the post office to mail an overnight package, he or she may be authorized to take $20 from the petty cash fund with the stipulation that he or she return with a receipt and change. In this case, the office manager completes a voucher for a $20 advance, approved by a designated staff person. When the office manager returns he or she completes an accurate voucher for the final postage amount, attach the receipt, and return the change to the custodian.

Once the fund is substantially depleted, the petty cash custodian adds up the vouchers and assigns them into appropriate categories (e.g., postage, printing and copying, office supplies, etc.) The total of receipts plus cash available must equal $100 in order to prove that all money has been accounted for. When the account has been balanced, a check is written (in accordance with the check authorization procedure established for all disbursements,) again payable to the petty cash custodian, for the exact amount of the vouchers/receipts, bringing the fund back to its original balance of $100.

Therefore, in the example described above, Mary totals the receipts in the petty cash box and determines that they fall into the following categories:

Postage (4 receipts) $32.50
Printing/Copying (1 receipt) $11.50
Office supplies (2 receipts) $26.95
Total receipts $70.95

In addition, Mary confirms that there is $29.05 in cash remaining in the petty cash box. A check for exactly $70.95 is written, payable to Mary Robinson, Petty Cash Custodian, to bring the fund back up to $100. This method of maintaining a constant amount in petty cash through a combination of cash and receipts is called an imprest system. The petty cash vouchers should be stapled to the summary of expenses prepared by Mary and filed away so they are not reimbursed a second time.

When entering this transaction into the accounting system you increase postage, printing/copying and office supplies expenses, and decrease cash:

Postage $32.50
Printing/Copying $11.50
Office supplies $26.95
Cash - checking $70.95

Notice that you do not post the expenses to an account called petty cash. This way, at the end of the year, you have a true picture of your expenses, which is more helpful for future planning than a lump sum in a petty cash line.

Petty Cash Internal Controls Checklist
The following questions reflect common internal accounting controls related to petty cash. You may wish to use this list to review your own internal accounting controls and determine which areas require further action.

· Is an imprest petty cash fund maintained for payment of small, incidental expenses?

· Is there a limit to the amount that can be reimbursed by the petty cash fund?

· Is supporting documentation required for all petty cash disbursements?

· Is a petty cash voucher filled out with supporting documentation, name of person being reimbursed, and proper authorization?

· Is access to petty cash limited to one person who is the fund custodian?

· Are unannounced counts of petty cash made by someone within the agency other than the fund custodian? 

What internal controls are needed for payroll? 
According to Price Waterhouse's booklet, Effective Internal Accounting Control for Nonprofit Organizations: A Guide for Directors and Management, the objective of internal controls for payroll are to ensure that payroll disbursements are made only upon proper authorization to bona fide employees, that payroll disbursements are properly recorded and that related legal requirements (such as payroll tax deposits) are complied with.

Each employee should have a payroll/personnel file, containing updated salary, benefits, employment status, and withholding information, as well as beginning date of employment and termination date, when applicable. A personnel manual should describe the organization's policies, established by the board, regarding vacations, holidays and sick leave. Records should be kept for each employee to ensure that these policies are being followed. Accountants recommend that the organization retains these records for six to seven years after the employee has been terminated (and possibly longer if that employee participates in a pension plan.)

The time sheet is the most common tool used to document employee hours (including overtime) and authorize payments to employees. Time sheets can be designed to incorporate information regarding vacation, sick leave, and holidays. Government funders often require time sheets to document employee effort for their grants or contracts and all other duties they perform. Time sheets are usually submitted by the employee to his or her immediate supervisor for signature, and may also be reviewed periodically by senior management. Ideally, the person authorizing an employee's hours does not also prepare the paychecks.

Payroll checks should be written in keeping with the procedures for all other cash disbursements (see Financial Management FAQ #21, What Internal Controls are Needed for Cash Disbursements?). Additional segregation of duties related to the payroll function include having someone other than the payroll check signer:

· Hold unclaimed paychecks.

· Review the payroll register and post payroll to the general ledger.

· Review payroll-related tax withholding, deposits, and reporting. This is an especially important function for the board, since board members may have personal liability for payroll taxes that have not been properly deposited with the appropriate government agencies.

· Distribute year-end tax summaries (W-2 s) to employees and responding to inquiries regarding W-2 s.

· Many organizations choose to have a separate checking account for payroll that is used for issuing paychecks and paying government withholding and other taxes related to payroll. A payroll register, listing who was paid, how much, withholding amount, and check number is maintained, either as a subsidiary journal if there is a separate payroll account, or as part of the cash disbursements journal when payroll is integrated with other cash disbursements in a manual system. Some organizations require that employees sign the employee register to acknowledge receipt of their paycheck. 



Payroll Service Bureaus
Because of the number of transactions involved with the payroll function, many nonprofits choose to take advantage of the many low-cost payroll service bureaus available to manage payroll activities. These services bureaus prepare payroll checks for salaried and hourly employees, quarterly reports of payroll, FICA and Medicaid liabilities and withholding, and year end W-2 and W-3 reports of annual salaries. In addition, you may choose to have them deposit taxes with the appropriate government agencies. Since payroll service bureaus offer a range of services, from advising on payroll issues to providing the full range of payroll activities, you can select those services you need and can afford. Payroll service bureaus are able to offer their services relatively inexpensively due to the large number of clients they have. Even nonprofits with under five employees may find it worthwhile to have the significant paperwork and attention to regulations associated with the payroll functions handled by these specialized professionals.

It is important to note, however, that your organization retains final responsibility for accurate and timely reporting and depositing of taxes when using a service bureau. Therefore, it is important to review each payroll check and report. However, the service bureaus also have some liability, and will work with you to resolve any problems with government agencies resulting from incorrect or late filing and deposits due to their error. Errors are not uncommon with payroll services, and they do take staff time and attention to resolve. In addition, a payroll service bureau cannot perform the internal control functions related to time sheets and reviewing payroll records. However, many nonprofits with limited staff time find that using a service bureau saves time and reduces errors, late fees, and late night worries about IRS confrontations.

Payroll Internal Controls Checklist
The following questions reflect common internal accounting controls related to payroll. You may wish to use this list to review your own internal accounting controls and determine which areas require further action.

· Are detailed time sheets required to document employee hours, including overtime?

· Are time sheets signed by the employee s immediate supervisor authorizing payment for work?

· Are employment records maintained for each employee that detail wage rates, benefits, taxes withheld each pay period, and any changes in employment status?

· Are payroll-related taxes (federal income tax, state income tax, employee and employer share of social security, and other taxes) withheld and paid to federal and state agencies on a timely basis?

· Do the executive director and board treasurer review all the payroll tax returns?

· Do written policies and procedures exist for accounting for vacations, holidays, sick leave, and other benefits?

· Is a list of all payroll checks written, with appropriate withheld taxes, maintained either through the cash disbursement journal or a separate payroll register?

· Is a separate payroll bank account maintained?

What is an internal accounting control system and how can we make ours effective? 
Internal accounting control is a series of procedures designed to promote and protect sound management practices, both general and financial. Following internal accounting control procedures will significantly increase the likelihood that:

· financial information is reliable, so that managers and the board can depend on accurate information to make programmatic an d other decisions

· assets and records of the organization are not stolen, misused, or accidentally destroyed

· the organization s policies are followed

· government regulations are met. 



Developing an Internal Accounting Control System
The first step in developing an effective internal accounting control system is to identify those areas where abuses or errors are likely to occur. Many accountants can provide you with a checklist of areas and questions to consider when you are planning your system. Price Waterhouse's booklet, Effective Internal Accounting Control for Nonprofit Organizations: A Guide for Directors and Management, includes the following areas and objectives in developing an effective internal accounting control system:

· Cash receipts
To ensure that all cash intended for the organization is received, promptly deposited, properly recorded, reconciled, and kept under adequate security.

· Cash disbursements
To ensure that cash is disbursed only upon proper authorization of management, for valid business purposes, and that all disbursements are properly recorded.

· Petty cash
To ensure that petty cash and other working funds are disbursed only for proper purposes, are adequately safeguarded, and properly recorded.

· Payroll
To ensure that payroll disbursements are made only upon proper authorization to bona fide employees, that payroll disbursements are properly recorded and that related legal requirements (such as payroll tax deposits) are complied with.

· Grants, gifts, and bequests
To ensure that all grants, gifts, and bequests are received and properly recorded, and that compliance with the terms of any related restrictions is adequately monitored.

· Fixed assets
To ensure that fixed assets are acquired and disposed of only upon proper authorization, are adequately safeguarded, and properly recorded. 



Additional internal controls are also required to ensure proper recording of donated materials, pledges and other revenues, accurate, timely financial reports and information returns, and compliance with other government regulations.

Achieving these objectives requires your organization to clearly state procedures for handling each area, including a system of checks and balances in which no financial transaction is handled by only one person from beginning to end. This principle, called segregation of duties, is central to an effective internal controls system. Even in a small nonprofit, duties can be divided up between paid staff and volunteers to reduce the opportunity for error and wrongdoing. For example, in a small organization, the director might approve payments and sign checks prepared by the bookkeeper or office manager. The board treasurer might then review disbursements with accompanying documentation each month, prepare the bank reconciliation, and review canceled checks.

The board and executive director share the responsibility for setting a tone and standard of accountability and conscientiousness regarding the organization's assets and responsibilities. The board, usually through the work of the finance committee, fulfills that responsibility in part by approving many aspects of the internal control accounting system. Common areas requiring board attention include:

· Check issuance
The number of signatures on checks, dollar amounts which require board approval or board signature on the check, who authorizes payments and financial commitments, etc.

· Deposits
How payments made in cash (for admissions, raffles, weekly collection plate, etc.) will be handled, etc.

· Transfers
If and when the general fund can borrow from restricted funds, etc.

· Approval of plans and commitments before they are implemented
The annual budget and periodic comparisons of financial statements with budgeted amounts, leases, loan agreements, and other major commitments.

· Personnel policies
Salary levels, vacation, overtime, compensatory time, benefits, grievance procedures, severance pay, evaluation, and other personnel matters. 



The Accounting Procedures Manual
The policies and procedures for handling financial transactions are best recorded in an Accounting Procedures Manual, describing the administrative tasks and who is responsible for each. The manual does not have to be a formal document, but rather a simple description of how functions such as paying bills, depositing cash, and transferring money between funds are handled. As you start to document these procedures, even in simple memo form, the memos themselves can be kept together to form a very basic Accounting Procedures Manual. Writing or revising an Accounting Procedures Manual is a good opportunity to see whether adequate controls are in place. In addition, having such a manual facilitates smooth turnover in financial staff.

Maintaining Effective Controls
The executive director is commonly responsible for overseeing the day-to-day implementation of these policies and procedures. Due to the number of detailed requirements involved if your organization receives government funding, there should be one person in the organization (possibly the grant administrator) with the responsibility of understanding and monitoring those specific regulations and compliance factors.

The auditor's management letter is an important indicator of the adequacy of your internal accounting control structure, and the degree to which it is maintained. The management letter, which accompanies the audit and is typically addressed to the board as trustees for the organization, cites significant weaknesses in the system or its execution. By reviewing the management letter with the executive director, asking for responses to each internal control lapse or recommendation, and comparing management letters from year to year, the board has a useful mechanism for monitoring its financial safeguards and adherence to financial policies.

As your nonprofit changes and matures, and your funding and programs change, you will need to periodically review the internal accounting control system which you have established and modify it to include new circumstances (bigger staff, more restricted funding, etc.) and regulations (such 

as receiving federal awards with increased compliance demands.)

What financial statements are nonprofits required to issue? 
The end products of the accounting process are the financial statements, summarizing all of the financial transactions of the organization for the period. The Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Account Standards No.117, Financial Statements for Not-for-profit Organizations requiring nonprofits to prepare three primary financial statements:

· Statement of Financial Position (Balance Sheets)

· Statement of Activities (Income Statement)

· Statement of Cash Flows 


In addition, nonprofits must provide information about expenses as reported in their functional classifications (program services and supporting services.) Voluntary health and welfare organizations are also required to present a statement that reports expenses by their natural classification (e.g., salaries, rent, telephone, printing, etc.) Other nonprofits are encouraged to report in both formats as well.

The following briefly describes the information included in each statement.

Statement of Financial Position
Reports amounts of the organization's assets, liabilities and net assets (fund balances) at a specified date. This statement was previously known as the Balance Sheet.

Assets are properties and resources the agency owns and can use to achieve its goals.

Current assets include cash accounts, certificates of deposits and other investments, and items such as receivables which will be converted to cash within one year. Fixed assets include land, buildings and equipment.

Liabilities are debts of the organization, what is owed. Current liabilities typically include accounts payable to vendors, short-term loans due, withheld payroll taxes due, etc. Long term liabilities include long term debt, mortgages, etc.

Net Assets (previously called fund balances) represents the net of assets over liabilities. Three classes of net assets must be reported on unrestricted, temporarily restricted, and permanently restricted. Restrictions are determined by the conditions which donors place on their contributions.

Statement of Activities
Reports revenues, expenses, and the resulting change in net assets for the year. Charges are reported for each of the three classes of net assets (unrestricted, temporarily restricted, and permanently restricted.) This statement was previously known as the Income Statement or Statement of Revenue, Expenses and Changes in Fund Balances.

Statement of Cash Flows
Reports how the organization's cash position changed during the year. Cash flow information is divided among receipts and disbursements from investing, financing, and operating activities. Many nonprofits ask their auditors to prepare this statement.

Other Related Documents
In addition to the financial statements required for audit purposes, nonprofits are required by federal and state governments to file various information returns to maintain their tax-exempt status and document tax compliance. The primary federal reports are the annual Form 990 and Schedule A to the 990. State governments may require additional reports.

Sample Statements of Financial Position and Activities 

The Helpful Organization: Statement of Financial Position


Statement of Financial Position
(Balance Sheet)
The Helpful Organization
Year Ended June 30, 19x8
	 ASSETS 
	 19x8 
	19x7 

	  
	  
	  
	  

	  
	Cash and Cash Equivalents 
	$11,400  
	$6,300 

	  
	Grants Receivable 
	2,500 
	0 

	  
	Prepaid Expense 
	950 
	1,300 

	  
	  
	  
	  

	  
	Fixed Assets at Cost: 
	  
	  

	  
	  
	  
	  

	  
	Office Equipment 
	15,496 
	

	  
	Less: 
	  
	  

	  
	Accumulated Depreciation 
	<15,496> 
	  

	  
	  
	  
	  

	  
	Net Fixed Assets 
	- 0 - 
	- 0 - 

	  
	  
	  
	  

	  
	Total Assets 
	$14,850 
	$7,600 

	  
	  
	  
	  

	LIABILITIES 
	  
	  

	  
	  
	  
	  

	  
	Accounts Payable 
	$1,500 
	$4,500 

	  
	  
	  
	  

	NET ASSETS (Fund Balance) 
	$13,350  
	$3,100 


  

The Helpful Organization: Statement of Activities 

Statement of Activities
The Helpful Organization
Year Ended June 30, 19x8

FORMAT A
Functional Expense Classification
	REVENUES 
	

	
	

	Government Grants 
	$ 35,000 

	Other Grants 
	50,000 

	Individual Contributions 
	25,000 

	
	

	Fees for Service 
	45,000 

	Interest 
	2,000 

	
	

	Total Income 
	$157,000 

	
	

	EXPENSES 
	

	
	

	Counseling Program 
	$ 52,800 

	Training Program 
	62,100 

	Management and General 
	21,865 

	Fundraising 
	9,985 

	
	

	Total Expenses 
	$146,750 

	
	

	Increase/<Decrease> in Net Assets 
	$ 10,250 


  

The Helpful Organization: Statement of Activities

Statement of Activities
The Helpful Organization
Year Ended June 30, 19x8
FORMAT B
Natural Expense Classification 

	REVENUES 
	

	
	

	Government Grants 
	$ 35,000 

	Other Grants 
	50,000 

	Individual Contributions 
	25,000 

	
	

	Fees for Service 
	45,000 

	Interest 
	2,000 

	
	

	Total Income 
	$157,000 

	
	

	EXPENSES 
	

	
	

	Salaries and Fringe: 
	

	Executive Director 
	$ 38,000 

	Program Directors 
	50,000 

	Secretary 
	27,000 

	
	

	Rent 
	12,000 

	Supplies 
	11,000 

	Telephone 
	3,300 

	Postage 
	2,500 

	Copying 
	2,950 

	
	

	Total Expenses 
	$146,750 

	
	

	Increase/<Decrease> in Net Assets 
	$ 10,250 


  

The Helpful Organization: Statement of Cash Flows

Statement of Cash Flows
The Helpful Organization
Year Ended June 30, 19x8
	Change in Net Assets 
	$10,250 

	
	

	Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net cash <used by> operating activities: 
	

	
	

	<Increase> in grants receivable 
	< 2,500> 

	Decrease in prepaid expenses 
	350 

	<Decrease> in accounts payable 
	< 3,000> 

	
	

	Net cash <used by> operating activities 
	< 5,150> 

	Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 
	5,100 

	Cash and Cash Equivalents — Beginning of year 
	6,300 

	Cash and Cash Equivalents — End of year 
	$11,400 


 

The Helpful Organization: Statement of Functional Expenses 

Statement of Functional Expenses
The Helpful Organization
Year Ended June 30, 19x8 

	
	Counseling Program
	Training Program
	Total Program
	Management and General
	Fundraising
	Total Supporting
	Total All Expenses

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Salaries and Fringe: 
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Executive Director 
	$12,500 
	$12,500 
	$25,000 
	$7,000 
	$6,000 
	$13,000 
	$38,000 

	Program Directors 
	25,000 
	25,000 
	50,000 
	
	
	
	50,000 

	Secretary 
	7,000 
	10,000 
	17,000 
	8,000 
	2,000 
	10,000 
	27,000 

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Rent 
	4,000 
	6,000 
	10,000 
	1,565 
	435 
	2,000 
	12,000 

	Supplies 
	2,500 
	4,500 
	7,000 
	3,000 
	1,000 
	4,000 
	11,000 

	Telephone 
	1,000 
	1,100 
	2,100 
	1,000 
	200 
	1,200 
	3,300 

	Postage 
	500 
	1,000 
	1,500 
	800 
	200 
	1,000 
	2,500 

	Copying 
	300 
	2,000 
	2,300 
	500 
	150 
	650 
	2,950 

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Total Expenses 
	$52,800 
	$62,100 
	$114,900 
	$21,865 
	$9,985 
	$31,850 
	$146,750 


What financial reports do management and the board need? 
Because each nonprofit organization faces different financial issues and has different resources to bring to financial functions, each organization will choose a different set of regular financial reports to prepare and analyze. At different times an organization will need different reports to provide information to support its decision making.

What reports should we prepare and how often?
The answer will depend on several factors, including the extent to which the organization is financially stable, the degree and extent to which the financial picture changes during the period, the availability of cash to meet financial obligations, the availability of staff or other professionals to prepare reports, etc.

A mid-sized human service organization in reasonably good shape financially might consider the following schedule of reports:

Monthly Reports 

· Statement of Position (Balance Sheet)
What is our financial health? Can we pay our bills?

· Statement of Activities (consolidated) showing budget to actual information
What has been our overall financial performance this month and to date?

· Departmental Income and Expense Statement showing budget to actual information
How does actual financial experience compare with the budget? Is specific action called for, such as limiting expenses in certain areas? Does experience indicate a change in the budget is appropriate?

· Narrative report including tax and financial highlights, important grants received, recommendations for short term loans, or other means of managing cash flow
An executive summary of financial highlights, analysis, and concerns. 



Quarterly Reports 

· Fundraising Reports; actuals vs. projections for donations; status report on all foundation proposals.
Are fundraising results on track? 

· Cash flow projections for the next six months
Do we anticipate a cash surplus or shortage? 

· Payroll tax reports
Have payroll tax reports been submitted on time and tax deposits been made?

· Fee for service report showing number of fee-paying clients and revenue against projections?
Are we servicing approximately the same number and type of clients as we had anticipated? If not, what action or change is appropriate? 



Annual Reports 

· Annual Federal forms, including 990 and Schedule A; State Reports
Has the organization fulfilled its reporting responsibilities to federal and state governments? 

· Draft financial statements for year: Statement of Activities; Statement of Position; Income Statement for each program. Aggregated financial statements with narrative showing key trends
Focus: Internal management decision-making. What was our financial performance over the past year? In what ways and for what reasons was performance different from the budget? What financial implications must be taken into account when planning the upcoming year? 

· Audited financial statements for the entire organization, including Statement of Position, Statement of Activities, Statement of Cash Flows, Statement of Functional Expenses
Focus: External accountability and financial disclosure to funders and the public 

· Management letter from the auditor
What recommendations has the auditor made related to the accounting system, internal controls, and financial planning?


Who Prepares These Reports and Who Should Review Them? 
In a small nonprofit the board treasurer or outside accountant/bookkeeper might prepare the financial information for all in-house financial statements, and work with the executive director to prepare the narrative with financial highlights to be presented to the board. A controller or finance director would prepare these reports in a larger organization. The program director, if you have one, would ordinarily prepare the quarterly fee-for-service report. Similarly, the director of development would prepare the quarterly fundraising report.

The executive director reviews all reports prior to presenting them to board members to ensure that the financial information makes sense and can be translated into issues and opportunities facing the organization. In addition, key staff members such as program directors and the director of development should have the opportunity to review income and expense reports for the whole organization.

When the board is large enough to include a finance committee, that committee reviews all financial statements and reports on financial activity to the full board. In a smaller nonprofit, the executive director might report first to the board treasurer, who can then keep the full board apprised of the organization s financial status.

The finance committee will often review the numbers in greater detail than the full board. The full board may be better able to respond to aggregated information with important financial trends and issues highlighted in an accompanying narrative report. While each board member should have the opportunity to review organization-wide income and expense reports to understand the impact their department's activities have on the whole organization, members who are inexperienced at reading financial statements may get lost in overly detailed statements. To help the board fulfill its oversight function, it is important for the executive director and the finance committee to present the information in as clear and concise a manner as possible.

The audit and management letter are addressed directly to the board of directors because of its oversight function. Typically, the auditor works with the finance staff to prepare federal and state reports and may be included at board meetings during which presentations are given.

How do we interpret our financial statements? 
Readers of financial statements can learn a great deal about the health of a nonprofit organization by examining the numerical information presented. In particular, financial information helps readers:

· Measure the organization's efficiency, using factors such as: 

· Units of service produced compared to costs

· Fundraising income compared to amounts spent on fundraising

· Net income in a fee-producing program compared to the fees received 



Evaluate the adequacy of financial resources, often through:

· Liquidity ratios, such as the current ratio

· Comparison of total liabilities or total assets with net assets (formerly called fund balance)

· Cash flow projections 



Seek significant financial trends by:

· Vertical analysis (looking at a simple line item as a percentage of total revenue or expense)

· Horizontal analysis (comparing prior periods with the current period) 



For different organizations, different numbers will have different meanings. For example, imagine an organization that shows an operating deficit for the year of $20,000. Is that a red flag? In a small organization with few reserves, such a deficit may indeed indicate serious over-spending of failure to generate revenue. In a large organization, $20,000 may represent less than one percent of revenue and may not be significant. Yet another organization may be purposefully spending down cash reserves on an important program and this "deficit" may represent that decision. For still another organization, a loss of $20,000 may not be a concern by itself, but because it represents the third consecutive year of deficits, does cause concern.

Ratios, too, have different meanings in different situations. For example, a new organization may find it spent 90 percent of its dollars on fundraising. In an established organization, such a ratio would certainly be a red flag. But on closer look, this new organization's services are delivered by volunteers, and the only paid staff they have is a fundraiser.

Just as a fast food chain and an airline are in different businesses with different financial indicators, a specific ratio will mean something different in different types of nonprofits. There are different red flags for arts organizations than there are for human service organizations, and different red flags for organizations that rely on donations than for organizations that rely on individual fee payments.

In several cases, ratio analysis is used to evaluate the organization's financial health. Ratios are a tool for comparing numbers representing different aspects of an organization's financial status. The value of the tool is in identifying which numbers to compare, and determining what the comparison might indicate. Although accountants have determined certain standard ranges for these ratios within some nonprofit industries (arts, libraries, human service agencies, etc.), it is most important to identify the trends in your own organization and analyze changes over time. Therefore, instead of giving specific ranges in the following examples, this article indicates the likely significance of a "high" or "low" relationship between the numbers compared in the ratio.

Financial Indicators from the Statement of Activities (Income Statement)

Surplus or deficit
If income is greater than expenses within a given period, say a year, the organization has generated a surplus. If expenses are greater than revenue, the organization experiences a deficit for the period. There is no rule that says organizations should have surpluses, deficits, or break even. Typically nonprofits budget to break even. However, organization may deliberately decide to spend down their cash reserves (expandable net assets) for a specific purpose such as starting a new program. Doing so results in an operating deficit, but one which is planned. Similarly, if a nonprofit has determined that it needs a cash reserve for specific future purposes (cash flow, investing in a new program guarding against future declines in funding, etc.), the Statement of Activity should reflect an operating surplus. An "unplanned" surplus, deficit, or even a break even position should be analyzed to determine its causes and to plan for the implications.

Budget to Actual for Revenue and Expense
Perhaps the most commonly used financial indicator is a comparison of budgeted revenue to actual revenue, and budgeted expense to actual expense. These comparisons are made on both a monthly and a year-to-date basis. Significant variations from budget should be investigated to see whether new projections should be make based on actual experience, and/or whether managerial intervention is appropriate.

Samples of vertical analysis and horizontal analysis
If you would like to receive a sample vertical analysis and horizontal analysis, contact the Support Centers of America at (415) 974-5100. When Web software universally supports advanced formatting, we will make sample forms available on our Web site.

Functional Expense Ratios
When completing Federal Form 900, nonprofits must report expenses functionally, broken down into the categories of Program , Management and General Activities, and Fundraising. Donors and agencies who evaluate nonprofit performance, often look to see that most of your organization's funds are being used for programmatic purposes. However, different sources recommend differing practices and policies for allocating expenses among the functional expense categories. As a result, it is important to develop consistent guidelines within your own organization to determine which of your expenses go to program support, and which to management and general activities or fundraising.

Some functional expense ratios are:
Take Program Expense and divided by Total Expense
If high, most of the expenses are related to program. Relatively little is spent on management or on fundraising.

Take Fundraising Expense and divided by Total Expense
If high, a large percentage of expenses are spent on fundraising efforts. Prospective donors may draw the conclusion that too high a portion of their contribution will be spent on fundraising, rather than on program services.

Financial Indicators from the Statement of Position (Balance Sheet)

Short term liabilities coverage ratio (quick ratio)
Will there be enough cash to pay bills in the immediate or near future? Add together all assets that can be used to pay bills over a specific period of time, such as one month or three months and compare this with the bills that must be paid within that same period of time.

Take Cash + Unrestricted Investment + Accounts Receivable and divided by Current Accounts Payable + Current Accruals
If high, there may be too much in cash, some could be earning more if invested. If low, you may be in danger of a cash flow crisis, not enough cash to pay pressing bills.

Current Ratio
Will cash flow be adequate to pay bills over the next year?

Take the Current Assets and divide by Current Liabilities
If high, Same as above. Caution: Even if current ratio is adequately calculated for the year, there may be periods within the year where there is an inadequate cash to pay bills.

Deffered Revenue or Net Temporarily Restricted Assets
Deferred revenue traditionally refers to cash which has been received for some restricted condition which has not yet been met. Under the new Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.116 issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB), most of these funds will be held not as deferred revenue, but as an addition to temporarily restricted net assets.

To determine the ratio, take the Deferred Revenue and divide by the Cash + Savings - or - take the Temporarily Restricted Net Assets and divide them by the Cash + Savings.

If deferred revenue or temporarily restricted net assets exceeds cash and savings, you may be spending restricted cash for purposes other than those which the funder intended, or using monies designated for future purposes (such as magazine subscription fulfillment) to meet current expenses.

Financial Indicators Using Information from More Than One Financial Statement

Fund Balance Ratio or Unrestricted Net Assets Ratio
The fund balance ratio, now called the unrestricted net assets ratio, measures the amount of unrestricted, spendable equity to the organization's annual operating expense.

To determine the ratio, take Expendable Unrestricted Net Assets and divide them by Annual Expenses.

If low, the organization has little unrestricted, spendable equity available to meet temporary cash shortages, an emergency, or deficit situation in the future. This may be the case even in organizations with significant unrestricted net assets, if the major portion of equity is tied up in fixed assets.

Days Receivables
The days receivables ratio measures the average number of days it takes to collect on a sale or service performed for a fee. This ratio is useful to organizations which earn significant portions of their revenue from fees charged to clients or from product sales.

To determine this ratio take the Accounts Payable times 365 days and divide by purchases.

If high, payments taking longer than 30 or 60 days are inconsiderate and may result in friction with community vendors. In addition, the organization may be incurring additional costs as a result of late or deferred payments (e.g., late fees, interest expense, etc.). A very long days payables ratio or a sudden increase in days payable may indicate an inability to pay bills.

Failure to Produce Financial Information
In order to assess the financial health of your organization, timely and reliable financial information must be available. Lack of adequate financial information may indicate that not enough time is available from staff or outside contractors to perform the accounting function, that staff needs more training in financial statement perpetration, or that financial systems need to be improved.

Final Comments
Ultimately, the most important performance measure of a nonprofit is not to be found in financial statements at all. To determine "success," a nonprofit must measure progress against its goals. For example, perhaps an organization has set as a goal providing 200 terminally ill patients with hospice care over twelve months. Determining how many patients were served and at what cost is not difficult. But these calculations show how efficient the has been - not how effective the group has been at providing compassionate, professional care for these patients. It is important to remember that financial indicators are powerful tools for nonprofit managers, when used in pursuit of meaningful goals.

Is there a way to just show a figure for "net fundraising events" rather than listing each event under both income and expense? 
	Some nonprofits find that it distorts their budget to show both the income and expense from a fundraising event. Some use accounting software that isn't set up to show only the "Net."

It's true--fundraising income and expense can distort the budget. For example, if an organization's annual dinner brings in $25,000, but costs $15,000, the budget should really show only the $10,000 as net income (a separate, break-out worksheet should show the expected gross income and expenses for analysis purposes). In line with this clarity, Federal Form 990, the annual form required for most nonprofits, asks only for the net of fundraising special events.

There are two approaches. One solution is simply to track both income and expense to the same account; If, for example, account #488 is for the Annual Dinner, you can post both income (Credits) and expenses (Debits) to that account. The printout will show only the net. If you want to know the grosses, you will have to look at the year-to-date general ledger printout. In the previous example, software would print out only $10,000 in the line item for the Annual Dinner income.

This FAQ was written by Jan Masaoka, Executive Director of CompassPoint Nonprofit Services.


How do we develop functional expense classifications? 
Federal Form 990 and the Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.117 require nonprofits to report expenses by what is known as their functional classification. The two primary functional classifications are program services and supporting activities. Supporting activities are typically comprised of management and general activities, fundraising, and membership development.

Statement No.117, Paragraphs 27 and 28 defines these classifications as follows:

Program services are activities that result in goods and services being distributed to beneficiaries, customers, or members that fulfill the purposes or mission for which the organization exists. Supporting activities are all activities of a not-for-profit organization other than program services. Management and general activities include oversight, business management, general recordkeeping, budgeting, financing and related administrative activities, and all management and administration except for direct conduct of program services or fund-raising activities. Fund-raising activities include publicizing and conducting fund-raising campaigns; maintaining donor mailing lists; conducting special fund-raising events; preparing and distributing fund-raising manuals, instructions and other materials; and conducting other activities involved with soliciting contributions from individuals, foundations, government agencies and others. Membership-development activities include soliciting for prospective members and membership dues, membership relations and similar activities.

· 
According to Statement No.117, Paragraph 26, this classification system was developed "to help donors, creditors, and others in assessing an organization s service efforts, including the costs of its services and how it uses resources...". Since donors make contributions in order to further a nonprofit s mission, they and the government are concerned that charitable dollars are used to achieve the organization's service goals efficiently.

To help donors and boards, agencies such as the National Charities Information Bureau (NCIB) and United Way have established certain standards for the amount of an organization's budget that should be spent in each category. For example, NCIB recommends that at least 60 percent of annual expenses should be related to program services. In addition, many of the larger accounting firms have developed industry standards for the arts, libraries, human service organizations, and others to show what percent of expenses are commonly devoted to programmatic services and what percent to supporting services. (To obtain this information you might contact one of the national accounting firms who typically have teams specializing in nonprofits, or a local accounting firm that works extensively in the nonprofit sector.)

Different sources recommend differing practices and policies for allocating expenses among the functional expense categories. Therefore, expense allocation practices vary widely from organization to organization within the nonprofit sector. For example, time spent by the executive director developing and overseeing programs can legitimately be considered a program services expense, yet some nonprofits will place the entire director's salary into the management and general activities function. Similarly, rent, utilities, insurance, supplies, and other expenses may be fairly divided among the various functional classifications and should not necessarily be considered exclusively management and general activities costs.

The lack of standard allocation practices makes functional accounting a somewhat unreliable measure of nonprofit efficiency and effectiveness. Given the lack of clear guidelines, you will want to define for your own organization which expenses are legitimately programmatic and which are supportive. As long as your internal guidelines are reasonable and justifiable they are likely to be accepted by auditors and donors.

Once you have established your own criteria for determining whether expenses are programmatic or supporting, you will need to develop a method for allocating costs among the functional areas. Some organizations use different allocation methods for different line items. For example, salaries may be allocated based on time and effort distribution summarized from periodic time sheets. Copier, postage and telephone activity can often be allocated directly to their specific uses as well (although doing so is often time consuming.) In other cases, organizations develop an indirect cost rate and allocate a percentage of expenses to each functional area. Refer to Financial Management FAQ 4: How Can We Allocate Indirect Costs to Programs?, for additional information.

Since the lack of standard practices in allocating functional expenses makes comparisons between nonprofits difficult, you may want to track trends within your own organization over time: Within the guidelines you have established internally, what is the relationship between programmatic and supportive expenses over time? If your administrative or fundraising expenses are growing in relation to your programmatic outlays, you should understand what is causing the change and consider how you might reverse the trend.

The Helpful Organization: A Sample Cost Allocation Methodology

The Helpful Organization has two programs: Counseling and Training. Their total expenses are:

	Salaries and Fringe: 
	

	Executive Director 
	$ 38,000 

	Program Directors 
	$ 50,000 

	Secretary 
	$ 27,000 

	
	

	Rent 
	$ 12,000 

	Supplies 
	$ 11,000 

	Telephone 
	$ 3,300 

	Postage 
	$ 2,500 

	Copying 
	$ 2,950 

	
	

	Total Expenses 
	$146,750 


· 
The Helpful Organization uses the following methods for allocating its expenses into functional categories: 

· Salaries and Fringe: The program directors’ salaries are allocated entirely to programs. The organization calculates hourly pay rates for the Executive Director and Secretary by dividing their salary and fringe benefits by the number of hours each works in a year. They track their hours using a time sheet and multiplying the number of hours spent on each functional area by the hourly rate to determine how to allocate their salaries to each benefitting functional area. 

· Rent: Rent is allocated based on the percent of staff time that serve each function (as determined by staff time sheets). Since 80 pecent of staff time supports the program function, 80 percent of the rent is charged to the program function, as well. 

· Supplies: Some supplies are clearly programmatic (training packets, markers and easels, etc.). These are charged directly to the benefitting programs. Other supplies are allocated using the indirect cost rate. (See FMFAQ No. 4 for additional information.) 

· Telephone: Telephone expenses are allocated using the indirect cost rate. 

· Postage: Bulk mailings which can be easily traced to the counseling and training programs are charged tto those functions. The remaining postage expenses are distributed using the indirect cost rate. 

· Copying: Copying for big projects is done at the local copy center. Those bills are charged to program and fundraising activities. Other copying expenses are distributed using the indirect cost rate. 

Based on these allocation methodologies, the distribution of expenses to functional activities is as follows:

Statement of Functional Expenses 

	
	Counseling Program
	Training Program
	Total Program
	Management and General
	Fundraising
	Total Supporting

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Salaries and Fringe: 
	
	
	
	
	

	Executive Director 
	$12,500 
	$12,500 
	$25,000 
	$7,000 
	$6,000 
	$13,000 

	Program Directors 
	25,000 
	25,000 
	50,000 
	
	
	

	Secretary 
	7,000 
	10,000 
	17,000 
	8,000 
	2,000 
	10,000 

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Rent 
	4,000 
	6,000 
	10,000 
	1,565 
	435 
	2,000 

	Supplies 
	2,500 
	4,500 
	7,000 
	3,000 
	1,000 
	4,000 

	Telephone 
	1,000 
	1,100 
	2,100 
	1,000 
	200 
	1,200 

	Postage 
	500 
	1,000 
	1,500 
	800 
	200 
	1,000 

	Copying 
	300 
	2,000 
	2,300 
	500 
	150 
	650 

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Total Expenses 
	52,800 
	62,100 
	114,900 
	21,865 
	9,985 
	31,850 


	Total Program Costs 
	114,900 

	Total Supporting Costs 
	31,850 

	
	

	Total Costs 
	146,750 


How can we allocate indirect costs to programs? 
What Are Indirect Costs?
In a multi-program organization, all costs can be divided into two different types: direct and indirect. Direct costs are those which are clearly and easily attributable to a specific program. For example, the cost of new basketballs is clearly related to the after-school athletics program. Similarly, it is easy to justify charging counselors salaries to the counseling program.

Indirect costs are those which are not easily identifiable with a specific program, but which are, nonetheless, necessary to the operation of the program. These costs are shared among programs and, in some cases, among functions (program, management and general, and fundraising). The executive director's salary is a common example of an expense which benefits all programs and functions. Other indirect, or shared, costs may include rent, telephone, postage, printing and other expenses which benefit all programs and functions of an organization.

Why Allocate Indirect Costs to the Programs?
The full cost of a program rightfully includes a share of the overall costs of the organization. Knowing the full cost of a program sets a basis for financial analysis of the program, for pricing fee-based services, and for requesting reimbursement from funders for the full costs of providing services.

What Are the Methods for Allocating Indirect Costs?
There are several methods for allocating indirect costs. The two most common are case-by-case allocation and developing an indirect cost rate.

· Case-by-Case Allocation
One method of allocating indirect costs is to determine a rate of actual usage for each program. For example, you may decide to keep track of long distance telephone calls and charge them to the appropriate program when you pay the phone bill each month. Similarly , some organizations use a counter or log to track copying expenses for each program and/or function. Time sheets may form the basis for allocation of salaries for the executive director, accountant, and staff whose work benefits more than one program or activity. A different method can be adopted for each line item or case.

The advantage of this method is that it seems to "make sense." A major disadvantage, however, is that it often requires a great deal of time consuming record keeping. Even if you keep the records needed to precisely allocate shared expenses among programs, not all expenses will be covered. If, for example, the rent is allocated by square feet, how should you allocate the hallway and rest rooms? What about the local phone calls which can not be tracked using a code?

For those shared expenses which cannot easily be divided directly into programs and functions, an indirect cost rate is useful.

· Developing an Indirect Cost Rate
The first step in determining an indirect cost rate is to separate all costs into two groups: direct and indirect costs. The indirect costs are aggregated into an indirect cost "pool" and then allocated to the programs based on a set proportion or rate.

There are several measures used to determine the proportion of indirect costs to allocate (apply) to each program. The following simple example illustrates an indirect cost rate based on the relationship between total indirect costs and total direct costs:

Example 1-- The Tadpole League
The Tadpole League has a total budget of $3,300. The budget is distributed as follows:
Program A has direct costs of $1,000
Program B has direct costs of $2,000
Indirect costs to run the programs is budgeted at $300
Total costs are $3,300

Since Program A's direct costs are one-third of the total direct costs of the agency ($1,000 out of $3,000), it should bear one-third of the indirect costs. Similarly, since Program B incurs two-thirds of the total direct costs of the agency, it should bear two-thirds of the indirect costs, as well.

The Tadpole League can create an indirect cost rate which will allow it to easily accomplish this allocation. An indirect cost rate (using direct costs as a base) is established by dividing the total indirect costs by the total direct costs. For the Tadpole League the indirect cost rate is:

Total Indirect Costs divided by Total Direct Costs = $300/$3,000 = 10 percent of total costs

Each program s share of indirect costs can be calculated as a proportion of its direct costs:
Program A Indirect Expenses: $1,000 x 10% = $100
Program B Indirect Expenses: $2,000 x 10% = $200
Total Indirect Expenses = $300

After the indirect costs have been allocated to the programs, the budget now reads as follows:
Program A has direct costs of $1,000, indirect costs of $100 = $1,100
Program B has direct costs of $2,000, indirect costs of $200 = $2,200
Total costs are $3,300

This illustrates that after Program A has picked up its fair share of indirect costs, the true cost of running Program A is $1,100. As you can see from this example, using direct costs as a basis for your indirect cost rate will result in larger programs being charged with more of the indirect costs than smaller programs. 



Is There More Than One Way to Calculate an Indirect Cost Rate?
The Office of Management and Budget Circular A-122, Cost Principles for Nonprofit Organizations, describes the method of developing a federal indirect cost rate, using these same principles. However, even within these guidelines, indirect cost rates for the same organization may vary from federal agency to federal agency. Organizations may allocate indirect costs based on how many people are served in each of their programs, how large each of their sites is, or other logical methods.

What Is the Standard for Allowable Indirect Costs?
There is little agreement in the nonprofit or funding community about how to calculate the rate, what to include, and how much is fair. There are no across-the-board standards or maximum levels for indirect costs. Some foundations have informal, unwritten guidelines for a maximum level. Under federal guidelines, allowable indirect costs range from 3 percent to 70 percent, varying from agency to agency.

Contrary to popular belief, indirect costs are not an easy measure of an organization s efficiency or stewardship. For example, imagine a multi-service agency where each program has its own bookkeeper, purchases its own supplies, and has all its own equipment. Such an organization would have no indirect costs at all, but would be clearly less efficient than if the programs shared bookkeeping costs, supplies and equipment.

Final Comments
Because the presentation of financial information influences the way we assess an agency's finances, the selection of indirect costing methods and accounting procedures has an important impact on decision-making. Several urgent and perhaps conflicting demands are made of the indirect costing process: to attribute indirect costs in the fairest way possible, to attribute the most indirect costs to the programs that can best afford them, to eliminate as many indirect costs as possible by having each program buy its own supplies, etc. Finding a balance among these demands that clears confusion and informs decision-makers is a responsibility of all participants in the nonprofit sector.

What is the Difference Between Cash-Basis and Accrual-Basis Accounting? 
Cash-basis and accrual-basis accounting use different criteria for determining when to recognize and record revenue and expenses in your financial records. On a cash-basis revenues are recognized when cash is received and deposited. Expenses are recorded in the accounting period when bills are paid. In accrual-basis accounting, income is realized in the accounting period in which it is earned (e.g., once contracted services are provided, grant provisions are met, etc.), regardless of when the cash from these fees and donations is received. Expenses are recorded as they are owed (e.g. when supplies are ordered, the printer finishes your brochure, employees actually perform the work, etc.), instead of when they are paid.

To illustrate, let,s take a simple example. At the end of a summer camp,s fiscal year, it has recorded the following deposits and expenditures (left hand statement) from its checkbook. A balance sheet has also been prepared to show the camp,s assets, liabilities and fund balance.

Example of Cash-Basis Balance Sheet 

SUMMER CAMP
September 1 - August 31, 19xx 

	INCOME STATEMENT 
	
	
	BALANCE SHEET 
	

	INCOME 
	
	
	ASSETS 
	

	
	
	
	
	

	Grants 
	$ 3,000 
	
	Cash 
	$ 127 

	Contributions 
	4,500 
	
	Property, Plant and Equipment 
	120,000 

	Fees from Campers 
	25,000 
	
	Less: 
	

	
	
	
	Accumulated Depreciation 
	<100,000> 

	Total Income 
	$32,500 
	
	Net Fixed Assets 
	20,000 

	
	
	
	TOTAL ASSETS 
	$20,127 

	EXPENSES 
	
	
	
	

	Salaries 
	$20,000 
	
	LIABILITIES 
	

	Food and Supplies 
	6,000 
	
	Loan from President 
	$5,000 

	Insurance 
	4,200 
	
	
	

	Utilities 
	2,000 
	
	FUND BALANCE 
	$15,127 

	Telephone 
	750 
	
	
	

	Printing and Postage 
	3,500 
	
	
	

	Total Expenses 
	$36,450 
	
	LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE 
	$20,127 


Since the information was taken from activity in the checkbook, we know these statements were produced on a cash basis. However, some pertinent information has not been recorded. For example, 

· A foundation has given the camp a grant of $10,000 to provide scholarships for low-income children. The children did attend the camp, but the foundation has not yet sent in the check. 

· Because cash is tight, the camp has not paid the final installment to their printer for this year,s brochure. They owe her $1,500. 

· The insurance premium was paid in December, and covers the period December through November. So, it is good for another three months. 

To take these three factors into consideration on the financial statements, revenues and expenses need to be recorded on an accrual basis. Several line items need to be added to the balance sheet in order to update the financial statements. These are: 

· Accounts Receivable
Reports revenues which have been earned, but not yet received. For example, a payment from a government grant which has been vouchered, but not yet received is an account receivable. In this case, the camp has a grant receivable of $10,000, since the children have already attended the camp and the camp has therefore "earned" the scholarship money from the foundation. 

IMPACT:
Increase grant income by $10,000 to $13,000
Increase grants receivable to $10,000 

· Accounts Payable
Reports expenses which are owed to others. The money owed to the printer for completing the brochure is a $1,500 account payable. 

IMPACT:
Increase printing expenses by $1500 to $5000
Increase accounts payable to $1500 

· Prepaid Expenses
Reports expenses which have already been paid, but are for a future period. In this example, three months of insurance is considered a prepaid, rather than a current, expense. 

IMPACT:
Decrease insurance expense by $1,050 ([$4,200/12 months] x 3 months) to $3,150
Increase prepaid expense to $1,050 


Reported on an accrual basis, using the categories described above, the camp's financial statements now look as follows:

Example of Accrual-Basis Balance Sheet 

SUMMER CAMP
September 1 - August 31, 19xx
	INCOME STATEMENT 
	
	
	BALANCE SHEET 
	

	INCOME 
	
	
	ASSETS 
	

	
	
	
	
	

	Grants 
	$ 13,000 
	
	Cash 
	$ 127 

	Contributions 
	4,500 
	
	Accounts Receivable 
	10,000 

	Fees from Campers 
	25,000 
	
	Prepaid Expenses 
	1,050 

	
	
	
	Net Fixed Assets 
	20,000 

	Total Income 
	$42,500 
	
	
	

	
	
	
	TOTAL ASSETS 
	$31,177 

	EXPENSES 
	
	
	
	

	Salaries 
	$20,000 
	
	LIABILITIES 
	

	Food and Supplies 
	6,000 
	
	Accounts Payable 
	1,500 

	Insurance 
	3,150 
	
	Loan from President 
	$5,000 

	Utilities 
	2,000 
	
	FUND BALANCE 
	$24,677 

	Telephone 
	750 
	
	
	

	Printing and Postage 
	5,000 
	
	
	

	Total Expenses 
	$36,900 
	
	LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE 
	$30,177 



This example illustrates how preparing financial statements on an accrual basis, using these categories, will give a much more accurate and complete picture of an organization,s financial condition. However, cash-basis accounting is easier to use on a day-to-day basis since there are fewer transactions to track. For this reason, many nonprofits, especially those with smaller budgets, choose to keep their books on a modified cash-basis. This means they do one or more of the following: 

· Keep the books on a cash basis and prepare reports on an accrual basis. One way to accomplish this is by making accrual adjustments for receivables, payables, etc. on a worksheet and incorporating this information into the financial statements, without formally entering it into the books. 

· Record small transactions (e.g., under $100) on a cash basis, but larger transactions and withheld payroll taxes are recorded on an accrual basis. 

· Record income on a cash basis and expenses on an accrual basis. This is the most conservative method for recording income and expenses, since you only report cash which has actually been received, but you include expenses whether or not they have been paid. 

Many organizations do not have the resources or need to keep their books on an accrual basis. Factors to consider when deciding which basis your organization should use include: 

· The extent to which your organization has payables, receivables, etc. on an ongoing basis. If you have few unpaid bills or outstanding grants or fees throughout the year, cash-basis accounting will give essentially the same financial picture of your organization as accrual-basis, and will be easier to use. 

· The expertise and time constraints of your bookkeeping staff. 

· The cash flow position of your organization. If cash flow is an ongoing concern you will want to keep close track of accounts payable and receivable. 

· The size of your organization,s budget. Many small or new nonprofits do not have many payables or receivables, nor do they have the ability to keep track of accruals on an ongoing basis. These organizations will use cash-basis accounting. On the other hand, as their budgets grow, and with them the number of financial transactions, it may become more important to keep track of all activity. They will then switch to using a modified cash or accrual system. 

No matter which system you use throughout the year, financial reports must be prepared on an accrual basis according to generally accepted accounting principles. 

What Should Our Chart of Accounts Include? 
What Should Our Chart of Accounts Include?
Your chart of accounts, which is a list of each account that the accounting system tracks, should be designed to capture the financial information you need to keep track of your financial information and make good financial decisions. Only information recorded with an account code from the chart of accounts will be recorded into the financial records, and from there into financial reports.

The chart is divided into five categories: assets, liabilities, net assets or fund balances, revenues, and expenses. Each account is assigned an identifying number for use within the accounting system. Aside from certain conventions regarding numbering and the order in which information is presented (see below), you can tailor your chart of accounts to your organization,s specific needs.

In order to decide what to include in your chart of accounts you will want to consider each of the following questions: 

· What reports do you want to prepare?

· What financial decisions, evaluations and assessments do you need to make on a regular basis?

· What level of detail do you require?

· What is your capacity for tracking financial information? 

The best way to design a chart of accounts is to first consider what reports you want to prepare to satisfy external requirements and help you with internal management assessment and decision-making. You can then determine which categories to include in the reports you plan to produce. For example, your chart of accounts should correlate to the categories in your budget so you can easily prepare reports comparing budgeted with actual income and expenses. The Model Chart of Accounts, developed by the Nonprofit Management Group at Baruch College/CUNY, cross-references each account number to the corresponding line items required for reporting on Federal Form 990 (see the Sample Chart of Accounts provided at the end of this FAQ) 

As you think about the different types of income your organization receives, you might want to consider what questions you will want to address in your financial reports: Will you need to distinguish between corporate and foundation grants so you can monitor your fundraising efforts? Are some contributions restricted? Do you earn fees for some of your services? If so, can all fees be combined into one account, or do you want information on fees from each type of activity? 

You can ask yourself similar questions regarding your organization,s expenses: What is the lowest level of detailed information that you would like from your financial records? How will you use the information if you record it? For example, most organizations want to keep track of office supplies in the aggregate rather than accounting separately for paper clips, pens, rubber bands, etc. A less obvious example might be in postage. Do you want to include in the postage expense category fees for messengers and express delivery, or do you want to report these separately? If you are worried about the amount being spent on express delivery you should create a separate expense category. If you do not plan to analyze this level of detail, however, it would be advisable to combine the two categories. You can always pull specific invoices related to express delivery to do a periodic analysis without tracking the information in your general ledger. 

In addition to the types of income and expenses you want to keep track of there may be other factors to consider as you put together the chart of accounts. If you have more than one site, do you want to keep track of information separately for each site? Or, if you have more than one program, do you want to keep track of items such as supplies, postage, salaries, etc. for each program? And finally, under the new Financial Accounting Standards Board Statements No. 116 and 117, nonprofits will have to report revenues and expenses in three categories: unrestricted, temporarily restricted, and permanently restricted. It is important, therefore, that the chart of accounts supports these reporting requirements, as well. 

The greater the level of detail you require, the greater the likelihood that you will need accounting software to keep track of your financial transactions. Accounting software often allows you to divide up transactions into many small pieces, and then determine what level of detail to use in your reports. Keeping track of very detailed information manually is time consuming, and few nonprofits have the staff to do so. 

Of equal importance is the ability and availability of your bookkeeper to manage a complex number of variables. For example, your bookkeeper may need training to be able to support a more complex chart of accounts as your accounting systems becomes more complex. 

A good rule of thumb is to keep the chart of accounts as simple as possible, and revise it as your need for information increases over time. Throughout the year, as you write checks or receive money, keep track of those times when it was unclear to you which account number to assign to the transaction. That can be an indicator that the chart of accounts needs to be revised or that the criteria for assigning account numbers need to be clarified. 

What are the Features of a Simple Chart of Accounts?
The sample chart of accounts provided at the end of this FAQ illustrates how you might track income and expense items, along with conventions which are usually observed when assigning account numbers. This sample is intended to be a guide which you can use for developing your own chart of accounts. It is not comprehensive and some of the accounts included in the sample may not be useful to you. You should note to the following features of the sample chart of accounts: 

Account categories are presented in a standard order, beginning with the accounts presented in the Statement of Position (Balance Sheet.) These are: 

· Assets 
Assets are the tangible items an organization has as resources, including cash, accounts receivable, equipment and property. Assets are usually listed in descending order of liquidity. This means that cash and other assets which are easily converted to cash are listed first, and fixed assets such as property and equipment are listed last. Asset accounts usually start with the number "1."

· Liabilities
Liabilities are obligations due to creditors, such as loans and accounts payable. Current liabilities, those obligations which fall due within the next year, are usually listed first, followed by long-term liabilities. Accounts payable and payroll taxes payable are usually listed before other payables. Deferred revenue and other liabilities are often further down on the list. Liabilities often begin with the number "2."

· Net Assets (or Fund Balances)
Net assets, formerly referred to as the fund balance(s), reflect the financial worth of the organization. They represent the balance remaining after obligations are subtracted from an organization,s assets. Accounting software designed with for-profits in mind may report net assets under the heading "equity." Organizations which only receive unrestricted gifts will have only one net asset account. Those with temporarily or permanently restricted net assets, such as endowments will have more than one net asset account. Net asset accounts begin with the number "3." 

Income and Expense accounts follow the Statement of Position Accounts. 

· You will notice that account numbers proceed from lowest to highest, with room between numbers in each category. This allows you to expand the level of detail presented in the chart of accounts as your activities grow.

· Certain related accounts are grouped together with related numbers. For example, the general number for payroll taxes is 7310. However, each type of payroll tax expense has been assigned its own account number " F.I.C.A. expense is 7311, Unemployment Insurance is 7312, etc. Some computerized accounting software will allow you to prepare reports which aggregate all accounts with the code 731x into a single line item. Even manually, this type of expense grouping simplifies consolidating information for reports.

Please note, however, that typically you would not post information to account 7310. This account is considered the "heading" for all related expenses. 

How can we Capture More Complex Financial Information? 

If you need to keep track of separate funds (temporarily and permanently restricted), separate programs or departments, separate sites, etc., your chart of accounts can be designed to accommodate these needs using a "multi-tiered" chart of accounts. The sample chart of accounts shows a single tier. Adding a second section or tier to your account codes allows you to code line items into various categories. 

For example, suppose an organization has three programs: counseling, tutorial, and recreation. Each program would receive its own account code as follows:

	
	Counseling 
	01 

	
	Tutorial 
	02 

	
	Recreation 
	03 



Adding these to the codes for natural expense items found in the sample chart of accounts, you would now attribute salaries for counselors as follows:

7210-01 

7210 is Salary on the Chart of Accounts

-01 is Counseling Program

Supplies for the recreational program would be posted to:

7710-03

7710 is Supplies

-03 is Recreation Program

You can even keep track of both programs and sites by adding a third tier. For example, if you have a tutorial program at each of two schools, you might assign the first school the letter "A" and the second the letter "B." So, salaries for tutors would be divided between: 

7210 - 02 - A and 7210 - 02 - B.

7210 is Salary

-02 is Tutorial Program

-B is School B

As the chart of accounts becomes more complex, it can enable you to produce reports which are more and more detailed. Again, however, doing so depends on the time and ability of the financial staff and the sophistication of your financial systems since multi-tiered accounting is difficult to maintain without a computer.

Sample Chart of Accounts 

	Assets 
	Expenses 

	
	
	
	
	
	

	1010 
	Cash 
	
	7110 
	Salaries & Wages of Officers, Directors, etc. 

	
	1011 
	Checking Account 
	
	
	

	
	1012 
	Petty Cash 
	
	
	

	1020 
	Savings and Temporary Cash Investment 
	7210 
	Other Salaries & Wages 

	1030 
	Accounts Receivable 
	7310 
	Payroll Taxes, etc. 

	1040 
	Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 
	
	7311 
	FICA Payments (Employer,s Share) 

	1050 
	Pledges Receivable 
	
	7312 
	Unemployment Insurance & Taxes 

	1060 
	Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 
	
	7313 
	Workers, Compensation Insurance 

	1070 
	Grants Receivable 
	
	7314 
	Disability Insurance 

	
	
	
	
	

	1130 
	Prepaid Expenses 
	7520 
	Accounting Fees 

	

	1610 
	Land 
	
	7520 
	Audit & Accounting Fees 

	1620 
	Building 
	
	7521 
	Bookkeeping Services"Outside 

	1640 
	Equipment 
	
	7522 
	Payroll Services"Outside 

	
	
	
	
	7523 
	Bank Service Charges 

	

	

	Liabilities 
	
	7710 
	Supplies 

	2010 
	Accounts Payable 
	
	
	

	2410 
	Loans from Trustees & Employees 
	7810 
	Telephone 

	2510 
	Mortgage Payable 
	7910 
	Postage & Shipping 

	
	
	
	
	
	

	Net Assets 
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	8010 
	Occupancy 

	3100 
	Current unrestricted net assets 
	
	8011 
	Office Rent 

	
	
	
	
	8012 
	Janitorial & Similar Service Fees 

	Revenue 
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	8110 
	Equipment Rental & Maintenance 

	4010 
	Contributions (Direct Mail) 
	
	
	

	4050 
	Special Events (Gift Portion) 
	8210 
	Printing & Duplicating 

	
	
	
	
	
	

	4100 
	Donated Services and Use of Facilities 
	8220 
	Publications 

	
	
	
	
	
	

	4220 
	Corporate Grants 
	
	
	

	4230 
	Foundation Grants 
	8310 
	Travel 

	4510 
	Government Contributions 
	
	
	

	
	
	
	8710 
	Insurance 

	5040 
	Sales to Public of Program-Related Inventory 
	
	
	

	5060 
	Other Program Service Fees 
	
	
	

	5110 
	Membership Dues"Individuals 
	
	
	



This sample has been developed using some of the broad account headings and codes presented in the Model Chart of Accounts developed by the Nonprofit Management Group for nonprofit organizations. This example illustrates the way in which the Model Chart of Accounts can be tailored to the specific needs of an individual organization To obtain a copy of the complete model chart of accounts please contact: 

Nonprofit Management Group
Department of Public Administration
Baruch College/CUNY
17 Lexington Avenue, Box 336,
New York, NY 10017
(212)447-3659 

What is Depreciation? 
	Nonprofits are required to record the purchase of long-lasting, substantial property and equipment (such as computers, vans, buildings, etc.) as assets in the financial records, and to charge a portion of the cost of those items to each year in which they have a useful life. This process is called capitalizing and depreciating fixed assets. 

For example, suppose that on January 1st an organization acquires a computer with an estimated useful life of four years. The computer costs $2,500. When the purchase is recorded, the following journal entry is made: 

Fixed Assets (increase by) 

$2,500 

  

Cash (decreases by) 

$2,500 


Explanation: To record the purchase of a computer for $2,500


At the end of each of the next four fiscal years, including the current year, the following journal entry will be made: 

Depreciation Expense (increases by)
($2,500/4 years = $625 per year) 

$625 

  

Accumulated Depreciation (increases by) 

$625 


Explanation: To record depreciation expense for the year.


It is very important to remember that the cash for the computer was spent in the first year. However, one-fourth of the expense for the computer will appear on the Statement of Activity (Income Statement) for each of the four years it is deemed to have a useful life. Therefore, in the three years after the purchase a depreciation expense of $625 will appear on the financial statements even though no cash was expended during those years. 

Accumulated depreciation, as the name implies, reports on the amount of depreciation which has accumulated over time. By the end of the first year, one-fourth of the computer will be depreciated. At the end of the second year, two-fourths (i.e., one-half) will be depreciated. By the end of the fourth year the computer will be fully depreciated. In other words, the full cost of the computer will have been recorded as an expense. 

The fixed asset portion of the Statement of Position (Balance Sheet) will represent this accumulated depreciation for the computer as follows: 

 Year 1 

  

 Computer (cost) 

 $2,500 

 Less: Accumulated Depreciation 

 <625> 

 Net Fixed Assets 

$1,875 

 Year 2 

  

 Computer (cost) 

$2,500 

 Less: Accumulated Depreciation 

<1,250>
  

 Net Fixed Assets 

$1,250 

Over the remaining two years, accumulated depreciation will increase by $625 per year and net fixed assets will decrease by $625 per year, until accumulated depreciation is $2,500 and net fixed assets is zero. 

In this example, the organization determined that the useful life of the computer was four years, and that at the end of that time the computer would have no remaining value. Most nonprofits charge an equal amount of depreciation expense to each year of the assetís useful life. This is called ìstraight-line depreciation.î 

To calculate depreciation charges for each fixed asset, you must know how much the asset cost (including all costs necessary to make the asset operational), how long the asset can reasonably be expected to last before it needs to be replaced, and whether the item will have any salvage value at the end of its useful life. Since there are certain conventions for items such as computers, vehicles, furniture, buildings, and other fixed assets, you should consult with your accountant when estimating the useful life of a new capital purchase. 

Since depreciation expense is a non-cash expense (that is, cash is usually paid out in the year the asset is acquired, but the expense is distributed over several years), it is important to plan for the replacement of fixed assets as they wear out or become obsolete. For example, some organizations set aside an amount of cash equal to the amount of their yearly depreciation expense so that money will be available to purchase a new asset once the current one is fully depreciated. See Financial Management FAQ No. 19, How Much Cash Should We Hold In Reserve?, for some guidelines. 


What is the Unrelated Business Income Tax? 
	All 501(c)(3) organizations, with the exception of federal agencies, are subject to a tax on unrelated business income. Unrelated business income is income generated by a trade or business activity not substantially related to the exempt purpose of the organization and regularly carried by that organization.

A trade or business activity is an activity conducted for the purpose of generating income from the sale of merchandise or performing a service. For instance, a university bookstore selling trade books to students and the general public is engaged in a business activity. An activity is substantially related to the exempt purpose of the organization if it is causally related and contributes importantly to the exempt purpose. For example, an art museum regularly charges an entry fee for admission to exhibits. In addition, the museum operates a restaurant which is open to the general public. The earnings from the restaurant are used to support museum activities. The admission fees are substantially related to the purpose of the organization and are not considered unrelated business in come. However, the restaurant income is unrelated business income, even though it is used to support the general mission of the museum.

Taxes paid by a nonprofit on unrelated business income are paid at corporate rates. Without such a tax, nonprofits would be at a substantial advantage in the marketplace when competing with for-profit organizations.

Organizations engaged in conducting unrelated business activities are not subject to income taxation under the following conditions:

· All work is performed by volunteers 

· Substantially all of the merchandise being sold has been acquired by gift 

· The activity is being conducted for the convenience of the organization's members, patients, employees, etc. For example, in the case of trade unions, work-related clothing and equipment may be sold at the job site and, therefore, not subject to the unrelated business income tax. 



It should be noted that if unrelated business gross income (income before related expenses have been subtracted) is less than $1,000, it is not necessary to file an unrelated business tax return (Federal Form 990T).

There are several special rules and exceptions relating to special types of unrelated business income.

· Income from bingo games is not considered unrelated business income if the bingo game is legal under both state and local law and commercial bingo games are not legal in the jurisdiction.

· Tax exempt organizations can exchange or rent donor or membership mailing lists without generating unrelated business income.

· As part of an exempt organization s solicitation activities, it may distribute low cost items (e.g., stickers, stamps, etc. with an aggregate value of less than $5) without unrelated business income consequences. 



Will Unrelated Business Income Affect Your Nonprofit Status?
The following information, excerpted with permission from Advising Nonprofits, published by the Lawyers Alliance for New York, details the conditions under which unrelated business income might and might not affect your nonprofit status:

· Tax exempt organizations are permitted to carry on business activities which further their exempt purposes.... However, activities which do not further the organization's purpose could jeopardize its tax exempt status if they go beyond boundaries established by courts and the IRS....

In general, cases upholding the tax-exempt status of organizations engaged in profit-making activities have found that one, or more, of the following conditions existed:

· the organization was primarily operated for non-commercial purposes

· the activity in question has some direct relationship to a non-commercial exempt purpose of the organization

· the size of the commercial activity was reasonable in comparison to the organization s overall activity and not greater than necessary to accomplish the exempt purpose

· the commercial activity did not further private interests or confer an undue benefit on insiders... 



On the other hand, courts have upheld the denial or revocation of tax-exempt status for organizations carrying on profit-making activities when the following conditions exist:

· the commercial activity does not directly further any exempt purpose of the organization, and the profit-making activity is a substantial part of the organization s overall activity or appears to be its primary purpose

· the profit-making operation is carried on at a scale which is out of proportion to the exempt purpose being supported

· the commercial activity is a kind normally carried on by for-profit businesses and the nonprofit is competing directly with commercial enterprises

· insiders of the nonprofit such as directors or employees benefit inappropriately from the business activity... 



You should consult your accountant if you think there is even a possibility that some of the activities your organization performs would qualify as unrelated business income and, therefore, make your organization liable for taxation.


What accounting software package should we buy? 
	Even prior to asking this question, it is important to ask whether you should computerize your organization's accounting function at all. Most organizations seek the following benefits from automation:

· increased efficiency

· lower costs (less staff time supporting accounting activities)

· greater accuracy

· more timely reports

· better control 



But the questions are: Will you achieve these results? And how quickly? One of the biggest mistakes an agency can make is to believe that an accounting system in trouble can be improved by putting it on the computer. This is virtually never the case: a mess put in to the computer can be worse than a mess on ledger paper.

Prerequisites to Computerizing an Accounting System
The most important factor to consider when deciding whether to computerize the accounting system is the accounting expertise of responsible people at your agency. People, not computers, do accounting. Computers add numbers very quickly, and enable you to enter the number into the system once for it to appear in all journals, ledgers and other reports. However, a human being has to decide where to enter that information and then to key the data into the system. Someone in the organization still has to understand debits and credits, decide what account code to charge each transaction to, determine whether an error has been made and, if so, how to correct that error. So, computerizing the accounting function does not automatically lead to greater accuracy or better control.

It is important to have "clean," that is accurate, up-to-date beginning balances to enter into your new computerized accounting system. This is one area where "garbage in, garbage out" really applies. Many organizations choose to enter data starting from audited financial statements to get them off to a fresh start.

What Accounting Software Should We Buy?
There is no one right answer to this question. To understand why, imagine answering the question, What's the best car to buy? In order to answer, you would first need to ask questions such as: How many passengers do you normally have? How much are you willing to spend? What features are important to you? One of these considerations might outweigh all of the others. Once you have all the information, there might be two or three cars which meet the criteria. The final decision will be based on personal preference. A similar set of questions and circumstances can be applied to selecting an accounting software package.

What to Look for When Selecting a Software Package
The following factors often play an important role in the final selection of accounting software for nonprofits:

· Standard and Ad Hoc Reports
The first consideration in selecting an accounting package is the type of reports you want the software to produce. Many packages lack the ability to easily define reports (despite their claims to the contrary), so it is important to look at those reports already built into the software. Be aware that every document the system produces is considered a report. Do not assume that standard elements of a manual system (including a check register, cash disbursements and receipts journals, trial balance, etc.) can be produced in the way that you are accustomed to seeing them, if at all.

The following reports are often useful to nonprofits:

· A printout of your general ledger, detailing each transaction posted to each account

· A printout of a consolidated general ledger, not displaying detail

· A bank reconciliation format, showing monthly receipts and disbursements

· Income and expense statements for each program or grant and a consolidated (agency-wide) statement of income and expenses for the year to date

· Balance sheet information for the entire organization and balance sheet information by fund, if applicable (see the Fund Accounting section, below)

· A budget to actual comparison for each grant and/or the entire agency 

· Tracking Transactions by Fund, Department or Program, or Grant

Fund Accounting
Fund accounting is a method for accounting for restricted gifts. Many nonprofits mistakenly believe that software which can accommodate fund accounting, because it was developed for the nonprofit sector, is the only appropriate software for nonprofits. Whether you need fund accounting depends on the nature of your restricted gifts, and the types of reports you want to produce. Most non profits are able to use so-called business software, that is typically less expensive than fund accounting software, to meet their accounting requirements. This software can often produce data that can be translated into fund accounting statements. However, larger nonprofits might be wise to invest in fund accounting software which will allow them to prepare the detailed reports they and their funders require on an ongoing basis.

The nature of fund accounting is shifting due to new practices detailed in FASB's Statements of Financial Accounting Standards Nos.116 and 117. Be sure to check with software vendors for fund accounting packages to see how they are adapting the package to meet the new reporting requirements, and what the charge for those upgrades will be.

Cash-Basis Accounting
Most nonprofits want to keep their books on a cash- or modified cash-basis, instead of on a full accrual basis. For example, when a check is written, most nonprofits want to post it directly to the expense account. However, many software packages require these accounts to be posted through the Accounts Payable module.

See Financial Management FAQ 5: What is the Difference Between Cash-Basis and Accrual-Basis Accounting?, for a discussion of the difference between cash- and accrual-basis accounting.

Departments or Programs
Many nonprofits need to track expenses and/or revenue by department or by program. For example, an organization serving the mentally retarded which has several residences might want to keep track of expenses for each residence. It may also have training programs in areas such as vocational skills, daily living skills, entitlements, etc. which serve all residents and by which expenses or revenues need to be tracked. Ideally, the software should report costs by residence or by training program across the whole agency.

· Ability to Keep Prior Months Open and Flexible Reporting Periods
Many organizations find it convenient to make adjustments in prior months, and then re-issue statements for those months. Similarly, an important feature for some nonprofits is the ability to select which months to compile for reports, such as when preparing reports to funders for grants which do not correspond to your fiscal year. Some software will not permit you to make changes or access data in prior months.

· Exporting Data to Other Software Programs
Typically, organizations want to transfer information directly from the general ledger into spreadsheet software (such as Lotus or Excel) for more flexible reporting. By exporting software to software you avoid mistakes from re-entering the data into the spreadsheet software.

· Cost
Fund Accounting, and other more sophisticated high-end accounting packages cost more than software designed for small businesses, or low-end software. High-end software is often organized into separate components, called modules, for each accounting feature (General Ledger, Accounts Payable, Accounts Receivable, etc.) You pay for each module you will use. Low-end software is usually all in a single package with more limited functional capabilities.

· Other Factors to Consider
Other factors to consider when evaluating software packages include:

· How many checking accounts are permitted?

· Can the software handle the payroll function, including W-2s and 1099s? How easily?

· Is there room to grow into the software? Will it be able to accommodate your needs as they become more sophisticated?

· Does the software include security features which prevent unauthorized personnel from accessing and/or manipulating data in the accounting system?

· What installation and ongoing support is available?

· How long has the company been in business?

· Are there user groups or other support mechanisms outside of the vendor? 


Can't We Just Put the Books on Spreadsheet Software?
No. Since there are so few controls for spreadsheet software, numbers can be easily changed, damaging the integrity of your financial reports. However, you can export, or electronically transfer, data from your accounting system into a spreadsheet package such as Lotus or Excel to prepare more customized reports.

Similarly, it is not a good idea to keep your books on database software which does not have the controls or reporting capability of accounting software. Finally, many consultants do not recommend using checkbook software for nonprofit bookkeeping. The attraction of checkbook software is that it is easy to use. However, most nonprofits outgrow checkbook software quickly because it does not use double-entry bookkeeping and its reporting capabilities are often very limited.

Alternatives to In-House Computerization
If you lack the resources for computerizing your accounting function in-house and still hope for the benefits from an automated system, you might consider using an outside bookkeeping service with its own computerized accounting system. These service bureaus will enter your data into their computer software, either directly from your checkbook or using forms you complete. From this data they produce monthly reports. Especially if you can find an accounting firm or other service provider familiar with nonprofit requirements, this might be a useful interim solution until you can afford to bring on more experienced personnel or train your staff.

The biggest drawback organizations have found with service bureaus is that the turnaround time can be slow, defeating the objective of producing more timely financial reports. Also, a service bureau does not pay attention to the management aspect of financial management -- making decisions about how much to spend, when to spend, variances with the budget, etc. Sometimes nonprofits are so relieved to have the accounting function managed by someone else that these other, equally important considerations are forgotten.


What are the differences between nonprofit and for-profit accounting? 
Anyone familiar with generally accepted accounting principles and practices will find most accounting for nonprofit activity to be very familiar. There are, however, some significant differences which include:

· Accounting for Contributions

· Capitalizing and Depreciating Assets

· Use of Cash- and Modified Cash-Basis Accounting

· Functional Expense Classification 


Accounting for Contributions
Nonprofits which qualify for tax exempt status under section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code are entitled to receive contributions that are tax deductible to the donor. Since this is unique to the nonprofit sector, there are no equivalent procedures for handling contributions in for-profit accounting. Special procedures have been established for handling the following types of contributions:

· Pledges (Promises to Give) In 1993, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued the Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 116, Accounting for Contributions Received and Contributions Made. This Statement sets down firm guidelines for pledge accounting, requiring that legally enforceable, unconditional pledges be recorded in the accounting records. An unconditional pledge is one which is not contingent on some uncertain future event, such as a matching grant from another donor.

· Donated Materials and Services ( In-Kind Contributions) FASB Statement No. 116 guidelines also requires that nonprofits account for contributions of most goods (with the exception of works of art and other items held in museum collections). In addition, volunteer time must be included in the financial statements when either:

· the volunteer time results in the creation or enhancement of non-financial assets, such as volunteer labor to renovate a child care center; or

· the services volunteered are specialized skills, such as those provided by accountants, nurses, electricians, teachers, or other professionals and craftsmen. 

· Special Events and Membership Dues People who pay to attend fundraisers (such as dinners, auctions, fashion shows, bake sales, etc.) often receive a tangible benefit in return (a meal, a performance, etc.) Similarly, membership dues may entitle individuals to use facilities, receive services, etc. The portion of the special event charge or membership dues which represents the fair market value of the benefit received is not tax deductible to the donor. Some minimal benefits are excluded from this rule.


In addition, the accounting profession has established guidelines for responsibly tracking monies which have been restricted by the donor for a specific use (e.g. buying a new building, starting a new program, adding to the endowment, etc.). How these monies are tracked and reported depends on the nature of the donor s restriction, what conditions, if any, the donor has imposed on the organization before it can actually receive or use the money, when the restrictions are met, etc.

Capitalizing and Depreciating Assets
As in for-profit accounting, nonprofits are required to record the purchase of long-lasting, substantial property and equipment (such as computers, vans, buildings, etc.) as assets in the financial records, and to charge a portion of the cost of those items in each year in which they have a useful life. This process is called capitalizing and depreciating fixed assets. While all businesses, including nonprofits, are required to record depreciation of assets, some assets in the nonprofit sector receive special treatment. These include museum collections, historical buildings, library books, zoo animals, etc.

Donated items that are added to collections that are held for public exhibition, protected and kept unencumbered, and subject to the policy that, if sold, the proceeds are used to acquire equivalent replacements for the collection, do not have to be recorded as re venue and are not recognized as formal assets in the financial statements.

Use of Cash- and Modified Cash-Basis Accounting
Many small nonprofits use cash-basis rather than accrual-basis accounting to record expenses and revenues. This means that they only record revenue when the cash is received, and only record expenses when they are paid. Some nonprofits use a modified-cash basis of accounting. They will record payroll taxes withheld from employees or large revenue or expense items on an accrual basis. This means recording revenues when they are earned and expenses when obligations are incurred. Most businesses track all expenses and revenue s using accrual accounting.

Functional Expense Allocation
Nonprofits are required to report their expenses by what is known as their functional expense classifications. The two primary functional expense classifications are program services and supporting activities. Supporting activities typically include management and general activities, fundraising, and membership development. Practices vary widely from organization to organization in the nonprofit sector as to how expenses are categorized by functional areas.

Implications of the Differences between Nonprofit and For-Profit Accounting
Because of these few, but significant, differences between nonprofit and for-profit accounting, you will want to select your al personnel, financial advisor, or auditor carefully. The degree to which you receive contributions requiring special handling, or purchase property and equipment covered by special regulations will determine whether you need an accountant who specializes in nonprofit accounting.

In addition, it is important to remember that financial information for nonprofits is interpreted differently from for-profit financial statements. The following is quoted from What a Difference Nonprofits Make: A Guide to Accounting Procedures, 1990, Accountants for the Public Interest:

Meaningful evaluations and comparisons of nonprofit performance almost always prove difficult and complex. While the profitability of two businesses can easily be calculated, it is much harder to compare the effectiveness of two counseling centers to see which is doing a better job of helping the mentally ill. Without the standard of profitability, it is also difficult to compare the job performance of nonprofit staff and managers.

Since the beneficiaries of nonprofits often cannot afford to pay for services, organizations frequently lose money on every sale. As a result, an increase in the number of clients or customers may paradoxically increase the likelihood of a financial crisis. On the other hand, turning a profit may mean that a nonprofit agency has turned away clients, perhaps including the most needy. To determine a nonprofit's success you must refer to its goals: these are the group's self-determined replacement for the bottom line of profit-making. The board can measure [a nonprofit's] success by comparing the results achieved with the results sought.

This points to the importance of a clear mission statement as well as regularly updated short- and long-term goals that reflect the purpose of a volunteer agency. It also underscores the need to include service statistics in conjunction with financial statements. In this way, board members can begin to grapple with the complex issues of efficiency and effectiveness as their organization pursue s its stated goals.

How can a new nonprofit get started right away without waiting to file all its papers and obtain tax-exempt status? 
By David Barlow, CPA.

Individuals or groups in a hurry to begin operations and accept tax-deductible donations can become sponsored by an organization that already has 501(c)(3) status. By doing so, the group can apply for and accept grants, accept tax-deductible donations, and carry on other activities under the tax-exempt status of their sponsor. However, the activities of the sponsored group must be consistent with those of the sponsor. For example, a group that intends to provide services to homeless people cannot be sponsored by a 501(c)(3) that is tax-exempt for the purposes of providing classical music concerts.

What is a "fiscal agent"? Is a fiscal sponsor different from a fiscal agent? 
By David Barlow, CPA.

Legally, the term "fiscal agent" does not exist. When people use the term "fiscal agent" what they really mean is "fiscal sponsor." If a group wants to be covered by a 501(c)(3) designation they must be part of, not merely affiliated with, a 501(c)(3) organization.

In what situations do groups use fiscal sponsors? What types of groups find them the most useful? 
By David Barlow, CPA.

There are many situations where using a fiscal sponsor could make sense. New groups that aren’t sure if they are really viable can test the waters before committing money and time setting-up an independent 501(c)(3). Groups who only intend to operate for a limited period of time may benefit from fiscal sponsorship, as they do not have to first establish and then dismantle a nonprofit corporation. If a group is a coalition of several groups, or even 501(c)(3)’s working together on a common issue, a fiscal sponsor may be seen as neutral territory for accepting funds. If the group is committed to its mission but just has no interest, or experience, in managing all the administrative functions of a business, a fiscal sponsor could be a good option. Finally, individuals who are unaffiliated with any group or nonprofit (such as independent filmmakers) seeking grants and donations may find it convenient to work under a fiscal sponsor.

Here’s an example. In the hours immediately following the shootings in San Francisco at the 101 California office building, many people wanted to donate funds to help the families of the victims (many of whom worked for a law firm) and to educate the public about gun violence and gun control. A group of attorneys contacted a fiscal sponsor and were able immediately to begin collecting donations and conducting an educational campaign on the subject. Later, the group decided to become permanent and incorporated separately as the Legal Community Against Violence.

What are the benefits of using a fiscal sponsor? 
By David Barlow, CPA.

· Speed - It normally takes four to six months from the time an application for tax exemption is filed with the IRS to receive notice that tax-exempt status has been granted, and that is IF the IRS has no questions about information contained in the application. Theoretically one could make arrangements to be fiscally sponsored in a day or less, although a couple of weeks is more typical. 

· Efficiency — Especially for small groups, having someone else provide most of your administrative, or infrastructure functions may be cheaper than doing it yourself. This is especially true if you are a group that is only expecting to be in existence for a short period of time. 

· Convenience — Most groups, start-up or otherwise, want to focus their energy on their charitable activities. Having to create and maintain an infrastructure can be distracting from the mission of the group. 

· Necessity — There are some funding sources that will not fund brand-new groups. One way around this restriction is to become part of a group that has some history. 

What are the disadvantages?
As a sponsored project of an already existing 501(c)(3), your "parent organization" is legally responsible for everything you do. This includes the responsibility to comply with the terms of the grants you have been awarded and how you operate. If you and your sponsor disagree, you may be forced to "do it their way".

Some foundations have policies that do not permit them to make grants through fiscal sponsors.

What can a fiscal sponsor provide us that we couldn’t do on our own? 
By David Barlow, CPA.

A fiscal sponsor can often provide useful advice and help point you in the right direction. Hopefully the sponsor will also have solid experience in the areas where they are providing services to you. But the bottom line is, except for groups needing to get around being new with funders, if you wanted to put in the resources necessary to do everything on your own, you could do it all yourself.

What happens if we want to leave a fiscal sponsor? 
By David Barlow, CPA.

It is important to both the you and the sponsor that the terms of the relationship are in writing before the relationship begins. If you don’t and later decide you want to leave you may find that the sponsor wants to keep the project but not you. Any good sponsorship agreement will have a mechanism to deal with how to terminate the relationship. There are certain legal restrictions on how the project’s activities and assets are severed from the sponsor but that should be disclosed in the sponsorship agreement.

What are the reasons to provide fiscal sponsorship to another organization? 
By David Barlow, CPA.

The most common reason a 501(c)(3) would agree to provide sponsorship to another group is because the other group wants to engage in an activity that is substantially similar or complementary to the activities of the 501(c)(3). By acting a fiscal sponsor, an organization can nurture a new, complementary effort, manage funds for a temporary project, etc.

What are the risks of being a fiscal sponsor for others?
Often the sponsored project operates from a different physical location than the sponsor so the sponsor may forget to provide proper oversight and support. Conversely, the sponsored project needs to remember that it is part of a larger organization and the sponsee has agreed to give up some of its autonomy. Frequent, open communication is the key to making the relationship work for both sides.

Since the law considers the project and the sponsor to be one legal entity, each can be held responsible for the actions of the other.

What are some of the services typically provided by fiscal sponsors? 
By David Barlow, CPA.

There is really no such thing as a "typical" bundle of services provided by a sponsor. The services available from sponsors vary from nothing to those listed below that are often provided by a professional sponsor.

Financial
Federal, state and local tax & informational returns
Receipt and acknowledgment of tax deductible donations and grants
Payroll tax remittance and filings
Monthly financial statements
Financial record-keeping
Independent Audit
Check processing and issuance for expenses, I-9s, 1099s

Insurance
Directors' & Officers Insurance
Volunteer lnsurance
General Liability
Umbrella
Commercial Automobile

Human Resources Administration
Payroll processing, W-2s
Personnel policies in compliance with federal, state and local laws
Comprehensive benefits package
Benefits administration, 5500
Technical assistance on personnel issues

General Administration
Bulk rate postal permit
Resale permit
Sales tax reports
Legal advice
Grant progress reports

How much do fiscal sponsors charge? 
By David Barlow, CPA.

There are almost as many fee arrangements as there are fiscal sponsors. Some charge nothing, some charge up to forty percent. Some sponsors pay projects interest on the money the project has on deposit, some don’t. A full-service professional sponsor will probably cost a group between five and twelve percent of gross receipts. Large projects may be able to negotiate a lower fee.

Do we need an attorney to work out a fiscal sponsorship agreement? 
By David Barlow, CPA.

When a project sets up a relationship where it voluntarily gives up some control ever its activities, it is always a good idea to have a written contract. Often a sponsor will have a standard contract that it uses with new projects. A good contract will have a procedure outlined in it as to how to terminate the relationship if for some reason either side becomes uncomfortable. Read the contract carefully and don’t be afraid to ask the sponsor questions. The sponsorship agreement is a legally enforceable document so unless the group has experience in this area, a review of the document by an attorney paid to represent your interests is a good idea. Make sure you know what you are getting yourself into.

Do you have an example of a fiscal sponsorship agreement between two nonprofits? 
By David Barlow, CPA.

Here is a modified version of the standard agreement used by one arts organization when it acts as the fiscal sponsor for independent filmmakers.

Do you have an example of a fiscal sponsorship agreement between a professional fiscal sponsor and its projects? 
By David Barlow, CPA.

This is the standard fiscal sponsorship agreement that sponsored projects sign with the San Francisco Foundation Community Initiative Funds, a fiscal sponsorship organization affiliated with the San Francisco Foundation. Based on the specifics needs and circumstances of a sponsored project, this standard agreement is modified in many different ways.

How do I go about looking for a fiscal sponsor? 
By David Barlow, CPA.

Some of the places to inquire about fiscal sponsorship services are: a local technical assistance provider such as the members of the California Management Assistance Partnership (C-MAP), a local community foundation, legal firms that specialize in nonprofits, prospective funders, the internet under "fiscal sponsorship".

Are there organizations that are "in the business" of fiscal sponsorship? 
By David Barlow, CPA.

Yes. Some 501(c)(3)’s have the received permission from the IRS to support "a very wide variety of charitable and educational activities". Fees and services can vary widely so it is important to understand each sponsor’s "personality".

If my group is operating under a fiscal sponsor, and we’ve decided to become an independent nonprofit, what are the steps we should take? 
By David Barlow, CPA.

If you have decided to separate from your current sponsor and don’t want to affiliate with another the process to become independent begins with informing your current sponsor of your decision. Most often you will next create public benefit corporation that will file applications with both the IRS and state taxing authority asking to be exempt from income tax. From the time the applications are submitted it usually takes four to six months to receive your determination letters (notice that exemption has been granted). When you receive your notice it is retroactive to the date of your original application. While you are waiting for you letter you will need to do all those things that any new business does (open bank accounts, hire employees obtain insurance, etc.). The final step is arranging to have your sponsor transfer the project’s assets and liabilities to the new nonprofit.

Where can I read more about fiscal sponsorship? 
By David Barlow, CPA.

The most complete book on the subject is, "Fiscal Sponsorship: Six Ways To Do It Right," available for $14.95 + $3.50 shipping/handling (Calif residents add sales tax) from San Francisco Study Center, 415-626-1650; http://www.studycenter.org. or from http://www.amazon.com. One fiscal sponsor that publishes its guidelines and application online is the boston Film & Video Foundation: http://www.bfvf.org/fiscal.htm.

Credits: This set of Frequently Asked Questions on Fiscal Sponsorship was written for the GENIE by David Barlow, CPA. David is Executive Director of the San Francisco Foundation Community Initiative Funds, a fiscal sponsorship organization. He can be reached at SFF-CIF, 225 Bush St., Suite 500, San Francisco, CA 94104, 415-733-8580, fax 415-477-2783, dsb@sff.org. 
FUNDRAISING

Why are people afraid to ask for money? 
In her article, Getting Over the Fear of Asking, Kim Klein discusses the sources of fear and techniques for overcoming the barriers that prevent people from raising funds for their organizations.

Asking people for money is both the most difficult and the most important part of fundraising. Every community-sponsored organization uses a variety of methods to ask for money, such as direct mail appeals, special events, pledge programs, products for sale, and so on. But the hardest way for an organization to raise money is for board, staff and volunteers to ask people directly for donations. Experience has shown, however, that it is almost impossible to have a major gifts program without face-to-face solicitation of the prospective donors.

Sources of our fears
Asking a person for money face-to-face is an acquired taste. Few people love to do it initially. In fact, most people are afraid to do it. If you are afraid to ask for money, that's normal. If you are not afraid, that's great. Stop reading this article and go ask somebody for a donation!

People are afraid to ask for money for a wide variety of reasons and we can't hope to explore them all here. However, it is important to look at the role money plays in our American society to understand the sources of our fears.

Most of us are taught that four topics are taboo in polite conversation: politics, money, religion, and sex. Many of us were also raised to believe that asking people what their salary is, or how much they paid for their house or their car is rude. In many families, the man takes care of all financial decisions. It is not unusual, even today, for wives not to know how much their husbands earn, for children not to know how much their parents earn, and for close friends not to know one another's income. Many people don't know anything about the stock market, what the difference is between a "bear" and "bull" market, or what the rising or falling of the Dow Jones means for the economy.

Many small organizations have discovered that if they seek a paid staff person to be a program or volunteer coordinator; they will be flooded with applications, but if they seek a fundraising coordinator, they will have almost no skilled applicants.

The net effect of these taboos about discussing money is that money takes on the air of being both mysterious and bad. The hidden message is that good people don't deal with money except insofar as they must in order to live. Many people, misquoting the Bible, say, "Money is the root of all evil." In fact, Paul's statement to the Phillippians in the New Testament is, "Love of money is the root of all evil." Money, in itself, has no good or evil qualities. It is not a moral substance. Money facilitates people getting what they want or need. As such, how money is used, where it is obtained and inequities of who has it and who does not, has moral implications. This is very different from money itself being evil.

When money is mysterious and taboo, only those persons willing to learn about it can really control it. In America, an elite upper class controls most of the nation's wealth, whether by earning it or inheriting it, or both. It serves the interest of this ruling class for the mass of people to continue not to know about money. As political activists and participants in social change, it is not only important for fundraising, but for all organizing purposes, that we learn about money -- how to raise it effectively and ethically, how to manage it, and how to spend it wisely.

How to dispel fears about asking for money
We will describe two easy exercises your group can do that will help dispel fears about asking for money. A member of the group can act as facilitator or you can ask someone outside the group to facilitate. These exercises can be done individually, but they are more effective when group members share with each other in recognizing and letting go of fears about money. To do the exercises, you will need a black board or sheet of butcher paper.

Exercise Number One
In this exercise, the group looks objectively at its collective fears about asking for money. Fear of asking for money is similar to what you feel when you hear a noise in your house at night when you are alone. Your immediate, normal reaction is to fear. You have two choices about how to respond to this fear: 1) you can give in to it, huddling under the covers, and imaging all the worst things the noise could mean, or 2) you can take the more sensible, but much more difficult action of getting up and turning on all the lights until you probably discover that the noise was something as simple as the cat, a leaky faucet, the wind, or nothing at all.

In the same way, looking at all your fears about asking for money in the light of discussion with others will show that many of them are irrational, and that for most, the feared outcome is far less likely to happen than you think.

To begin the exercise, each person imagines asking someone for a large amount of money (anything over $50). Going around the room each person says out loud what they think will happen to them. What will the person they are asking think of them? What will they think of themselves? The facilitator writes down all the feared outcomes. After four or five minutes, there will probably be a list that includes the following:
· The person will say no

· The person will yell at me (or hit me)

· The person will give me the money; but won't really want to, and will resent me

· I know the person doesn't have the money

· It is imposing on our friendship for me to ask, and we won't be friends anymore

· The person will think that the only reason I was nice to them was to get money

· The person will say "yes" and then ask me for money for his or her cause

· I don't know if my group really deserves the money as much as some other groups might

· The person will ask me questions about the organization that I can't answer 


After this brainstorming session, the group should look at the fears that are listed and notice that they fall into three categories:

  Fears of responses that are extremely unlikely to happen (I'll be punched, I'll be sued, I'll have a heart attack)

  Fears of things that might happen but could be dealt with if they do (the person will ask me for money, the person will ask questions I can't answer)

  Fears of things which will definitely happen occasionally (the person will say no).

Examine the third type of fear first. For most people, the worst thing that can happen when they ask for money is that the person will say no. But, everyone who does fundraising will experience this kind of rejection. Remember, just as it is your privilege to ask for money, it is the other person's privilege to turn you down. The person being asked may have just spent $400 on his or her car, or been asked to give to five other organizations, or have other current priorities. While no one likes to be turned down, it is important not to take being turned down as a rejection of you personally.

In the second category of fears -- that someone will give to your organization, and then ask you for money for his or her special cause -- you can make your own decision. You don't owe the person a favor. To be supportive of him or her and the cause, you may want to say yes, but you are not obligated to do so.

Questions you can't answer can be responded to with "I don't know" or "I'll find out and let you know."

Fears such as, "I know the person doesn't have the money" are very common. However, unless you have a financial statement from the person you are asking, or unless you know her or she is on welfare, or has recently experienced a devastating tragedy, you don't know that the person doesn't have the money.

Other fears can be dealt with the same way. The group should look at each fear and see which category it fits into.

Sometimes it is not appropriate to ask someone else for money, but this is true far less often than we think. When you consider asking someone for money, and decide not to, ask yourself, "Do I have a reason not to ask, or just an excuse based on assumptions I am making about the other person?"

Exercise Number 2
When thinking about why a person would give money to an organization, think about why you give money to any organization. Your reasons for giving or not giving will be much the same as everyone else's and will help you understand what motivates people to give.

In this exercise, participants imagine that an acquaintance of theirs has come to them, explained a cause he or she is involved in, and asked for a gift. Imagine that the gift is an affordable amount, but not an amount one could give to everybody who asked. For most people, this amount is somewhere between $25 and $50.

For thirty seconds participants write down on their own sheet of paper all the reasons they would say yes to this request. Then for the next thirty seconds, they list all the reason they would say no. Asking participants to share their results, the facilitator then writes the "yes" and "no" reasons on two separate sheets of butcher paper, or two sides of the blackboard. Generally, there are more yes reasons than no reasons. The following are the most common reasons:

YES 

· like the person asking

· believe in the cause

· get something for my money

· tax deduction

· I feel generous

· know my money will be well used

· just got paid

· want to support my friend

· feel guilty saying no

· know other people in the group

· liked the approach

NO 

· disliked the person asking

· don't believe in the cause

· don't have the money

· bad mood that day

· organization has a bad reputation

· give to other things

· already been asked several times that week

· don't know what my money will be used for

· think person asking is naive

The group discusses the two lists. Looking at the no list, these answers fall into two categories:

· reasons which are not the asker's fault, and which could not be known ahead of time

· reasons which appear to be "no" but are really "maybe."

In the first case, the asker usually cannot know that the prospect does not have the money right now, or that he or she is in a bad mood, or has been asked several times that week. When this is the reason for the rejection, the asker can only thank the prospect for his or her time, and go on the next prospect.

In the second case, if the prospect knew more about the organization, knew how the money was used, knew that the reasons for the bad reputation have been cleared up, he or she might give. The "no" answers are really "maybe." "Maybe I would give if I thought the organization did good work." The person asking for the money must be prepared to discuss the prospect's reasons with him or her and hope to persuade the prospect to change to an affirmative answer.

A few of the "no" reasons reflect badly on the asker. For example, if the prospect thinks the asker is naive or pushy or dislikes the asker altogether, then this was an unfortunate choice of a person to solicit the gift.

The point of this exercise is twofold -- to illustrate why people give and don't give and to illustrate that people have more reason to say yes than to say no to a request for a contribution.

These exercises and the subsequent discussion they involve will help people in your group understand that asking for money is not as frightening as they may have thought. The worst thing that can happen is that the person asked will say no and usually they say no for reasons outside your control or knowledge.
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How do you ask for a "major" gift? 
For most people, asking for money is one of the most difficult tasks they will ever face. To answer this question we turn to an article by Kim Klein, The Fine Art of Asking for the Gift, which first appeared in the Grassroots Fundraising Journal, Volume 2, No. 3.

Many people have discovered that doing face-to-face fundraising reminds them of the true depth of their commitment to the organization. They remember why they became involved in the first place and why they think the work is important. Occasionally, people discover that their commitment is not that strong and they would be happier in another organization.

First and foremost, it is imperative that the people soliciting major gifts believe thoroughly in the cause of the organization and have demonstrated that commitment with a financial contribution. The size of that contribution is not important, but it must be a contribution which for that individual is significant. The message to the prospect from the solicitor is, "Join me. Do what I have done. Give a large contribution to this organization because it is really important."

Types of Prospects
There are three types of prospects for face-to-face solicitations:
1. People who have given before, and are prospects for a repeat or upgraded gift

2. People who have not given before, but are close to someone in the organization

3. People who are interested in the cause but don't know anyone in the organization


For the latter type, some kind of cultivation is necessary before actually soliciting the gift. Inviting the person to a special event, house meeting, or educational evening will be important, or asking to see the person in order to describe the program and inviting him or her to the office (if the office is an exciting place) should precede the meeting at which a gift is requested. In this article, we will assume that the prospect is ready to be asked for the gift.

There are three steps in approaching a prospect: 

1. A letter describing the program and requesting a meeting to discuss it further

2. A phone call to set up a meeting

3. The meeting itself in which the gift is usually solicited

Obviously, if you are approaching your spouse or your best friend, you can skip the letter, and perhaps even the phone call. In some cases the letter will be enough and there will be no need for a phone call and meeting; in others a phone call alone will suffice.

The letter
The letter to prospects who have given before is the simplest. You thank them for their support in the past and ask them to give the same amount or more again. Describe some of your achievements in the past year and some of your future plans. Tell them you will phone them in a few days and, if they are in your area, offer to meet with them. Enclose a stamped, return envelope.

In a few days, phone them. Often you will discover that the check is in the mail. As you get to know major donors better, you will discover which ones prefer not to be phoned, but just wish to be reminded when it is time to renew their gift.

If you do meet with them, ask for a larger gift than they gave last year, or use the meeting as an opportunity to ask for the names of three people who might be interested in giving major gifts.

As you get to know the donors, you can see if they would make good board members, or if they would be willing to solicit some large gifts for your organization. Meeting with current donors tells people that they are valued and helps build their loyalty to the organization.

Letters to prospects you know rest heavily on the amount of respect and affection the prospect has for you. When writing to someone you know, use the same tone and format you would use in writing to him or her about anything else. If you normally call the person by his or her first name, do that in your letter. Mention to your friend that you are a donor yourself. You don't have to say how much you give -- just the fact that you give will tell your friend that your are asking him/her to do only what you are already doing.

If the person who knows the prospect is unable or unwilling to write the letter, then the person actually soliciting the gift may be a stranger to the prospect. In that case, begin the letter with "Jane Friendswithyou gave me your name. She said you will be interested in our work because . . . " Go on to describe the work of the organization and ask to meet with the person.

Indicate in the letter that you will be asking for money. The letter can describe how much the organization needs and what kind of gift you hope the prospect will make.

In writing the letter, remember that people have a short attention span. Make your sentences interesting, evocative, and short. Avoid using jargon or complicated explanations. Statistics are fine, if used sparingly. The idea of the letter is to spark the prospects's interest so that he or she will want to meet with you. The letter does not have to convince fully; and in fact, should just raise the person's interest. The face-to-face meeting is the time to convince the prospect to give.

The phone call
If you say you are going to call, call. Rehearse the phone call beforehand to anticipate possible hard questions or objections the prospect might have. The following are three different problems that arise during phone calls and examples of how they could be handled.

Scenario One: The Easy Prospect

You: Hello, this is Worthy Cause. Is this Mary Prospect?
Ms. Prospect: Yes, it is.
You: I recently wrote to you about . . . Did you get my letter?
Ms. Prospect: Yes, I think I did.
You: Do you have a minute now? (or, Is this a good time to talk?)
Ms. Prospect: I have just about one minute. Now remind me of what your organization does. I get so many letters..
You: Our organization . . . (two sentences at most.) What I would really like to do is get together with you for about half an hour to explain our projects in more depth. I know you are busy, so is there any time next week that I could come see you?
Ms. Prospect: I think I could fit you in next Wednesday at 10.
You: Great. I'll be there. Thanks so much. 

Scenario Two: Time and Logistics Problems

Ms. Prospect: This is a really bad time of year for me. I'm doing an inventory and then I have to fly to Washington DC and I just can't fit in another thing.
You: I can certainly understand that. Why don't I call you next month and see if things have settled down, and you might have some time then?
Ms. Prospect: That would be fine
-or-
Ms. Prospect: This is just too busy a time for me. I'll call you when I can work you into my schedule.
You: I know you have a lot on your mind. I'll call you in a month or so to see if things have settled down.
-or-
Ms. Prospect: I never make decisions to give away such large gifts without talking it over with my husband. We do all our giving jointly.
You: That seems extremely reasonable. May I come and talk to you both?

Scenario Three: Disagreements with the Organization

Ms. Prospect: I got your letter, but I have to tell you honestly that I think the government should be taking care of this, and you all should be lobbying for restored government funding in this area.
You: We agree that the government should be taking care of this problem, and we're working with a coalition of groups to pressure for restored funding. But in the meantime, these people are without services, and we have to turn to people like you who understand the need so clearly. I'd like to talk with you about our government strategy, since I know that it is an area of interest to you, in addition to discussing our program. Could we meet next week?
-or-
Ms. Prospect: Aren't you the group that had to fire your Executive Director for incompetence a little while ago?
You: Yes, our Executive Director was released when the board discovered . . . I know you'll be pleased to learn that Much Better Person has taken her place and things are now completely back to normal. I really want to talk about our programs in more detail. Is it possible to set up a meeting in the next few weeks?
-or-
Ms. Prospect: I have other priorities at this time and I'm not sure your organization falls within my present commitments.
You: I know that you have other priorities. I would really appreciate it if we could discuss our organization's program because I think it falls within your concerns. Jan Friendswithyou indicated that you are strongly committed to . . . and we do work in that area now.
Ms. Prospect: I'm afraid you'll be wasting your time.
You: I'm not worried about that. I don't want to waste your time, but I do think a brief meeting would help us both to see if we have any goals in common. 


The importance of being assertive
Most of the time when people put us off we assume that they are tying to say no, but are just too polite to come right out with it. This is a false assumption. Prospects are looking for signs that you are really serious about your organization. They appreciate persistence, assertiveness, and an attitude that what you have to offer is critically important and worth taking some time to discuss.

If you are easily put off and take the first no as the final answer, it says to the prospect that you are not terribly concerned about the organization, or that you don't really care whether or not the prospect gives. Clearly, you don't want to be rude, but be willing to push the prospect a little, and don't take the first resistance as the final word.

The Face-to-Face Meeting
Once you have an appointment you are ready to prepare for the face-to-face solicitation. This is not as frightening as it seems. First of all, the prospect knows from your letter or your phone call that you will be talking about making a contribution. Since he or she has agreed to see you the answer to your request is not an outright "no." The prospect is considering saying "yes." Your job is to move him or her from "I'm considering giving" to "I'd be delighted to give."

The purpose of the meeting is to get a commitment to give. Everything else revolves around this purpose. It is fine for the conversation to go off on a tangent, but you must keep bringing the conversation back to the financial needs of the organization and the possible role of the prospect in meeting those needs.

As the solicitor, you must appear poised, enthusiastic, and confident. If you are well prepared for the interview, this will not be too difficult. Many times, board members and volunteers are afraid they will not appear knowledgeable about the organization. It is perfectly fine to bring along a staff member or someone who has been with the organization a long time to answer difficult questions. Sometimes going with a partner also helps you feel more relaxed. It is also fine to answer a question with, "I don't know, but I'll be glad to get you that information."

Help the prospect to see that giving to your organization is a logical and natural extension of his or her interests and concerns. Ask the prospect questions, and carry on a conversation with him or her. "Do you agree with our approach?" "Did you see the article about us in last week's paper?" "Has Jane Friendswithyou talked much about our organization?"

When you finally ask for the gift, look the prospect right in the eye and in a clear, bold voice, say, "Can you help us with a $300 contribution?" or, "We are hoping you can give $500-$1,000." Keep looking at the prospect, and don't say anything after you have asked for the gift. It is the prospect's turn to speak. Although it may seem like a long time between your request and his or her response, it is only a matter of a few seconds.

Sometimes the prospect will say, "I'd like to help, but that figure is way out of my range." Your response can be, "What would you feel comfortable giving?"

After you ask for the gift and get an affirmative answer, discuss how the prospect wants to make the gift. Perhaps they will give you a check right there, or mail it in the return envelope you brought. For larger gifts, prospects (now donors) may want to transfer stock, or make other arrangement that will cause the gift to arrive in a week or two. Once these arrangements are made, thank the donor and leave.

Immediately after the interview, send the donor a thank you note. Another thank you from the organization should be sent when the money arrives.

Summary
Although it can be anxiety producing to ask for money the first few times you do it, it is thrilling to get an affirmative commitment from a major donor. It is also a good feeling to know that you were able to set aside your own discomfort about asking for money for the greater purpose of meeting the needs of your organization. Knowing that you can talk comfortably about the financial goals of your organization is empowering. Boards of Directors find that they are immeasurably strengthened when each of their members feels able to ask for money.
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How do I get my board involved in fundraising and how much should a board member give? 
There isn't a senior nonprofit manager alive that hasn't asked herself this question at some point in her career. Take some comfort in the fact that you are not alone in pondering this question. No one will argue with the notion that the ultimate responsibility for organizational success resides with the board of directors. Further, success not only requires good programs but it also requires the necessary funding to implement those programs and services. Yet this argument alone is rarely enough to motivate board members to spring to action around the fundraising program. True motivation springs from involvement in the life and mission of the organization.

It is a tremendous asset to any organization to have an active board of directors involved in the fundraising function. Most professional fundraisers will tell you that before boards get involved in fund raising, they must first be involved in the mission and governance of the organization. This involvement with the larger scope of the organization often leads to more focused commitment to the fundraising program. It is important to remember that fundraising is a means to an end, and therefore we must involve our board members in the ends if we are to secure willing help on the means.

First and foremost, board members must be engaged in the planning process to determine with staff what the organization wants and what it will do. Involvement in planning builds ownership of the plans which essentially become the organization's agenda for the future and the foundation for all subsequent fundraising. After goals, objectives, programs and services have been determined, planning turns to translating these aspirations into real financial needs, often reflected in budgets. It is essential that the Board participates in determining the financial needs if they are to be involved in serious fundraising in the future.

After this process has been completed, board and staff need to form a partnership to develop and implement a plan to secure the necessary funds required to go forward with the plan. The actual fundraising task is immeasurably strengthened when a true partnership between board and staff is in place. As with other management functions, staff manage the fundraising program, while board members get involved in those elements that are suited to their interests, skills and capabilities. A good fundraising plan is explicit about both board and staff responsibilities. The following breakout of tasks is an example:

BOARD

· Have input into fundraising plan 

· Organize and participate on fundraising committee 

· Identify and cultivate new pro 

· Organize and participate on fundraising committee 

· Identify and cultivate new prospects/donors 

· Ask peers for donations 

· Always be an advocate for the agency 

· Make introductions for staff to follow-up 

· Accompany staff on key visits to funders 

· Help with expressions of thanks when appropriate 

  

STAFF 

· Accompany staff on key visits to funders 

· Help with expressions of thanks when appropriate 

· Research new and existing donors 

· Write case materials 

· Assist board in any way possible 

· Write proposals 

· Accompany board members on solicitation visits 

· Ask for money when appropriate 

· Take care of all logistics related to fundraising activities 

· Plan, plan, plan 

  

Most people do not gravitate to fundraising naturally or easily. It can be helpful to get board members involved in a process to explore their personal feelings about giving and asking. Several helpful exercises on overcoming reluctance to asking can be found in FAQ #3, Why Are People Afraid to Ask for Money.

A related question to the larger issue of board involvement in fundraising is how much should a board member give? We have another simple answer: the goal should achieve 100% giving by the board and for each member to make a "generous" gift. Obviously, each board member will have to determine what constitutes generosity in terms of their personal financial situation. Another question to ponder: If you can't convince your board members to give, and give generously, what barriers are standing in the way? Answering this question forthrightly will be a critical step in turning a bad situation around.

Fundraising requires commitment from people. The first place to look for the this commitment is within the board. After all, the board is the vital link between a nonprofit organization and the public. Board membership in itself represents a significant level of commitment. The fundraising process demands a deepening of this commitment. Once in place, the organization has a powerful asset for reaching out into the larger community for gift support.
How can our board members help raise money? 
There is no one right answer to this question. Unlimited possibilities exist for your board to help raise funds. A variety of suggestions can be found in the following article, 55 Ways for Boards to Raise $500, written by Kim Klein, founding publisher of the Grassroots Fundraising Journal.

All good fundraising plans have one thing in common: they show a diverse number of sources for their income. The board of directors plays a crucial role in the selection, implementation, and evaluation of fundraising strategies. In addition to other ways that board members may participate in fundraising, they individually commit to raising and giving a certain amount of money, or commit to working by themselves on specific strategies with no financial goal attached.

It is a good idea for board members doing fundraising on their own to write up their plans. This "contact" allows staff to know when they might be called on to help, ensures that events don't happen on the same day, or the same donors aren't solicited by several board members, and also helps to remind board members of their commitments.

In order for this method to work, the organization or the board fundraising committee should think of many specific ways board members could actually raise money by themselves. The fifty-five ways suggested below are by no means an exhaustive list, nor will they all work for every group. Few board members could use all fifty-five ways, but almost any board member should be a able to use two or three of them.

All of these methods have been used by different volunteers in a wide variety of organizations. Some methods are much more popular than others. Some depend on access to certain resources.

Presenting board members with fifty-five ways that would work for your organization helps counter the excuse, "I would help but I just don't know what to do." Having each board member write out a plan, with goals and a time line, also gives them a sense that if they do their best with this plan, they will have helped significantly. Many board members feel that fundraising is never ending, and that no amount of effort is enough. "Whatever I do, I could have done more, and probably should have," they say. This feeling of inadequacy leads to high turnover, burn-out, and resentment in boards. Specific fundraising contracts can help avoid that result.

55 Ways for Board Members to Raise $500
1. Give it yourself. This is the easiest way for those who are able, although if you are able to give them that much money you should be helping raise much more than $500.

2. List all your friends who are interested in your organization, or similar organization. Decide how much each one should give. Write to them on your own stationery, include a brochure from the organization and a return envelope. Phone those people who don't respond in two weeks, Some people will need 10 friends to give $50, and some people need 50 friends to give $10. Most people will need a combination such as: 2-3 @ $50, 4-5 @ $25, 15 @ $10.

3. Give part of the $500. Then ask your friends to join you in giving $25, $50, or whatever your gift is. This is most effective because you are not asking them to do anything you haven't done.

4. Set up a challenge campaign. Challenge gifts can be quite small. Tell people you'll give $5 for every $25 they give, or will match every $10 gift up to ten gifts. For added suspense, make this challenge during a fundraising event. You or the host can announce, "We now have the Dave Buckstretch Challenge for the next five minutes. Dave will give $5 for every new member that joins Worthy Cause."

5. If your organization has a diverse funding base with several grassroots fundraising strategies in place, use them all:

· sell 100 raffle tickets for $100

· give $50

· bring 10 people to an event that costs $10 to raise $100

· buy two gift memberships @ $15 each to raise $30

· get 15 friends to join @ $15 each to raise $225 

6. Help with your organization's phone-a-thon. Bring the names of people you think would like to join and call until you have raised $500. Or trade names with someone in the organization and call their friends until you have reached $500. This is particularly effective for people who are shy about asking their own friends for money, but not afraid to ask people they don't know.

7. Acquire mailing lists for your organization. If you belong to another group, perhaps you can set up an exchange, or perhaps you have access to a list of members of some other group. You can ask all your friends to give you the names of 10 to 15 people they think would like to join. You would need to recruit about 25 members at an average gift of $15. Depending on how "hot" your list is, you might need as few as 200 names (to do a bulk mailing) or as many as 1500-3000 (if you expect a 1-2% response.) You would have to have a greater response if you wanted the mailing to pay for itself and also generate $500.

8. Give the organization something they need that is worth $500, such as a fax machine, filing cabinets, couch, adding machine, computer program, etc.

9. Pledge $20 a month, and get one other person to do likewise. Then sell $20 worth of raffle tickets.

10. Teach a seminar on a topic you know: fundrasing, knitting, organic gardening, organizing, proposal writing, environmental impact reports, gourmet cooking, dog grooming, starting your own business. Charge $20-50 per person, with a goal of 20-30 people. Either absorb the cost of promotion, or have enough participants to cover it.

11. Give some or a lot of things to your organization's garage sale, making sure they are worth $500, and then help to sell it all.

12. With 4 or 5 friends, have a spaghetti dinner at a church or union hall or other big room with a large kitchen. Charge $10 per person and feed more than 50 people. You can charge extra for wine or garlic bread, or for dessert.

13. Have a fancy dinner at your home or a regular dinner at someone's fancy home. Serve unusual or gourmet food, or have special entertainment. Charge $25 or more per person, and have 20 or more guests.

14. Get three friends to help you have a progressive dinner. Start at one person's home for cocktails and hors d'oeuvres, progress to the next person's house for soup or salad, the next person's for the main course, and the last person for dessert. Either charge by course, or for the whole package. To make it extra special (and much more expensive), get a limousine for the evening that carries guests from house to house.

15. Host a wine and cheese party. Do not charge admission and invite as many people as you can. During the party, give a short talk about your organization, and ask everyone to consider a gift of $25, $50, or $100 or more (depending on the crowd). Either pass out envelopes and ask people to give then, or after the party contact everyone individually who came and ask for a major gift. Indicate that you have given, and if appropriate, how much you have given.

16. Get your gambling friends together. Charge a $5 entrance fee, and have a poker evening, asking that every "pot" be split with the organization. Individuals win and so does the organization. You can charge extra for refreshments, or include one or two glasses of something with the price of admission. (Watch the laws in your community on this one. In some communities it is illegal to gamble, even in your own home.)

17. Do one fundraising event every other month that nets at least $75. This might look like:

· Poker party raises $100

· Fancy dinner (8 people at $25) raises $200

· Sell 50 raffle tickets @ $1 raises $50

· Book sale raises $50

· Recycle newspapers raises $100 

18. Solicit small businesses, churches, synagogues, or service clubs for $500. If you are active in a church, or own your own business and are involved in business organizations or service clubs, this can be very effective. You can often raise $200-$500 with a simple proposal and oral presentation.

19. Take a part-time job in addition to your present work, and give everything you earn up to $500.

20. Ask 5-10 people to save all their change for 3-5 months. You save yours. Count it at the end of the prescribed time and use one of the other methods to raise the rest. (You may not need to.)

21. Ask 2-5 friends to help with a bake sale, book sale, or garage sale. You and your friends bake the goodies, or get the books or other stuff required for the sale, staff it, and help clean up afterwards. This is an excellent way to get people involved in fundraising without ever actually asking them for money.

22. For the fairly rich: give your organization $5,000 as an interest-free loan for a year. They invest it, earn 8-10% and at the end of the year, they give you your $5,000 back.

23. Sell your organization's materials, buttons, T-shirts, bumper stickers, or whatever else they have for sale. Also, help distribute these to bookstores or novelty shops.

24. The Farming Out Method: Entice 5 friends to sell 100 raffle tickets each, or to raise $100 however they like. Share this list of suggestions with them. Give them a nice dinner at the successful end of their efforts (or a bottle of good wine, or a weekend away).

25. Get a famous or popular person to do a special event. Watch the costs on this, or you may lose money.

26. Invite people to your birthday party and ask that in lieu of gifts they give money to your organization.

27. Conduct a volunteer canvass. For one evening, you and a group of friends take literature to all the neighborhoods around you asking for money at the door. Be sure to comply with city and county ordinances.

28. Lead or get someone to lead a nature walk, an architectural tour, a historic tour, a sailing trip, a rafting trip, or a horseback ride. Charge $15-25 per person, or charge $35 and provide lunch. Advertise the event in the newspaper to draw in people from outside your organization.

29. Start a pyramid dinner, or a chain dinner. Invite 12 people and charge $12 each. Get two people of the twelve you invited to invite 12 people each at $12, and two people from each of those two dinners to invite 12 people at @$12, and so on. Here's the income:
Your dinner -- 12x$12 = $144
From your dinner -- 12x(12+12) = $288
From those dinners -- 12x(12+12+12+12) = $576
Twelve is used in this example because it worked very well for the Nuclear Freeze Campaign in California, which was Proposition 12. In many communities, most of the income for the campaign was generated by 12x12 dinners.

30. Collect cans for recycling. Ask all your friends to save their cans and bottles for you and turn them in to a buy-back recycling center.

31. Sell your frequent flyer mile to friends or donate them to the organization for a raffle. Watch the rules of the airline on this but most airlines let you give away miles, and you may be able to sell your miles as long as you don't go through a mileage broker.

32. If you live in a nice house or own a getaway cottage in a beautiful place or in an expensive city, rent it out for a week or a weekend two or three times during the year and give the proceeds to your organization. Or rent a room in your home for much less than the cost of a hotel room to people needing a place to stay while they are on business in a big city. You may even make a new friend in the process.

33. If you own a valuable dog and you breed it, donate the proceeds from one or two puppies. (I know some animal lovers will join me in feeling mixed about bringing more animals into the world when so many need homes; this suggestion is for people who were already planning to breed their dog. It is not intended as an incentive.)

34. Organize a service raffle. Get four people (one can be you) to donate a simple but valuable service that many people could use and sell raffle tickets for $3-$5 each. Keep the price a little high so you don't have to sell so many and so that the buyers have a higher chance of winning. Services can include child care for a weekend or for any weekend night two weekends in a row; one day of housecleaning; yard work; house painting (interior or exterior), etc. Sell the tickets to neighbors, work mates, and to other board members. Encourage people to buy several by offering discounts for multiple purchases, such as one for $5, 3 for $13, 4 for $17, 5 for $20. If you are really bold or live in a more affluent area, or have few friends, sell the tickets for $20 each. A full day of housecleaning for $20 is a real bargain, and buyers have a high chance of winning with fewer tickets sold.

35. Offer to do something your friends and family have been nagging you to do anyway, and attach a price to it. For example, quit smoking on the condition that your friends donate to your group, or get your friends to pay a certain amount for every day you don't smoke up to 30 days. Agree to match their gifts at the end of thirty days if you didn't smoke. Give them their money back if you did. (This method could be applied to other healthy behaviors, such as exercising or not eating sugar.)

36. If you belong to a church, research whether your church or theirs has a discretionary fund. Many churches have small pools of money available to groups through a women's fellowship or pastor's discretionary fund or various seldom-used endowments. Grants are often in the $50-$500 range and so go largely untouched by fundraisers. Sometimes simply writing a letter will free up this money and it tends to be renewable if someone is willing to ask the church yearly.

37. Research all the service clubs in town and see what their giving policies are. They often have formal giving guidelines for large grants of $2,000 and up, but have smaller amounts of money available for specific small projects.

38. Find out what items your group needs and try to get them donated. This is good for people who really hate to ask for money but who don't mind asking for things that cost money. Items that one can sometimes get donated include computers, paper, office supplies, office furniture (second-hand from banks and corporations as they redecorate), typewriters, adding machines, food, even cars.

39. Ask someone to donate $50 a month for a year. Ask four people to donate $10 a month for a year. Ask nine people to donate $5 a month for a year. Get the organization to send reminders to them or send the reminders yourself.

40. Find a few friends who have small savings accounts and pool them into one account. Invest the pool in a Treasury Bill or CD and when it comes due, give everyone what they would have made if they had invested only their little amount, and give the group the rest. For example, if four people invest $2,500 each for a pool of $10,000 in a CD that matures in a year, they may be able to earn 6% interest for a total of at least $600 (actually more, depending on the compounding factor). If each person invests only $2,500 for a year individually, they may not be able to earn more than 4%, for a total of $100 each or $400 for everyone. The $200 difference can be given to the group while everyone gains the interest they would have made. Find more friends or invest for longer to make up the $500.

41. Give it yourself. (This is so good I have to say it twice.)

42. Strategy with a long-deferred payoff (we hope): leave the group a bequest.

43. With similar hopes as above, get friends to include the group in their wills.

44. Ask friends who belong to service clubs, sororities, antique collecting groups, support groups, bridge clubs, etc. to discuss your organization in their group and pass the hat for donations. A once-a-year sweep of even small organizations can yield $100 from each.

45. For the church-going: ask if your organization can be a "second collection." The church passes the plate for its own collection and then you or someone from your organization gives a brief talk (or sometimes the whole sermon) about your group and the plate is passed again; the proceeds go to your group.

46. A variation on the above is to organize a "second collection Sunday" and get as many churches as you can to take up a second collection for your organization. Someone from your group will need to be at each service and give a brief talk. Second Collection Sundays can be very lucrative, as witnessed by the Catholic Campaign for Human Development, which collects $8 million on one Sunday in all the participating Catholic churches in the United States.

47. If, as a child, you collected something avidly that you now store in a basement, consider selling it. Coins and stamps are particularly valuable and have usually increased in value over the years. But your collection of rocks, toy ships, rockets, arrowheads, or dolls can also be valuable. When you donate the income from the sale, you can deduct that amount from your taxes -- an added bonus of this strategy, since you probably paid little or nothing for the items in the collection.

48. Have a sidewalk sale or garage sale for your whole neighborhood or building. Go around to your neighbors and tell them you will take their stuff outside and sit with it all day to sell it if they will donate half or all of the proceeds to your group. Since this is stuff people want to rid of anyway, it is a good deal for them. In one apartment building with ten units participating in donating stuff, an organization netted $3,000 in one day. Three people from the organization helped with the selling. With a few high-ticket items, such as a washer/dryer or some nice lamps, you can make good money.

49. If you have an artistic bent, offer to design greeting cards to specification for organizations or individuals for a fee. If you are good at calligraphy, sell your skills to schools for graduation announcement, friends for classy but low-cost wedding invitations, or just fun certificates such as "World's Greatest Dad" for Father's Day or "Outstanding Friend." Create unique Halloween costumes or masks. Donate the proceeds from your artistry.

50. Create a take-off on the "adopt-a-highway"techniques by naming budget items of your group as available for adoption. You could develop a flyer that reads, "The following items have been found near death from negligence and abuse. Won't you help? $25 per month will ensure that our computer is maintained. $100 per month will release our photocopy machine from toiling with no toner and a dying motor. (We can lease a new one.)"

51. An idea for people who live in border towns -- get permission to place a large container in stores or even at the airports of towns near national borders. Have a sign that asks people (in several languages) to throw in any coins or paper money they have not exchanged. Many times people leaving Canada or Mexico don't have time to exchange all their money or cannot exchange their loose change. Multiply this times hundreds of shoppers or travelers and you can make a lot of money. UNICEF does this in many European airports.

52. Hold an "I'm Not Afraid" Auction. You do this with just a few friends or hundreds of people if you have enough items to auction. You survey a few people (and use your own common sense) about what things need to be done in their home or office that they are afraid of or would really rather not do. This is different from a service auction -- there has to be an element of dread in the activity. For example, some people cannot wash their windows because their apartment is too high or the second story of their house is too high and they suffer from vertigo. If you are not afraid of heights, you can sell your window-washing service. This goes for drain cleaning, minor roof repairs, antenna fixing, etc. Or, if you are unafraid of cockroaches or waterbugs or spiders, you can offer to clean out that dark corner of a garage or basement for a small fee. Snakes can be found in gardens and woodsheds, but maybe that doesn't bother you. The problem doesn't need to be as serious as a phobia. How about allergies to dust, pollen, weeds? if you don't have them, you can mow, sweep, clean for a fee. By marketing it as an "I'm Not Afraid" Auction, you also have the option for people to name something they need done to a group of volunteers, and then have a volunteer say, "I'm not afraid to do that." In that case, you need a set fee for service.

53. Similar to the suggestion above is the "Details Auction." This is for all your friends whose desks are overflowing with papers or who can't get their receipts in order to give to the tax preparer or who complain they can never find anything. If you are well organized, offer to clean up their desk, get their rolodex in order, file their papers, etc. If you like to shop, sell that to people who don't and do all their holiday shopping for them, or buy birthday, baby shower or niece/nephew presents for them. Anything that people feel they cannot control is the organized person's fundraising dream come true.

54. Find out which of your friends (perhaps this is true for you also) work in corporations with matching gift programs. Then ask them to donate and get their gift matched, and ask them to ask their co-workers to donate and get their gifts matched.

55. Get an "affinity" credit car. (This is for really large organizations or chapters of national organizations.) A firm, such as Working Assets, sets up a credit card with your logo on it, and a small percentage of each sale goes to your group. The Nature Conservancy, the Women's Building in San Francisco, and others are using this successfully. It requires a guarantee of volume of users. 



As you can see, almost all of these strategies involve asking for money and giving money yourself. These are the basic premises of fundraising -- you must ask, you must give. Everything after that involves creativity, imagination and a sense of fun. I also listed two twice -- give it yourself and ask someone for it. That's not because I didn't really have 55 ways -- it is because those are the best, fastest and easiest ways to get money.


Reprinted with permission. Copyright (c)1986 Chardon Press/Grassroots Fundraising Journal.
How do I figure out how much someone can give to my organization? 
Determining how much someone can give is part of a process called "prospect research." The research process involves collecting information on prospects in three primary areas:

1. the prospect's financial circumstances (income, assets, etc.)

2. the prospect's relationship to the organization

3. key personal "linkages" between the prospect and key organizational supporters (donors, board members, members, etc.) 


In his classic book on fundraising, Achieving Excellence in Fund Raising, Hank Rosso describes a research concept that echoes this approach known as the L-A-L principle:

· "A research concept known as the L-A-L principle of prospect identification will help fundraising planners separate suspects from prospects, thus enabling staff members to direct their solicitation and enlistment energies toward those individuals who are most likely to give or to volunteer their services.

What is the L-A-L principle and what is its function in both fundraising research and constituency development? The principle is timeworn. It is a heritage of the past, a piece of wisdom passed on from one clan of veteran fundraising practitioners to another, and it is as described below.

L -- Linkage
A linkage relates to a contact, a bridge or an access through a peer to the potential donor. If there is access to the gift source, then this link to the prospect makes it possible to arrange an appointment to discuss the potential of a gift. If access ability is not a reality, then it would be difficult or downright impossible to arrange for an appointment. Solicitation becomes a matter of a letter or telephone approach, and neither is effective in the production of large gifts.

A -- Ability 

Through research, it can be determined that the potential gift source has sufficient discretionary holding to justify a gift solicitation at the appropriate "asking" level. Two perceptions pertain: the asker's perception that the prospect has a gift capability at the level suggested, and the prospect's own perception that such a gift capability is reality. Some wealthy but financially insecure individuals who are not brought up with the tradition of philanthropy are not sure that they have sufficient resources to give at the level requested. They may not be psychologically prepared to give.

I -- Interest 

If the potential contributor has no interest in the organization or little knowledge about its work, then the person will be prone to make a small gift or none at all. Interest in the organization and an understanding of its mission and accomplishments are imperative in the identification of valid prospects." 


It is critical to understand that a prospect's ability to give is only part of what determines a gift's size or whether it will be made at all. Ability alone does not qualify someone as a legitimate prospect. People, as well as philanthropic institutions, will give and maximize their giving when a relationship between them and the organization has been established and developed. The stronger the relationship the more likely a prospect will give and give generously.

In the Grassroots Fundraising Journal, volume 2, no.5, Kim Klien discusses the prospect research process in terms of "ABC:"

· You are looking for three things in each prospect:

1. Evidence that the prospect is connected with someone in your organization, so that you can establish contact. 

2. Evidence that the person believes in your cause (or a similar cause), which includes evidence that the person gives money to similar organizations. 

3. Evidence that the person has the ability to make the size gift you want.


When you have positive information about ability, belief and contact, then you have a qualified prospect - that is, someone who can be asked for a gift. For obvious reasons, we call these criteria ABC, but in order of importance, they are CBA, and we"ll examine them in that order.

Contact

The most important factor is contact. If you don't know the person or have no access to them, that person is a stranger and not a prospect. That's why you start with who you know. You know three kinds of people: people you know personally, people who are known by people you know (you might gain access to a person in this category by using the name of someone you both know), and definitely, people who are currently donors. Though you may not personally know each current donor, you can call any donor and say, "We don't know each other but we have in common that we support Very Good Group." As described earlier, many of your best contacts are going to come from people who give money already.

Belief

Ask yourself if there is any reason that the potential prospect would not believe in your cause. Social change groups often think that a person won't believe in their cause when in fact the prospect has no opinion one way or the other. He or she may not have heard of the group, or even the issue, or doesn't see how the issue affects him or her.

Sometimes a person may not recognize that his or her own beliefs are represented by a group because of the way the issues are presented. For example, an organization working to keep abortion legal ran into problems at a meeting in a small, politically conservative community when it described abortion as a vital feminist issue. This language did not resonate with the audience. When a leader in the organization said that the government should not make these decisions for us -- a woman should make a decision about the outcome of a pregnancy for herself, the meeting participants clapped loudly. Though they support legal abortion, they do not identify their support as a tenet of feminist ideology. Several large contributions to the abortion-rights group subsequently came from that community.

In a second example, a man living in a small town was approached for a donation by a suicide prevention group. The person asking him had not done any research on this prospect, but was able to make an appointment through a common acquaintance. The prospect believed suicide tended to indicate a weak character and was, furthermore, more a problem of big cities. He listened politely and noncommittally as the solicitor described the global nature of suicide, using as examples numbers of suicides in Los Angeles, New York an London. He was sent away with a token donation.

Later that year, another person did more research on this prospect. The prospect was member of the local Chamber of Commerce and active in civic affairs. He had lived in this community all his life and owned a great deal of real estate there, much of which had become suburban developments. This solicitor made an appointment to see the prospect and told him exactly how many suicides and attempted suicides happened right in that town. He further discussed that some of the suburbs had high suicide rates for no apparent reason. The suicide prevention program, he explained, proposed to address the problem of suicide locally having on-call counselors available at churches and libraries and by launching a large poster campaign telling people how these counselors could be reached. Posters would be hung in grocery stores ('Two of which are yours,' the solicitor commented) and other public places. The solicitor then asked the prospect to underwrite the entire campaign. He walked away with a check for $10,000 -- exactly what was needed. Obviously, this prospect is not interested if the entire city of Los Angeles kills itself. What matters to him is what happens in his community.

A great deal of money is lost through assuming a lack of belief on the part of a potential prospect. Be careful and broad-minded in weighing evidence of belief in a cause.

Ability

The first question to ask about ability is not how much the prospect has, but whether he or she gives away money at all. Many people profess to be committed to the environment, or women's rights or civil liberties; however, if they do not make financial contributions to groups representing those causes, they are not good prospects for them. We know that about seven out of ten adults are donors. You need to first determine if your potential prospect is one of those seven. If not, she or he is not a prospect.

Sometimes people wonder how they can find out if someone is a donor. There are several ways. (In the course of a conversation, one might ask, "Do you belong to Greenpeace? or ... the National Organization for Women?" If the person says yes, you know that he or she has given to these groups.

To find prospects, start with yourself. Can you give $100? Whom do you know who could give that much or more? (Keeping the size of a major gift at $100 opens up the possibility for a lot more people to become major donors. Almost any employed person can give $100 if they pledge $8-10 per month.) Recognizing that being a large donor is not the exclusive province of the upper-class, you begin to find a number of prospects among your own friends and acquaintances.

From yourself, you can move out to he Board of Directors and other volunteers or staff in the organizations. Statisticians tell us that every person knows 250 people -- no doubt some of these people can give large donations.

Another place to look for prospects is your current list of donors. Do you now have any donors who have given $50 or more? What is the highest gift you have received, and how did it come about? It is not unusual for people to send in $50 or $100 from a mail appeal, and sometimes people send in large donations based on a radio program or other publicity. If any of these people are in your area, it is perfectly legitimate to contact them to renew their gift and to ask them to give you the names of five to ten people they think could also give a gift. Ask first if they will ask their friends: if they don't feel comfortable asking, then ask if you can use their name in contacting their friends." 


Therefore it is essential to think about fundraising as a long term process of building on-going relationships with potential donors. In other words, the task is to build a constituency of regular givers. Every organization has a natural constituency of people and institutions that are predisposed to be supportive of your mission: board members, clients, members, current donors and volunteers. Each member of these various constituency segments has a relationship with you. The process of fund raising requires that you understand that relationship and the existing level of commitment, and then solicit an appropriate gift. Beyond the natural constituencies are additional individuals and organizations that have similar interests, but have not yet been identified. The organization's job is to find out who these people are and begin developing relationships with them.

Answering the question "How much can someone give to my organization?" involves judgments (informed by facts) about their financial ability and their relationship to the organization. Remember, almost anyone can give something. However, true generosity depends on strong commitment to a cause that is built and reinforced over time. Involvement builds commitment and commitment leads to generous giving.

Excerpt from Hank Rosso's Achieving Excellence in Fund Raising reprinted with permission from author. Copyright (c) 1991 Jossey-Bass Publishers, San Francisco, Ca.

Excerpt from Kim Klein article in the Grassroots Fundraising Journal, volume 2, no.5, reprinted with permission from author. Copyright (c) 1986 Chardon Press/Grassroots Fundraising Journal.
What should we look for in a director of development and what is the typical salary range? 
There's nothing like actual experience and a proven track record. Unfortunately for organizations looking for their first director of development, experience and track records cost money. The fundraising profession has become a competitive field with more and more organizations bidding for the services of experienced development professionals.

Even if you can afford someone with experience, make sure your top candidates for the job have the kind of experience that fits your job description. In other words a grassroots organization that wants to build a broad-based donor constituency around a particular issue needs to look for someone with experience in similar organizations. On the other hand, an organization that defines its fundraising program as mostly seeking corporate gifts will want to look for someone very different.

There are some generic skills that contribute to fundraising success. These include, but are not limited to: 

· excellent communication skills (written and verbal)

· being well organized

· a self starter

· able to see and work within the big picture

· able to work behind the scenes

· works well with a diverse range of people 


All job skills and experience have some intrinsic market value. Of course, many factors determine what a seller (the job seeker) is willing to take and what the buyer (the nonprofit organization) is willing to pay. To put it more simply, most of the salaries of professional positions live within a standard range, with a number of factors determining the final number in a specific situation.

How much a particular organization should pay depends on what it wants and how much it can reasonably afford to pay. Generally, development directors are considered senior management positions and therefore such positions often command higher level salaries (relative to other agency positions). It is not uncommon for the development director to be the second highest paid person on the staff. In fact, in most smaller agencies, the primary fundraising responsibility is with the highest paid employee -- the executive director.

In pure numbers, the range of compensation for people with the director of development title runs from $20,000 - $150,000. From the organization's point of view, it needs to determine whether it can afford to pay for someone with experience and a track record in the development field. Even people with only two or three years experience are likely to seek annual salaries of $35,000 - $40,000. Significant experience (5 years or more) quickly runs into ranges from $45,000 - $80,000.

Small organizations that cannot afford this salary level might also consider seeking a part-time person. Total dollars will be less, but the higher full time equivalent (FTE) salary can attract experienced people who are seeking a part-time situation. In many cases a part-time person with experience will be more productive than a full-time novice.

On the other hand, many of the skills that make for a successful director of development are available in people with no development experience: writing, verbal skills, ability to work well with different types of people. All that is really lacking is actual development work experience. Because the development profession offers individuals a solid career track with numerous opportunities for advancement, many very capable people are willing to work for relatively lower salaries. The downside to this approach, of course, is that these people are likely to be successful and will soon be looking for more money.

Another approach that has proven successful is to have the executive director be the manager of the development program. This strategy usually works in small to medium size agencies. This arrangement usually requires other staff to assist with some management responsibilities. Even if the executive director does not have primary responsibility for development, she should be very supportive of the office, offering to regularly assist with personal calls, strategy development, board work, etc.
How do we select fundraising software? 
Overview
Over the past ten years, fundraising database software has gone from being a luxury to almost an everyday necessity for most development programs. However, unlike most other software genres, instead of facing few choices, purchasers are confronted with a multitude of options at every price level from comprehensive proprietary packages with sophisticated add-on modules to introductory-level shareware or freeware programs available on the Internet. And as a result, one of the most common computer-related questions voiced by development officers is, "How do we evaluate and choose a fundraising database program that best meets our needs?"

"We know we need a database for recording, tracking, reporting, managing, and implementing our development program, but where do we begin?" Begin your search with a thorough analysis of your current situation including:
· Program Operations (what are the specific elements in your fundraising program plan?)

· Computer Equipment (how many computers are there in your office? with what chip, speed, RAM, and storage? and if you have a network, how many are on it, and what is your network software?)

· Expense Budget (how much can you spend?)

· Staffing (what is your departmental structure, who and how many currently use your database software and at what level of proficiency?) 


Now, make a determination of where you will be in 3 to 5 years in each of those same areas. These two steps will help clarify the most basic features and performance priorities required of your future software.

What can we expect to pay?
In general, the basic purchase price for fundraising software falls into four price ranges (not including the cost for additional user licenses, data conversion, additional staff training, and annual technical support agreements), as follows:

1. $1,500 and under (including shareware and freeware)
Generally, the products at this level are very simple, basic programs designed for organizations running very modest development programs with limited budgets. In most cases they have very limited constituent management capabilities (coding, indexing, sorting, etc.) and come with pre-configured reports. They are usually designed to export data to a word-processing program (for mail merge) or spreadsheet (for analytical reports).

2. $1,500 to $5,000
These programs are a major step up from the level below, they are fully networkable, and have all the features required for most development operations including extensive coding, tracking, and reporting capabilities. They include a broad array of pre-designed reports as well as report generating capabilities which eliminates the need to export your data to word-processing or spreadsheet programs.

3. $5,000 to $10,000
The programs at this level have all the elements above, but they tend to include a broader array of data recording and data management capabilities as well as more comprehensive recording and tracking for specialized development operations. Most of the programs in this range offer an assortment of equally comprehensive add-on modules (for an additional cost) to address specialized needs like membership, major/capital gift prospects, and special events management, to name a few.

4. $10,000 and up
In general, once you get beyond $10,000 for the base price, you are getting into the area of expensive, customized systems designed for complicated large institutional or organizational settings. These systems are designed to work with large area networks (LANs), wide area networks (WANs), and multiple sites, and are created to manage and manipulate huge amounts of constituents or data. Also, they are most often combined in packages to work with specialized software in other departments or offices like accounting and finance, facility management, and other non-fundraising program operations.

How do we know what computer configuration will best meet our fundraising needs?
Do we go IBM or Apple? Should we be networked? Questions of this nature deserve a more comprehensive response than can be included here, but there are some basic considerations:

As for basic configuration and equipment (mainframes, mini-mainframes, servers, and desktop computers), most development offices use desktop computers in a small network or as stand-alone computers.

For equipment and operating systems, for all intents and purposes, you face one of two choices using IBM compatible or Apple equipment, but you can have both systems working on a network. However, most fundraising software currently on the market is designed for an IBM compatible running Windows 95/98/NT or 2000.

As for new equipment, you will want:

· Pentium III level (or, if Apple, a Power PC) processor with the fastest speed you can afford (but usually no less than 500Mhz)

· largest RAM you can afford (but no less than 64 Megs and preferably 128 Megs or more)

· largest hard disk you can buy (4 to 6 Gbs for a workstation, 10 to 12 Gbs or more for a server).


If you are on a network, you will want a server that has a minimum of 10 Gbs disk space and preferably double (or more) since the program files in modern software "suites" will quickly fill that initial space. You'll still need room to load your existing work files and your new database.

With regard to networks, in general, even the smallest two-person office derives a benefit from being on a network. Printing is easier, editing documents is easier (though you will need to establish file naming procedures), and viewing and sharing data is greatly simplified.

Those are some very basic responses but each office, program, and organization is unique. Given the complexity of this situation, for a more specific recommendation on systems, equipment and configurations, contact a local computer consultant that has experience working with nonprofit organizations.

What are some of the questions I should ask a software sales representative? What things should I look for in the product?
Before looking at software, an organization must first be clear about its overall current and future operations (see #1 above). Having that information in hand, some of the basic questions to ask are:

· How does their software's features meet your specific program management needs?

· How does it conform to your program structure (does it work the way you work?) or does it force you to conform to its structure?

· Does the manufacturer help configure or otherwise set-up the software to reflect how your program operates?

· How does it look on the screen? Do the screens appear overly busy or complex? Is it easy on your eyes? Can you adjust for color, shading, contrast, etc.?

· How many options can you use to tag or otherwise "code" a constituent?

· How are gifts/grants, pledges, and pledge payments recorded?

· How does the software handle importing of new records and/or data elements (e.g., phone numbers or zip+4 codes) from other sources? In what formats?

· How does it handle exporting data? In what formats?

· How are yearly program revenues tracked and reported?

· How are appeals and solicitation programs managed?

· How are grants tracked and reported?

· How does the report generator work?

· How does the mail merge work?

· How do you search the database using multiple criteria?

· How do you index or otherwise segment a group of constituents?

· How are special events managed and reported?

· How long has the company been in business?

· How many installations have they made in similar type/size organizations?

· Do they have any installations locally you can visit?

· What would be the total cost for your installation (adding software purchase price including costs for all necessary user-licenses, data conversion, annual technical support, and initial staff training)?

· What are their options for additional staff training?

· How does their technical support work? What is the average telephone wait time? Can you get help via e-mail or fax? 



How should we handle staff training?
Most sophisticated fundraising database programs will require a fair amount of staff training in order to be used properly and effectively. In most cases, paying for additional (more intensive) staff training either on or off-site is advisable after the initial free training. There is usually a sizable fee attached, but in most cases it is well worth the expense. Why have a high powered program if you're not going to use it effectively?

Identify at least two people in your organization to learn the program. In most organizations, only one staff member is the primary user; however, having a second person who has a basic, even rudimentary, understanding is helpful during vacations periods and other absences.

What about references?
For any product that you find interesting, ask the sales representative for at least three references you can contact by phone. Be sure to ask for clients that are similar to the type and size of your organization and development program. Call all the clients. Your conversation need not be more than a quick five-minute chat but you will get some interesting information. Some sample questions you might ask are:

· What are its strengths?

· What are its weaknesses?

· How long have you had the program?

· Do you like the program?

· Does it do everything you need it to do?

· Did you look at other programs?

· Would you buy it again?

· How was the staff training?

· How did the data conversion go?

· How is the Technical Support? 



Once you think you've made your final selection, make a site visit even if you have to do a bit of traveling to another organization that has the software up and running. Make the visit without the sale representative present. Interview the staff members who are actually doing the data entry, coding, indexing, sorting and queries, mail merges, report generation, etc. Remember, the time and expense you spend on a site visit is nothing compared to what you will spend on a software product in the combined cost of the purchase price, data conversation, staff training, and annual support.

For the short run, should I maintain my old and my new systems?
Absolutely. Plan on a six month trial-and-error period for your new system. Don't expect (or promote the expectation) that you'll be up and running right away. Consider managing duplicate systems for a short period, say 3 to 6 months (Some organizations have run duplicate systems for up to for a year!) In the initial months, plan on your staff needing to call the manufacturer's technical support line everyday (and often several times a day). However, the more you use tech support, the faster you learn the program. Think about conducting several practice runs using the standard features you will use regularly over the course of the year -- managing a mail merge, conducting an event, exporting data, running reports. Invent scenarios and then practice the procedures or steps required to meet the need. It's much easier to learn a program when you're staff is not under pressure to perform.

Is there anything special I need to know about data conversions?
When an organization purchases a new database software, one of the first steps towards using the program is getting your old data into the software. In most cases, the manufacturer will do this for a fee. Be sure to get all the essential information from your software manufacturer before you have them do the conversion (price, turn-around time, ease of input, how much follow-up help you will get, etc.).

It's also worthwhile to ask other users of your new software how they converted their data. You might find other users have contracted with a local computer database consultant who has experience converting data for your new software and who can provide this service at a lower cost than the manufacturer. Finally, ask the manufacturer if they have affiliate relationships with any local computer consultants, as these people can often offer more timely on-site help with conversions as well as other issues.

Fundraising database software needs to be set-up to reflect how we conduct our fundraising program. How does this work?
All fundraising database software needs to be configured to reflect how your organization records and identifies constituents, labels gifts, reports information, and tracks progress, etc. The more comprehensive your program is, the more planning and set-up time you will need.

It is strongly recommended that you spend a healthy amount of time mapping out on paper your entire program before you even look at new software. Map out your individual and/or institutional giving programs from initial planning to year-end annual report. Then find a program that fits your specific need. For most organizations that already use a database, this is not much of an issue; however, it's always worthwhile to revisit your naming conventions to be sure your database reflects any changes in your audience or program operations. However, for organizations that have never used a database before, this step is critical.

You need to ask yourself, who are our major constituencies? There are as many ways to identify records for fundraising as there are nonprofit organizations. However, the basic rule is keep your list of main constituencies as simple as possible. Most organizations should have no more than six or seven main groups. You can have more ways to identify a constituent, but these labels should be located in a separate field in the database. For example:

· If you are a school, your main groups might look like the following: Alumni, Current Parents, Past Parents, Board of Directors, Foundations, Corporations, Government, and Friends. An individual (or institution) in any one of these categories might also have other ways he/she needs to be identified, i.e. as a major gift prospect, a golf-outing participant, a class agent, a hall of fame dinner sponsor, a faculty member, a vendor, a board member prospect, a capital gift prospect, etc. However, all this information will be maintained in another field capable of holding multiple listings for each record. 


The smaller the number of main constituency groups, the easier and faster you can input, organize, segment, track, and report information.

In addition to giving each record a main audience or constituency code, in most cases you will need to assign names or codes for other fields including, among others: prefix, title, suffix, salutation, gift labels, solicitations or appeals, special events, annual unrestricted/restricted funds, endowment/scholarship/capital funds.

What about the idea of creating my own fundraising database in an off-the-shelf database program like Filemaker Pro, Access, Paradox, or Approach, or that of another manufacturer?
The general rule of thumb for creating your own fundraising database is -- don't. Unless you have a full-time MIS department (not just one staff member) who you can rely on for timely assistance, it is probably not a good idea to develop your own system. There are many reasons for this including all the time and salary expense it takes to study your program, map out the database layout, build the required files, create field structures, design the screens, convert and load data, build stock reports, and debug the database. Why go through all this trial-and-error headache (and expense) when there are database products that will give you, in most cases, what you need now as well as provide room for future growth.

Having said this, if you have extremely limited financial resources (and even then, keep in mind there may be an appropriate shareware and freeware product available) or if you are determined to develop your own database, here are some pointers:

· Hire a database consultant who has experience creating fundraising-related databases (and call her/his references).

· Keep the fields simple.

· Be sure there is a seamless interface between the database software and both your word-processor and spreadsheet software.

· Think ease of use. Your staff may not have immediate access to technical support for the software and even then the software manufacturer's tech support people on the other end of the line will not know how your particular database file is set up.

· Think short term. Once you get up and running you will probably want to track and use information in increasingly sophisticated ways. If so, you won't appreciate spending the time and money for your consultant to keep returning to build these features into your system. And, at this stage, you will most likely want to migrate to a package product. Be sure to build in password protection. 



Written by: Duff Batchelder, Management Solutions for Nonprofit Organizations, 4 Wellyn Close, Bronxville, NY 10708, (914)779-4497, Email: duff@millbat.org
Where does Directors & Officers Insurance fit into the overall insurance picture? 
(Reprinted from the Nonprofits' Insurance Alliance of California's booklet on Directors & Officers Insurance)
It was June 1996 and Yourtown Community Center was at its peak. The new programs were in high demand, community donations were up, and it had just completed construction of a new recreation center. The board of directors had no warning of what was coming next. A lawsuit. 
Served in late June, the lawsuit alleged that the executive director was guilty of sexual harassment and discrimination. Damages in excess of $500,000 were alleged. Shaken, the board turned the lawsuit over to its insurance broker for handling by their general liability insurer. The board was informed that there was no coverage for employment-related practices under the general liability policy and that they should look for coverage under their directors and officers insurance. The directors looked at each other with pained expressions. They had decided to save money for the new expansion and agreed not to purchase directors and officers insurance this year. 

 

Although the details vary, that story happens all too frequently. What’s worse, sometimes boards who had the foresight to purchase directors and officers insurance fail to purchase the broad coverages they need. 

Because we have seen too many situations like the one illustrated above, these FAQs are not about helping you to decide whether or not to purchase directors and officers insurance. They are intended to help you understand the need for this type of coverage, help you evaluate your various coverage options and, if possible, help you avoid lawsuits of this nature altogether. Whether you have directors and officers insurance or not, becoming embroiled in a lawsuit can strain your organization and stress your employees. The best course is avoidance whenever possible. 

If you understand the following section, you will have grasped a concept that few understand about why general liability offers little protection for board members. 

General liability insurance 

General liability insurance provides coverage for "negligent" acts. If your organization or its employees or volunteers (including board members) negligently cause someone "bodily injury, personal injury or property damage" general liability insurance provides coverage. In short, if someone is physically injured or his/her reputation is hurt, or another person’s property is damaged because of a mistake by someone at your agency, you usually can rely on general liability insurance for coverage. Example: A client trips and breaks a leg because of a faulty stairway at the nonprofit. 

Directors and officers (D&O) insurance 

Directors and officers (D&O) insurance provides coverage for "intentional" actions taken by a board of directors that someone else thinks are wrong. In our employment-related case, the board affirmatively sets personnel policies which are intentionally carried out by management. These are intentional, willful actions which result in some type of damage other than bodily injury. Example: An employee is terminated and alleges age discrimination. 

However, it is important to understand that, even though directors and officers coverage likely will provide defense against allegations of illegal acts, such as harassment and discrimination, it is not possible to purchase insurance for illegal acts. This means that if an organization and/or individual is found guilty of intentional discrimination or harassment, the insurer which defended the lawsuit will not be able to pay any damages awarded by the court and will likely seek reimbursement for the cost of the defense. 
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Things every director and officer should know -- commonly asked questions 
Officers and directors owe three basic fiduciary duties to a nonprofit organization: the duties of obedience, loyalty and due care. 

  

1. The duty of obedience forbids acts outside the scope of corporate powers. The governing board of the organization must comply with state and federal law, and conform to the organization’s charter, articles of incorporation and bylaws.

2. The duty of loyalty dictates that officers and directors must act in good faith and must not allow their personal interests to prevail over the interests of the organization.

3. The duty of care requires directors and officers to be diligent and prudent in managing the organization’s affairs. The individuals charged with governing must handle the organizational duties with such care as an ordinarily prudent person would use under similar circumstances. 

For many years, directors and officers of nonprofit organizations enjoyed a sense of invulnerability because their services were associated with a nonprofit and not an attractive target for litigation. Nonprofit board members who continue to believe they are invulnerable in the 1990s may be in for an unpleasant surprise.

The duties of corporate governance—obedience, loyalty and care—may seem high-minded and so much legalese. However, the importance of these responsibilities becomes crystal clear when a nonprofit board member is faced with a lawsuit alleging improper fiduciary oversight or improper oversight of employment practices resulting in allegations of sexual harassment or wrongful termination. 

Nearly ninety percent of claims against boards of directors will involve some type of employment dispute. We also have learned that those ten percent of claims not involving employment disputes can be expensive and can happen to the smallest of organizations. 

The claims involving employment disputes may allege wrongful termination, sexual or other harassment, sexual , racial or age discrimination, violation of the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), failure to hire, failure to promote, and just about any other allegation a disgruntled employee can make. The risk of getting such a lawsuit filed against the board of directors does not necessarily expand proportionately to the number of employees in an organization. Very often, the parties at odds in a wrongful termination lawsuit are the executive director and the board of directors. Many of these lawsuits can be avoided, or at least be dismissed in the early stages of the lawsuit, if the nonprofit follows its own personnel policies. But more on that later... 

Other Allegations 

While employment practices disputes generate the most lawsuits against boards of directors, another allegation of concern is breach of fiduciary duty. A lawsuit alleging breach of fiduciary duty could be brought by a donor, a concerned citizen, or the Attorney General. In short, this type of lawsuit alleges that the board of directors is not appropriately using and protecting the assets and resources of the nonprofit organization. 

There are no laws in California that prevent individual nonprofit board members or a nonprofit organization from being sued. There are two state statutes which often are thought to offer protection of this nature, but a quick review of them shows why they offer little protection. 

Corporations Code section 5047.5, a statute within the general provisions of the nonprofit corporate law, protects "uncompensated" directors. However, specifically excluded from the liability protection benefits of this section are: 

  

· actions alleging the director or officer is guilty of self-dealing,

· actions maintained by the Attorney General,

· liabilities arising from intentional, wanton or reckless acts, gross negligence, fraud, oppression or malice on the part of the director or officer, and

· directors who are salaried employees. 

  

In addition, and this is the most important part, before an uncompensated director or officer can claim protection under section 5047.5, the nonprofit corporation must maintain general liability insurance applicable to the claim with a minimum coverage of at least $500,000. As discussed above, a general liability policy almost never will be applicable to a claim against a director or officer. Unless the nonprofit organization recognizes that D&O coverage is the insurance that "applies to the claim," and purchases this coverage, there is no protection under this law. 

Corporations Code section 5239, which pertains specifically to public benefit corporations, has similar problems. Its protections are not available if the director or officer receives any salary, fee or other consideration, other than a per diem or reimbursement for expenses. 

Also, directors and officers must prove to the court that: 

  

· the act or omission was within the scope of the officer’s or director’s duties; 

· the director or officer acted in good faith; and 

· the act or omission was not reckless, wanton, intentional or grossly negligent. 

  

As with section 5047.5, eligibility for protection afforded to volunteer directors and officers through section 5239 is contingent on the act or omission being covered by a policy of insurance. The most common type of liability insurance coverage purchased by nonprofits, a general liability policy, usually will not be applicable to a claim against a director or officer. In which case, this law offers little protection. 

If you think this sounds like a Catch-22, you are right. There are no protections under California law for directors and officers of nonprofit organizations unless they have an insurance policy in place that applies to the claim. So, the catch is, if you have D&O insurance, the law may offer some help. If you don’t have insurance that covers the claim, forget it. You’ll get no help from the law. 

And, if you happen to have D&O insurance that covers the claim, don’t expect the present California law to offer much relief. Typically, the most expensive part of any lawsuit is determining the facts, such as whether the director or officer acted in good faith, and whether the act was simple or gross negligence. Once the point is reached where the court determines that the board member should not be held liable because he or she acted in good faith and that it was simple negligence, not gross negligence, most of the expenses of the lawsuit will already have been incurred. 

Importantly, there is no California law which provides any protection, no matter how minimal, for the nonprofit organization itself. The protections discussed above apply only to individual directors. A lawsuit against a board of directors will typically name the individual directors and the organization as defendants. A D&O policy is the only protection available for the organization. 

Finally, no state law can offer any protection for allegations of breaches of federal laws such as those covering racial, sexual, and age discrimination and discrimination against those with disabilities. As discussed earlier, a D&O policy may provide defense for such allegations until it is determined that the law was intentionally broken. 

The promise by an organization to indemnify its board members is only as good as the amount of unrestricted and available assets of the nonprofit. When a nonprofit agrees to indemnify board members, it agrees that in situations where it is permitted to do so by law, it will pay to defend board members and possibly pay damages. 

It is possible that some coverage for board service may be found under an individual’s homeowner’s policy, but the extent of that coverage depends on the specific wording of that policy. For example, it is not uncommon to find coverage under a homeowner’s policy for accidents which cause "bodily injury" resulting in the course of volunteer activities. However, as discussed in an earlier section, insurance policies which cover "negligent acts" typically do not cover the "intentional actions" of a board of directors. In a manner similar to a general liability policy, a homeowner’s policy may provide coverage for accidents, but as indicated earlier, these types of policies typically provide no protection for the activities involved in the governance of the agency. 

Additionally, even if every board member individually has a homeowner’s policy which provides coverage for his or her decisions as a board member , where is the coverage if the organization is named in the lawsuit? The organization would be required to mount its own defense. 

"What about the Volunteer Protection Act of 1997?" 

Federal legislation, known as the Volunteer Protection Act of 1997, was signed into law by President Clinton on June 19, 1997. This law has many of the same problems as the California laws discussed above. In particular, to receive any protection, the volunteer must prove in a court of law that he or she: 

  

· was acting within the scope of his or her responsibilities, 

· if appropriate or required, was properly licensed or certified, 

· did not cause the harm by willful, criminal, or reckless conduct or gross negligence, and 

· did not cause the harm by operating a motor vehicle, vessel, aircraft, etc. 

  

Also, it provides for states to continue to maintain other criteria they have imposed on volunteers, such as the requirement in California that there is insurance in place that covers the claim. 

This law does nothing to protect nonprofit organizations from being sued for actions of their volunteers. In fact, it makes it crystal clear that nonprofits are to be held responsible for the actions of their volunteers! 

"Wait a minute. My board indemnifies board members in its bylaws. Isn’t that adequate protection?" 

The promise by an organization to indemnify its board members is only as good as the amount of unrestricted and available assets of the nonprofit. When a nonprofit agrees to indemnify board members, it agrees that in situations where it is permitted to do so by law, it will pay to defend board members and possibly pay damages. 

There are two shortcomings here. First, nonprofits may not be permitted to indemnify board members against certain types of actions, such as allegations of self-dealing. For these types of allegations, the nonprofit may be prohibited from using charitable dollars in a board member’s defense, whether or not the accusations are justified. And secondly, few nonprofits have sufficient unrestricted funds to mount an expensive and prolonged defense. 

It is possible that some coverage for board service may be found under an individual’s homeowner’s policy, but the extent of that coverage depends on the specific wording of that policy. For example, it is not uncommon to find coverage under a homeowner’s policy for accidents which cause "bodily injury" resulting in the course of volunteer activities. However, as discussed in an earlier section, insurance policies which cover "negligent acts" typically do not cover the "intentional actions" of a board of directors. In a manner similar to a general liability policy, a homeowner’s policy may provide coverage for accidents, but as indicated earlier, these types of policies typically provide no protection for the activities involved in the governance of the agency. 

Additionally, even if every board member individually has a homeowner’s policy which provides coverage for his or her decisions as a board member, where is the coverage if the organization is named in the lawsuit? The organization would be required to mount its own defense. 
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Case Studies: Could something like this happen in your organization? 
(Reprinted from the Nonprofits' Insurance Alliance of California's booklet on Directors & Officers Insurance) 

While far less common than claims resulting from slip and fall accidents and auto accidents, claims against boards of directors are typically more complex and difficult. They frequently involve a board member or a senior employee who has an emotional stake in the outcome and may be reluctant to be completely candid. Often the facts are not clear cut and are subject to interpretation by the various parties. Getting to the bottom of the issue can be a long, painful and expensive process. In the end, both parties may feel like losers, no matter what the outcome, because of the financial and emotional expense of the process. 
The following case studies are provided to give the reader an idea of the types of lawsuits we have handled for our nonprofit organization members and their boards of directors. The reader should remember that the vast majority of claims of this nature are lodged by disgruntled employees. We have provided a variety of different scenarios below to give a broader perspective on the type of claims to which board members are exposed. 

Double trouble 

When Elisa complained to Joe, the executive director, that her manager, Roger, was sexually harassing her, Joe told her he would look into it; but he was overwhelmed with work and put off any investigation. Elisa complained again, this time in writing. Once again, Joe did not take action. Elisa quit and threatened to sue. Now, faced with a possible lawsuit, Joe investigated the allegations and determined that they were true. He fired Roger. But, that is not the end of the story. 

Elisa sued Joe and the nonprofit organization and its board of directors for allowing sexual harassment in the workplace and failing to investigate in a timely manner. She argued that she was constructively terminated. To add to the misery, Roger also sued for wrongful termination. He alleged that his behavior had been tolerated for many years. and that he was given no warning that his behavior was no longer appropriate. 

Misrepresentation of market forces? 

A small nonprofit housing advocacy group helped a group of twenty low-income families obtain government-subsidized loans to purchase a group of low-income condominiums. Not long after the purchases were completed, the real estate market took a serious downturn. Many of the condos were worth less than the outstanding amount of the loans. Several of the homeowners sued the nonprofit and its board of directors for misrepresentation of the benefits of home ownership and failing to warn them of the possible loss in home value. 

Disability or inconvenience? 

Sarah worked as a counselor at a group home for teens. She took insulin regularly for diabetes, but from time to time fainted while on duty. The nonporfit for which she worked accommodated her schedule so that she could take her insulin shots in a timely manner. 

However, Sarah was also a part-time student and during the second semester of the year her class schedule dramatically changed. She was not able to work the hours previously arranged, and the nonprofit was not able to accommodate her new hours. She was terminated. Sarah sued the nonprofit organization and its board of directors for discrimination under the ADA, alleging that the real reason for her termination was her diabetes 

Legitimate fundraiser or scam? 

The board of directors of the nonprofit was aware that nearly all of the organization’s funds were coming from services provided by a for-profit fundraiser, but they never thought to review the contract with the fundraiser or question the fee being paid to the fundraiser. 

The Attorney General sued the board of directors of the nonprofit, and the nonprofit organization itself, alleging improper fiduciary oversight and misuse of funds. The lawsuit alleged that the for-profit fundraising organization was fraudulently representing that the funds would be used for drug rehabilitation and education when, in fact, 90 percent of the proceeds were going to the for-profit fundraiser. The Attorney General alleged that the board of directors should have been aware of the fraudulent actions of the for-profit fundraiser and should not have permitted the nonprofit organization to take part in the scheme. 
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D & O Coverage Forms: Cutting through the confusion 
(Reprinted from the Nonprofits' Insurance Alliance of California's booklet on Directors & Officers Insurance) 

Unlike general liability insurance, where there is standardized policy language that is amended by specific endorsements, each insurance company writes its own specialized D&O policy. This can make determining what coverage is provided a very difficult process. This is often more complicated for nonprofits because many of the D&O forms are "cut and paste" versions that were initially designed for for-profit organizations. 
There is a wide variety of policies available on the market today. Your insurance broker can help you evaluate which policy form is best for your organization. There are far too many variables to adequately evaluate the many differences FAQs of this nature. However, there are some important distinctions which make the coverage provided by some of these policies far superior to others. A few of the most desirable provisions of coverage for nonprofits include: 

Broad definition of insured 

With a broad definition, the named insured includes "any natural person who was, is or becomes a director, trustee, officer, employee, committee member, or volunteer" as well as the nonprofit organization itself. This is a major departure from for-profit policies which typically cover only the directors and officers. 

To check if a nonprofit policy contains this broader coverage, look at the definition of insured. If the organization is not a named insured, and its only coverage from the policy is for reimbursement of monies paid to indemnify directors and officers for claims made against them, there are serious unaddressed exposures. Nonprofit managers should ask their insurance professionals to advise them of any potential gaps in coverage of this nature. 

Requirement to advance defense costs 

Unfortunately, deciphering the language which states the manner in which the insurer will pay for defense is often quite difficult. It might be reasonable to assume policy language stating that "the Company will pay on behalf of the Organization any Loss..." is a commitment to advancing defense costs. However, later in this policy, "Loss" is defined as "amount paid by the Insured or Organization." This reimbursement language is easily missed, but it can be disastrous to the nonprofit that is required to reach into its own funds to pay the bills. 

Look for the language that requires the insurer to advance the costs of defense. Reimbursement language requires the nonprofit to pay all costs and attorney fees out-of-pocket and wait for repayment by the insurer. Since D&O cases are often expensive and lengthy, reimbursement policies can severely stretch a nonprofit’s resources. 

Broad coverage for employment practices liability 

Employment practices liability coverage is not universally provided in nonprofit D&O policies. In those policies granting coverage, the language is not located in a consistent policy section. In some, it is within the "Exclusions," where employment contracts are exempt from the breach of contract exclusion. In others, coverage may be found in the body of the policy or in the endorsements. 

In addition to contract causes of action, such as wrongful termination, nonprofit D&O policies also should address the exposures for employment-based discrimination and harassment. However, not all D&O policies cover these allegations. Those that do, accomplish this either by covering all employment-related suits or by listing specific exposures. If the policy includes a specific list, the reader must determine if all exposures are included. There should be coverage for cases arising under both state and federal laws; those specific to employment and those, such as the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), applicable in many contexts. 

Of equal importance, and not so easily determined, is an insurer’s interpretation of certain definitions. For example, if the insurer defines sexual harassment as sexual abuse, there may be no coverage under that D&O policy if it contains a sexual abuse exclusion. If there is a question on this matter, a nonprofit manager should ask his or her insurance broker to contact the D&O carrier to determine the insurer’s interpretation of this, and similar terms and issues. 

Most of the lawsuits against directors and officers will involve some form of employment practices liability. Insurers are becoming more keenly aware of this exposure and some have made subtle policy changes which restrict coverage in these areas. The nonprofit manager should request his or her insurance professional to make sure that all of the coverages listed in this section are included in a policy designed to cover the exposures which arise from corporate governance, and should check whether a separate deductible applies to employment-related allegations. 
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Policies and Procedures: How can you minimize the chances of facing an employment-related lawsuit? 
(Reprinted from the Nonprofits' Insurance Alliance of California's booklet on Directors & Officers Insurance) 

Although it may seem ridiculously obvious, "Good management really is good risk management." Organizations that are aware of current employment law and have incorporated it into their personnel policies, and who have board members and managers who are informed, are in the best position to avoid lawsuits, or at least to be in a strongly defensible position if sued. The following are some basic guidelines to help you avoid lawsuits in the employment-related area: 
  

· Keep your employee handbook updated and in compliance with current law 

In our review of hundreds of nonprofits’ employee handbooks we have seen policies incorporated into the handbooks that are patently illegal. For example, policies requiring two years of service before offering pregnancy leave, or those requiring employees to work as volunteers instead of receiving pay for overtime work are simply illegal and will be indefensible in case of a lawsuit. It is important to be aware of changes in the law and to make sure that managers and all staff are made aware of the changes. 

  

· Clearly and promptly document each employment action 

Each time you meet with an employee on a performance matter, make sure that you document it promptly and have the employee sign it to acknowledge that he or she has seen the document. The employee may disagree with your assessment and may indicate so on the document, however, you should attempt to have the employee acknowledge receipt and review of the document. Keep one copy in the personnel file. During meetings with employees on performance matters, it is also a good idea to have two people from the nonprofit, in addition to the employee, present. 

  

· Make "at will" the standard of employment 

California is an "at will" state. If your employee handbook or other document specifies a term of employment or provides that employees will be terminated only "for cause" you have created an additional hurdle for yourself which is not required by law. 

Many nonprofit managers resist imposing the "at will" language because they believe that they must then become less supportive of employees. To the contrary, the "at will" language does not require employers to fire without cause, it simply may make it easier to avoid a lawsuit once it is determined that an employee is not performing adequately and must be terminated. (Imposing the "at will" standard on present employees may require additional considerations and before doing so, you may want to consult an employment professional.) 

  

· Ban the word "permanent" from your employee handbook 

Using the words "permanent employee" in a handbook can be construed as providing all employees lifetime employment. If that is not your plan, get rid of the word "permanent." 

  

· Do not include termination as one of the actions covered by any grievance policy 

To many nonprofits, this recommendation sounds odd. Isn’t that often what the grievance policy is for, as an appeals board in case of termination? If you allow a termination to be brought to the grievance committee, you have effectively destroyed your ability to terminate "at will." With the ability to grieve a termination, you may be setting up your organization to be able to terminate only "for cause." 

Again, this does not mean that your organization should not give ample opportunity to help poorly performing employees improve. It means only that you have reserved the right to determine when termination is appropriate and have not waived that right in favor of some third party’s determination of what is proper "cause." 

  

· Follow your employee handbook to the letter! 

This guideline may be the most important of all. If your policies provide for written notice before termination, if you promise to provide a second chance, if you have agreed to provide a written response in 30 days, etc., make sure you do just that. You may be taking a completely justified personnel action, however, if you do not follow your own policies, this will be used against you in a court of law. 

  

· Conduct candid, thorough annual reviews 

The emphasis on this is "candid." If your managers are unable to be truthful with employees about poor performance and areas which need improvement, you are asking to be placed in a very difficult position if you need to terminate an employee whose performance is unacceptable. If an employee alleges discrimination or harassment when he or she is terminated following a consistent record of acceptable performance reviews, the allegation simply looks much more substantial. Be honest–not overly generous. 

  

· Make a prompt, thorough investigation of allegations of harassment or discrimination 

Nonprofit managers are being asked to do more with less and there is never enough time to accomplish it all. However, if you do not take allegations of harassment and discrimination seriously and conduct prompt, thorough investigations, you put your organization and its mission to the community at risk. Instances of harassment and discrimination are taken seriously by the courts and allegations of such should be taken seriously by nonprofits. 

  

· Seek legal advice before taking an employment action 

Even though California is an "at-will" state and termination technically can occur without "cause," courts frequently expect some showing of cause for the termination. Consequently, it is advisable to obtain legal counsel prior to taking any personnel action of this nature. 

We understand that with limited discretionary funds, obtaining legal consultation before taking an employment action such as a layoff, termination or demotion, may be a stretch for a nonprofit’s budget. Nonprofits’ Insurance Alliance of California feels so strongly about the value of such consultation that it arranges to pay for legal advice for its member-insureds who purchase D&O insurance if it is determined that such advice could potentially avoid a lawsuit. (For more information about this service call NIAC’s D&O underwriter at 1-800-359-6422.) 
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What board practices are particularly important to guard against lawsuits? 
(Reprinted from the Nonprofits' Insurance Alliance of California's booklet on Directors & Officers Insurance) 

A board of directors should follow several practices to guard itself against the threat of lawsuits. While even the best practices are no guarantee that the board will not be sued, good board practices can be a wonderful defense in the case of unjustified allegations. 
  

· Informed and regular review of financial statements 

Board members should understand the sources of income for the nonprofit and know where those resources are being expended. If a professional fundraiser is used, the board should determine that the fee charged by the fundraiser is comparable to that charged for similar services by other companies. 

At least once each year, the audit committee of the board should meet with the auditor without management present. 

  

· Regular attendance at board meetings 

As a board member, ignorance of a problem in the agency is not a good defense. Board members must make informed decisions about the governance of the organization by thorough review of board packets and regular attendance and participation at meetings. It is important for board members to vote against proposals for which they are not in favor. Silence may well be interpreted as agreement by a court of law. 

  

· Have a clear understanding of the board’s role in personnel situations 

The Executive Director should have the authority to hire and fire staff below the Executive Director level. If the role between the board of directors and the Executive Director is not clear, the board may find itself embroiled in a situation which would have been better resolved at the staff level. 

  

· Avoid conflicts of interest 

Board members who receive any compensation from the organization must fully disclose the nature of services provided and the amount of the compensation received. The board of directors must make a determination, independent of the compensated director, that the arrangement is in the best interests of the nonprofit and that a more favorable arrangement for the nonprofit could not be obtained elsewhere. There are specific guidelines about how these matters must be handled to avoid the possibility of sanctions. A nonprofit which is uncertain about how this may affect its agency should consult its attorney. 

While nonprofits should never make a loan to a director, it is also unwise for the director to make a loan to a nonprofit. A board member with a loan to a nonprofit is in a situation of potential conflict; is he or she acting in the best interests of the nonprofit or in a manner most likely to get the loan repaid? 

Boards with a director who provides insurance or real estate broker services to a nonprofit must be especially careful. While it may appear that that individual is providing the best possible service through a reduced commission or a donation to the agency, the nonprofit periodically should confirm that the services it is receiving are satisfactory and that the broker is not unfairly benefiting from his or her relationship with the nonprofit. 
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Prevention and protection are the keys 
(Reprinted from the Nonprofits' Insurance Alliance of California's booklet on Directors & Officers Insurance) 

The majority of boards of directors of 501(c)(3) nonprofit organizations will never have to face a lawsuit against them. But those who are so confident that they need not have insurance protection for their boards are playing Russian Roulette. The chances of being sued may be modest, but the consequences of an uninsured lawsuit, no matter how unjustified the allegations, can be devastating. 
The steep increase in the number of employment-related lawsuits is the primary reason that nonprofit board members are at risk. Employees of nonprofits may be more long-suffering and willing to endure more job insecurity and accept fewer "perks" than their counterparts in the for-profit world. In this regard, they are probably less likely to sue the nonprofit for whom they have worked hard and in whose mission they believe. However, employees who feel they have been mistreated by the nonprofit or who disagree with policy decisions made by management or the board may retaliate with emotion and conviction. If these disputes result in lawsuits, the process can be expensive and difficult for both sides. 

Employee handbooks in compliance with law, strict adherence to personnel policies, and generally good communication with employees can go far to mitigate potential problems. Boards of directors need to adopt and stand behind clear anti-discrimination and anti-harassment policies and make sure that management promptly and honestly investigates and thoroughly documents allegations of this nature and takes appropriate action. Not all lawsuits can be avoided, but having proper procedures in place and following them can go far toward providing a strong defense. 

Not all D&O insurance policies provide the same protection. A buyer should take care, in particular, to make sure that the policy includes a broad definition of who is an insured, provides for costs to be paid by the insurer as they are incurred, and includes broad coverage for employment-related activities. 

Managing a nonprofit organization was never an easy task, and it is getting more complicated each day. Those who volunteer for board membership and those who serve in management positions already give generously of their time and their talents. They should not be asked to put their personal assets at risk each time they make a governance decision. 
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STRATEGIC PLANNING

WHY PLAN? 
	In professions like accounting and law, the language is fairly well-defined. Every accountant knows what a debit is. Every lawyer knows what a tort is. There is no such agreement on the definitions of planning words used by planners: goals and objectives are used conversely by nonprofit organizations and the for-profit business sector; within the nonprofit sector mission sometimes gets used to describe the ultimate result an organization is trying to achieve, while other times the word describes an organization’s primary business(es) or activities. 

Is there a difference between mission and purpose? Why distinguish between external and internal vision? What is a strategy? What distinguishes goals from objectives and programs from activities? 
A successful strategic planning process supports an organization involving its stakeholders -- paid and volunteer staff, board, clients, funders, and the community -- in reaching consensus about what end results they are trying to achieve (external vision, purpose, goals, and objectives), and the means to accomplish those results (internal vision, business(es), programs, and activities).
An organization’s strategic plan is not an end in itself, but rather a means of achieving its purpose. Tom Peters (In Search of Excellence), John Carver (Boards That Make a Difference), and many others have emphasized the need for the people implementing a strategic plan to have enough flexibility and authority to be creative and responsive to new developments -- without having to reconstruct an entire strategic plan. This flexibility is required most in adjusting means. In other words, the purpose of an organization and the priority goals are much less likely to change than are the programs and activities necessary to achieve them.
For example, an organization decides it wants to achieve a particular goal and decides to set up a program to achieve that goal. If another organization has decided simultaneously to set up a similar program, the first organization may collaborate with the second organization or in some other way adjust its program plan without changing its original goal.
Peters calls this being "tight on ends," that is, building strong commitment to the purpose and goals of an organization, while allowing the people in the organization to creatively adapt their methods to best achieve the goals, or staying "loose on means."
The planning process presented in Strategic Planning for Nonprofit Organizations: A Practical Guide and Workbook is built on the important relationship between "ends" and "means". Because different individuals use different terminology, the following exhibits define the language to help make the thinking behind this process clear and useful.


	The Language of Planning in the Nonprofit Sector -- 
Focusing on Ends and Means
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	Definitions


	Means
	Ends

	Internal Vision 

A description of the organization operating at its most effective and efficient level
Business
The primary method(s) used by the organization to achieve its purpose
Programs and Internal Management
A description of services and products that an organization offers, and the internal operations that support the delivery of services or products
Activities
The specific actions required to produce services and products
Core Strategies
Broad, overall priorities or directions adopted by an organization 
	External Vision 

A statement that describes how the world would be improved, changed, or different, if an organization is successful in achieving its purpose
Purpose
The ultimate result an organization is trying to achieve (Answers the question "Why does the organization exist?")
Goals
Outcome statements that define what an organization is trying to accomplish both programmatically and organizationally
Objectives
Precise, measurable, time-phased results that support the achievement of a goal


	Mission Statement
A succinct statement that articulates the organization’s purpose, business, values, and beliefs
Values and Beliefs
The basic, guiding principles that provide guidance and inspiration to the board and staff
 

Remember, when implementing your strategic plan you should be "tight on ends and loose on means!"


What is strategic planning? 
	Simply stated, strategic planning is a management tool, and like any management tool, it is used for one purpose only—to help an organization do a better job. Strategic planning can help an organization to focus its vision and priorities in response to a changing environment and to ensure that members of the organization are working toward the same goals. 

In short,
Strategic planning is a systematic process through which an organization agrees on—and builds commitment among key stakeholders to—priorities which are essential to its mission and responsive to the operating environment.
The particular use for strategic planning is to sharpen organizational focus, so that all organizational resources are optimally utilized in service of the organization’s mission.
Several key concepts in this definition reinforce the meaning and success of strategic planning:
• The process is strategic because it involves choosing how best to respond to the circumstances of a dynamic and sometimes hostile environment. All living plants respond to the environment, but as far as we know they do not choose how to respond. Nonprofit organizations have many choices in the face of changing client or customer needs, funding availability, competition, and other factors. Being strategic requires recognizing these choices and committing to one set of responses instead of another.
• Strategic planning is systematic in that it calls for following a process that is both focused and productive. The process raises a sequence of questions which helps planners examine past experiences, test old assumptions, gather and incorporate new information about the present, and anticipate the environment in which the organization will be working in the future. The process also guides planners in continually looking at how the component programs and strategies fit with the vision, and vice versa.
• Strategic planning involves choosing specific priorities—making decisions about ends and means, in both the long term and the short term. Consensus on priorities must be reached at many levels, from the philosophical to the operational. While a strategic plan will stop short of the level of detail in an annual operating plan, it cannot be called a plan if it does not articulate the major goals and the priority methods the organization selects. Long-term goals have implications for short-term action: the two must be congruent with one another for the plan to be valid and useful.
• Finally, the process is about building commitment. Systematically engaging key stakeholders, including clients and the community, in the process of identifying priorities allows disagreements to be engaged constructively and supports better communication and coordination. The process allows a broad consensus to be built, resulting in enhanced accountability throughout the organization. This commitment ensures that a strategic plan will actively be used for guidance and inspiration, instead of serving as a dust cover for a remote corner shelf.
The strategic planning process can be complex, challenging, and cumbersome at times, but it is always informed by the basic ideas outlined above and one can always return to these basics to make sure one’s own strategic planning process is on the right track.


Any Tips To Help Ensure A Successful Planning Process? 
	• Tip #1. Focus on the most important questions during your strategic planning process. This will help you get the most value out of your effort. There are only a few critical questions which the plan needs to answer. (If you don’t have any important choices to make about your organization’s future, you don’t need a strategic plan.) While many questions will be interesting, you won’t have time, energy, or resources to do it all. Make sure that all of your planning work is related to developing strategic responses to these few critical questions. 

• Tip #2. Produce a document! A useful strategic plan can be a few pages long. It can be written at the end of a one-day board and staff retreat. It doesn’t have to be polished, it doesn’t have to be pretty, but a document is a symbol of accomplishment and a guide for action. It is much better to complete only an outline of a strategic plan with a summary of long-term and short-term priorities than to let someone with writer’s block, intent on a beautiful and complete document, prevent you and your organization from getting your plan done.
• Tip #3.  The length of time needed to complete a strategic plan will vary depending on the amount of time you have available, the complexity of the issues, and the extend of information that needs to be gathered from stakeholders in order to make informed choices about future allocation of resources. You don't need to spend 6 - 12 months doing planning in order to do some sound planning. 


What If I Have Only One or Two Days To Do Strategic Planning? 
	

	An organization can effectively do strategic planning using an abbreviated, moderate, or extensive planning process. It is important to choose the right level of intensity for the planning questions facing your organization. 

There is no wisdom in choosing the path of an extensive process when the organization only requires a low or moderate process. At best, an organization will spend more resources than it needs to in developing a plan. More likely, the process will stall in the middle and leave a number of people feeling frustrated and defeated, rather than inspired and energized; sometimes that is worse than no planning process at all.
There are always trade-offs to be made in selecting a planning process. Even in a six- to twelve-month process, hard choices have to be made concerning which issues to explore and which to leave alone. Don't be afraid to adjust the process as you go along if you find that a more, or less, intensive process will serve the organization better right now.


Levels of Strategic Planning
What Does a "Strategy" Look Like? 
	The level of our planning effort is likely to be:
	  

 

Abbreviated
	  

 

Moderate
	  

 

Extensive

	Time available: 
	One or two days 
	One to three months 
	Six months or more 

	Personnel Involved: 
	· If smaller organization, usually entire board and staff 

· If larger organization, usually entire board and staff representatives (usually only internal stakeholders) 
	If smaller organization, usually entire board and staff 

If larger organization, usually entire board and staff representatives
Some external stakeholders provide input (such as clients or funders) 
	Large number, including extensive input from all major internal and external stakeholder groups 

	Depth of analysis/new information to be gathered: 
	Little or none or assumes have information needed 
	Some 
	A lot: at a minimum includes data from stakeholders and objective data about operating environment 

	Primary outcomes sought from strategic planning process: 
	· Consensus among board and staff on mission, core future strategies, list of long-term and short-term program, and management/operations priorities 

· Guidance to staff on developing detailed annual operating plans 
	Consensus among board and staff on mission, core future strategies, list of long-term and short-term programs, and management/operations priorities 

Articulation of program and management/operations goals and objectives
Greater understanding of the organization’s operating environment (strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats)
Some discussion of strategic choices
Guidance to staff on developing detailed annual operating plans 
	Consensus among board and staff on mission, core future strategies, list of long-term and short-term program, and management/operations priorities 

Articulation of program and management/operations goals and objectives
Greater understanding of the organization’s operating environment (strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats)
In-depth discussion of strategic choices
Guidance to staff on developing detailed annual operating plans </TABLE< font> 



What Does a "Strategy" Look Like? 



	Strategies are broad, overall priorities or directions adopted by an organization: strategies are choices about how best to accomplish an organization’s mission. A few brief examples illustrate the point. 


• The San Jose Museum of Modern Art is a relatively new institution. They chose an innovative acquisition strategy in pursuit of their mission to increase opportunities to experience world class art for their community: they chose to rent a collection, rather than buy one. Rather than slowly accumulate a collection, the traditional strategy for art museums, San Jose negotiated with the Museum of Modern Art in New York (which is only able to display some 10 percent of its collection at any one time) to borrow a museum full of art on a rotating basis, drawing on the best collection in the world.
• The mission of the NAMES Project Foundation, sponsor of the AIDS Memorial Quilt, is to help bring an end to the AIDS epidemic. In addition to memorializing the victims of AIDS and drawing public attention to the AIDS epidemic, the Quilt displays are designed to carry prevention messages as well. Early on, the NAMES Project organized public displays of the Quilt all over the country. In the past few years however, the organization was able to adapt its delivery strategy in order to reach more people. Rather than producing all community displays each year through its own network, the organization now also recruits collaborative hosts in high schools, corporations, communities of faith, and elsewhere which allow NAMES to display the Quilt in three to four times as many locations each year.
• One local Humane Society provided a wide range of services, including shelter and new homes for stray pets, a spay and neuter clinic, and euthenasia for unwanted animals. After many years spent caring for neglected animals, the society shifted its strategy toward prevention. To implement the strategy all programs were instructed to develop and implement an education component to their service, and the staff increased their efforts to pass legislation designed to prevent unwanted pets and animal abuse.
In each case, the organization has made a clear choice among competing options about how best to pursue its mission. It is easy to see how each of these core strategies might be translated into specific goals and objectives over a period of several years. What is not easy to see is how much effort, experimentation, and discussion were required to find these successful strategies. The strategic planning process helps organizations identify various strategic options and to make intelligent choices in developing strategic directions and plans.
What is the Difference Between Strategic Planning and Operational Planning? 
	Strategic planning and operational planning involve two different types of thinking. Strategic decisions are fundamental, directional, and future-oriented. Operational decisions, on the other hand, primarily affect the day-to-day implementation of strategic decisions. While strategic decisions always have long-term implications, operational decisions tend to have shorter-term implications. 
Clearly, these two levels of planning overlap. For convenience, this overlap is discussed in terms of the planning horizon, the period of time covered by the decisions made. Strategic plans outline priorities to be achieved over the next several years, operational plans outline the actions to be taken in the next year which will lead to those strategic priorities. Both are important and need to be done well, however it is important not to confuse the two.
 Strategic Decisions Versus Operational Decisions


Strategic Decisions Operational Decisions
Fundamental, directional Implementation-oriented
Long-term planning horizon Short-term planning horizon (less than 1 year)
Future-focused Functional and current-focused
Is There A Difference Between Strategic Planning and Long-Range Planning? 
	Although many use these terms interchangeably, strategic planning and long-range planning differ in their emphasis on the assumed environment. Long-range planning is generally considered to assume that current knowledge about future conditions is sufficiently reliable to ensure the plan’s reliability over the duration of its implementation. In the 1950s and 1960s, for example, the U.S. economy was relatively stable and somewhat predictable, therefore long-range planning was both fashionable and useful. It was not uncommon for U.S. corporations to have large planning staffs developing long-range plans with highly detailed goals, strategies, and operational objectives identified over a twenty-year time period or even longer. 

Strategic planning, however, assumes that an organization must be responsive to an environment which is dynamic and hard to predict. Strategic planning stresses the importance of making decisions which position an organization to successfully respond to changes in the environment. The emphasis is on overall direction rather than predicting specific, year-by-year, concrete objectives. The focus of strategic planning is on strategic management, that is, the application of strategic thinking to the job of leading an organization to achieving its purpose. As a result, while some organizations may develop visions which stretch many years into the future, most strategic plans discuss priority goals no farther than five years out, with operational objectives identified for only the first year. 
Exhibit 1-2  Long-Range Planning Versus Strategic Planning


	Long-Range Planning
	 
	Strategic Planning

	· Views future as predictable
  Views planning as a periodic process
  Assumes current trends will continue 

· Assumes a most likely future and emphasizes working backward to map out a year-by-year sequence of events necessary to achieve it 

· Asks "What business are we in?" 
	 
	· Views future as unpredictable
  Views planning as a continuous process
  Expects new trends, changes, and surprises
  Considers a range of possible futures and emphasizes the development of strategies based on a current assessment of the organization’s environment 

  Asks "What business should we be in? Are we doing the right thing?" 


 

(Adapted from Florence Green. Strategic Planning: Blueprints for Success, California Association of Nonprofits, February 1994.) 

How Is Strategic Planning in Nonprofit Organizations Different from Planning in Business or Government? 
	Strategic planning is interdisciplinary and incorporates concepts from military strategy, history, business practices, and organizational theory. It came to prominence as a distinct discipline in the 1950s and 1960s because of its popularity among many corporations’ headquartered in the United States. Still, the essential concepts are applicable to any organizational setting. 

What is similar about strategic planning in nonprofits, business, and government is the essence of strategic planning—in an organizational setting a group of people decide what to accomplish, and how to go about it in response to a dynamic operating environment. What is different is the nature of the internal and external forces which bear on the essential task.
The governance of organizations in the three sectors is quite different and has significant implications for strategic planning. Both nonprofits and businesses are governed by a board of directors, whereas government organizations are governed by a wide variety of publicly elected bodies. The boards of businesses represent, or are, the literal owners of the business. Nonprofit boards represent the public interest. Every citizen benefits from the work of nonprofit organizations every day. Both in the United States and abroad, our water and air are cleaner, civil rights have been advanced on many fronts, culture continues to be renewed and celebrated, people are cared for, and the policies and practices of both government and business have been greatly influenced—all though the work of nonprofit organizations.
Businesses especially in the past twenty years have emphasized customer satisfaction to a greater degree than either nonprofits or government. Business has invested heavily in market research and in attempts to improve quality as they compete for customer business. Because the direct consumers of the products and services of nonprofits and government typically pay only a small portion of the cost, the funders, whether foundations or taxpayers, have had a much greater influence than customer satisfaction on the strategies of organizations in these two nonbusiness sectors. This is beginning to change; witness the popularity of the Reinventing Government, a book which emphasizes increased responsiveness of the government to the public and increased focus on accountability in the nonprofit sector.
Finally, values and an orientation to a mission have typically been the hallmark of nonprofits and less influential in business and government. This also is changing. In the past decade, much of the business sector literature, starting with In Search of Excellence, has emphasized the importance of values and mission statements in well-run companies. Similarly, it is not uncommon now to find government offices with mission statements which articulate the unique contribution the office aspires to make to the public welfare.


Who Owns the Nonprofit Organization: Who Should Be Included in a Strategic Planning Process? 
	Nonprofit organizations are not "owned" as are private corporations, nor are they subject to the electoral process as are government organizations. Nonetheless, nonprofit organizations are accountable to many parties for their work, in addition to their clients*. Individuals and groups of people to whom nonprofit organizations are accountable include funders, clients, the public, other organizations, regulators. These stakeholders are commonly referred to as external stakeholders. Board members, staff, and volunteers are commonly referred to as external stakeholders. One should consider including both internal and external stakeholders in a strategic planning process, since all have a stake in the success of the organization's mission. * Note: The beneficiaries or consumers of the goods and services nonprofit organizations produced are called by many names: legal service and human service organizations serve "clients," health care organizations serve "patients," arts organizations serve "patrons," advocacy organizations serve "constituents," other organizations serve customers, members, and so on. 


Can't We Do Without A Strategic Plan? Why Have An Inclusive Strategic Planning Process? 
	In the book, Strategic Planning for Nonprofit Organizations: A Practical Guide and Workbook, authors Allison and Kaye articulate the following assumptions and planning values: 

1. An organization’s chances for success are greater if the leader of the organization has a strategic plan (written or not). Although it is possible to be very successful and do much good without a strategic plan by being opportunistic and reactive, over the long haul, being intentional and strategic about the work of the organization will accomplish more than being only reactive and opportunistic.
2. An organization’s chances for success are greater if the leaders of an organization commit to building a vision of success which is shared among board, staff, and volunteers. While a brilliant entrepreneurial leader may be able to direct the workforce of an organization without a shared understanding of the vision, an organization whose members share a deep commitment to a vision of success will accomplish even greater things.
3. An inclusive strategic planning process is an excellent way to develop a strategic plan and to build broad-based commitment to a shared vision. Again, it is possible for one person, or a small group of people, to develop a plan and to sell the plan to all the people required to implement the plan. In the long run, an organization which includes many of its stakeholders in developing and renewing its strategic plans will come closest to achieving its true potential in pursuit of its chosen mission. 


How Much Time and Money Does It Take to Do Strategic Planning? 
	It depends! A useful strategic plan can be sketched out in a few hours for no cost, done at a one- or two-day retreat for several hundred or a few thousand dollars, or take over a year and cost up to $100,000. 

What does it depend on? There are many factors which influence the cost
and time frame for any given organization. Taken together, these factors can be weighed and balanced to assist in developing an appropriate planning process.
It sounds obvious, but the first factors are the amounts of time and money available to do planning. It pays to be realistic. There are usually relatively narrow ranges for both available money and time commitment. These ranges need to be respected and used as meaningful constraints. If a board and staff are heavily involved in a labor-intensive project or other immediate issues, they will not have the time or the energy to devote to an intensive planning process. And, while strategic planning is often supported through technical assistance grants, it is more appropriate for some organizations than others to invest a lot of money in strategic planning. One fifty-year-old organization with a multi-million dollar budget had not deeply examined its mission and program mix in decades. It received a $100,000 grant to support a two-year planning process which also covered the cost of staff time devoted to the planning process. A young organization may not be comfortable spending even $3,000 for a planning process when its entire operating budget is less than $100,000.
The experience level of the leaders of the planning process is another critical factor. It generally takes more time and requires more outside assistance if the organization’s leaders have little experience with strategic planning. On the other hand, if an organization has a well-developed annual program and budget planning routine, much of the information needed for strategic planning may be readily available, thus shrinking both the time and cost of a strategic planning effort.
Other factors that will have an impact on the amount of time needed to do strategic planning include:
• The degree of commitment to the current mission statement. Is there a fundamental agreement as to the purpose, mission, and guiding principles which guide the organization? Is there a shared vision of the impact the organization wants to have in the world, and what the organization would need to do to accomplish that result? If so, the mission statement may only need polishing; if not, a full day or more may need to be devoted to this task.
• The amount of new information. The amount of new information that needs to be gathered in order to make informed decisions. How well do planners currently understand the strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats facing the organization? How current is feedback on the organization’s programs and services from outside stakeholders: clients, funders, community leaders, etc.? What information is needed to assess the competitive environment and the effectiveness of current programs?
• The level of agreement on priorities. How much agreement or disagreement currently exists regarding allocation of resources? Is there agreement over which clients to serve and what services are most important? Or are there power struggles going on over competing internal resource needs for program services, facilities, development, staff, etc.?
• The level of trust. The level of trust among and between staff and board. The level of trust among all the key stakeholders involved in the planning process can significantly hinder, or greatly support, the discussion of differences and the management of conflict.
• Involvement of key stakeholders. How much time and energy needs to be spent involving key stakeholders in the planning process in order to get both their input and their support for decisions made during the planning process?
• The size of the organization. Is there only one service provided, or does the organization provide a variety of services that need to be assessed? Does the organization have one department, or are there many departments that need to be involved in the planning process. 


What Does A Typical Strategic Planning Process Look Like? 
	The fundamental phases of the strategic planning process are usually presented as a logical series of phases and related steps that allows for flexibility and creativity. These recommended phases are not the only "recipe" for cooking up a strategic plan—other sources might recommend different steps or variations on these phases—but the Strategic Planning Process described below outlines the essential ingredients to the planning process and the usual results. 
 


 

The Strategic Planning Process
	Phase
	Steps
	Outcomes

	1
	· Identify reasons for planning 
· Check readiness to plan 
· Choose planning participants 
· Summarize organization history and profile 
· Identify information needed for strategic planning 
· Write a "plan for planning" 
	Agreement on Organizational readiness to plan and a strategic planning workplan

	2
	· Write (or revisit) your mission statement 
· Draft a vision statement 
	Draft mission statement and draft vision statement

	3
	· Update information needed for planning 
· Articulate previous and current strategies 
· Gather input from internal stakeholders 
· Gather input from external stakeholders 
· Gather information about program effectiveness 
· Identify additional strategic issues or questions 
	A list of critical issues which demand a response from the organization and a database of concrete information that will support planners in choosing priorities and strategies

	4
	· Analyze interplay of strength, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats 
· Analyze competitive strengths of programs 
· Choose criteria for use in setting priorities 
· Select future core strategies 
· Summarize the scope and scale of programs 
· Write goals and objectives 
· Develop long-range financial projections 
	Agreement on future core priorities, long-range goals, and specific objectives

	5
	· Write the strategic plan 
· Present draft of plan for review 
· Adopt the strategic plan 
	A strategic plan

	6
	· Develop annual operating plan(s) 
· Develop annual operating budget 
	A detailed annual operating plan(s) and budget

	7
	· Evaluate the strategic planning process 
· Monitor and update the strategic plan 
	An evaluation of the strategic planning process and an ongoing assessment of the strategic and operational plans.


	Phase 1: Getting Ready
To get ready for strategic planning, an organization must first assess if it’s ready. While a number of issues must be addressed in assessing readiness, that determination essentially comes down to whether an organization’s leaders are truly committed to the effort, and whether they are able to devote the necessary attention to the "big picture" at the time. For example, if a funding crisis looms, or if the founder is about to depart, or if the environment is so turbulent that everyone is putting out fires, then it doesn’t make sense to take time out for this effort at this time.
An organization that determines it is indeed ready to begin strategic planning must then do five things to pave the way for an organized process:
• Identify specific issues or choices that the planning process should address
• Clarify roles (who does what in the process)
• Create a Planning Committee
• Develop an organizational profile
• Identify the information that must be collected to help make sound decisions
The product developed at the end of Phase 1 is a Strategic Planning Workplan (Plan for Planning).


Phase 2: Articulating Mission and Vision
A mission statement is like an introductory paragraph: it lets the reader know where the writer is going, and it also shows that the writer knows where he or she is going. Likewise, a mission statement must communicate the essence of an organization to the reader—and an organization’s ability to articulate this indicates its focus and purpose. A mission statement typically describes an organization in these terms:
• Purpose. why the organization exists and what it seeks to accomplish
• Business. the main method or activity through which the organization works to fulfill this purpose
• Values. the principles or beliefs which guide an organization’s members as they pursue the organization’s purpose
Whereas the mission statement summarizes the what, how, and why of an organization’s work, a vision statement presents an image in words of what success will look like.
"A vision is a mental model of a future state...built upon plausible speculations...reasonable assumptions about the future...influenced by our own judgments about what is possible and worthwhile....A vision is a mental model that people and organizations can bring into being through their commitment and actions."2
With mission and vision statements in hand, an organization knows what it is doing, why it is doing it, and what it hopes to achieve. The next phases of the process discuss how to get the job done.
The product developed at the end of Phase 2 is a draft mission statement and a draft vision statement.
Phase 3: Assessing the Environment
Once an organization has established some clarity on why it exists, what it does, and what it hopes to achieve, it must take a clear-eyed look at its current situation. This step requires gathering up-to-date information about the organization’s internal strengths and weaknesses, and its external opportunities and threats—assessments that will refine and possibly reshape the list of critical questions that the organization faces and that its strategic plan must address. These could include a variety of primary concerns, such as funding, new program opportunities, changing regulations or changing needs in the client population, and so on; the point is to choose the most important issues to address. Typically a Planning Committee will agree on no more than five to seven critical questions or issues around which to organize the strategic plan.
The products of Phase 3 are an understanding of the critical issues which demand a response from the organization—the most important issues the organization needs to deal with—and a database of concrete information that will support planners in choosing priorities and strategies.
Phase 4: Agreeing on Priorities
Once an organization’s mission has been affirmed and its critical issues identified, it is time to figure out what to do about them: the broad approaches to be taken (strategies) and the general and specific results to be sought (the long-term and short-term goals and objectives). Strategies, goals, and objectives may emerge from individual inspiration, group discussion, or formal decision-making techniques, but the bottom line is that in the end the leadership agrees on its top priorities.
This phase can take considerable time. Discussions at this stage may require additional information or a re-evaluation of conclusions reached during the environmental assessment. It is even possible that new insights will emerge which change the thrust of the mission statement. It is important that planners do not fear going back to an earlier phase in the process in order to take advantage of available information to create the best possible plan.
The product of Phase 4 is an outline of the organization’s priorities: the general strategies, long-range goals, and specific objectives of its response to critical issues.
Phase 5: Writing the Strategic Plan
The mission has been articulated, the critical issues identified, and the strategies and goals agreed upon. This step essentially involves putting the pieces together into one coherent document. Usually one member of the Planning Committee, the Executive Director, or even a planning consultant, will draft a final plan document and then submit it for review by all key decision makers (usually the board and management staff). The reviewers should make sure that the plan answers the key questions about priorities and directions in sufficient detail to serve as a guide for the organization’s members. Revisions should not be dragged out for months, but action should be taken to answer any important questions raised at this juncture. The end result will be a concise description of where the organization is going, how it should get there, and why it needs to go that way—ideas that are widely supported by the organization’s staff and board.
The product of Phase 5 is your strategic plan!
Phase 6: Implementing the Strategic Plan
All of the work described above is for naught if it doesn’t align the day-to-day work with the strategic priorities so carefully chosen. The interface between the strategic directional thinking embodied in the strategic plan and day-to-day work is a concise and easy-to-use operating plan. It should coincide with the organization’s fiscal year and accommodate the need for other, more detailed program-level planning related to funding cycles or other reporting cycles.
The nature of a particular organization’s operating plan will be influenced by its strategic priorities, its organizational structure, and its previous planning process. The essence of the operating plan, though, remains the same: a document which defines the short-term, concrete objectives leading to achievement of strategic goals and objectives, and which is easy to use and monitor. Ironically, the level of detail is not the deciding factor in how useful the operating plan is; the most important factors are the clarity of guidelines for implementation and the precision of results to be monitored. The operating plan should be closely tied to the operating budget.
The products of Phase 6 are a detailed annual operating plan and budget.
Phase 7: Monitoring and Evaluating
The strategic planning process is never really finished. There are cycles, and periods of more and less intense activity, but the process of being responsive to a changing environment is ongoing. Each organization needs to choose the appropriate length of time for planning and re-evaluating. Many nonprofits use a three-year planning cycle. The first strategic plan is completed with a three year time horizon and a one year annual operating plan. At the end of years one and two, progress toward the priorities of the strategic plan are assessed and adjusted as necessary, and a new annual operating plan is developed. During year three a renewed strategic planning process is undertaken. Depending on the extent of change in the organization’s internal and external environment, the strategic planning workplan is more or less intensive. By the end of year three a new three-year plan, as well as a new annual operating plan of course, is approved and the cycle begins again.
What is important is that the planning process is ongoing and remains responsive to the changing environment. The documents are less important than the quality of the thinking and the degree of commitment to the core strategies and priorities of the organization.
If the core strategies and priorities agreed to for the future remain valid, which is not uncommon, the time frame outlined briefly above works well. On the other hand, if the environment changes in ways that are fundamentally different from the assumptions underlying the strategic plan, then it is necessary to regroup and re-strategize earlier.
The product of Phase 7 is a current (quarterly or annual) assessment of the ongoing validity of the decisions made during the strategic planning process.
What Is The Difference Between A Mission And A Purpose? Does It Matter What Words We Use In Defining Certain Planning Concepts? 
	In professions like accounting and law, the language is fairly well-defined. Every accountant knows what a debit is. Every lawyer knows what a tort is. There is no such agreement on the definitions of planning words used by planners: goals and objectives are used conversely by nonprofit organizations and the for-profit business sector; within the nonprofit sector mission sometimes gets used to describe the ultimate result an organization is trying to achieve, while other times the word describes an organization’s primary business(es) or activities. 

Is there a difference between mission and purpose? Why distinguish between external and internal vision? What is a strategy? What distinguishes goals from objectives and programs from activities? 
A successful strategic planning process supports an organization involving its stakeholders -- paid and volunteer staff, board, clients, funders, and the community -- ;in reaching consensus about what end results they are trying to achieve (external vision, purpose, goals, and objectives), and the means to accomplish those results (internal vision, business(es), programs, and activities).
An organization’s strategic plan is not an end in itself, but rather a means of achieving its purpose. Tom Peters (In Search of Excellence), John Carver (Boards That Make a Difference), and many others have emphasized the need for the people implementing a strategic plan to have enough flexibility and authority to be creative and responsive to new developments -- ;without having to reconstruct an entire strategic plan. This flexibility is required most in adjusting means. In other words, the purpose of an organization and the priority goals are much less likely to change than are the programs and activities necessary to achieve them.
For example, an organization decides it wants to achieve a particular goal and decides to set up a program to achieve that goal. If another organization has decided simultaneously to set up a similar program, the first organization may collaborate with the second organization or in some other way adjust its program plan without changing its original goal.
Peters calls this being "tight on ends," that is, building strong commitment to the purpose and goals of an organization, while allowing the people in the organization to creatively adapt their methods to best achieve the goals, or staying "loose on means."
The planning process presented in Strategic Planning for Nonprofit Organizations: A Practical Guide and Workbook is built on the important relationship between "ends" and "means". Because different individuals use different terminology, the following exhibits define the language to help make the thinking behind this process clear and useful.

	The Language of Planning in the Nonprofit Sector -- ;
Focusing on Ends and Means


	Definitions


	Means
	Ends

	Internal Vision 

A description of the organization operating at its most effective and efficient level
Business
The primary method(s) used by the organization to achieve its purpose
Programs and Internal Management
A description of services and products that an organization offers, and the internal operations that support the delivery of services or products
Activities
The specific actions required to produce services and products
Core Strategies
Broad, overall priorities or directions adopted by an organization 
	External Vision 

A statement that describes how the world would be improved, changed, or different, if an organization is successful in achieving its purpose
Purpose
The ultimate result an organization is trying to achieve (Answers the question "Why does the organization exist?")
Goals
Outcome statements that define what an organization is trying to accomplish both programmatically and organizationally
Objectives
Precise, measurable, time-phased results that support the achievement of a goal


	Mission Statement
A succinct statement that articulates the organization’s purpose, business, values, and beliefs
Values and Beliefs
The basic, guiding principles that provide guidance and inspiration to the board and staff
 

Remember, when implementing your strategic plan you should be "tight on ends and loose on means!" 


How Can I Best Use the Book: Strategic Planning for Nonprofit Organizations: A Practical Guide and Workbook? 
  

	Strategic Planning for Nonprofit Organizations: A Practical Guide and Workbook by Michael Allison and Jude Kaye (John Wiley and Sons, 1997) offers a framework and detailed suggestions for doing strategic planning in nonprofit organizations. The Workbook is written to help the leaders, both board and staff, of nonprofit organizations and other planning practitioners, do effective strategic planning. While the approach and process design here will serve a wide range of organizations, it is written with small to medium size organizations 
The book is the product of the authors’ experience as planning and organization development consultants. The concepts, process design and language presented in the book have been shaped by their work over the years with scores of nonprofit organizations on strategic planning. Indeed, many of the Worksheets and approaches to formulating strategy were developed while working with individual clients in response to particular situations. Those who have experience with strategic planning will find the book a useful refresher and "one-stop source book" of fundamental concepts and techniques; those without such experience will find it a valuable introduction to what strategic planning is—and is not—and how to make the best use of the process.
When done well, strategic planning is both a creative and a participatory process that engenders new insights and helps an organization pursue its mission. It is an important tool that can help nonprofit organizations achieve their goals. A tool’s effectiveness, though, ultimately depends on how well it is wielded: a hammer is a very good tool for nailing together bookshelves, but just swinging a hammer doesn’t mean the bookshelves will get built, nor does a failure to build bookshelves reflect poorly on the hammer. With the Workbook, the authors hope to help others understand enough about the potential and the requirements of this particular management tool to create sound strategic plans that contribute to the viability and success of their organizations’ work.
The strategic planning process outlined in Strategic Planning for Nonprofit Organizations: A Practical Guide and Workbook is designed to serve the wide range of organizations that make up the nonprofit sector: arts organizations, human services agencies, environmental groups, hospitals and other health organizations, advocacy organizations, religious institutions, and educational institutions. However, with minor translation to different contexts, much of the conceptual framework is equally applicable to organizational settings in either the business or government sectors. Although there are certain important differences to note between private nonprofit organizations and government organizations, the principles of successful planning which support effective organizations are identical. 


I Know What Strategic Planning is -- So What Is It Not? 
	Strategic Planning Does Not Predict the Future or Make Decisions Which Can’t Be Changed.  Though strategic planning involves making assumptions about the future environment, the decisions are made in the present. "Planning deals with the futurity of current decisions....Forward planning requires that choices be made among possible events in the future, but decisions made in their light can be made only in the present (George Steiner, Strategic Planning (New York: The Free Press, 1979, page 14 - 15) ." Over time, an organization must monitor changes in its environment and assess whether its assumptions remain essentially valid. If an unexpected shift occurs, major strategic decisions may have to be revisited sooner than they would in a typical three- to five-year planning cycle. 

Strategic Planning Is Not a Substitute for the Judgment of Leadership.  Strategic planning is a tool—it is not a substitute for the exercise of judgment by leadership. Ultimately, the leaders of any enterprise need to sit back and ask themselves "What are the most important issues to respond to?" and "How shall we respond?" Just as the hammer doesn’t create the bookshelf, so the data analysis and decision-making tools of strategic planning do not make the organization function—they can only support the intuition, reasoning skills, and judgment that people bring to the work of their organization.
Strategic Planning Is Not Always a Smooth, Predictable, and Linear Process.  Strategic planning, though structured in many respects, typically does not flow smoothly from one phase to the next. It is a creative process, requiring flexibility—the fresh insight arrived at today might very well alter the decision made yesterday. Inevitably, the process moves forward and back several times before arriving at the final set of decisions. No one should be surprised if the process feels less like a comfortable trip on a commuter train than like a ride on a roller coaster. But remember, even roller coaster cars arrive at their destination, as long as they stay on track! 


How do I Build a Stronger Volunteer/Staff Partnership? 
	Excerpted from Building Staff/Volunteer Relations, by Ivan H. Scheier 

 

Most strategies for opening up participation by volunteers tend to assume that staff are the primary cause of the blockage. "If only staff would respect and trust volunteers more," we say; "if only they weren't so threatened" and "why can't they delegate more?"

The approach here, by contrast, asks certain questions which suggest that staff are not the primary reason for the difficulty. Planners/implementers of volunteer programs are very likely to be implicated, for lack of adopting appropriate strategies. Our candidate for appropriate strategy begins with this question:

How can we expect staff to carve out meaningful roles for volunteers when staff doesn't even adequately understand their own role?
Yes, most employees have a formal job description. But often what a person actively does is far from identical to the job description as written. At the specific, concrete level, what one does daily is more or other than what may have been articulated at the beginning. Not incidentally, the same is true for volunteer job descriptions. They're neat, comforting to our sense of orderliness, and often substantially mythical in detailed practice.

Once we've absorbed the need to go beyond job descriptions to actual descriptions of the job, we're ready to face a seeming paradox: you can't develop clear and meaningful volunteer jobs without first analyzing in detail what staff are doing and how they feel about it. Similarly, to involve members more meaningfully you must first scrutinize very carefully what elected officers or other group leaders are doing.

So, the first step in developing teamwork between volunteers and employees (or officers) is a process which helps staff clarify fuzzy function areas.

The clarifying process must also be comfortable, and that brings up our second main point:

· Volunteers must be seen by staff as strengthening their capability and control rather than stretching it thinner. 

· Volunteers should enhance staff competency rather than challenge it. 

As for control, asking staff to work comfortably with volunteers is asking them to forego the two main mechanisms by which we exercise adequate control over employees: 

· We pay them (and can stop doing so). 

· We order them (and can continue to do so). 

A third control-threatener is overstretched time. Staff, club leaders, chairpersons and other gatekeepers are typically overworked and underhelped; that's usually why we propose involving volunteers in the first place. We then proceed (often) to lecture staff on how much additional time and effort they should invest in supervising/supporting volunteers. To this approach, I once heard a staff person react thusly: "Hey, I've already got a caseload of 70 clients. And now you seem to be asking me to add a caseload of 25 volunteers. Are you out of your mind?"

I sympathize. We need a delegation process which puts staff in the driver's seat insofar as possible and, indeed, can be seen by them as enhancing their control of events and challenges. This is not accomplished by coming in, kicking the desk, and saying to staff: "Wow, I've got this great volunteer; wouldn't you like to meet her?" or "How about my getting you a volunteer tutor or two?"

It is not even accomplished by asking staff to submit volunteer job descriptions. As I said, many staff need a better, more specific understanding of their own jobs before they can intelligently decide how volunteers can best help them. So, we err in telling staff to look at volunteers when they should be looking first at themselves.

Permission is granted for organizations to download and reprint this excerpt. Reprints must provide full acknowledgment of source, as provided: 
Excerpted from Building Staff/Volunteer Relations by Ivan H. Scheier, © 1993, Energize, Inc., 1-800-395-9800. Available online from Energize, Inc.


How do I Develop an Advisory Council? 
	Appeared as an "On Volunteers" column in The NonProfit Times
By Susan J. Ellis 

There are many reasons why an agency might want to develop an advisory body, separate from its board of directors. Some are: to gain the input and support of key community leaders; to keep long-time supporters and past board members involved; to assure that decisions have been weighed from as many perspectives as possible. Funding sources or government regulations may also mandate the formation of a community advisory group, often also requiring some of the seats to be filled by ex officio representatives.

Your reasons for seeking advisors will affect your goals for their productivity. You may be satisfied to have your advisory body be an honorary entity with few responsibilities beyond allowing the names of the members to be printed on the agency's letterhead. But if you hope for a more functional advisory group, you must structure the process for success.

Just because you have formed an "advisory" group does not mean that anyone in your agency wants advice--or will act on it! Take the time to define the role of the advisory body, its relationship to your board of directors, and what it is not expected to do. Do not imply power when there is none. Most advisory groups have an impact through influence and persuasion, but do not have decision-making authority.

For this reason it is best to avoid the word "board" when naming your advisory body. When someone is recruited to join an "Advisory Board," authority is implied even if not intended. Titles such as "Advisory Council" or "Community Leadership Task Force" are more accurate and less confusing to distinguish the group from your true board of directors.

Recruiting Members

As with any volunteer endeavor, it is useful to clarify expectations with a written job description of the role of an advisory council member. Even if there is little work to be done, be honest about your desire to use the person's name on your agency's behalf. Give the prospective volunteer the option of taking a more active role in some way.

Are you recruiting individuals or the positions they presently fill? For example, if you recruit the president of the local Public Relations Society, does that person remain on your advisory council after leaving office or does the next president take over?

Be careful about mixing honorary advisors with working advisors. If you need a "home" for big donors, form a "Special Friends Circle" but keep it distinct from the group you want to assist you with, say, legal compliance issues.

Eliciting Advice

If you have made the effort to form an advisory council, put it to good use. Schedule meetings sparingly, but always with a specific agenda. Your goal is to generate as much discussion as possible, but not necessarily to reach consensus. You have recruited these volunteers because they represent diverse constituencies--so why would you expect them to agree on everything? In fact, despite majority opinion, you should listen carefully to the concerns of the minority. Those who dissent on an issue may be expressing the very things you most need to factor into your decision- making.

Never take a vote in an advisory council meeting. Again, this incorrectly implies the power to decide something. But it also suppresses the dissenting voices. Instead of trying to distill all the volunteers' perspectives into one, try such techniques as:

· have members list all the pros and cons of any idea under discussion; 

· ask them to generate all the questions they can think of in reaction to a particular issue (sometimes a provocative question is better than a recommendation); 

· be sure the minutes reflect the dissenting opinions (if the Supreme Court can do it, so can your advisory council); 

· spend time on identifying community resources that might assist with a particular project, since it is that expanded knowledge base you hoped to tap by recruiting these advisors. 

In most situations, you want the benefit of the council's collective and individual thinking to add to the ultimate decision-making of the board of directors or the administrative staff. Be sure to provide feedback on what action was finally taken and how the council's input was used.

Advisors as Individuals

It is wasteful to ask advisory volunteers to limit their service to attendance at meetings. Each advisor has a special point of view and important data to share. 

Consider asking advisor volunteers to help your agency in two distinct ways: participate in one or two yearly meetings of the full advisory council, and spend a few hours consulting with you one-to-one. In these individual contacts by phone or in person, you can gain the insight and information you need most.

When advisors begin to offer input on their own initiative, you will be getting the most benefit from these special volunteers.

Originally published as the bi-monthly column "On Volunteers" in The NonProfit Times,www.nptimes.com © 1992. 
The above material may be downloaded and used by your organization, providing that the source is fully credited as published in The NonProfit Times and written by Susan J. Ellis, Energize, Inc.


How do I Staff Our Volunteer Program? 
	By Susan J. Ellis

Excerpted from From the Top Down: The Executive Role in Volunteer Program
Decisions regarding the staffing of the volunteer program deserve careful consideration. How you go about designating or hiring the leadership of the program will be influenced by the goals you have for the utilization of volunteers. While it should be obvious that your staffing plan must fit the number and functions of volunteers you anticipate, it may not be obvious how to develop a "formula" to determine the right "fit."
Identifying a Leader
The vast majority of people who direct volunteer programs do not do so as a full-time job. Rather, they work part-time at volunteer management while actually primarily filling a different function in the organization; they have been asked to assume leadership of the volunteer program in addition to their other responsibilities. In many cases they were "anointed" into the leadership of volunteers; they did not seek the extra responsibility and felt they had little or no option when their administrator offered it to them. Additionally, they continue to view their original job description as their priority and try to "squeeze in" the volunteer program as a secondary set of tasks. In terms of career goals, most of these part-timers have no interest in pursuing the volunteer management field. They see themselves rather as "social workers," "park rangers," "occupational therapists," or "probation officers" and consider the volunteerism "piece" of their jobs as something they will escape when they move up.
Logically, someone who sees volunteer leadership as secondary (perhaps even as distracting) will rarely give the type of direction to the program that will make it achieve its true potential. So why "anoint" a reluctant director of volunteers?
The first step is to decide whether or not you are able (or willing) to create a new budget line for a volunteer program staff member. Since the dollar value of volunteer services far exceeds the actual funds expended (see Chapter 11), it may be worthwhile to wait in creating or expanding your volunteer component until funds can be found. A special fundraising event or a special grant request might create the first year's salary, especially if you plan to begin with a part-time staff member. At least this part-timer will devote all of his or her on-site time to the subject of volunteers. And the time will be devoted willingly and enthusiastically because it will be this person's primary job responsibility. The difference in possible achievement of goals because of this factor of primary responsibility cannot be overestimated and outweighs even the time limitations of a shorter work schedule.
If a new budget line is absolutely not possible, then you should begin by discovering who on staff might actually want to learn about volunteer management. Even if the interested staff member functions in a work area that seems tangential to what you plan for volunteers, the factor of free choice should weigh heavily in favor of giving that staff member the responsibility for volunteers.
When I conduct workshops for people who are part-time directors of volunteers in addition to carrying other agency job responsibilities, I always ask whether they tried to clarify the following important points at the time they accepted their volunteer-related tasks: 
· What exactly does "part time" mean? How many hours of the day or week will I be allowed to devote to volunteer management? 
· In what ways will my present workload be decreased in order to "make room" for my new volunteer program responsibilities? 
· At what level of program growth will my part-time status be reviewed to determine whether more time is needed for volunteer management or if the agency is ready for a full-time director of volunteers (not necessarily me)? 
· What other agency resources will be made available to me in support of the new volunteer program? 
· Does my immediate supervisor understand and completely accept the fact that my previous work patterns will now have to change, especially in terms of decreasing my former output in my primary area of service? 
In all too many cases, these questions are not raised by either the new leader of volunteers or the CEO. Because so many of these issues require decision-making authority, it would be helpful for the executive to consider these and other questions before selecting an existing staff member to take on the added responsibility of the volunteer program. Otherwise, volunteer management becomes nothing more than an addendum to an already busy schedule and, in fact, produces stress and tension among the staff as a whole.
It is probably just as pertinent to consider some of these issues even if a brand new employee will be hired to focus on leading the volunteer program as a sole responsibility, but on a part-time schedule. For example, at what point will you start thinking about increasing the number of work hours for the director of volunteers? Or, if you do not want to expand this position, at what level of growth will you consider the volunteer program "capped"?
Whether you delegate volunteer management to an existing staff member or hire a new part-time employee, also assign specific responsibilities for supporting the volunteer program to other agency staff. This makes it clear that volunteers will be part of everyone's job because they are now part of the organization's delivery of services. For example, the public relations staff should help with recruitment, the bookkeeper with recordkeeping, and the clerical pool with correspondence. It is up to you to distribute the work where it logically belongs and to specify the chain of command between the new head of the volunteer program and those other staff members working on behalf of the volunteer program.
Even when you are ready and able to designate a full-time director of volunteers, other organizational personnel will continue to have support roles to play in assuring that the volunteers become part of the team.
Permission is granted for organizations to download and reprint this excerpt. Reprints must provide full acknowledgment of source, as provided: 
Excerpted from From the Top Down: The Executive Role in Volunteer Program, by Susan J. Ellis , © 1996, Energize, Inc. Available through Energize, Inc., 1-800-395-9800 or online at www.energizeinc.com.


How do I Develop Creative Volunteer Roles? 
	Appeared as an "On Volunteers" column in The NonProfit Times 
By Susan J. Ellis 

As a rule, volunteer assignments are patterned along the job descriptions of paid staff. This is because volunteers are seen as helpers or assistants to employees. While there is nothing wrong with this frame of reference, it is also limiting. Why not try a more creative approach to designing ways volunteers can contribute?

Keep in mind that volunteers can be flexible, particularly in their schedules. It is safe to assume that the individual or community needs your organization is addressing exist around the clock. So focus on these needs without defining the "solution" within the confines of a Monday to Friday, 9 to 5 parameter.

Here are a few examples of actual volunteer roles that highlight what can be done at unusual hours:

· A family counseling agency recruited volunteers to telephone assigned families at 7:00 a.m. on school days to provide structure and offer friendly support as parents were preparing their children for school. 

· A hospital was able to provide additional night services, including a crisis hot line, by recruiting a corps of insomniac volunteers referred by their psychologists (a win-win situation). 

· A national labor union involved its members in a project studying how blue collar workers are portrayed on television by asking for volunteers to watch and report on shows aired throughout a particular period. 

· A park started a weekend campground patrol program by recruiting families to volunteer at specific camp sites for 48-hour shifts. The multi-generational volunteers proved to be effective role models for the weekend campers. 

There are other criteria that can be used to design creative volunteer roles, especially if you free yourself from the model of what the paid staff does. Consider these examples --again, all are real:

· A juvenile detention center recruited physically disabled volunteers because it found that people in wheelchairs were able to confront teenage lawbreakers about making choices in more positive ways. 

· A nursing home opened an after-school homework center for latchkey children at a nearby elementary school. It was hard to determine which age group was the most "served" by the interaction. 

· A hospital created a set of videotapes in which young patients shared their hospital experiences to be shown by close-circuit television to other children receiving similar treatment. 

· A municipal streets department recruited volunteer block representatives to act as communication liaisons whenever roadwork was going to create temporary detours or other inconveniences. 

· A professional association offered members the chance to barter special skills for reduced registration at their annual conference. The biggest hit was the member who volunteered to give neck and shoulder massages in the conference headquarters room to frazzled committee members. 

What do all of these examples have in common? They demonstrate how volunteers can meet special needs--often quite targeted needs requiring very part-time or even "off- time" availability. In most cases, these are tasks that would never become full-time jobs. And in some cases, they would never be paid for despite how much they add to the success of a venture.

In addition, these volunteer job descriptions make use of the unique talents or traits of the people contributing their time. No matter how expert employees may be, they still have a finite set of skills. Employees also tend to be homogeneous in terms of educational background and age range. Volunteers therefore diversify what the paid staff can offer to the recipients of service. Make sure that volunteer assignments make use of younger and older people, distinct life experiences, different occupational skills, different languages, and new perspectives.

Finally, make use of the gift of volunteers to focus on one thing at a time. Employees must always divide their attention among a full client case load or to everyone requesting service. Volunteers, however, can be recruited specifically to spend all their hours on one child, one research project, one specialized task. This is a luxury with benefits to everyone.

When you let your creative juices flow beyond "staff assistant," you'll see the limitless possibilities for involving volunteers in meaningful work.

Originally published as the bi-monthly column "On Volunteers" in The NonProfit Times,www.nptimes.com © 1993. 

The above material may be downloaded and used by your organization, providing that the source is fully credited as published in The NonProfit Times and written by Susan J. Ellis, www.energizeinc.com.


How do I Recruit from African-American Churches? 
	From Pass It On: Outreach to Minority Communities
By Charyn D. Sutton

It is common for persons to talk about the black church as if it were one unified entity. In reality there are many different black churches that serve African-American communities. Generally the most influential churches in many black communities are Baptist, which are independent institutions affiliated with one or more of the major Baptist associations. However, black Methodists are also quite strong. The oldest independent African-American denomination is the African Methodist Episcopal (AME) church, founded in 1787.

Another important constituent of the black church is Pentecostal. These tend to be the smaller, store-front or movie-theater churches that are focused primarily on evangelism and spiritual service, rather than more "worldly" activities. While ministers of some of the larger Pentecostal churches do play a major role in their communities, they are less likely to become part of community-based networks that do not have a major religious thrust.

In some instances, well-known African-American ministers in a community belong to denominations that are overwhelmingly white--Episcopal, Lutheran, United Methodist, Presbyterian, and Roman Catholic. Often these ministers are largely supported by the diocese rather than by income generated by their own churches and may minister to relatively small congregations. These congregations tend to attract a higher percentage of educated, middle-class congregants than other churches that draw their membership primarily from minority communities.

In working with black church leadership, it is important to recognize that the involvement of ministers in secular activities is generally encouraged by the black community. Many powerful black politicians are also ministers. For example, during the 1980s, three African-Americans served as members of Conoress while simultaneously maintaining positions as senior minister for congregations in Philadelphia, New York City and Washington, D.C.

Generally the most powerful and influential black churches can be identified by three major criteria:

· Size of congregation; 

· Length of time that the church has been in existence; 

· Number of influential black leaders (particularly elected and appointed officials) who are church members. 

Often an individual African-American minister will gain considerable name recognition, particularly in the broader community, even though he or she has a relatively small congregation. While these individuals can be quite helpful, the most resources generally come from ministers who can speak for congregations with hundreds or even thousands of members and whose networks touch other major institutions, such as city, county and school district boards.

IMPORTANT FACTS ABOUT THE BLACK CHURCH

1. The black church in America is primarily female in its membership even though the leadership is generally male. 

2. Males who attend church regularly tend to fall into two major age categories: under 14 years old or over 60. Boys come because their mothers make them attend and older men often establish church membership when their health begins to fail. Both groups - boys and older men in ill health -- are inappropriate as volunteers for [Big Brother]programs. 

3. Adult men in their 20s, 30s and 40s who are active in black churches also tend to be involved in a variety of other activities in the community and, as a result, are often over-committed. In addition, their congregations often rely heavily on these men -- who are relatively few in number -- for volunteer activities within the church and in the surrounding community, leaving them little time for other volunteer tasks. 

4. Adult women, particularly those over 40, form the backbone of many churches. Those who are not heavily committed to church work and do not have small children may be excellent prospects for Big Sisters programs. 

5. Women with small children who are concerned about their children's values often establish or re-establish church membership. This is especially true of single mothers who can benefit from the various social and spiritual supports provided by black churches. 

Excerpted from Pass It On: Outreach to Minority Communities, by Charyn D. Sutton, © 1992, Big Brothers/Big Sisters of America. Available online at www.energizeinc.com.
Permission is granted for organizations to download and reprint this excerpt. Reprints must provide full acknowledgment of source, as provided above. 


How do I Find Daytime Volunteers? 
	Appeared as an "On Volunteers" column in The NonProfit Times
By Susan J. Ellis 

One of the myths of the volunteer world is that daytime volunteers are an endangered species. In the past, organizations grew complacent in their dependency on female homemakers. When women took paying jobs (though in fact some homemakers still exist), such agencies found themselves without their accustomed source of volunteers. The good news is that organizations willing to seek new pools of talent will end up with an even better corps of volunteers than before.

There is no secret about where to find middle-aged, adult volunteers available for weekday assignments: recruit from the large segment of the workforce who do not work "normal" hours. In fact, logic shows that "normal" hours are relative indeed. Think about all the jobs that require: shift work; predominantly evening hours; weekend days; or odd or flexible schedules.

Shift Work

A wide variety of institutions and businesses function twenty-four hours a day or at least on double shift. This means that many people who work 7:00 a.m. to 3:00 p.m. or 3:00 to 11:00 p.m. have discretionary time available overlapping the 9:00 to 5:00 agency day. Even the night shift might be attracted to early morning volunteer work. If you select worksites close to your organization's location, one of your recruitment pitches can be: "help us out on your way to or from work with very little extra commuting."

Consider the range of people and skills available in 24- hour worksites: hospitals and residential treatment programs; many factories; television and radio stations; police and fire departments; telephone companies; hotels; the military; the Postal Service and overnight delivery companies.

Evening Workers

In the same vein, it is easy to identify businesses employing people mainly in the evening hours. Such workers often sleep late after a long night at work, but are prospective volunteers in the afternoon. Some sites are: restaurants; theaters; newspapers; astronomy labs; janitorial services; computer services.

Weekend Workers

Quite a number of jobs require Saturday and/or Sunday shifts, thereby giving employees a full day or two off during the week: parks and recreation programs; most cultural attractions such as museums and historic sites; churches and synagogues; libraries; shopping malls; hair salons; sports and country clubs. Some jobs overlap categories, especially retail sales which employ people on the weekends and in the evenings.

Odd or "Free-to-Choose" Schedules 

Some employed people work on changing, inconsistent, or temporary schedules. While this may make it difficult to place such volunteers in regular assignments, they are nevertheless excellent resources for volunteering that focuses on producing a result rather than requiring a time commitment. Consider: airline personnel; substitute teachers; "temps" of all sorts; long distance truck drivers; farmers; university faculty; collection agents.

A whole sub-category involves people who are self- employed or work on commission. They can choose to volunteer during a weekday and "make up" the work time later. For example: consultants; artists; anyone who works at home; sole practitioners in fields such as accounting or public relations; real estate agents.

It is probably worthwhile to point out that the higher a person rises in a company, the more flexibility s/he has in allocating his or her schedule. So you can consider top executives more likely weekday recruits than secretaries who have less choice.

How to Recruit These Folks

There is nothing mysterious about encouraging the people identified above to volunteer: go to them and ask. This may mean arranging to send someone from your organization to a worksite in the evening to talk with prospective candidates. Target a worksite with a campaign that shows employees you really want their involvement. The "we're in the same neighborhood" approach makes sense to people. So do volunteer job descriptions that make use of the skills these employees demonstrate on their paying jobs.

People whose work hours differ from the majority are motivated by the same things as any other prospective volunteer. If we expect people who work Monday to Friday, 9:00 to 5:00, to volunteer in the evenings or on weekends, why is it surprising that someone who works in the evenings would be willing to volunteer in the morning? Ironically, loneliness may be a factor in favor of joining your organization--maybe the Saturday employee has few ways to have fun on his or her Tuesday off.

So don't believe that the volunteer pool is "drying up" because women are in the paid work force. The great news is that there are vast reservoirs of talent that the nonprofit community has simply never approached. The sources identified here pose more of a challenge to the recruiter. But the necessity to reach out to these new places will result in a stronger and more diversified volunteer corps.

Originally published as the bi-monthly column "On Volunteers" in The NonProfit Times, www.nptimes.com,© 1991. 
The above material may be downloaded and used by your organization, providing that the source is fully credited as published in The NonProfit Times and written by Susan J. Ellis, www.energizeinc.com.


One Idea for Recruiting Volunteers: Your "Circle of Resources" 
	From The Volunteer Recruitment Book
By Susan J. Ellis

One of my favorite suggestions for volunteer recruitment is also one of the simplest: start with the resources in closest proximity to your agency. What untapped treasures might be across the street or on the next block?

Picture your facility as the center of a bull's eye, with concentric circles around it. Now do the following. If you are in an urban area, walk out your front door with a clipboard and pen (take along a volunteer for company). If you are more rural, do this by driving. The point is to walk completely around the block (or drive in a tight circle) and write down everything you see: stores, businesses, parking lots, churches, apartment houses, schools, etc. A "Proximity Chart" worksheet for your use is on the next page.

It is vital to actually do this action physically, even if you feel reasonably sure that you know what is in your neighborhood. Why? Because you will soon discover that: 1) you tend to be aware only of the things that are present in the one direction that you take to work every day; 2) after a while you no longer see what you are looking at; and 3) some of the things you see may not be identifiable. An example of this last point is passing a company with the name "Mighty Corporation" emblazoned on a large sign. Do you know from that name what work this company does? Probably not.

After you have inventoried everything on your street, the two side streets, and the street in back of you, move on to a two-block radius and do the same. As time permits, keep going in widening concentric circles. If you are driving, keep taking right (or left!) turns and inventory a quarter- mile radius, then a half-mile radius, etc. Note that if your offices are in a high-rise building, your first task is to take the elevator to each floor and see who your neighbors are above and below you.

You may be skeptical about this recommendation, but I assure you that you will find a number of "neighbors" that you did not know you had. And this means potential resources.

Now that you have your list, analyze it. If there are mysteries such as "Mighty Corporation," find out what happens there. Your goal is to identify any number of ways your neighbors might help you to accomplish your goals:

· Might there be business people who could volunteer at your site on their way to or from work, or even at lunchtime? Might there be students or seniors with daytime hours available? Might any of your neighbors have an interest in community service projects of any sort? 

· What professional skills might be tapped at neighboring businesses or schools? (Be sure to watch for sole practitioners such as artists, consultants, accountants, and others with valuable talents--and who control their own work schedules.) 

· Might there be access to other types of resources beyond volunteers: donated goods or materials, storage space, parking space, use of various loaned equipment, etc.? 

· Do any of these neighbors share your service goals, an interest in your client population, or have anything else in common with you that might lead to collaboration of some sort? 

Making contact with your neighbors is much easier than approaching resources across town. After all, it is always legitimate to make the acquaintance of folks nearby. Develop a special flyer or letter introducing your agency and address it to: "Our neighbors." Explain the services you offer (include a brochure if you have one) and, if appropriate, welcome visitors. Depending on your comfort level and on the culture of your neighborhood, mail the materials in small batches and follow up within a week by phone, or go in person to deliver the material.

Do not feel that these are "cold calls." As a representative of your organization, you want to spread the word about the good work that you do. It will be of benefit to your neighbors to be better informed about an agency in such close proximity. And, for both sides, there is great potential to share resources. Your opening line is: "Hi. Do you realize that we can see your top floor from our backyard?" Or some variation on that theme.

Excerpted from The Volunteer Recruitment Book, 2nd ed, by Susan J. Ellis, © 1996, Energize, Inc. Available online at www.energizeinc.com.
Permission is granted for organizations to download and reprint this excerpt. Reprints must provide full acknowledgment of source, as provided above. 


What is the role of governance? 
In the aftermath of every "nonprofit mismanagement" news story is the question: Why didn't the Board do something? Yet the boards of the United Way of America, Covenant House and others did not do any less than most nonprofit boards. The reality is that most nonprofit boards are ineffective in their governing function. Only when gross mismanagement occurs does a failure at governance come to the fore.

The overlooked reason is that the prevailing "team" model for the relationship between boards of directors and their staff is only half of the story. "Team" members are understood to bring different skills and play different roles to support and build the organization, working toward common goals. But while board members should and do act as supporters and builders, they have another role to play as questioners and monitors of the organization. As part of the team, the board stands with their well-intentioned organization as it operates in a demanding world. In contrast, in their governing role, the board must stand outside the organization and hold it accountable to the public interest.

Both these roles--supporting and governing--are critical to effective work by nonprofit organizations. Rather than try to eliminate the contradictions and tensions of their governance role, boards must find techniques for strengthening their independence and creatively using this tension for the good of the organization and the purpose it was created to serve.

What is governance?
The two roles of support and governance encompass different tasks. In the role of supporters board members strive to ensure the success of the organization. Boards raise money, bring contacts and clout to the organization, provide special skills such as in law or accounting, and act as ambassadors to the community. The many books, articles and seminars on the subject testify to the emphasis on helping boards help--on strengthening organizations by means of board assistance.

The governance role, on the other hand, has as its goal protection of the public interest. Governance responsibilities for boards include selecting the top executive (the Chief Executive Officer) and assessing his or her performance, reviewing and authorizing plans and commitments, ensuring compliance with legal and contract requirements, and evaluating the organization's work.

Both of these board roles are distinguished from that of management, the province of the Chief Executive Officer. 

Why don't boards govern all the time? 
Boards govern in crisis

Despite the obstacles and uncertainty, boards strive to perform their governance roles well. They make valiant efforts to read and understand financial statements. They listen attentively to reports about client-centered methodologies and new x-ray machines. They give up Saturdays for board retreats. When agencies are in crisis, boards go further. They give up weekends to attend emergency meetings where hard questions are asked; they sort out financial problems, and meet with disgruntled funders and clients. They seek out a wide range of informants: funders, staff, colleagues in the field, and members or other boards. When serious charges are brought to boards about CEOs, boards often hire independent investigators or analysts to report on charges of sexual harassment, racial or gender discrimination, alcohol or drug abuse, or mis-use of funds. In crisis, boards realize that while they can't manage, they must govern. And to do so they need information sources that are independent of executive staff; they need their own, diverse channels of information.

If boards can act to overcome some of their limitations and act effectively as governors in time of crisis, what are some reasons why they don't act that way in normal times?

And the rest of the time?

When Kenneth Dayton drew a line between governance and management in his famous paper, "Governance is Governance," he called for boards to stop meddling in the management of agencies. If anything, boards have taken his sound advice too literally. These days boards are reluctant to call staff to question about anything.

Some reasons why boards don't govern all the time include: lack of time, lack of independent information, and lack of familiarity with the "business." But in addition, another important factor is at work: a desire to avoid tension and conflict.

When boards act in their governance and oversight roles, uncomfortable questions may be asked; tensions may enter the room. It takes a lot of nerve for a board member to challenge a staff recommendation in a board meeting. New board members are often quiet, waiting until they know more before speaking up. But long-time board members too are reluctant to appear adversarial, not "with the team."

In fact, when asking probing, "tough" questions, board members may feel guilty. Is it fair to question staff competency in fundraising when I've only made an average contribution myself? Is it being distrustful to ask for a list of salaries and comparable salaries in similar organizations? Does my admiration for a competing organization's programs reflect a lack of loyalty to my own organization?

A subtle cause of this avoidance of conflict is the emphasis on a smooth working partnership. Boards often view tension as a symptom of an illness which everyone must work to avoid catching. Conflicts should be smoothed over. Staff frequently see board members with serious questions as obstacles at best, enemies at worst. (This is exacerbated when board members who don't do much as supporters still want to ask questions.) As a result, some boards neglect this responsibility all together and act as a rubber-stamp for the director. Just as often, boards will allow one or two members to be the chronic complainers without allowing them any real influence.

The wider nonprofit community has colluded with this avoidance through the scant attention given to the governance role in books, academic papers and other management literature. A small industry has grown up around board training and consulting. While consultants and trainers have done a great deal to help boards raise more money, they have done little to help boards be more effective as governors. One reason is that they have been hired to help the board support the organization, not to help it govern.

In crisis, the emphasis on a smooth working relationship takes a back seat to the need for action and straight answers. It is "okay" in a crisis to ask tough questions. In normal times, boards need to learn how to use the authority they are willing to assert in times of crisis.

A second reason boards don't govern is that, at least narrowly speaking, it is not in the interest of executive staff to have an active, governing board. Supporters help the manager get the job done; governors often make the job harder. The governance role is an outsider's role, holding the organization, and specifically the executive staff, to high standards of performance. While most nonprofit managers work hard to do a good job, it is not in any manager's personal interest to make her own job harder.

Finally, except very infrequently, the consequences for inadequate governance have not been borne by nonprofit leaders as individuals. The most extreme consequence for poor governance is organizational failure. However, board members are unlikely to have their careers or status in the community affected as a result of organizational failure, and the executive director can usually find another job. The big losers are the people or community purpose the organization was designed to serve. Nonprofits are often perceived as weak and struggling. Supporters are recruited to help it survive, not to rein it in. In short, there has been no one holding boards accountable: a lack of governance hasn't really mattered to board members as individuals.

What's wrong with the "ideal board member"? 
When most board members and executive directors dream of their ideal board member they envision someone who contributes money, obtains contributions from others, helps the organization get media coverage and political contacts, bring specialized expertise, and helps diversify the board's composition. This ideal board member also identifies with the organization, is liked and admired by staff and other board members, "fits in." These characteristics describe a board member who can help provide the critical support agencies need to succeed.

But the very qualities that make board members good supporters are often qualities that limit their ability to carry out their governance responsibilities. In particular, board members are recruited to bring assistance and skills from other sectors of society, and are typically unfamiliar with both the program field and with the business of nonprofit management.

Because board members typically come from outside the program field, they are limited in their ability to know what trends, factors and technologies exist in the field; in short, they are limited in their ability to plan, to evaluate, to determine strategies, to see whether they are achieving success. For example, board members of a homeless shelter for youth are unlikely to know what similar programs serving disadvantaged youth are offered by other local agencies. Board members of a mental health agency may not be aware that the treatment field is moving away from their agency's methods. Board members are typically informed (by staff) about their own programs, and often less aware of work done by overlapping, competing organizations.

A different problem is posed by unfamiliarity with nonprofit management. Nonprofits are a fundamentally different type of business from either large corporations or small businesses. For example, a restaurant losing money all year can't hope to make it up with a big fundraiser or grant at the end of the year. A manufacturer can drop a product line without the ill social consequences of a social service agency dropping a service. Business people from the private sector have many skills to offer nonprofits, but expertise in nonprofit management is not always one of them. In particular, three areas important to nonprofit success are unfamiliar to business people: volunteer management, indirect cost rates, and financial strategies based on contributed rather than earned monies.

One additional limitation on board effectiveness is simply the lack of time that board members have to work with the agency. Board members are generally achievers with many responsibilities. Even a dedicated board member finds it difficult to attend board and committee meetings, study materials, and attend organizational functions. In response, organizations try to keep meetings short and have fewer of them per year. Yet the assumption continues that meaningful planning and governance can take place on a board that spends only a few hours a month considering the issues.
Are corporate boards any different? 
Boards of directors governing for-profit corporations face many of these same obstacles. They are busy and short of time; they lack familiarity with the field, and they may not be managers. The question was posed to a partner in a venture capital firm who sits on five corporate boards in which her firm has an equity interest. How does such a board member tell if the company is well managed? Although she doesn't know as much about microchip production or about the market for frozen pizzas, she must act to direct and oversee the growth of the company.

Her answer: because of her unfamiliarity with the field and its markets, she reads trade journals and industry publications. To supplement the information received from management, she reads reports from consultants and analysts hired to assess the company's operations. She uses all the means available, including informal impressions from walking through the plant or a chance conversation with an employee on the line, to obtain independent information. She follows up on rumors of mismanagement or takeovers. In short, she keeps her eyes and ears open all the time for information. With $1 million of her firm's money invested, she makes the time and gets enough information.

Corporate boards have one important advantage over nonprofit boards in their oversight, governance role. They have two ready measures that can be used to measure performance: profit and market share. In contrast, successful performance in a museum, drug treatment program or family counseling program is much more elusive.

Perhaps a bigger difference though is that corporate board members like this venture capitalist also have a material stake in the success of the organization. If nonprofit board members each had $100,000 of their own money invested in their own organizations, would they find more time and more information?
What is the role of governance in planning and budgeting? 
The planning process on the board of a nonprofit mental health clinic provides an instructive example of board governance under the conventional model. The last five years have seen large numbers of nonprofits develop strategic plans. Boards struggle with mission statements, goal statements, outcome statements. They try to "set program directions" and program objectives. Through examining this process, a more realistic and limited definition of the board's governance role can be developed.

As noted above, some of the factors mitigating against meaningful board planning include:

· The board members are "lay," neither mental health professionals nor clients of the mental health clinic. As a result, they do not bring with them independent experience with the field, issues surrounding case management or licensing, funding opportunities and client needs.

· Board members from corporations, small business and churches seldom have the time to develop a deep enough grasp of the organization's strengths, weaknesses, and environment to make informed planning decisions.

· Many key decisions have in effect been made by staff already, in response to funding cuts, new licensing requirements, or the opportunity to hire a person with unusual qualifications.

As a result, planning by the mental health clinic board tends to devolve into either a minor re-working of staff-made plans, or simply a mechanism for organizing the board's supporting role in implementing the plan. This latter is not unimportant, but it is not governance.

A parallel dynamic in the budgeting process was pointed out by John Carver in Nonprofit Management and Leadership. The budget approval process tends to lean either towards minor revisions of staff-made budgets or to rubber stamping. The conventional budget approval process often leaves board members with the uneasy feeling they have approved something they don't fully understand.

To balance the dual roles of governance and support roles in planning and budgeting, the board needs to ask a different set of questions.

First, rather than attempting to develop the plan, the board should focus on the quality of the plan. Boards should ask what information was used in planning, and require clearly stated assumptions about the most critical issues facing the organization and clearly stated strategies for dealing with these issues. What will be accomplished? How will we know? Are these the right things to be accomplish? Why? One doesn't need to understand internal combustion to make a sound, informed decision about which car will best suit your transportation needs and meet your budget. The board is buying a plan and a budget; it must be able to determine whether it is getting the plan that will best meet its organization's needs.

Second, once the board has "bought;" the plan, and it delegates management of the plan to staff, it needs to see what it is getting for its money. This involves careful evaluation, oversight and monitoring of the activities and results achieved.

To do a good job of monitoring, the board should supervise independent program evaluations, and contract independent management evaluators as well. In other words, the board needs to acquire independent information, a "second opinion."
What are some practical ways to strengthen governance? 
The Paradox and the Challenge
The board-staff relationship is a paradoxical one. When acting in their governing role, the board must stand above staff and be the "boss." But when acting in their supporting role, board members act to support and assist staff-led work.

Some boards become so excited about their roles as governors that they mistake governance for close supervision of management and begin meddling in minor management affairs. In other cases, as boards govern more, they shirk their supporting role. The challenge is to fulfill both roles, not simply switch from one to the other.

In short, boards have some inherent limitations in their ability to govern, including lack of time, lack of familiarity with the field, and lack of material stake. These limitations have been supplemented by the sector's nearly exclusive emphasis on the board's supporting role and by a human tendency to avoid conflict. A first step towards an effective board is acknowledgment of the paradox, and the need to perform both functions equally well. A failure to govern as well as support is a transgression both against clients and the wider community.

Practical Ways to Strengthen Governance
Here are some practical ways to strengthen governance: 
1. Have auditors and program evaluators report to the board. Agencies frequently hire two types of independent evaluators: CPA auditors and program evaluators. But in both cases these independent professionals are typically chosen by staff (often with just a cursory approval by the board), report to staff, and work as partners to staff in the staff's relationship with the board. Instead, such evaluators should make their reports directly to the board and to the staff. Auditors should be selected by and report to the board or the board audit committee.

2. Hire independent management evaluators. In addition to auditors and program evaluators, boards need unbiased sources of information about management as well. One of the most difficult tasks for boards is the evaluation of the CEO. On one hand a board can't interview staff about their opinions, but on the other hand, problems are created when a board obtains all its information from the person being evaluated. An independent evaluator might interview staff, and, for example, if there were several allegations of sexual harassment, would report to the board that such charges exist.

3. Make governance an explicit part of meetings. Boards should affirm their responsibilities in both support and governance. Board agendas should be clearly marked "Governance Items," and "Supporting Items." Among the qualities we should seek and reward in board members are critical thought, discernment, questioning attitude. When someone raises an objection or concern, or votes against the majority, the board president should make a point of going up to that person and expressing appreciation for the seriousness and courage to make the point.

4. Consider board stipends. To give a signal about the importance and seriousness of board work, we should take another look at the corporate practice of payments for board service. Much of the nonprofit sector has summarily dismissed such stipends: isn't the board supposed to raise money? Some large nonprofit institutions already pay board members $200/meeting, but smaller organizations could consider small stipends such as $15/meeting. Such stipends reimburse board members for expenses, and demonstrate visibly that the agency places a real value on board support and governance. (Some board members may choose to contribute their stipends back to their organizations.)

5. Consider a paid secretary to the board. Local government councils and commissions often have their own staff, separate from the agency staff that reports to the Chief Administrative Officer. Boards of many nonprofits have far-reaching responsibilities, and board officers may not have personal secretaries they can assign to board support. A paid board secretary, perhaps working only a few hours a week, can act as the board's facilitator, reminder, educator. Duties might include: board correspondence, obtaining information from staff or others at board request, clipping from professional journals for the board, minutes and follow-up for the board, meeting arrangements, and helping new officers with their responsibilities. Having their "own" staff can help board members be better supporters as well as governors.

6. Recruit governors. When recruiting, boards should seek members who are good governors as well as those who are good supporters: people who know clients as well as people who know philanthropists, people familiar with nonprofit management as well as those familiar with business, operational volunteers as well as fundraising volunteers, people who ask critical questions as well as people who cheer. A diverse board such as this will keep the agency rooted in the world it serves as well as in the world in which it raises funds. In many cases, governors and supporters may turn out to be the same people once governing responsibilities are recognized and valued as much as supporting responsibilities are. 

Do boards ever fire executive directors? If so, how? 
Imagine this scenario:
You're on the board of an organization where some of the board members--including yourself--are increasingly wondering whether your executive director is really up to the job. The Program Director has made some "off-the-record" comments about the executive director to some of the board members. You feel like you need to do something--but you don't want to get into a big battle. It would help if you understood more about whether and how organizations ever fire their executive directors.

Sometimes it is necessary for a board to fire the executive director, and a board is to be commended for taking the responsibility of ensuring that the organization has the right CEO. In rare occasions everyone on a board agrees that the executive director should be fired, such as in instances of embezzlement or unethical behavior. But more often, over time board members increasingly get indications that the director is either not doing the job or causing problems for the agency.

The prospect of open conflict with the executive director is so dismaying that many board members who are dissatisfied with the director's performance choose instead simply to resign when their terms expire. Dissatisfaction with the executive director often appears first as rumblings, such as a staff member complaining to a board member about morale, or committee members confiding their concerns to one another.

Now that such rumblings have appeared, the board should hold an executive session and establish an investigative committee to clarify the content and extent of the dissatisfaction, and determine what general approach is appropriate. If, for example, there are rumors of sexual harassment, the committee (or a consultant) can interview staff and volunteers and determine whether the rumors are frivolous or whether they require a more formal investigation. Or, the committee may find that the executive director simply doesn't understand the approach the board wants to see taken. In such an instance the board may choose to set up a series of meetings with the executive director to clarify directions and improve communication.

If you find you have strong reservations about whether the executive director's performance is satisfactory, the board should establish a committee to work more closely with the directory in a supervisory capacity. Beginning with letting the executive director know the extent of dissatisfaction on the board, the committee can document the problems and take steps to improve the director's performance.

If performance doesn't improve over time, and the director is fired by the board, the ongoing documentation can help deter a lawsuit against the agency by the former executive director. No level of documentation can guarantee that a lawsuit won't be brought, but an agency holds a stronger position in court and in the community if personnel policies have been followed, if steps have been taken to improve performance, and if those steps are documented as having failed.

If, after appropriate investigation and deliberation, a board feels that the executive director should leave the organization, it may choose first to have the board officers approach the director and suggest that a resignation would be welcome. Many executive directors under pressure prefer resignation to being fired, and some board members feel that a resignation leaves the organization in a better light than termination does.

Whichever is chosen, board action to terminate or to accept a resignation should be put into the minutes. The board should document whether there is any severance pay, any remaining tasks to be completed by the departing executive director, and close any other financial relationship. The board should develop a straightforward explanation for the resignation which can be communicated to staff, volunteers, funders, and others in the community.

Sample letter from board accepting resignation of executive director

Dear _____:

On behalf of the board of directors of XXX, I am writing this letter to tell you that the board received your letter of November 15 and has accepted your resignation from the position of executive director as of November 30, 1995.

By November 30, you will submit a final expense reimbursement request for the period of your employment, and return to the office the fax machine which you have been keeping at your home.

Your final paycheck, along with a check for accrued vacation, will be issued on November 30, and represents final payment from the XXX organization for your services.

Sincerely,


YYYY
President, Board of Directors


This FAQ is adapted from "Action Handbook for Boards of Directors", by Jan Masaoka, and published by the National Minority AIDS Council and CompassPoint Nonprofit Services, 1995.

Should an executive director be a member of the board? 
Here's a scenario:
You're hiring a new executive director and your first choice wants to be a member of the board. She feels board membership will give her the stature she needs to represent the agency in the community. Some board members are against the idea, while others (mostly corporate folks) think it's fine. Should the executive director be a member of the board?

If you grant her wish, your new executive director might regret being a member of the board. If, for example, your board is split on an issue, her vote would mean voting against half her board.

State laws vary on this. In California, for instance, the law permits staff members to be on nonprofit boards as long as 50% or more of the board members are neither staff nor "interested parties" (such as relatives of staff). Most for-profit corporations have their CEOs (Chief Executive Officer) as the Chair of the Board. Organizations with board members familiar with that corporate model, and organizations that expect their directors to lead the board, are more likely to have executive directors on the board.

Before agreeing to board membership for the director, the board should discuss the impact on sensitive matters such as performance review, salary and contract negotiation, and board-staff relations. There may be other ways to give the new executive director the stature she feels she needs: perhaps a series of coffees introducing her to community leaders, a more significant role in working with the board than the previous director experienced, or a printed announcement of her selection. What ever you decide, you and the director should review and reconsider the decision in a year.

This FAQ was written by Jan Masaoka, Executive Director of CompassPoint Nonprofit Services.
How can we get board members to help with fundraising solicitations when they've never done it before, or had a negative experience fundraising in the past? 
First, we don't agree with the conventional wisdom that all board members on all boards should raise money. Each board needs to determine an appropriate role for itself in the organization's overall strategy. Even if fundraising solicitations are a part of that strategy, it may not be appropriate for every board member to be involved.

But if your board has decided that all board members should help raise money, then it's to everyone's advantage to ensure positive experiences. If we think about fundraising solicitation as door-to-door sales, it may well be unappealing to most folks. When properly managed, fundraising means simple explaining to another why the organization's work is important, and personally meaningful. Whether or not the request results in a substantial gift, the organization will have a new friend.

Find out more about what negative experiences board members have had previously. Perhaps they were sent to speak to a hostile or cold prospect. Perhaps they didn't have the information to answer questions, or perhaps they were the wrong individuals to have asked those prospects. Perhaps they simply didn't have the preparation or practice time to learn to ask successfully for money.

In our experiences training board members in fundraising, we've found that if staff can provide the proper support in prospect selection and solicitor training, most board members can have successful experiences. Not only does this give the board member a euphoric feeling, but seeing the impact of, say $5,000, on the organization's services strongly reinforces the connection between the agency's goals and the act of seeking support for those goals.

If the board has agreed that every board member needs to be involved in solicitation, and some individuals feel uncomfortable with solicitations, it may be appropriate to suggest that they reconsider, without stigma, their participation on the board. Such individuals can contribute in other important ways to the organization. If fundraising is a central responsibility for the board, new board members should be recruited with the experience, contacts, or willingness to learn that will be helpful in the future.


This FAQ was written by Kat Rosqueta, Program Director of Board Match Plus.
MAKING A TOWN

to discuss specific tests of safety that can help you determine which issues to purchase. 

Type of municipal bond no guarantee of safety

Contrary to popular belief, general obligation bonds are no safer than revenue bonds. This misconception arises because the former is serviced by the issuer’s “unlimited” power to tax. In all reality, however, the power to tax is limited by practical considerations; a municipality that increased taxes to an onerous level would soon experience a mass exodus as citizens relocated to areas with more favorable characteristics. An investor would be far better off purchasing a high quality revenue bond than a mediocre general obligation bond (it is important that the investor remind himself that “in theory” is sometimes a dangerous game to play – I would much rather lend money to a farmer that paid his bills on time than a King with an empty treasury.) 

Recommendation for the minimum size of municipality

It is not necessarily true that the larger a municipality, the stronger its obligations; yet, there is some advantage to size. Debt issues backed by large populations are more liquid. Although this need not concern an investor that plans on holding until maturity, those who think they may need or desire to sell several years down the road will find this advantageous. It was partially for this reason that Benjamin Graham recommended an investor only purchase municipal bonds issued by municipalities with populations of 10,000 or greater (see page 131 in Security Analysis, 1934 Edition and page 156 in Security Analysis, 1940 Edition.) 

Credit ratings of general obligation bonds

The credit rating of a particular municipal bond is extremely important to the lay investor. Credit rating agencies determine the strength of a general obligation municipal bond issue by examining the economic environment of the area (i.e., the wealth level of the average household), the total amount of debt outstanding (e.g., a $10 million bond issue is not of concern for a huge city but may be a crushing burden to bear for a town of 500) and the diversification of industry (i.e., does the municipality depend upon a single industry such as Bethlehem, PA and the steel mills in the mid-twentieth century, or does it boast a diversified industrial and commercial base encompassing a wide spectrum of enterprise.) On the whole, general obligation bonds yield less than revenue bonds. 

Credit ratings of revenue bonds

Likewise, the ratings of revenue bonds are determined by the total “debt service”, or how many times the cash specifically available to pay interest and principal payments on the company’s bond issues could cover those payments. A hospital that had $20 million available to service debt but had only $5 million in debt payments due that year would have a debt-service coverage ratio of 4 ($20 million divided by $5 million = 4.) A debt service coverage ratio of two is generally considered acceptable assuming the other tests of safety discussed have been met; the higher the debt service ratio, the safer the bond. 

Municipal bond insurance

As many as fifty-percent (50%) of the municipal bonds issued today are insured. What does this mean? In exchange for a fee, these companies make a legally binding promise to pay the interest and principal of a municipal bond if the issuer is unable to do so because of financial difficulty or catastrophe. Currently, there are four AAA-rated firms that insure municipal bonds; the Municipal Bond Insurance Association (MBIA), American Municipal Bond Assurance Company (AMBAC), Financial Guarantee Insurance Company (FGIC), and Financial Security Assurance (FSA). Because each of entities has the highest credit rating possible, the municipal bonds they insure are rated AAA as well. 

Municipal bonds that would only qualify as border-line investment grade will often seek insurance in order to increase the issue’s credit rating and, as a result, lower the cost of borrowing. In other words, satisfied with the safety of the insurance company’s guarantee, investors are willing to accept a lower coupon rate because they believe there is less risk of default. Still, municipal bonds that are rated AAA because of their insurance protection will almost always yield more than an issue that would qualify for a triple-A rating on its own.

Additional tests of municipal bond safety

Annette Thau, former Chase Manhattan bond analyst and author of the bestselling, “The Bond Book”, offers the following additional caveats: 

“Among GO’s, the weakest credits are found in two groups: GOs of large cities with deteriorating downtown cores and large social outlays, and older, small cities or districts with shrinking populations, a shrinking tax base, and deteriorating economics. Among revenue bonds, the riskiest bonds have been hospitals with strong dependence on government reimbursement (government programs do not cover hospital expenses in full), bonds issued by developers of nursing homes (many of these are highly speculative), and so-called private purpose bonds (also called industrial development bonds, or IDBs). [image: image3.png]



These are issued by specially constituted authorities on behalf of private businesses.” 

Summary of requirements

· The municipality must have a minimum population of 10,000 

· The municipality must not have a deteriorating downtown, shrinking population, shrinking tax base or deteriorating economics 

· The bonds of the municipality must be rated investment grade or higher by each of the various credit rating agencies. 

· Revenue bonds must have a debt service coverage ratio of at least two (2), preferably higher. 

· The municipal bond issue should carry insurance, especially if dependent upon relatively less stable sources of revenue such as a hospital. 

· The municipal bond issue should enjoy relative liquidity unless the investor plans (and is financially able) to hold until maturity. 

The Bond Book (English):
Everything Investors Need to Know About Treasures, Municipals, Gnmas, Corporates, Zeros, Bond Funds, Money Market Funds, and More

Publisher Note - 
In today’s volatile financial environment, growing numbers of investors are looking to flee the stock market in search of safer ground. While the bond market has often been a “safe haven,” confusing new bonds and bond funds make it increasingly difficult for unfamiliar investors to choose the correct fixed income investments. The Bond Book provides investors with the information and tools they need to make bonds a comforting, important, and profitable component of their portfolios.
Thoroughly revised, updated, and expanded from its bestselling first edition, this all-in-one sourcebook includes:
*A new section on using the Internet to research, buy, and sell bonds *A new chapter devoted to increasingly popular foreign bonds *Detailed information on the inflation-linked Treasury bonds *Explanation of the new categories of bond funds *Tips on how to evaluate and buy bond funds 

Publisher Note - 
In today’s volatile financial environment, growing numbers of investors are looking to flee the stock market in search of safer ground. While the bond market has often been a “safe haven,” confusing new bonds and bond funds make it increasingly difficult for unfamiliar investors to choose the correct fixed income investments. The Bond Book provides investors with the information and tools they need to make bonds a comforting, important, and profitable component of their portfolios.
Thoroughly revised, updated, and expanded from its bestselling first edition, this all-in-one sourcebook includes:
*A new section on using the Internet to research, buy, and sell bonds *A new chapter devoted to increasingly popular foreign bonds *Detailed information on the inflation-linked Treasury bonds *Explanation of the new categories of bond funds *Tips on how to evaluate and buy bond funds

Determining if Tax-Free Munis are Right for Your Portfolio

Municipal bonds, or "munis" for short, are IOU's issued by city, county, and state governments in order to raise money for community projects such as a highway, new school, or hospital. Their primary attraction is that the interest paid to the owner of a municipal bond is exempt from Federal taxes. In most cases, an investor is exempt from state taxes as well if he resides within the same state in which the municipal bonds were issued. 

General Obligation vs. Revenue Bonds

There are two types of municipal bonds. The first are called general obligation (GO for short), and are backed by the issuer's ability to tax. General obligation bonds are issued to pay for projects such schools and sewer systems. Most investors consider general obligation bonds safer than their revenue counterparts; this is a misconception. 

Revenue munis, on the other hand, are issued by special state or local-government sanctioned entities (such as a utility company). [image: image4.png]



The interest is serviced (i.e., paid) by the revenue generated from the business that backs the obligation. In the case of a water company, bond holders are paid out of the cash generated from customers paying their water bills. 

Tax-Free Munis vs. Taxable Equivalent Yield

If you are an average investor interested in bonds, you may have a difficult time deciding between fully-taxable corporate bonds or tax-free municipals. Using a formula called taxable equivalent yield, you should be able to decide which type of fixed income investment will provide you the greatest after-tax return. Here's the formula you should use: 

tax exempt yield 
----(divided by)---- 
1 - tax bracket 

An investor in the 15% tax bracket interested in a municipal bond that yields 5% would enter the following: 

05 (tax exempt yield) 
-------(divided by)-------- 
.85 (1 - .15 = .85) 

The answer is 0.0588, or 5.88%. This means that if the investor could find a fully-taxable bond with a yield greater than 5.88%, he would earn more on his money by purchasing it rather than the tax-free municipal. Two rules of thumb: 

· Non-profit organizations are almost always better off investing in corporate bonds due to their tax free status. 

· Investors in high income brackets are almost always better off investing in tax-free municipal bonds. 

Gauging the Safety of Municipal Bonds

There is very little information available concerning individual municipal bonds. This forces investors to rely heavily on the credit ratings assigned by various credit agencies. To help ensure the safety of their investment, bond holders should find out 1.) who is responsible for servicing the interest payments on the bonds, and 2.) the underlying economics of the issuer. Is it a blossoming community with a growing, high-net worth citizen base, or a deteriorating metropolis with lower-income demographics? All of these factors should be of concern. In the 1942 edition of Security Analysis, Benjamin Graham recommended municipal bonds possess the following characteristics: 

· Population of 10,000 or greater 

· Diverse economy 

· History of punctual payment on past obligations 

More information

For more information, check out "The Bond Book" by Annette Thau. The book is designed for those with little or no bond experience and covers virtually everything an investor needs to know. I highly recommend it
